East Sussex
County Council

EAST SUSSEX HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD

TUESDAY, 23 SEPTEMBER 2025

2.00 PM COUNCIL CHAMBER, COUNTY HALL, LEWES

MEMBERSHIP - Councillor Keith Glazier, OBE, East Sussex County Council (Chair)
Jayne Black, East Sussex Healthcare NHS Trust (ESHT)
Carolyn Fair, Director of Children's Services
Darrell Gale, Director of Public Health
Councillor Amanda Jobson, Hastings Borough Council
Veronica Kirwan, Healthwatch East Sussex
Stephen Lightfoot, NHS Sussex
Dr Stephen Pike, NHS Sussex
Councillor Carl Maynard, East Sussex County Council
Ashley Scarff, NHS Sussex
Mark Stainton, Director of Adult Social Care
Councillor John Ungar, East Sussex County Council
Councillor Trevor Webb, East Sussex County Council
Councillor Kelvin Williams, Wealden District Council

INVITED OBSERVERS Councillor Dr Kathy Ballard, Eastbourne Borough Council
WITH SPEAKING RIGHTS Councillor Paul Davies, Lewes District Council

Duncan Kerr, VCSE Alliance

Councillor Teresa Killeen MBE, Rother District Council

Simon Morris, Sussex Police and Crime Commissioner

Becky Shaw, Chief Executive, ESCC

Hannah Youldon, East Sussex Fire & Rescue Servie (ESFRS)

AGENDA

1. Minutes of meeting of Health and Wellbeing Board held on 15 July 2025 (Pages 3 - 14)
2. Apologies for absence

3. Disclosure by all members present of personal interests in matters on the agenda

4, Urgent items

Notification of items which the Chair considers to be urgent and proposes to take at the
end of the agenda. Any members who wish to raise urgent items are asked, wherever
possible, to notify the Chair before the start of the meeting. In so doing, they must state
the special circumstances which they consider justify the matter being considered

urgently
5. Safeguarding Adults Board (SAB) Annual Report 2024-25 (Pages 15 - 80)
6. ICB Progress Update (Pages 81 - 86)
7. Integration programme update (Pages 87 - 106)
8. Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment (Pages 107 - 270)
9. East Sussex All Age Autism Action Plan (Pages 271 - 392)

eastsussex.gov.uk



10. Work programme (Pages 393 - 394)

11. Any other items previously notified under agenda item 4

PHILIP BAKER

Deputy Chief Executive

County Hall, St Anne’s Crescent
LEWES BN7 1UE

Contact Rachel Sweeney, Senior Policy and Scrutiny Adviser,
07561 267461
Email: rachel.sweeney@eastsussex.gov.uk

15 September 2025

NOTE: As part of the County Council’s drive to increase accessibility to its public meetings,
this meeting will be broadcast live on its website and the record archived. The live
broadcast is accessible at: https://www.eastsussex.gov.uk/your-council/videos-of-council-

meetings/webcasts



https://www.eastsussex.gov.uk/your-council/videos-of-council-meetings/webcasts
https://www.eastsussex.gov.uk/your-council/videos-of-council-meetings/webcasts

Agenda ltem 1

EAST SUSSEX HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD

MINUTES of a meeting of the East Sussex Health and Wellbeing Board held at Council
Chamber, County Hall, Lewes on 15 July 2025.

MEMBERS PRESENT Councillor Keith Glazier, OBE (Chair)

Councillor Carl Maynard, Councillor John Ungar, Councillor
Trevor Webb, Simon Dowse, Deborah Ennis, Darrell Gale,
Simon Kiley, Stephen Lightfoot, Dr Stephen Pike, Ashley
Scarff and Mark Stainton

INVITED OBSERVERS PRESENT  David Kemp, East Sussex Fire and Rescue Service

PRESENTING OFFICERS

Vicky Smith, Programme Director, East Sussex Health and
Social Care Transformation

Matthew Ryan, Engagement Manager Healthwatch
Kira Parsons, Engagement Officer Healthwatch

1. MINUTES OF MEETING OF HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD HELD ON 4 MARCH
2025

1.1. The minutes of the meeting of the Health and Wellbeing Board held on 4 March 2025
were agreed as a correct record.

2. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE

2.1. The following apologies for absence were received from members of the Board:

. Veronica Kirwan, Healthwatch East Sussex

. Clir Kathy Ballard, Eastbourne Borough Council
. Jayne Black, East Sussex Healthcare NHS Trust
. Carolyn Fair, Director of Children’s Services

2.2.  The following apologies for absence were received from invited observers with speaking
rights:
. Becky Shaw, Chief Executive

Page 3



. Hannah Youldon, East Sussex Fire and Rescue Service.

2.3.  The following substitutions were made for members of the Board:

. Simon Kiley, Healthwatch East Sussex substituted for Veronica Kirwan.

. Simon Dowse, Director of Transformation, Strategy and Improvement substituted for
Jayne Black

. Deborah Ennis, Assistant Director Commissioning substituted for Carolyn Fair

2.4.  The following substitutions were made for invited observers with speaking rights:

. David Kemp, East Sussex Fire and Rescue Service substituted for Hannah Youldon.

3. DISCLOSURE BY ALL MEMBERS PRESENT OF PERSONAL INTERESTS IN
MATTERS ON THE AGENDA

3.1.  Councillor Webb disclosed a personal, non-prejudicial interest as a trustee of His Place
and member of the Maslow Housing Co-operative in Hastings.

4. URGENT ITEMS

4.1.  There were no urgent items notified.

5. EAST SUSSEX HEALTH AND SOCIAL CARE SHARED DELIVERY PLAN (SDP)
PROGRAMME - UPDATE REPORT

5.1.  Vicky Smith, Programme Director, East Sussex Health and Social Care Transformation
introduced an update report on the East Sussex Health and Social Care Shared Delivery Plan
(SDP) Integration Programme. The report outlined the ongoing joint plans for year 3 of the SDP
in East Sussex, covering children and young people, housing, improving health outcomes,
integrated community teams, mental health, improving hospital discharge and strengthening the
role of the Health and Wellbeing Board (HWB). The report also outlined headlines from the NHS
10 Year Health Plan, including local implications, and shared the outcomes of the recent
informal HWB development session on the importance of the life course. It was noted that
discussions at the session also explored some of the current contextual challenges to
partnership working.

5.2.  Ashley Scarff, Director of Joint Commissioning and Integrated Care Team Development,
NHS Sussex, thanked Vicky for the report and noted the need for flexibility when working
towards the aims and priorities of the SDP within the changing healthcare landscape.

5.3.  Mark Stainton, Director of Adult Social Care and Health (ASCH) commented that the
seven SDP priorities were appropriate and targeted towards population needs. Mark agreed on
the importance of retaining flexibility, noting that the 10 Year Health Plan was newly released
and all partners continued work to understand its implications. Further detail on this would be

Page 4



provided at the next meeting. The Plan broadly reflected the priorities of the Sussex Integrated
Care Strategy Improving Lives Together, however there remained significant change occurring
in the wider system related to governance including Integrated Care Boards (ICBs), local
government reorganisation, and the creation of a Mayoral Strategic Authority, and it would be
important not to lose sight of the SDP priorities when responding to this change.

5.4.  Councillor Ungar welcomed the report and commented that it would be useful to include
how many of those experiencing delayed discharge were self-funders. He gave an example of a
self-funder saving money on care home costs by delaying a family member’s discharge and
enquired if this was a wider issue.

5.5. Mark Stainton responded that figures on self-funding could be provided, however staff
within both the Trust and the local authority sought to help progress discharge for all individuals.
This was supported by a contract with an organisation specifically to help self-funders
discharging from hospital, whereby a family in which an individual has been identified as self-
funding, would be referred for assistance. Delaying discharge to avoid costs was not a typical
approach and most relatives preferred to see their family members cared for in an appropriate
setting.

5.6. Simon Dowse, Director of Transformation, Strategy and Improvement at East Sussex
Healthcare NHS Trust (ESHT) added that avoidance of costs had not emerged as an issue for
patient flow or internal decision-making. However, ESHT was working on its latest discharge
programme so would identify this if it was an emerging issue.

5.7.  Councillor Webb thanked officers for the report and welcomed the plans overall,
however expressed concerns about inconsistencies in Special Educational Needs and
Disabilities (SEND) support, including the recommissioning of wheelchair provision, which had
been discussed at People Scrutiny Committee, and reduced funding for housing related
support.

5.8.  Stephen Lightfoot, Chair of NHS Sussex welcomed the SDP objectives and the inclusion
of children and young people as a priority. This had been reflected in the HWB seminar at which
information on school readiness had emerged as a priority. Stephen fed back that the SDP
could also consider the long term health outcomes of children and young people in relation to
weight management in terms of obesity and eating disorders.

5.9. Mark Stainton clarified that the funding for housing related support, which for ESCC was
a non-statutory service, was a £500,000 contribution by district and borough councils and a
further £500,000 from ESCC which would fund a residual service. This had enabled the access
criteria to be revised to focus on those at risk of homelessness. The priority for ESCC was
households with children at risk of homelessness, and households with adults at risk of needing
care if housing needs are not met. The focus of district and borough councils would be
homelessness prevention.

5.10. Deborah Ennis, Assistant Director Commissioning and Transformation noted that the
recommissioning of the wheelchair contract had been a recommendation of the area-wide
SEND inspection. Additional funding had been put into this contract to address the backlog in

Page 5



wheelchair provision, and there were plans for a pan-Sussex contract going forward. Overall,
there had been improvements in waiting times.

5.11. Ashley Scarff confirmed this additional funding and seen positive progress as a result.
Re-procurement could not take place until the end of the current contract but doing so on a pan-
Sussex basis would seek to make best use of resources.

5.12. The Chair thanked Vicky for the report and endorsed the work undertaken at the HWB
development day.

5.13. The Board RESOLVED to:

1. endorse the refreshed East Sussex HWB Shared Delivery Plan (SDP) priorities and plans for
year 3 (25/26), noting that the recent publication of the Government’s 10 Year Health Plan and
wider health and care reform may impact on the Sussex SDP and delivery in general; and

2. agree the outcomes from the informal HWB development session on the importance of the
life course, and the contextual challenges and risks for our partnership working.

6. NHS REFORMS

6.1. Stephen Lightfoot introduced the report, which summarised recently announced reforms
to the NHS including the abolition of NHS England and changes to ICBS, including a reduction
in running costs and a new blueprint for ICBs; as well as the local response, including a
proposal for a new ICB on a Sussex and Surrey footprint which had been approved by
government and would commence in April 2026. Stephen commented on the significant
uncertainty this had created for staff. Stephen also noted the recent announcement to cease
Healthwatch organisations and thanked Healthwatch partners and volunteers for their
engagement with patients which provided key insights when developing health and care
services. The direction in the NHS Plan to more care in the community, use of digital and
technology and focus on prevention aligned with the SDP and welcomed the ongoing role of
health and wellbeing boards to deliver care to local communities.

6.2.  The Chair noted the timescale over which these changes had occurred and the new ICB
footprint which would no longer be coterminous with the devolution proposal for a Sussex
authority. The Chair commented that the closure of Healthwatch was disappointing and that
their reports had been invaluable and that the Board would consider how it would work with
Healthwatch colleagues going forward.

6.3.  Councillor Ungar thanked Stephen for the report and sought clarification on the funding
for NHS Sussex and raised concerns about Sussex not receiving the funding it needs. He
additionally asked whether a reason had been provided for closing Healthwatch given that the
Integrated Care Partnership was also being abolished, leaving uncertainty around how the role
would be fulfilled for a professional body to conduct public engagement.

Page 6



6.4. Stephen Lightfoot responded that it was critical that the voices of the public and patients
were heard in the development of services. It was not currently clear how this would be
ensured, but it would be necessary to find mechanisms that fulfilled this role, as Healthwatch
had done effectively. Regarding funding for NHS Sussex, Stephen clarified that the new
leadership team within NHS England had reviewed the national fair shares allocation model,
which was based on demographics, population age, deprivation levels, and health. NHS Sussex
was receiving £186 million (4%) in excess funding according to this model. The ICB would likely
need to come up with a three-year plan to work back towards its national fair share.

6.5.  Councillor Webb commented that the timescale for ICB reform had been unrealistic. He
welcomed the continuation of the HWB as well as the work being done to support health staff
throughout the process.

6.6.  Stephen Lightfoot acknowledged that responding to the timescale had been challenging
and had not allowed for the desired engagement with partners and the public. However, the
proposal reflected the best that the ICB could do within these constraints. Working closely with
staff was critical given the uncertainty they had faced since March. The expectation was to have
a new Chair by July, a new Board in August, and a staff consultation following this. Staff were
being updated at each stage.

6.7.  Mark Stainton acknowledged the impact of reforms on NHS Sussex as well as the
critical role that Healthwatch East Sussex had played within the HWB and wider system.
Regarding the new ICB for Sussex and Surrey, it would be vital that the leadership and
management structure recognised two discrete systems given the differences between and
within each proposed mayoralty. In addition, the funding regime and resource allocation would
need to reflect the particular challenges around age and deprivation in East Sussex compared
to wider Sussex and Surrey. He also commented that it was important that current levels of
uncertainty for both the NHS and local government would not hinder the well-established
partnership working in East Sussex. The ongoing role of the HWB was welcome as it could be
the only statutory joint voice going forward, however there may be potential to continue the
Sussex Integrated Care Partnership on a non-statutory basis, but there were many details still to
be understood.

6.8.  Stephen Lightfoot commented that the prospect of a larger ICB footprint presented an
opportunity for a stronger role for Place in system governance, with a key role for Integrated
Community Teams. The HWB would have a more significant role in the future as a collaborator
with the Mayoral Strategic Authority.

6.9. The Chair noted the good partnership work established in East Sussex and the need to
build on this.

6.10. The Board RESOLVED to note the submission from NHS Sussex to NHS England which
responds to national guidance on Model Integrated Care Boards and next steps for the
transition arrangements for Sussex.

7. EAST SUSSEX BETTER CARE FUND PLANS 2025-2026

Page 7



7.1.  Ashley Scarff, Director of Joint Commissioning and Integrated Care Team Development,
NHS Sussex introduced the report which set out plans for the East Sussex Better Care Fund
(BCF) for 2025/26. He outlined that the BCF was part of embedded spend in the East Sussex
health and care system with a set of national conditions and reporting requirements. It allowed
the health and social care sectors to pool their resources to remove organisational barriers to
joint commissioning, although did not represent the totality of joint work in the county. National
objectives for the fund for 2025/26 had been simplified and reconciled with the strategic shifts
outlined in the NHS 10 Year Plan, however further reforms to the BCF were expected for
2026/27. The objectives for the East Sussex BCF for 2025/26 reflected the Government’s
commitment to reform via a shift from sickness to prevention and from hospital to home,
including a focus on hospital discharge.

7.2.  Stephen Lightfoot thanked Ashley and Mark for the report and supported the plans and
the collaborative process by which they had been developed. He particularly endorsed the aim
to be more proactive, including through work on avoiding admissions and treating people at
home. Discharge had been an area of challenge for several years and Stephen noted that the
plans included the continuation of existing schemes in 2025/26 and enquired about what would
be done differently this year to achieve better performance through these.

7.3. Mark Stainton responded that work had been ongoing for some time to improve
discharge. This included ensuring that patient numbers were being measured correctly, starting
the discharge journey shortly after admission, and being flexible about moving between different
pathways as new information emerged. There had been heavy investment in supporting
discharge capacity in the community and a healthy independent home care market. This was
also true of bedded care, although there were some areas of particular specialty where there
were capacity challenges. The contract to expediate discharge for self-funders was also a part
of this work. There remained work to do despite recent sustained improvements in East Sussex,
including addressing internal process issues to avoid cross-referral; using a trusted assessor
approach; and maximising the use of Discharge to Assess capacity. It would also be important
to ensure that the right proportion of patients were being discharged on each pathway.
Professor John Bolton OBE had undertaken some work on this in Sussex, and decisions were
needed on if the proportions he had recommended reflected the unique needs in East Sussex.
However, work on discharge to date provided assurance that the improvements could be
sustained.

7.4.  Ashley Scarff commented that the discharge scheme within the BCF plans included
Home First pathways and additional Discharge to Assess beds. A multi-agency approach would
seek to achieve a good balance between these types of capacity to best meet need. A small
portion of the Fund had additionally been earmarked to provide the flexibility needed to
maximise flow, particularly going into the winter months.

7.5.  Councillor Webb commented that it was welcome to see clear objectives in the plans
and specific focuses on reducing inequalities in access to NHS services, deprived communities,
and supporting and involving unpaid carers.

7.6.  The Chair commented that the BCF had been a significant driver of the HWB'’s work and
had contributed to many advancements despite the progress still to make.

7.7. The Board RESOLVED to:

Page 8



1. note the better care fund requirements for 2025-26; and

2. approve the East Sussex BCF plans for 2025-26 recognising the discussion underway to
review the metrics targets for the year ahead.

8. HEALTHWATCH ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25

8.1. The Board considered the annual report of Healthwatch East Sussex (HWES)
introduced by Simon Kiley. Simon thanked partners and colleagues for the messages of support
following the news of Healthwatch’s dissolution. He clarified that HWES was one of 152
Healthwatch organisations across the country supported by Healthwatch England whose
functions would be drawn into the new Directorate for Patient Experience within the Department
of Health and Social Care. Local Healthwatch functions would be split, with the health
component drawn into the ICB and the social care component into the local authority. There
were significant challenges presented by the unclear timeline for this process and Government
had not confirmed Healthwatch funding beyond March 2026. In the intervening period, HWES
would continue its business as usual to champion mainstream and seldom heard voices.

8.2.  Going forward, HWES was concerned about the potential loss of an independent body
enabling service users to share their experiences. In light of this, the HWB was asked to support
the ongoing work of HWES until further clarity emerged and to collaborate with HWES over the
coming months to explore future alternatives.

8.3.  Simon presented a video outlining the work of HWES in 2024/25, including extensive
and valuable engagement with mainstream and seldom heard communities. This had been
supported by positive relationships with health and care commissioners and providers. The work
programme for the remainder of 2025/26 included work on restoring pharmacy provision in
Hastings, wellbeing in emergency and temporary accommodation, experiences of patient
transport, and evaluating mental health neighbourhood support teams.

8.4. Simon Dowse noted the value of Healthwatch input and commented that partners in
East Sussex should work together to preserve independent voice, adding that a prevention and
integration agenda would not succeed without understanding what is valued by the public and
patients.

8.5.  Councillor Ungar suggested that ESCC could assign officers specifically to the role of
gathering the independent voice of the public. Mark Stainton responded that the Department
could not commit fully to this as the details of how the Government would replace Healthwatch,
and the funding to be allocated for these purposes, were uncertain. However, although there
were good local authority networks in place, the independent voice of service users remained
vitally important. ESCC would seek to retain this, but the approach would depend on the details
and funding levels.

Page 9



8.6.  Darrell Gale, Director of Public Health thanked Simon for the report and commented on
the important role it played in providing an independent voice and noted an example of a
Healthwatch report which had resulted in the rapid assessment of a care home and highlighted
unsafe care settings to a national audience. He added that the Listening Tours enhanced the
work of Public Health by contextualising data with the comments of service users on the
everyday building blocks of health.

8.7.  The Chair echoed comments on the need for an independent public voice.

8.8.  Councillor Ungar proposed that the Board recognise as part of its recommendations the
necessity of having an independent voice for local people with lived experience of health and
care services. This was seconded by the Chair. Stephen Lightfoot noted that the West Sussex
HWB had made a similar request in the previous week and it may be effective to coordinate
these responses. The Chair confirmed that this would be taken forward.

8.9. The Board RESOLVED to:

1. note the Healthwatch East Sussex Annual Report 2024-25, and;

2. note the importance and value of having an independent voice for local people with lived
experience of health and care services in East Sussex.

9. HEALTHWATCH LISTENING TOUR

9.1. The Board considered a summary report on the HWES Listening Tour 2024/25
introduced by Matthew Ryan and Kira Parsons. HWES had taken a new approach in 2024/25 by
visiting three areas on the tour, which were Wealden, Lewes and the Havens, and Hastings. An
area report had been produced for each district alongside the summary report. The report would
be shared with key partners and used to inform HWES’ work programme for 2025/26.

9.2.  Councillor Webb commented that HWES demonstrated its independence through the
recommendations it provided. He noted that people had shared on the Listening Tour that GP
receptionists were being asked to triage patients without being appropriately trained to do so.
Regarding the accessibility of parking in Hastings, an issue raised on the Tour, Councillor Webb
commented that both ESCC and Hastings Borough Council could work to consider the potential
barriers and the testimony of residents made this a strong practical point for action.

9.3.  Stephen Lightfoot thanked Kira and Matthew for the report and sought details on work
with NHS Sussex to make recommendations, particularly whether the Primary Care Provider
Collaborative had been involved in relation to access to primary care. He asked whether there
was scope to do more to educate the public on the whole primary care team beyond GPs and
the need to triage people to the right care. There was a public perception on the inaccessibility
of GP appointments despite over 1 million appointments being delivered in Sussex each month.

Page 10



9.4. Matthew responded that there had not yet been engagement with NHS Sussex partners
such as the Primary Care Provider Collaborative in relation to this report, however HWES was
in regular contact with ICB colleagues. Matthew agreed that the report highlighted a lack of
understanding of the triage process among some service users. HWES had also heard that it
may not be as useful to tell people to go to their GP as it would be to tell them to contact their
practice and be signposted to the right support. It was not clear who would take on the role of
deepening education, but patient participation groups may have a part in this at the local level.
Matthew also noted that the public perception was changing, citing that people at a recent event
had shown understanding that using the NHS app reduced pressure on phone lines.

9.5.  Councillor Ungar noted that the issue of loneliness highlighted in the report linked well to
the work that ESCC had been doing for several years, but that its presence indicated the need
to continue focusing resources on this.

9.6. The Chair noted the importance of the report’s insights and reiterated the need to find a
path for this work to continue.

9.7. The Board RESOLVED to note the Healthwatch Listening Tour Report.

10. DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25

10.1. Darrell Gale introduced the Annual Report of the Director of Public Health - Postcards
from the Coast. Coastal Communities in East Sussex, their health, wellbeing and assets. Darrell
noted that this was a statutory report which served as the independent voice of the Director of
Public Health and would be published shortly on the East Sussex Joint Strategic Needs
Assessment website. The report outlined the health and wellbeing of coastal communities in
East Sussex.

10.2. Councillor Webb thanked Darrell for the report and agreed with the current focus on
promoting protection against measles and asked if Public Health had come across communities
with a religious opposition to vaccination. Councillor Webb also highlighted recruitment
challenges in Hastings, which had been an issue for many years, and the Aspirations scheme
linked to addressing this. He additionally enquired about whether the Board would receive a
report on social prescribing this year, praising the report considered in the previous year.

10.3. Darrell Gale responded that, regarding vaccination, there was increasingly a variety of
communities living in coastal towns in the county with differing religious and cultural beliefs and
this made the vaccination programme more complex. In light of this, there was a need for Public
Health to work with partners to re-emphasise its importance and understand barriers to
vaccination including non-scientific information impacting people’s decisions.

10.4. Darrell commented that Aspirations was a long-term approach to growing the medical
workforce locally, particularly in areas such as Hastings where fewer people were choosing to
enter the profession. There had been several recent events focused on recruitment and Darrell
noted that a small number of young people were using care work to develop businesses, taking
advantage of the flexibility of this work. He commented that gaps in the workforce could be
addressed by promoting this flexibility while enhancing skills in other sectors.

Page 11



10.5. Regarding social prescribing, Darrell responded that there had not been the opportunity
to provide an update on creative health within this report but that an appendix would be
produced on this.

10.6. Councillor Ungar thanked Darrell for an informative report and commented that
messages encouraging parents to vaccinate their children were not strong enough and should
focus more on the potential consequences of missed vaccinations.

10.7. Stephen Lightfoot echoed comments on the importance of vaccination. He added that
the report made the case for two systems within the future ICB given that Surrey did not have
coastal communities, noting that the report highlighted a significant discrepancy between life
expectancies in coastal and non-coastal communities. Stephen added that the report captured
the need to follow demographic data as it evolved, as demonstrated by the example that the
population in Eastbourne had become younger.

10.8. Ashley Scarff commented that the report and work of Public Health going forward would
have a valuable role in developing Integrated Care Teams. He added that this work presented
an opportunity to champion the building blocks of health within the three 10-year development
programmes in Eastbourne, Bexhill, and Hastings.

10.9. The Chair thanked Public Health for the report and commented that it provided a wide
range of information with a variety of uses.

10.10. The Board RESOLVED to review and champion the 2024-25 Annual Report of the
Director of Public Health in East Sussex - Postcards from the Coast. Coastal Communities in
East Sussex, their health, wellbeing and assets, ahead of wider dissemination and publication.

11. WORK PROGRAMME

11.1. Mark Stainton introduced the item on the work programme. He suggested that the item
on the NHS 10 Year Plan also include an update on progress around the development of ICBs.

12. ANY OTHER ITEMS PREVIOUSLY NOTIFIED UNDER AGENDA ITEM 4

12.1 There were none.

The meeting ended at 15:52

Councillor Keith Glazier, OBE (Chair)

Page 12



Page 13



This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Iltem 5

Report to: East Sussex Health and Wellbeing Board

Date of meeting: 23 September 2025

By: Seona Douglas, Independent Chair, East Sussex Safeguarding Adults
Board

Title: East Sussex Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2024-25

Purpose: To present the annual report detailing how effective the work of the

Safeguarding Adults Board (SAB) has been against the Strategic
Priorities as required by The Care Act 2014.

Recommendations:
East Sussex Health and Wellbeing Board is recommended to:

1. Consider and note the report.

1. Background
1.1. The Care Act 2014 requires each Safeguarding Adults Board (SAB) to:

+ Develop and publish a strategic plan (Appendix 1) setting out how they will meet their
objectives and how their member and partner agencies will contribute.

» Publish an annual report (Appendix 2) detailing how effective their work has been.

+ Commission Safeguarding Adults Reviews (SARs) for any cases which meet the criteria
for these.

2. Supporting Information

2.1 The 2024-25 Annual Report (Appendix 2) is structured around the SAB priorities as
outlined in the East Sussex SAB strategic plan (Appendix 1). Partner agencies have contributed
performance and activity updates, and a detailed data appendix within the report evidences the
effectiveness of multi-agency safeguarding arrangements.

2.2 The SAB team has been strengthened with a permanent Board Support Coordinator and
Administrator, jointly funded by Adult Social Care and Health (ASCH). Membership of the Board
can be found in Appendix 4 of the Annual Report.

2.3 In 2024/25 there were fewer Safeguarding Adults Reviews (SAR) referrals than the
previous year. However, recommendations from SARs published in the last two years continue to
shape the Board’s strategic workstreams, including transitional safeguarding, multiple compound
needs, and alcohol-related self-neglect.

Safequarding Data (2024/25)

24 Key data from ASCH for 2024/25 can be found in Appendix 1 of the Annual Report. This
includes:

e 15,385 safeguarding concerns were recorded
o 3,082 enquiries were initiated

Page 15



o 53% of outcomes were fully achieved, and 42% partially achieved

¢ Neglect and Acts of Omission remained the most common risk type.

e Most risks occurred in the adult's own home.

¢ Financial abuse, neglect, and self-neglect increased, while domestic abuse decreased

*Note regarding statistics: the way data was recorded underwent a change regarding ‘episodes’
which makes it difficult to compare with previous years

Safequarding Adult Reviews (SARS)

2.5 SAR referral activity during 2024/25 remained low, with only one SAR concluding within
the reporting period (01/04/2024 — 31/03/2025). This represents a significant decrease compared
to the five SARs published in 2023/2. The single concluded SAR in 2024/25 was SAR Jack, which
involved one adult who suffered serious harm and subsequently died.

2.6 A total of 8 recommendations and associated actions from SAR Jack were incorporated
into the SAR Action Plan in 2024/25. These were developed in partnership with SAB agencies to
support system learning and drive improvement.

2.7 In addition to the concluded SAR, other SARs remained ongoing during 2024/25 and are
expected to conclude in the 2025/26 reporting year. This reflects the nature of SARs, which are
often complex and may span multiple years from commissioning to completion.

Strategic Themes and Progress 2024—25

2.8 Theme 1: Accountability and Leadership

* A pan-Sussex self-assessment was undertaken in early 2024, with agencies rating their
safeguarding activity against Making Safeguarding Personal, leadership, and
governance criteria. Results inform areas for targeted development.

» Sussex Police, NHS Sussex, and East Sussex Fire and Rescue Service (ESFRS)
continued to chair and contribute to SAB subgroups. Data dashboards and referral data
from Multi-Agency Risk Management Meetings now feed into performance reporting.

2.9 Theme 2: Safeguarding Policies and Procedures

* The SAB launched a new Sussex Safeguarding Adults Policy and Procedures website to
promote consistency, access, and joint learning.

» Updated guidance was published on Trauma-Informed Safeguarding and Complex
Needs. Learning briefings were issued for all published SARs.

2.10 Theme 3: Performance, Quality and Organisational Learning

* A new SAB Data Dashboard was launched, improving the use of partner data to inform
decision-making.

» The Board developed a shared audit tool to review safeguarding casework across
borders with Brighton & Hove and undertook a focused audit on housing moves,
identifying barriers and areas for improvement.

2.11 Theme 4: Prevention, Engagement and Making Safeguarding Personal

* Over 6,400 home safety visits were conducted by ESFRS, identifying at-risk adults and
referring for safeguarding where appropriate.

Page 16



Healthwatch East Sussex engaged over 3,500 people and produced 35 reports on care
quality and user voice. Their work supports improved person-centred safeguarding.

An Easy Read safeguarding leaflet was co-produced with adults with learning disabilities
to improve public understanding of safeguarding and how to get help.

2.12 Theme 5: Integration, Training and Workforce Development

SAB training covered key issues such as coercion, self-neglect, and modern slavery.
Workshops on dependent drinking were held in response to SAR recommendations.

NHS Sussex led safeguarding training on neurodiversity and trauma, improving frontline
confidence and competence.

Progress on 2024-25 SAB Strateqic Priorities

2.13 Self-Neglect

Guidance for a multi-agency framework to support adults who self-neglect was
completed in late 2024 by the Sussex Safeguarding Policy and Procedures Review
Group. This guidance focuses on preventing harm by empowering individuals to
understand risks and fostering a shared understanding across agencies, to ensure
effective response.

The Sussex Safeguarding Policy and Procedures Review Group also launched the
Sussex Self-Neglect Practice Guidance which outlines a collaborative five step process:
identification; lead agency assignment; information sharing; multi-agency meetings; and
risk assessments.

A podcast series, “Conversations in Self-Neglect,”, developed in partnership with
Changing Futures and Care for the Carers East Sussex, was launched featuring
practitioners sharing examples of positive safeguarding practice. The series is aimed at
informal carers, family members and practitioners and offers practical and easy to
understand definitions and examples of how self-neglect is identified and the steps to
take to protect an adult at risk of self-neglect. This is supporting awareness and skill
development in frontline services.

Best practice guidance on safeguarding adults experiencing homelessness has been
published and shared with agencies across the county.

Carers’ consultation work was completed in partnership with the voluntary sector, helping
inform the Board’s approach to safeguarding awareness for unpaid carers.

The multi-agency audit on self-neglect has been scoped and is now scheduled for
delivery in 2025/26, with tools and criteria agreed by the Performance, Quality and Audit
subgroup. This audit focuses on self-neglect referrals, following recommendations from
the SAR Gwen and lan published in January 2024, and aligns with the Board’s
commitment to improving safeguarding practices, embedding revised pan-Sussex Self-
Neglect Procedures and addressing systemic gaps to improve the identification and
prevention of self-neglect where possible.

Page 17



* Responding to Hoarding Behaviour Framework was updated in 2025. This is a multi-
agency guide to reduce risks of abuse/neglect linked to hoarding, prioritising autonomy,
safety and collaborative solutions.

2.14 Prevention and Early Intervention

* SAB Multi-Agency Safeguarding Learning Event to review a complex situation involving
an individual with serious health needs and a history of domestic abuse. Changes
developed following this event include follow-up protocols for missed appointments,
improved record keeping and more accessible training, peer support and supervisor
support.

* Self-Neglect animation awareness piece has been developed by Bexhill College sixth
form media department and is currently being reviewed by the Training and Workforce
Development subgroup.

* A dedicated Task and Finish Group was established under the Training Workforce
Development Subgroup to revitalize the SAB’s multi-agency safeguarding training offer.
The focus of this review has been on innovation, inclusivity and evidence-based
improvement with a comprehensive review of key training topics including Self-Neglect;
Modern Slavery Awareness; Coercion and Control, Domestic Abuse — covering the
Domestic Abuse, Stalking and Honour Based (DASH) Risk Identification Checklist and
Multi Agency Risk Assessment Conference (MARAC), and Safety Planning; An
Introduction to the Mental Capacity Act; and Safeguarding Introduction and Refresher
sessions.

2.15 Safeguarding and Homelessness

» Multi-Agency Audit focused on adults facing risks linked to housing instability, mental
health, and safeguarding concerns during moves across local authority boundaries. This
has led to the development of Pan-Sussex Safeguarding Guidance for Adults Moving out
of Area.

« Strengthening Safeguarding for Adults Rough Sleeping through a permanent housing
representative attending the SAR subgroup, ensuring housing expertise informs
safeguarding decisions and systemic improvements

Direct Notification Protocol enabling immediate notification to the subgroup in the event of
a rough sleeper’s death. This triggers an assessment to determine whether a SAR
referral should be made.

3. Conclusion and Recommendations

3.1 The SAB has delivered strongly against its new Strategic Plan and Year 1 objectives. New
partnerships, tools, and training are embedding across the system. Themes such as self-neglect,
trauma-informed care, and safeguarding transitions remain at the forefront of strategic learning
and service improvement.

3.2 The SAB will continue to progress work on any new SARs in 2025/26, seek assurances of
evidence-based implementation of recommendations and actions and showcasing improved
practice and impact, and enhance the data dashboard to support qualitative and quantitative

Page 18



analysis of strategic themes, ensuring insights directly inform actions that drive improved
practices.

3.4 The Board remains committed to working across health, social care, housing, and
community partners to prevent abuse and improve outcomes for adults with care and support
needs.

Seona Douglas, Independent Chair, East Sussex Safeguarding Adults Board
Contact Officer: Mary Payne, Tel 07712 237933

Email: mary.payne@eastsussex.gov.uk
Appendices:

Appendix 1 - SAB Strategic Plan 2024-27
Appendix 2 — SAB Annual Report 2024-25

Page 19


mailto:mary.payne@eastsussex.gov.uk

This page is intentionally left blank



East Sussex

Strategic Plan Safeguarding
2024 - 2027 WEBLD nduls Board




East Sussex Safeguarding Adults Board

What we want to achieve for 2024-2027

This Strategic Plan sets out the strategic themes and objectives that the Safeguarding
Adults Board (SAB) want to achieve for the next three years.

et el AR AY ™)
NEREAIN 2020 2 m
- -

Our vision is for all agencies across East Susses to work together and effectively build
resilience and empower communities in responding to abuse, neglect, and exploitation,
and to widely promote the message that safeguarding is everybody’s business in that:

e Abuse is not tolerated.
e People know what to do if abuse happens.

e People and organisations are proactive in working together to respond effectively
to abuse.

A SAB Partnership Event was held on the 4" of March 2024 to identify and agree priority
areas for the next three years, these are outlined on page 7. Over recent years the
board has focused its work on embedding the Mental Capacity Act in practice,
safeguarding transitions for young people at risk and working with multiple compound
needs the board will continue to work on these areas and sustain this thematic work.

Z¢ abed

How will the effectiveness of this strategic plan be
measured?

Annual Report - The board has a statutory duty to produce an annual report at the end of each year which details the work of the
board and its effectiveness.

Bi-Annual Safeguarding Self-Assessment — We ask partners to complete a self-assessment to evidence the effectiveness of
their local safeguarding procedures and practice and provide assurance to the SAB.

Development Event - The board holds a bi-annual development event following the self-assessment activity which is another way
the board can measure its effectiveness and make improvements for the following year.

2



East Sussex Safeguarding Adults Board

Partnership

The SAB has formal links with a number of other strategic
partnerships in East Sussex, including the East Sussex
Safeguarding Children Partnership, Safer Communities
Partnership, Children and Young People’s Trust and the Health
and Wellbeing Board.

The Board also works closely with the neighbouring Brighton &
Hove and West Sussex Safeguarding Adults Boards and many
of our polices, protocols and procedures are adopted on a pan-
Sussex basis.

The work of the SAB is underpinned by the Care Act 2014 and
has the overarching purpose of ensuring that agencies work in

-
S partnership to deliver joined up services that safeguard adults
g with care and support needs from abuse, neglect, and
w exploitation.

We do this by:

e Gaining assurance that local safeguarding arrangements are in place as defined by the Care Act and its statutory guidance.

e Gaining assurance that the principles of Making Safeguarding Personal (MSP) are central to safeguarding, and practice is
person-centred, and outcome focused.

e Working collaboratively to prevent abuse and neglect, where possible.

e Ensuring partner agencies are effective when abuse and neglect has occurred and give timely and proportionate responses.

e Striving for continuous improvement in safeguarding practice and that this enhances the quality of life of adults in East
Sussex.

A full list of the partners of the East Sussex SAB is listed at Appendix 1.



East Sussex Safeguarding Adults Board

Safeguarding Adults Board Arrangements in East Sussex

SAB Executive

Planning Group SAB Chairs
v Subgroup
Q
Q
®
N '
N
Operational Performance, Safeguarding Safeguarding T‘rlsz,r:‘:;gracr;d
Practice Quality and Audit Community Adult Review Devalopment
Sub
Subgroup ubgroup Network Subgroup Subgroup
Sussex
Safeguarding
Policy and 4

Procedures Group



East Sussex Safeguarding Adults Board

Strategic Themes 2024 — 2027

Gg abed

Leadership and Partnership
Working

Ensure the SAB provides strategic
leadership and embeds the
principles of safeguarding and
contributes to the prevention of
abuse and neglect.

Ensure effective governance is in
place and Board members
understand their roles and
responsibilities under the Care Act
2014.

Ensure mechanisms are in place for
partners to be held to account for
safeguarding practice and the SAB
has the right information/data to be
assured that local safeguarding
arrangements are effective.

Ensure that there is appropriate
representation from partners and
organisations on the SAB and its
subgroups.

Continue to develop arrangements
with other Boards to be responsive
to specific safeguarding themes.

Safeguarding Policies and
Procedures

Assurance that multi-agency
safeguarding policies and
procedures are regularly
reviewed, audited and up to
date and that these are easily
accessible and used effectively
by all frontline staff.

Ensure robust feedback
mechanisms on safeguarding
policies and procedures are in
place, to ensure practice is in
line with current best practice
and the Care Act 2014.

Undertake assurance activity to
test compliance and
effectiveness of the Sussex
Safeguarding Adults Policy and
Procedures.

Raise awareness of
safeguarding policies and
procedures related to specific
local safeguarding themes and
challenges.

Performance, Quality and
Audit

Assurance that learning from
SAB and SAR activity is
effectively embedded into
practice to facilitate
organisational change across
agencies.

Ensure learning from SARs,
other reviews and multi-agency
audits are effectively embedded
into practice and facilitate
organisational change.

Ensure good safeguarding
practice is highlighted and
included in SARs and
disseminated across the
workforce.

Ensure the SAB has robust
multi-agency safeguarding data
to shape learning, awareness,
and practice.



East Sussex Safeguarding Adults Board

Strategic Themes 2024 — 2027

9z abed

Prevention and Engagement

Ensure adults with lived experience,
carers, professionals and the local
community shape the work of the
SAB and safeguarding practice is
person-centred.

Develop processes to enable
meaningful feedback to the SAB
from adults and carers who have
experienced safeguarding
interventions.

Build the resilience of those who may
be at risk of abuse and neglect.

Continue to develop approaches to
safeguarding which recognise the
value of prevention and early
intervention especiially in relation to
exploitation and multiple compound
needs.

Produce information for the
community which is easily accessible
and raises awareness of adult
safeguarding and increases
confidence in raising concerns.

Organisational Learning and
Workforce Development

Ensure the workforce is equipped
to support adults appropriately
where abuse and neglect are
suspected.

Ensure SAB multi-agency training
remains current and promotes
equality and diversity.

Develop training resources which
are easily accessible and
engaging, and which take into
account time constraints of busy
frontline staff.

Personalise SAR learning and
ensure the adult is at the centre of
the learning taking place.

Ensure learning from SARs
considers the recommendations
and implications for practice as
well as the impact for individual
organisations.

Collaborate with partners and
other Boards to share joint
learning.



East Sussex Safeguarding Adults Board

Safeguarding Adults Board Priorities 2024 -2027

Self-Neglect

Improve and develop effective
multi-agency working and
practice with adults who self-
neglect.

Develop a shared
understanding, and early
recognition of the issues

involved in working with adults

who self-neglect with a focus on
substance misuse, mental
capacity, exploitation, and
multiple compound needs.

/¢ abed

Prevention and Early
Intervention

Ensure informal carers who take on
adult caring responsibilities have an
understanding and awareness of
adult safeguarding and what
support they can access for the
person they are caring for as well as
for themselves.

Promote and raise awareness of the
important role informal carers have
in preventing neglect, abuse, or
harm and ensuring informal carers
know how to raise and report
safeguarding concerns.

Safeguarding and
Homelessness

Promote positive practice with
professionals working at the
interface of homelessness and
adult safeguarding.

Ensure professionals use
trauma informed approaches
and consider local multi-agency
risk management pathways and
legal frameworks to identify
what action is needed to reduce
or remove potential risk.

e

"

Multi-Agency Working

A key area of learning identified in many SARs commissioned in Sussex is the need for more effective partnership working in order to

protect the adult .

Multi-agency working will be promoted and embedded within these priority areas of work over the next three years.

N

4




East Sussex Safeguarding Adults Board

Safeguarding Adults Board Objectives for the next three years

8z abed

Year 1

Conduct a multi-agency self-neglect
audit to identify key areas for learning
and ensure local procedures are
effective.

Review existing self-neglect
pathways and local guidance to
ensure processes are understood and
used effectively.

In partnership with the community and
voluntary sector consult with local
carers on their knowledge and
understanding of adult
safeguarding.

Develop a podcast series
‘Conversations in Self-Neglect’ on
positive practice shared by
practitioners.

In collaboration with SAB partners
develop Best Practice Guidance and
Resources to improve staff skills
and knowledge in safeguarding
adults who are homeless or at risk
of homelessness.

Year 2

Develop a local campaign to
raise awareness of
safeguarding and local
reporting pathways to informal
carers. Launch during National
Carers Week

Embed trauma informed
approaches in all safeguarding
guidance documents.

In partnership with Brighton and
Hove and West Sussex SABs
develop a Sussex Self-Neglect
event to raise awareness of
positive practice and early
prevention.

In collaboration with SAB
partners promote and raise
awareness through a series of
learning events, best practice
in Safeguarding and
Homelessness.

Year 3

In partnership with care for the
carers develop local
prevention guidance for
informal carers with
practical information on
recognising early signs of
abuse and neglect.

Develop an East Sussex
Self-Neglect — Early
Interventions Toolkit for
practitioners who support
adults who self-neglect.
Launch of the Toolkit through
multi-agency Learning Events.

Conduct a second multi-
agency self-neglect audit to
identify what has changed
since the audit undertaken in
year 1.



Appendix 1

Board Membership

East Sussex Adult Social Care & Health (ASCH)

NHS Sussex Integrated Care Board (ICB)

NHS Sussex Safeguarding GP

Sussex Police

Care for the Carers

Care Quality Commission (CQC)

Change, Grow, Live (CGL)

District and Borough Councils

East Sussex Fire and Rescue Service (ESFRS)

East Sussex Healthcare NHS Trust (ESHT)

East Sussex Safeguarding Children Partnership (ESSCP)
Healthwatch

HMP Lewes

East Sussex Partners in Care (ESPIC)

Lay members

Probation Service (PS)

South East Coast Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust (SECAmDb)
Sussex Community NHS Foundation Trust (SCFT)
Sussex Partnership NHS Foundation Trust (SPFT)
Trading Standards (East Sussex County Council)

Voluntary and community sector representation

Page 29



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 2

East Sussex
Safeguarding
Adults Board

Annual Report
2024 - 2025




Contents

Foreword by the East Sussex Safeguarding Adults Board Chair......cccccceeveiniieinnnannen. 3
OUI role aNd PUIPOSE c.cuiuiieieieiiiiririasesesetetesessssssssssssssessssssssasssssssesessssssasssssssssessns 4
Partnership WorKinNg ..o iiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiieteiietetsetessasessssessssessssessassssassssassssassssaseses 5
Our Strategic Priorities 2024-2027 .......cccccieieiiiieieienecececeresissssasssscssesessssssssssssssesesass 6
Partner Agency Contributions to the SAB Strategic Plan ........cccccveieiiiiiininieieienanass 7
Key Achievements 2024 — 25.......cccciiiiiiiiieiieietiectiecereecessacessscessssessasessassssasessaceses 9
[\ 1= O 12 1 T T 1 1 o TN 17
€] [eT-1-7-1 o VA PPN 18
Appendix 1 SAB BUdet......ccciiiiiiiiiiiieieiiiiiiiiiieseseceiressssssasssecesessssssasssssssesessssasans 21
Appendix 2 Partnership information and data .......ccccceeeviiiieiniiiiiiiiiiiiiiieieriennnne. 22
Appendix 3 Self-Neglect Assessment and Management ......cccccceiieiiiiieieceinencenannns 48
Appendix 4 SAB Membership...ccccccieeieieiiiieiiietiietiecetieceteeceteeceseecessscosescesescosancnss 49
ApPPEeNndix 5 SAB STrUCTUIE ....ccciiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiieieteieteresistasasssesesesessssasssssesesesassasans 50

You can get all our publications in a format to suit you.
If you would prefer this report in an alternative format or language, please

contact us: ESSAB.Contact@eastsussex.gov.uk

Photographs courtesy of Aging Better Resource Space

Page 32


mailto:ESSAB.Contact@eastsussex.gov.uk

Foreword by the East Sussex
Safeguarding Adults Board Chair

It is my privilege to present the Annual Report for East Sussex
Adults Safeguarding Board (SAB) for 2024/25. This year marks
the launch of our refreshed Strategic Plan 2024-2027, focusing
on collaboration, prevention, and trauma-informed practice.

This Annual Report highlights the work that the Board has been
engaged with over the year 2024-2025. | am grateful to all partners for their ongoing
support. This year has seen many changes in personnel, and | want to welcome all the
new partner representative’s and thank them for being extensively engaged in its work.

All partners of the Board have continued to deliver services and provide care and support
to people, and respond to safeguarding within the continually changing environment,
which is evidenced in the Annual Report, alongside the data and additional information
provided, through the Partners submissions.

Self-Neglect has been a significant issue this year and addressing the issues this raises
for people and communities. Linked with prevention and homelessness it can feature
through these themes, and you will note the activities to address knowledge and
understanding not only for front line practitioners, but for people who live in our
communities and their carers.

We have published one Safeguarding Adult Review this year; however, work has
continued learning from Reviews published in previous years to enhance and improve
practice through learning opportunities, using various media with the support of local
organisations, in particular students from Bexhill College.

Our 2024-27 priorities remain anchored in collaboration, prevention, and amplifying the
voices of adults at risk. We will expand trauma-informed training, strengthen data-
sharing infrastructure, and deepen partnerships with housing and health sectors to
address emerging risks.

Finally, | would like to thank all the Chairs of the subgroups and Board Office for
supporting managing the business of the SAB. | would also like to acknowledge the work
of the staff and managers across all the statutory, voluntary and community partners who
are committed to working together to keep people safe in East Sussex.

;:\«Q/o <2 A \}/ Sl /’(Q,LQ

Seona Douglas - Independent Safeguarding Board Chair

Page 33



Our role and purpose

The East Sussex Safeguarding Adults Board (SAB) is a multi-agency statutory partnership
which provides leadership and strategic oversight of adult safeguarding work across East
Sussex.

The work of the SAB is underpinned by the Care Act 2014, which sets out we must do:

Develop and publish a Strategic Plan setting out how we will meet our objectives
and how our partner agencies will contribute to these objectives.

Publish an annual report detailing how effective our work has been over the past
12 months.

Arrange for Safeguarding Adults Reviews (SARs) to be undertaken when the criteria

under section 44 of the Care Act are considered to have been met.

The East Sussex SAB is led by our Independent Chair, and supported by a SAB
Development Manager, a Board Support Coordinator and a part-time Administrator. The
Board (see Appendix 4) meets at least four times a year and is supported by a range of
subgroups which are crucial in ensuring that the priorities set out in the Strategic Plan are
delivered —these include: the Safeguarding Adult Review subgroup, Operational Practice
subgroup, Performance, Quality and Audit subgroup, Training and Workforce
Development subgroup, Safeguarding Community Network and the Sussex Safeguarding
Policy and Procedures Review Group (see Appendix 5). These subgroups ensure that the
work of the Board really makes a difference to local safeguarding practice, and to the
outcomes that adults, and their carers, wish to achieve.

Our Vision

Our vision is for all agencies to work together and effectively build resilience and
empower communities in responding to abuse, neglect, and exploitation, and to widely
promote the message that safeguarding is everybody’s business in that:

e Abuseis not tolerated.

e People know what to do if abuse happens.

e People and organisations are proactive in working together to respond
effectively to abuse.

Page 34


https://www.eastsussexsab.org.uk/documents/sab-strategic-plan-2021-2024/

Our Purpose

Our overarching purpose is to ensure strategically that agencies work in partnership to
deliver joined-up support that safeguards adults, with care and support needs, from
abuse, neglect, and exploitation. We do this by:

e Gaining assurance that local safeguarding arrangements are in place as defined by
the Care Act 2014, and its statutory guidance.

e Working collaboratively to prevent abuse and neglect, where possible.

e Ensuring partner agencies are effective when abuse and neglect has occurred and
give timely and proportionate responses.

e Gaining assurance that the principles of Making Safeguarding Personal (MSP) are
central to safeguarding, and practice is person-centred, and outcome focused.

e Striving for continuous improvement in safeguarding practice and supporting partner
agencies to embed learning from local and national SARs, other learning reviews, and
multi-agency audits.

Partnership Working

The SAB has formal links with other strategic partnerships in East Sussex, including the
East Sussex Safeguarding Children Partnership (ESSCP), Safer Communities Partnership
(SCP), Children and Young People’s Trust (CYPT) and the Health and Wellbeing Board. In
addition, the Board currently maintains links with Sussex-wide and national networks and
forums including:

e The National Network for Chairs of SABs.

e The National SAB Managers Network.

e The South-East Regional SAB Network.

e The Sussex Domestic Abuse Partnership Board
e The Changing Futures Programme Sussex

Collaboration with the Multiple Compound Needs (MCN)
Board enables a coordinated multi-sector approach to the

transformation and improvement of services for individuals

experiencing Multiple Disadvantage. The Board works closely with the neighbouring
Brighton & Hove and West Sussex SABs, and our Safeguarding Policy and Procedures are
adopted on a Sussex wide basis, as well as many protocols and guidance documents.

Page 35


https://www.changingfuturessussex.org/

Our Strategic Priorities 2024-2027

1 1 1




The Strategic Plan has two main purposes:

To specify the actions required by the SAB and its member agencies to implement
the strategy

To inform the local community and all interested parties about the work
undertaken annually

The strategic plan can be viewed here:

ESSAB Strategic Plan 2024-2027

Partner Agency Contributions to the SAB Strategic Plan

The agencies listed below each play a vital role in delivering the priorities set out in the
East Sussex Safeguarding Adults Board (SAB) Strategic Plan. Their ongoing work supports
key areas such as prevention, multi-agency collaboration, safeguarding practice, and
improving outcomes for adults at risk. In addition to their operational contributions,
several partners also lead SAB subgroups.

A key responsibility of the statutory partners (Local Authority, Police and ICB) is the
funding of the Safeguarding Adults Boards duties, and activities to meet its legal duties.
Non statutory partners in East Sussex, Fire and Rescue service and the Hospital
contribute to the work of the SAB and therefore showing a real commitment to
safeguarding and its importance strategically and operationally. For a breakdown of the
funding, please see Appendix 1.

A brief overview of each agency’s contribution is outlined below. For more detailed
information on specific activity and impact, please see Appendix 2 for agencies detailed
safeguarding reports.

ASCH plays a central role in delivering the SAB’s
strategic priorities, particularly around Making Safeguarding Personal, multi-agency
working, and self-neglect. Their data-led approach supports the board’s focus on
performance, quality, and audit, while their work on mental capacity, advocacy, and
outcome tracking reflects a strong commitment to person-centred safeguarding. ASCH
also chairs the Operational Practice Subgroup (OPS).

Sussex Police’s safeguarding work contributes to SAB goals around
prevention, risk management, and trauma-informed practice. Their work related to fraud
prevention initiatives like Operation Signature, and cross-agency risk assessments and
links with ASCH, highlight their active role in protecting vulnerable adults. Their efforts
also support the SAB’s priorities on multi-agency coordination and responding to
exploitation. Sussex Police chairs the Performance and Quality Audit (PQA) Subgroup.

Page 37


file:///C:/Users/MaryP/Downloads/essab-strategic-plan-2024-2027%20(16).docx

SPFT’s safeguarding service aligns
closely with SAB themes of organisational learning, workforce development, and mental
health-informed safeguarding. Their use of the Sussex Thresholds Guidance, SAR
engagement (e.g., SAR Jack), internal learning initiatives strengthen multi-agency
working. Their collaborative work with ASCH on information-sharing is a strong example
of effective partnership.

Through home safety visits, hoarding-
related referrals, and safeguarding alerts, ESFRS contributes directly to the SAB’s goals
on prevention and early intervention. Their close ties with vulnerable adults at home
position them well to identify risk. ESFRS also chairs the Safeguarding Adults Review
(SAR) Subgroup, helping embed learning from reviews into practice.

: While no update was provided in this cycle, the Probation Service
remains a core partner, supporting SAB goals around risk management, multi-agency
safeguarding, and supporting individuals with complex needs in contact with the criminal
justice system.

ESHT contributes to SAB strategic aims
through its work on domestic abuse, trauma-informed care, and complex case
management. Their Mental Capacity Act (MCA) improvements, Think Family model, and
involvement in transitional safeguarding (e.g., long-stay patients) address multiple SAB
priorities. Their daily safeguarding huddles support real-time, person-centred responses.

As a lead SAB partner, NHS Sussex ICB
supports all core strategic objectives. They chair the Multi-Agency Risk Management
Meetings, (MARM), and the Training and Workforce Development (TWD) subgroup, lead
SAR-related actions, and deliver innovative training (e.g., on neurodiversity and trauma).
Theirrole in developing tools such as the Self-Neglect Management Flow Chart supports
Year 1 SAB priorities on self-neglect, multi-agency learning, and carer support.

SCFT aligns with SAB priorities
through its safeguarding strategy, focus on Mental Capacity Act (MCA) implementation,
and strong training compliance. Their safeguarding advice line and concern-raising to
ASCH demonstrate a commitment to person-centred, responsive practice, and they
contribute to system-wide improvement through partnership with the ICB and quality
escalation pathways.

SECAmb supports the SAB’s strategic
priorities through its significant safeguarding activity across both NHS 111 and 999
services. In 2024/25, the service managed a substantial volume of adult referrals,
contributing to early identification and timely escalation of risk. Their collaborative work
with social care and police, robust audit processes, and commitment to continuous

Page 38



improvement align strongly with SAB goals on prevention, multi-agency working, and
embedding safeguarding into frontline practice.

Healthwatch supports SAB priorities by capturing lived
experience and promoting person-centred safeguarding. In 2024/25, they published 35
reports and engaged with thousands of residents, highlighting feedback from people who
use services, and helping to improve care. As chair of the Safeguarding Community
Network (SCN), they play a key role in promoting engagement and accountability.

Key Achievements 2024 - 25

Following the West Sussex Safeguarding Adults Board Thematic SAR (self-neglect) a
review of The Sussex Multi-agency Procedures to Support Adults who Self-neglect was
completed in late 2024 by the Sussex Safeguarding Policy and Procedures Review Group.

These provided guidance for a multi-agency framework to _

support adults who self-neglect, with the focus upon preventing
8 E

harm by empowering individuals to understand risks, and
fostering a shared understanding across agencies, to ensure ;swsqs B

effective responses. They outline flexible leadership (local e

o support adults who sol' noglod
authority or other agencies, depending on safeguarding needs)
and guide professionals in convening multi-agency meetings.
The purpose is to support practitioners working with self-

neglecting adults and uphold a duty of care, whether

interventions fall under formal safeguarding enquiries or

proactive support.

Also launched in late 2024 by the Sussex Safeguarding Policy and Procedures Review

B Group was the Sussex Self-Neglect Practice Guidance. This

;1* 2 E supports a structured, person-centred framework for
{ o s t professionals to address self-neglect, whether cases meet
© e formal safeguarding thresholds (under the Care Act’s Section

NEW: Sussex Self-Neglect Practice
SRS thr it 42) or not. It outlines a collaborative five-step process—

identification, lead agency assignment, information-sharing,
multi-agency meetings, and risk assessments—emphasising
proactive engagement and trauma-informed approaches to
build trust. Key considerations include rigorous mental

capacity assessments (accounting for fluctuating or executive
capacity), balancing autonomy with duty of care, and

Page 39


https://www.westsussexsab.org.uk/media/jz3gil4l/self-neglect-meta-anaysis-final-version-acc.pdf
https://www.sussexsafeguardingadults.org/access-the-policy-and-procedures/section-2/2-8-sussex-multi-agency-procedures-to-support-adults-who-self-neglect/
https://www.sussexsafeguardingadults.org/additional-protocols-and-guidance/

prioritising professional curiosity to uncover hidden risks to ensure people and others are
safe within their living environment.

Thisworkis rooted in lessons from Safeguarding Adult Reviews (SARs), and includes early
collaboration, and adherence to ethical-legal principles to safeguard vulnerable adults
while respecting their rights. The guidance advocates for gradual, practical interventions
tailored to individual needs while mandating multi-agency coordination. For extreme
cases, where action may be required, it highlights legal pathways such as High Court
interventions or Court of Protection referrals.

Conversations in Self-Neglect
The East Sussex SAB has ensured learning from
the second national SAR analysis, published in

Conversations in Self-Neglect ‘

July 2023. 652 reviews completed between April

2019 and March 2023 were analysed. Both the
Carers | first and second national SAR analysis it showed
the most common type of abuse/neglect overall
. o 2 @8 Within SARs was ‘self-neglect’.

“onversations in self-neglect - the role of carers. Produced by the
QAR 8 AETA Fact Srecay

The national picture of an increase in self-neglect
is also mirrored locally with self-neglect which has been a significant and consistent
theme of a SAR published this year by the SAB:

> SAR Gwen & lan

All our published SARs can be found online, here: Published safeguarding adult reviews
(SARs) | East Sussex Safeguarding Adults Board

In response to the continuing identification of self-neglect, during 2024/2025 the East
Sussex SAB launched three-podcasts in a series entitled: ‘Conversations in Self-
Neglect,” developed in partnership with Changing Futures Sussex and Care for the
Carers East Sussex. These podcasts are aimed at both informal carers/ family members
and practitioners. They offer practical and easy to understand definitions and examples
of how self-neglect is identified, and the steps to take to protect an adult at risk of self-
neglect.

1. Mental capacity developed in partnership with East Sussex
Changing Futures.
2. Amlacarer? developed in partnership with East Sussex Care
for the Carers.

PODCAST 3. The role of carers in identifying self-neglect developed in
partnership with East Sussex Care for the Carers.

Page 40


https://www.eastsussexsab.org.uk/sars/published-sars#SAR%20Gwen%20and%20Ian%20-%20published%20January%202024
https://www.eastsussexsab.org.uk/sars/published-sars
https://www.eastsussexsab.org.uk/sars/published-sars
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=soEEFRpKpiY
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=0S2xe3bvTGg
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=Fg-codp95ws

NHS Safeguarding Fortnight 2024

The Sussex NHS Integrated Care Board delivered a fortnight of multi-agency learning
events in November 2024, the theme of the fortnight was ‘hidden harm’. Pan Sussex SAB
managers and the named GP for safeguarding delivered a ‘Guidance on working with
people who self-neglect’ session.

Feedback from attendees confirmed that they were taking forward the related learning to
embed into practice and discussing the issues more with colleagues and people they are
in contact with. The feedback however also highlighted a continuing need for ongoing
support, case-based learning, and possibly supervised practice or peer reflection,
especially in complex areas like self-neglect.

Enhancing Support for Carers and Self-Neglect Management in Primary Care

In response to the learning from SAR Gwen and lan, East Sussex SAB and NHS Sussex ICB
have worked collaboratively to strengthen primary care responses to self-neglect, carer
support, and safeguarding best practice. A key output was the co-development of a Self-
Neglect Management Flow Chart—a practical, trauma-informed tool approved by the
NHS ICB Head of Safeguarding. Now integrated into Mental Capacity Act (MCA) refresher
training, it supports practitioners in identifying and responding to self-neglect and has
been positively received by frontline staff. This will also hopefully actas an early indicator
as part of preventing situations deteriorate, so that people can be supported as early as
possible.

Additionally, a renewed partnership with Care for the Carers has enhanced visibility and
access to support for informal carers. All NHS organisations in Sussex now host
dedicated carer support webpages, while GP practices provide clear carer registration
pathways, visible noticeboard materials, and easy-read resources—helping to ensure
that carers can access tailored advice and are recognised within safeguarding processes.
Outcomes of this work has been:

e Carers are now proactively identified and supported through streamlined
registration processes, with their status logged in patient records to trigger timely
interventions.

e Primary care teams are better equipped to address self-neglect risks with earlier
intervention and collaborative safeguarding

Please see Appendix 3 for the Self Assessment and Management of Self Neglect flow
chart.

Pagd 41


https://int.sussex.ics.nhs.uk/clinical_documents/safeguarding-fortnight-2024/
https://int.sussex.ics.nhs.uk/clinical_documents/safeguarding-fortnight-2024/

Multi-Agency Audit in relation to people suffering from Self-Neglect

The ESSAB Performance and Quality Audit (PQA) subgroup has coordinated a multi-
agency audit focused on self-neglect referrals, following recommendations from the
Safeguarding Adult Review (SAR) Gwen and lan (published January 2024). This audit
aligns with the Board’s commitment to improving safeguarding practices, embedding
revised pan-Sussex Self-Neglect Procedures (released late 2024), and addressing
systemic gaps identified in SAR findings to improve the identification and prevention of
self-neglect where possible.

The SAR highlighted critical learning points, including:

Missed opportunities to escalate self-neglect concerns and initiate multi-agency
risk management meetings.

Inconsistent application of Self-Neglect Procedures across agencies, particularly in
triggering assessments and safeguarding actions.

Gaps in identifying carers’ needs and proactive risk management.

The multi-agency audit group considered a sample of six people. As a result of the
findings, action is being taken to include improving referral quality, ensuring consistent
MCA assessments, enhancing multi-agency collaboration, strengthening carer support,
and embedding person-centred planning.

Targeted training, regarding MCA application (particularly around executive functioning),
and refresh guidance to promote information-sharing and the need to explain information
clearly or in the appropriate language will be necessary. Good practice will drive real-
world learning, and ongoing improvement.

Responding to Hoarding Behaviour Framework

Hoarding behaviour was recognised in the Care Act 2014 as one of the manifestations of
self-neglect. It is an increasingly prevalent issue and is a complex condition which can
involve risk to life, is subject to more than one area of legislation, and involves the health
and wellbeing of the person at risk, as well as any others that may be in the household or
surrounding properties. It is key therefore that a collaborative, multi-agency approach is
taken in identifying and responding to hoarding behaviour.

Building on the success of the Hoarding framework published in 2023 by East Sussex &
Brighton & Hove Safeguarding Adults Boards, the guidance was updated in 2025. The
Hoarding framework is a multi-agency guide to reduce risks of abuse/neglect linked to
hoarding, prioritising autonomy, safety, and collaborative solutions such as:

Page 42



Enhanced Trauma-Informed Focus: Strengthened guidance on selecting a
’ trauma-informed Lead Professional to build trust and ensure consistent support
® in high-risk cases.
& Fire Safety: Expanded partnership with Fire & Rescue, emphasising early home
safety visits and tailored escape plans for mobility-impaired individuals.
Child Safeguarding Clarity: Explicit links to Sussex Child Protection Procedures,
f stressing “think family” principles when children are exposed to hoarding
environments.
Legislative Alignment: Updated references to the Data Protection Act 2018 and
b‘ streamlined links to the pan-Sussex Safeguarding Adults Threshold Guidance.
Resource Expansion: Added tools for assessing digital/data hoarding risks and
a|  revised clutter rating guidance to improve risk stratification.

Core Principles and multi-agency coordination

A person-centred, trauma-informed approach should guide practice—using respectful
language (e.g. “losing control of your home” vs. “hoarding”) and recognising emotional
attachments. Interventions should be sequenced, starting with mental health support
and addressing root causes like trauma or isolation. All actions must align with Care Act
2014, MCA, and Environmental Health duties.

Effective response requires clear roles across housing, health, fire, and voluntary
sectors, with Hoarding Panels/MARM processes supporting complex cases. The
framework—adopted both locally and nationally—will be reviewed again in 2028.

Link to website: Responding to Hoarding Behaviour Framework

SAB Multi-Agency Safeguarding Learning Event
In early 2025, the East Sussex Safeguarding Adults Board held a closed
' learning event to review a complex situation involving an individual with
f? serious health needs and a history of domestic abuse. Professionals
. . from health, social care, and police came together to reflect on what
went wrong, and how to improve joint safeguarding work.

Outcomes & Next Steps
The event showed how reflective practice can lead to real opportunities for
improvements. Changes already in place include:

e Follow-up protocols for missed appointments

e Improved record keeping

e More accessible training, peer support and supervisor support

Pags 43


https://www.bhsab.org.uk/responding-to-hoarding-behaviour-framework/

Looking ahead, one key focus will be on making sure individual’s voices remain central to
all safeguarding decisions. This event demonstrated how strong partnerships can lead to
safer, more coordinated support, however all partners needed to be aware of the voice of
the individualin all their interactions.

Self-Neglect Animation Awareness Piece

A key area for the Training and Workforce
Development (TWD) Subgroup is to ensure
learning from multi-agency audits, data,
work of the SAB and SARs are effectively
embedded into practice and facilitate
organisational change.

Through the TWD during 2024/2025 we
collaborated with the local Bexhill College sixth form media department to create a
bespoke self-neglect awareness animation. The self-neglect animation has been created
by Bexhill College and is currently being reviewed by the TWD Subgroup.

SAB Training Review: Embedding Learning

The Training and Workforce Development (TWD) subgroup continues to play a key role in
strengthening safeguarding practice across the partnership by ensuring learning insights
is actively embedded into training and frontline delivery.

To support this, a dedicated Task and Finish Group was established under the TWD
Subgroup to revitalise the SAB’s multi-agency safeguarding training offer. The focus has
been oninnovation, inclusivity, and evidence-based improvement, with a comprehensive
review of key training topics including self-neglect, modern slavery awareness, coercion
and control, domestic abuse - covering the Domestic Abuse, Stalking and Honor Based
(DASH) Risk Identification Checklist and Multi Agency Risk Assessment Conference -
MARAC, and safety planning (which is under separate review), an introduction to the
Mental Capacity Act (MCA), and general safeguarding introduction and refresher
sessions.

Progress
o Content Updates: All revised courses now align with the Talking About Adult
Social Care guidance and reflect learning, ensuring that materials are both up to
date and practically relevant.
o Lived Experience Integration: The group is actively exploring how to include
survivor and carer voices in future training sessions, to bring learning to life and
enhance real-world understanding.

Page 44



e Modern Slavery Training: This workshop has undergone a targeted review,

aligning with both emerging best practice and recent legislative changes. Delivery
is now supported by specialist police officers whose core role is tackling modern
slavery, providing valuable front-line expertise and real-case insight to learners.

e Mental Capacity Act (MCA): The TWD subgroup is currently exploring how to
strengthen MCA content across the training offer e.g. bite-sized learning sessions,
particularly focused on executive function and safeguarding.

e Domestic Abuse (DA): A review of the Domestic Abuse training offer is ongoing,

particularly identification in older people.

Multi Agency Audit and Development of Pan-Sussex Safeguarding Guidance

Sussex
Safeguarding Adults

Moving out of Area
Guidance

In response to key learning from SAR Charlie published in
May 2023, gaps were identified in supporting adults with
complex needs during transitions between local authority
areas, East Sussex SAB and Brighton & Hove SAB carried out
a joint audit. The audit focused on adults facing risks linked
to housing instability, mental health, and safeguarding
concerns during moves across local authority boundaries.
Findings from the audit highlighted the need for more timely
mental capacity assessments, better information-sharing,
and trauma-informed risk management. Agencies also
acknowledged challenges in meeting urgent housing needs
while fulfilling safeguarding responsibilities.

To address these issues, the Pan-Sussex Safeguarding Adults Boards co-developed the

Sussex Safeguarding Adults Moving Out of Area Guidance. This was launched in Spring

2025. This new guidance supports professionals by:

e Clarifying local authority roles during transitions, in line with the Care Act 2014
e Embedding Multi-Agency Risk Management (MARM) approaches for high-risk

cases

e Promoting trauma-informed engagement using tools like the Compassionate

Curiosity Toolkit

e Improving communication and escalation pathways across agencies

This work reflects a strong, shared commitment to turning the lessons learnt into real-

world improvements—ensuring that adults remain safeguarded, supported, and central
to decisions during periods of transition.

Pags 45



Strengthening Safeguarding for Adults Rough Sleeping

The ESSAB Safeguarding Adult Review (SAR) subgroup has proactively strengthened its
safeguarding processes forindividuals experiencing rough sleeping, in directresponse to
national recommendations. Recognising the critical intersection of rough sleeping, self-
neglect, and compounded health and social care needs, the subgroup has implemented
the following measures:

Permanent Housing Representative A dedicated housing representative has been
formally welcomed to the SAR subgroup, ensuring housing expertise informs
safeguarding decisions and systemic improvements.

Direct Notification Protocol A robust link has been established with the Rough Sleeping
Initiative (RSI), enabling immediate notification to the subgroup in the event of a rough
sleeper’s death. This triggers an assessment to determine whether a SAR referral is
warranted under Section 44 of the Care Act 2014 and more generally learning to prevent
further deaths where possible.

By bringing in housing expertise and improving how agencies communicate, the subgroup
is tackling the complex risks rough sleepers face—such as mental ill-health, addiction,
and self-neglect —which can make them more vulnerable to abuse and harm.

Safeguarding Adults Reviews (SARs)

The SAR Subgroup acts with delegated responsibility from the East Sussex SAB. Its’ main
purpose is to monitor the delivery of its statutory duties with regards to SARs and other
reviews of cases where there are lessons to be learnt.

SABs have a statutory duty under the Care Act 2014 to undertake Safeguarding Adults
Reviews (SARs). This is when:

An adult dies because of abuse or neglect (including death by suicide), whether
known or suspected, and there is concern that partner agencies could have
worked more effectively to protect the adult.

Or

An adult is still alive but has experienced serious abuse or neglect, and there is
concern that partner agencies could have worked more effectively to protect
the adult

Page 46



Published Safeguarding Adult Reviews 2024/25

SAR Jack was published on the SAB website in 2024/25 and can be viewed here: Published
safeguarding adult reviews (SARs) | East Sussex Safeguarding Adults Board

Jack was 27 years old when he took his own life in July 2022.

Jack experienced a lot of trauma, in his life, including the loss of loved ones.
He was vulnerable to abuse and often struggled with challenging behaviour.
He didn't have a stable home and spent a lot of time on the streets.

Due to these challenges, Jack had to deal with many different organisations
and services. These started before he was born and continued until his
death. He was often in and out of prisons, homeless shelters and hospitals.
The review showed that people who worked with Jack understood his
problems with alcohol, homelessness, and getting into trouble with the law.
They recognised that his past experiences had a big impact on him and made
him vulnerable.

Because of this, the review focussed on what is working well and what could
be strengthened.

Current status of recommendations:

The East Sussex Safeguarding Adults Board (SAB) and its partners have made significant
strides in strengthening safeguarding practices through the implementation of the 8
Recommendation in Jack’s Review.

The recommendations have been actioned during 2024/25 where possible, with several
stillin progress due to their ongoing nature. The recommendations from Jack’s review and
those from previous years, are being addressed through the priorities and subgroups as
detailed above in this Annual Report.

Next 12 months

There is a renewed emphasis on enhancing the governance and structure of the Board
to optimise functionality. This strategic shift aims to facilitate improvements, establish
a clearer monitoring framework, drive change effectively, and yield more favourable
outcomes.

The East Sussex Safeguarding Adults Board (SAB) has enhanced alignment with Strategic
Priorities set forth until 2027.

Paged 47


https://www.eastsussexsab.org.uk/sars/published-sars#SAR%20Jack%20-%20published%20September%202024
https://www.eastsussexsab.org.uk/sars/published-sars#SAR%20Jack%20-%20published%20September%202024

ESSAB Strategic Plan 2024-2027

The following will be directed towards the following key areas:

e Reviewing of Terms of Reference for each of the SAR subgroups.

e Enhancing governance practices concerning Safeguarding Adults Reviews (SARs)
and evidence-based implementation of recommendations and actions and
showcasing improved practice and impact.

e Emphasis will be placed on offering more precise recommendations with a focus
on multi-agency collaboration.

e In the area of Homelessness and Substance Misuse, enhancing practitioners'
comprehension and application of the Self-Neglect Toolkit with particular
attention to Mental Capacity and the Hoarding Framework.

e Enhance the data dashboard to support qualitative and quantitative analysis of
strategic themes, ensuring insights directly inform actions that drive improved
practices.

Page 48


file:///C:/Users/MaryP/Downloads/essab-strategic-plan-2024-2027%20(16).docx

Glossary

Abuse: A violation of an individual’s human and civil rights by any other person or
persons. Can include physical, emotional, sexual, or financial abuse, as well as neglect,
self-neglect, and discriminatory abuse.

Adult at Risk: An adult who has care and support needs (whether or not the local
authority is meeting any of those needs) and is experiencing, or at risk of, abuse or
neglect.

Care Act 2014: Legislation that outlines the responsibilities of local authorities and other
agencies in safeguarding adults with care and support needs. It introduced the statutory
requirement for Safeguarding Adults Boards.

Carer: A person who provides unpaid care and support to an adult who needs help due
toillness, disability, a mental health condition, or an addiction.

Changing Futures The Changing Futures programme is a £77 million joint initiative by the
Department for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities (DLUHC) and The National
Lottery Community Fund, the largest community funder in the UK.

DASH/DARA Forms: Risk assessment tools used primarily in domestic abuse cases to
identify risk levels and guide intervention.

Executive Functioning: Mental skills that include working memory, flexible thinking, and
self-control. Impairments can affect an individual's capacity to make decisions.
Hoarding: A pattern of behavior characterised by excessive acquisition and inability or
unwillingness to discard possessions, resulting in clutter that disrupts living spaces and
can cause health and safety risks.

Independent Chair: An individual appointed to lead the SAB independently from partner
agencies, ensuring impartiality in governance and decision-making.

Making Safeguarding Personal (MSP): A person-centred approach to safeguarding that
focuses on achieving the outcomes that matter to the individual.

Mental Capacity Act (MCA): Law that provides a framework to empower and protect
people who may lack capacity to make some decisions for themselves.

Multi-Agency Risk Management (MARM): A coordinated approach involving different
organisations working together to manage high-risk safeguarding concerns.

Multiple Compound Needs (MCN): Multiple disadvantage or multiple
complex/compound needs (MCN) is defined by the national Changing Futures
programme as people who experience three or more of: homelessness, current or
historical offending, substance misuse, domestic abuse, and mentalill health
Operation Signature: A Sussex Police initiative aimed at identifying and safeguarding
vulnerable victims of fraud.

Pan-Sussex Procedures: Safeguarding policies and procedures that are agreed and
adopted jointly by the three Sussex Safeguarding Adults Boards (East Sussex, West
Sussex, and Brighton & Hove).

Professional Curiosity: An approach that encourages practitioners to explore concerns
in more depth and not take information at face value.

Page® 49


https://www.changingfuturessussex.org/_files/ugd/159251_4497ab46a27a46028c444d64272edebd.docx?dn=Changing%20Futures%20Programme%20Sussex%20-%20Client%20Inter-Sussex%20Transfer%20Form%20-%20V1%20-%20Final.docx

Safeguarding Adults Board (SAB): A multi-agency partnership responsible for ensuring
that safeguarding arrangements work effectively to protect adults with care and support
needs.

Safeguarding Adults Review (SAR): A statutory review conducted when an adult dies or
experiences serious harm due to abuse or neglect, and there is concern about how
agencies worked together.

Self-Neglect: A person’s failure to attend to their basic needs, such as personal hygiene,
health, or surroundings, which can result in a risk to their well-being.

Strategic Plan: A document published by the SAB that outlines its objectives, priorities,
and how partners will work together to improve safeguarding outcomes.

Subgroups: Specialist working groups under the SAB that focus on areas such as
Safeguarding Adult Reviews, Operational Practice, Quality and Audit, and Workforce
Development.

Sussex Safeguarding Policy and Procedures Review Group: A multi-agency group that
reviews and updates safeguarding policies and procedures across Sussex.

Threshold Guidance: Criteria used by practitioners to assess the level of risk or need and
determine the appropriate safeguarding response.

Transition is the term used within the 2014 Care Act (and also the Children and Families
Act 2014) to describe the range of processes that local authorities should use to support
a child with care needs or young carer (and their informal networks of support) to move
successfully from childhood into adulthood. The 3 groups of people that transition
applies to are: Young people with Care and Support needs who are approaching
adulthood; Adult carers of young people with Care and Support needs who are
approaching adulthood; and Young carers who are themselves approaching adulthood
Trauma-Informed Practice: Trauma-informed practice is an approach to health and
care interventions which is grounded in the understanding that trauma exposure can
impact an individual’s neurological, biological, psychological and social development. A
working definition of trauma-informed practice is detailed on the Gov.uk website.
Workforce Development Subgroup (TWD): A subgroup of the SAB responsible for
training and ensuring that learning from reviews and audits is embedded into professional
practice.

Page 50


https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2014/23/part/1/crossheading/transition-for-children-to-adult-care-and-support-etc
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/working-definition-of-trauma-informed-practice/working-definition-of-trauma-informed-practice

Appendix 1 SAB Budget

Adult Social Care and Health (ASCH), NHS Sussex Integrated Care Board (ICB), Sussex
Police, East Sussex Healthcare Trust (ESHT) and East Sussex Fire and Rescue (ESFRS)
contribute annually to the SAB budget. SAB Partners support with the running of the
Board, for example by offering to chair meetings and co-delivering training. The budget
contributions are reviewed annually to ensure that the SAB is delivering its statutory

duties.

Income 2024 - 2025

Partner Contributions £135,985
Carryover from 23/24 £5,512
Total £141,497
Expenditure 2024 — 2025
SAB Staffing £112,944
Independent Chair £16,859
Safeguarding Adult Reviews £3,150
Website (SAB & Procedures) and £1,030
training costs
Total £134,626
Carry Forward 2025/26 £7,192

Paga 51




Appendix 2 Partnership information and data

WAV East Sussex
Adult Social Care and Health (ASCH) SRR County Council

The Care Act 2014 sets out statutory duties and responsibilities for safeguarding
adults including the requirement to undertake enquiries under section 42 of the Act.
Below is a summary of key safeguarding activity during 2023/24 for both concerns
raised, and enquiries undertaken by Adult Social Care and Health (ASCH) in East
Sussex Council.

The number of safeguarding concerns received in 2024/25 is 15,385

0 For 2024/25 ASCH have enhanced their way of recording referrals coming into

Health and Social Care Connect - the ‘front door’ with a new way of recording
contacts to enable a smoother transition from a safeguarding concern to a safeguarding
enquiry.

Comparisons with previous years are challenging, as the HSCC safeguarding pilot has
significantly increased the number of safeguarding concerns recorded as reportable
contacts rather than as free-text case notes, which are not easily quantifiable.

The number of enquiries (S42 and Other) that commenced in 2024/25 was 3,082

Table of concerns received/ how many concerns did not progress/enquiries started

Year Total Concerns Concerns not Enquiries started
progressed to (S42 and Other
enquiry

2024/25 15,385 12,256 3,082

Note: Counting the concerns that raise an enquiry. Concerns (contacts) linked to an
existing enquiry are not being counted. The concerns not progressed plus enquiries
started will not equal the total concerns, as some enquiries started within the year from
a concern received before the year, and some concerns progress to enquiries which
started after the year end (but the difference is very small).

Type and location of risk reported nationally in 2023/24 in completed section 42
enquiries.

The most common type of risk in Section 42 enquiries which concluded in the year was
Neglect and Acts of Omission, which accounted for 36% of risks (32% nationally

in 2023/24) and the most common location of the risk was the person’s own home at 40%
(compared to 46% nationally in 2023/24)

Page 52



The risk figures that the NHS uses in their national report are figures from the
Safeguarding Adults Return (SAC) return. The ASCH figures have therefore compared the
number on their 24/25 SAC return to the 23/24 national figure.

The location of risk figures that NHS use in their national report are figures from the SAC
return. ASCH have therefore taken the 24/25 SAC return SG2b figure and compared to the
national figure for 23/24.

The link to the 23/24 NHS SAC return report is: Safeguarding Adults, England, 2023-24 -
NHS England Digital

Outcomes for completed Enquiries (S42 and Other)

Year Fully achieved Partially achieved Not achieved
2024/25 53% 42% 5%
e The total outcomes fully or partially achieved for enquiries (S42 and Other) has
remained the same as in 23/24 at 95%

Note: These figures are the same as the 23/24 figures.

Making Safeguarding Personal - outcomes for completed S42 enquiries

e Of the 2378 Section 42 enquiries completed, 80% (1906) were asked and
outcomes were expressed.

e 53% of outcomes were fully achieved, 42% were partially achieved, 4% were not
achieved (all cases had outcomes achieved recorded)

Mental capacity for completed Safeguarding Enquiries (S42 and Other)

Year

Has capacity

Lacks capacity

Not Known

2024/25

68%

30%

2%

Of Adults who lacked capacity, 98% were supported by an advocate in both 2023/24 and

2024/25.

Pags 53



https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/statistical/safeguarding-adults/2023-24
https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/statistical/safeguarding-adults/2023-24

Most reported abuse types for completed enquiries (S42 and Other)
Below are graphs for completed enquiries. These are in the same order as lastyear. There

can be more than one abuse type per enquiry.

Most reported abuse Types
1322

I I I T

1400
1161
1200

1000
800 645 662

600
400
200

0

Physical ~ Psychological  Financial Neglect Domestic  Self Neglect

Abuse Type

H23/24 ®W24/25

e The mostreported abuse types in 2024/25 remain the same as in 2023/24.
e Physical, Psychological, Financial, Neglect and Self Neglect all increased this
year. Domestic abuse decreased this year
e The most significant changes in these abuse types are financial abuse, neglect,
and self-neglect which have all increased by 14% this year. Domestic abuse has
decreased by 13% this year.
Most common locations of abuse in completed safeguarding enquiries (S42 and

Other)

This data shows enquiries, not episodes. There can be more than one location per

enquiry.
Common locations in safeguarding enquiries, Secton 42 and
others
1600 1496 1401
1400
5 1200
2 1000 600
£ 800
E it . 151 205 . 292 239 am1
209 - B -
23/24 24/25
B Own home 1496 1401
B Care Home 514 600
B Nursing Home 290 292
M Hospital - Acute 151 239
M In The Community (Not A Service) 205 211

Year and location

Page 54



e The most common reported location of abuse in completed safeguarding
enquiries is in the adult at risk’s own home (1401). This has decreased by 6% in
24/25 compared to 23/24 (1496).

e The second most common location continues to be Care Homes. This has
increased by 17%, from 514 in 23/24 to 600 in 24/25.

Alleged Perpetrator/PTCOR type in completed safeguarding enquiries (S42 and

Other)

Below are graphs for completed enquiries and not for completed episodes. There can be
more than one alleged perpetrator or person with Pretrial Conditions of Release (PTCOR)

per enquiry.

Alleged Perpetrator type in completed Section 42
an other denquiries

1200
1000
800
600
400
200
0
Other Other Family Partner Health Care Social Care

Member Worker Staff

m23/24 756 765 942 567 707

W 24/25 1025 737 729 654 553

H23/24 m24/25

Most common age and gender of victims in completed safeguarding enquiries (S42

and Other)

This data below shows enquiries, not episodes by counting once per enquiry (where an

individual has multiple enquiries, they are counted once per enquiry)
All age/gender group combinations for ASCH are shown for 23/24 and 24/25, in
decreasing order.

Age Group Gender 23/24 24/25
18-64 Female 932 857
18-64 Male 385 474
85-94 Female 402 392
75-84 Female 395 384
75-84 Male 213 272
85-94 Male 202 219
65-74 Female 177 208
65-74 Male 142 177
95+ Female 90 79
95+ Male 24 28
18-64 Other

18-64 Unknown 1 1

Pags 55



Completed Safeguarding Enquiries by ethnicity

Below are graphs for completed enquiries and not for completed episodes. Counting
once per enquiry (where an individual has multiple enquiries, they are counted once per
enquiry)

Completed safeguarding enquiries by ethnicity

Any Other Ethnic Group | %2

Black %g
Asian é‘96
Mixed 5721
Not Yet Obtained/Refused 1178g
0 500 1000 1500 2000 2500 3000

W 24/25 m23/24

e Adults of white origin continue to be the largest group, accounting for 89% of
completed enquiries in 24/25, a slight decrease from 90% in 23/24

e The second largest group (excluding Not Yet Obtained/Refused) is once again
Mixed, which has increased from 52 in 2023/24 to 71 in 2024/25.

Page 56



Sussex Police

The graph below shows the number of Crimes per Category of Abuse Risk
reported between1s January 2024 to 1%January 2025).

Adult Abuse Occurrence Breakdown

Adult abuse - Physical

Adult abuse - Sexual

Adult abuse - Psychological/emotional
Adult abuse - Financial

Modern slavery

Adult abuse - Discriminatory fff 21

Adult abuse - Neglectff 9

Adult abuse - Institutional | 4

[¢] 200 400 600 800
Count

H :; H
ALy
= ‘é:;) =
RN
%f/ﬂ;’ II“\\\\\:\\.

Domestic Abuse, Stalking and Harassment and ‘’Honour-based’ violence (DASH)
Risk forms (DASH) are for use by specialist domestic abuse and other nonpolice
agencies for identification of risks when domestic abuse, ‘honour-based’ violence

and/or stalking are disclosed.

The Vulnerable Adult at Risk (VAAR) section of the Single Combined Assessment of
Risk Form (SCARF) is completed by the police for every safeguarding concern.

Submissions for both the VAAR and DASH (now Domestic Abuse Risk Assessment -
DARA) have decreased over the past 12 months. In 2023/24 VAARs totalled 12893

and DASH/DARAs 10362 (see graph 2024/25 below).

DASH/DARA and Adult at Risk Assessments

11400 11247
11200
11000
10800
10600
10400
o000 10194
10000

9800

9600
Adult at Risk DASH/DARA

Paga 57



0
OPERATION
@ SIGNATURE

Protecting Vulnerable Victims of Fraud

Operation Signature is the police service campaign to identify and support vulnerable
victims of fraud. The campaigh aims to combat fraud and scams with a particular focus
on protecting the more vulnerable and elderly.

e In2024/25 Operation Signature supported 1004 vulnerable victims of fraud in East
Sussex. 496 of these victims were offered additional support from fraud
caseworkers working for Victim Support.

e The 3 most common fraud types reported in that period were Courier Fraud,
Doorstep crime/Rogue traders and Dating and Romance.

e 52% of the victims were aged over 75 years old.

e The 3 most common ways victims were contacted by fraudsters was by Phone, In
person and via social media.

e During the 24/25 financial year, vulnerable residents of East Sussex lost a
combined £14.66 million.

How Sussex Police tackle fraud

Sussex Police prevented £1.7 Million in fraud losses through banking protocol

This year, Sussex Police have successfully prevented £1.7 million from falling into the
hands of criminals through the Banking Protocol initiative.

As part of this effort, Sussex Police implemented a reverse mechanism that allows them
to proactively notify banks about vulnerable customers. Over the past 12 months,
officers have submitted 195 Bank Notification Forms, enabling financial institutions to
take safeguarding measures to protect victims' accounts. In many cases, this process
has also led to banks refunding stolen funds to vulnerable victims of fraud. In addition,
Sussex Police fraud prevention volunteers have provided tailored advice to 6,856 victims
of fraud who are not classified as vulnerable. This allows police resources to be focused
on directly supporting those most at risk.

Following the success of a pilot scheme in East Surrey, they are now expanding the
Volunteer Fraud Prevention Programme to Sussex. The programme involves trained
volunteers delivering in-person presentations and talks to raise awareness about
common frauds and how to avoid them. Nine volunteers have already been recruited
across Sussex, with the first now active in Hastings and working alongside the local
Neighbourhood Policing Team (NPT).

Community partners, charities, and local organisations can request fraud awareness
talks by contacting the Sussex and Surrey Fraud Prevention Engagement Team at:
SussexandSurreyFraudPreventionEngagements@surrey.police.uk

The Op Signature team also produces a monthly newsletter that highlights emerging fraud
trends and offers safeguarding advice. This publication currently reaches over 40,000
residents across Sussex and Surrey. You can sign up to receive it via the Sussex Alerts
homepage: Sussex Alerts Home Page - Sussex Alerts

Page 58


mailto:SussexandSurreyFraudPreventionEngagements@surrey.police.uk
https://www.sussexalerts.co.uk/

Sussex Partnership NHS Foundation Trust NHS|
(SPFT) Sussex Partnership

NHS Foundation Trust

Safeguarding work within SPFT is led by its Safeguarding Service. The service provides
safeguarding training and safeguarding consultations to its staff. It contributes to the
Trust's programme of quality reviews of its services and participates in the multi-agency
work of the Sussex Safeguarding Adults Boards and Safer Community Partnerships. The
Service leads on the Trust's Prevent work and contributes to Multi Agency Risk
Assessment Conference (MARAC) duties. It monitors and analyses safeguarding
activity across the Trust.

Safeguarding Incidents - SPFT records safeguarding incidents within its incident
recording system. This provides a central database for the storage and analysis of the
Trust's safeguarding data. Table 1 shows the number of safeguarding adultincidents that
were raised by SPFT teams working in East Sussex in 2024/25; numbers from the previous
year are provided for comparison. The overall humber of safeguarding incidents
recorded reduced by 69. The Trust is promoting use of the Sussex Safeguarding Adults
Thresholds: Guidance for Professionals. Use of this document helps staff to understand
statutory safeguarding criteria and leads to fewer inappropriate safeguarding concerns
being raised.

Table 1 - Adult Safeguarding Concern Incident Numbers 2023/24

Categories of Abuse 2023/24 _
Physical 73 55
Sexual 37 30
Financial 32 41
Discriminatory 3 1
Domestic 59 20
Psychological/emotional 46 58
Neglect & acts of omission 59 47
Self-neglect 26 14
Organisational 6 5
Modern slavery 0 1
Total 341 272

Pag® 59



Graph 1 - As per table, year comparison

Categories of Abuse (2023/24 vs 2024/25)

Number of Cases

. 202324
70 [ 2024/25
60
50t
40t
30}
20t
101
0 | H
& & o

N
2 < (‘\
& e &
& o & \° o 3
o £ & _ & & @ ,.;@' P S
< @ N § & S o
S < N N
L & LY @ <
e N .0 2 & R
o & & d ¥
[s) o
o X
q‘v‘\o &
&

Section 42 Enquiries - SPFT safeguarding enquiry information recorded thirty-four
Section 42 enquiries within East Sussex where the Trust was named as the cause of
risk. Most of the enquiries were linked to inpatient mental health settings where
patients at risk of harm to themselves or others are accommodated together. A
Section 42 enquiry and an SPFT internal quality review at the Department of
Psychiatry in Eastbourne led to a programme of bespoke safeguarding training during
2024/25 to aid staff learning at this unit.

The total number of Section 42 enquiries was down from forty-seven in the previous
year. Part of this reduction is attributed to the cessation of safeguarding enquiries
being triggered automatically for every incident of a delay in hospital admission
following a Mental Health Act assessment.

Safeguarding Adult Review (Jack) - SPFT contributed to SAR Jack that was published
in September 2024. SPFT has shared learning from the review across its services. It
has promoted use of the Sussex Multi-agency Procedures to Support Adults who Self-
Neglect which were revised in line with a recommendation from the Safeguarding
Adult review.

Information Sharing - The SPFT Safeguarding Service worked with East Sussex
County Council to obtain read only access to the ESCC Adult Social Care client
database. This improves safeguarding information sharing between the two
organisations and is in line with best practice. SPFT now has this arrangement with
each of the Sussex local authorities.

Prevent - The Trust reviewed and updated its Prevent Policy to reflect changes to
terminology and definitions arising from the national review of Prevent in 2023. The
Trust also began a project to analyse 130 cases referred by SPFT to the Prevent

Page 60



Channel Panel process. The work will conclude in 2025. Its results will be shared to
inform services of the characteristics of people being referred to Prevent who are
linked to mental health services. Itis hoped that the report will lead to publication of
an academic paper.

Responding to Trust staff experiencing or perpetrating domestic abuse - The Trust
reviewed and updated its staff domestic abuse policy to ensure support of its own
staff who experience or perpetrate domestic abuse is in line with legislation and best
practice.

Changing the language: a guide to language for mental health - The Trust's
safeguarding service contributed to the development of a new language guide for
mental health. Learning from SARs about the power of language to engage or exclude
was shared with the project and is reflected in the guide. The guide can be found at
Changing the Language Guide and is for use by all agencies.

Pagd 61


https://www.sussex.ics.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/sites/9/2025/01/Changing-Language-Guide-2025_28_01_25_Interactive.pdf

East Sussex Fire and Rescue Service

i

East Sussex
Fira & Rescue Service

Home Safety Visits

East Sussex Fire and Rescue Service (ESFRS) provide Home Safety Visits
(HSV’s) to members of the community with essential information on safety in their home,
escape plans and what to do in the case of a fire.

ESFRS also works with GP surgeries to deliver home safety visits to those most at risk

from accidental dwelling fires.

East Sussex - Home Safety visit data

582 561 586
600 512 38 512 548 507 549
466
382
400
139 131 142

200 110 113 76 120 113 I78 65 92 57

, Al EN N AN Em H= HN HEm Bu Hu Hn K.

Apr-24  May-24  Jun-24  Jul-24  Aug-24  Sep-24  Oct-24 Nov-24 Dec-24 Jan-25 Feb-25 Mar-25

B Home Safety Visits Completed W Home Safety visit Referrals received from East Sussex ASC *

* [n 2024/25 over 6,400 home safety visits were completed in East Sussex
Coming to Notice (CTN) forms
e 387 Coming to Notice (CTN) forms were submitted in 2024/25 in relation to
safeguarding concerns.

* Hoarding represented 18% of all concerns.
* Additional support represented 11% of all concerns.

Page 62



East Sussex Healthcase NHS Trust m

East Sussex Healthcare
NHS Trust

East Sussex Healthcare NHS Trust (ESHT) safeguarding
recorded a total of 826 adult social care enquiries; this continues to represent a year-on

year increase.

900

800

700

600

500

400

300

200

100

Adult Safeguarding Enquires

2021-2021 2021-2022 2022-2023 2023-2024 2024-2025

e Adult Safeguarding Enquires

Neglect, self-neglect, and domestic abuse have featured as the prevalent themes for the
last few years and this has continued.

Themes

300
250

200
150
100
50 H Total
0o — = u 1 — I |
(o

S e S o Q X e 2 Q Q
9 RBIR Y & A& & & & 'b&
&R @ o8 R R R S
SRS AR A PN SR PN A
SR SR @ &L P
< ) Xe) +Q @ Q} Xe) S\ Q R\
o« & §F T &S F T
O P (& &S SR
o®

A screening tool for domestic abuse was embedded within the Emergency
Department systems to support staff to undertake the routine enquiry of domestic
abuse in March 2024, work to expand the tool and enable accessibility across the

Pa@s 63



organisation is ongoing. This has resulted in an increase in domestic abuse
referrals from these departments.

A trauma informed training package has been developed and piloted within
gateway areas. Trauma Informed Care has been presented to the Trust Board, and
we continue to work alongside Changing Futures Pan Sussex Trauma Informed
Community of Practice.

The Trust signed up to the NHS Sexual safety charterin 2023 and completed work
to implement the charter in 2024.

A task and finish group was established to consider how to support staff to
manage cases of self-neglect with plans to take forward a bi-weekly ‘drop-in’ for
staffto access guidance and support, with the expertise of safeguarding and adult
social care teams.

The Trust has participated in broader work with partner agencies about Right Care
Right person and in response to this established a Missing person meeting to
consider any potential learning.

Pilot of new digital assessment document for mental capacity assessments and
Best Interest Decisions.

The safeguarding team participated in learning events across the emergency
Departments and Surgical teams to name a couple. Ad-hoc and team days across
the trust are attended by the safeguarding team on request.

There has been an additional and significant challenge with the very high numbers
of patient with a very extended length of stay many of whom are frail, complex and
at high risk of harm e.g., falls, pressure damage and psychological distress.

The presentation of some cases is increasingly complex. An area where this is
continued to be a feature is within Maternity Safeguarding, for example domestic
abuse considerations have also to encompass any risks to new-borns and other
families.

ESHT continue to facilitate level 3 training as a Think Family Safeguarding model.
The training was formally updated in 2023-2024 and continues to be reviewed on
an ongoing basis to ensure it links to current themes. Staff access an assessed e-
learning package prior to joining a facilitated session which is r via virtual training
platform.

The Health Independent Domestic Violence Advocate (HIDVA) facilitates
Domestic Abuse training within the trust. In 2024 the HIDVA also facilitated a third
cohort of training for Domestic Abuse champions within the trust training a further
22 members of staff.

The Trust employs two Mental Capacity specialists who have developed
workshops and training within the organisation. The impact of the work is
demonstrated through the increase in Deprivation of Liberty applications.

Pagé 64



Dols applications per annum

1200
1000
800

600

400
200
0

Total Dols per
annum

W 2022-2023 ®2023-2024 m™2024-2025

Dols referals per month

100
90
80 —
70
60
50
40
30
20
10

e )024-2025 ~ em——2023-2024

® The safeguarding team facilitate daily safeguarding huddles within the Emergency
Departments to enable a process to support staff to recognise and manage
safeguarding concerns in real time.

Pags 65



NHS Sussex Integrated Care Board m

NHS Sussex have worked alongside both statutory and the wider Sussex
partners of the Safeguarding Adults Board to safeguard the local

population and is represented on all SAB subgroups and leadership groups. As one of the
three lead partners, NHS Sussex supports all key decision-making functions of the SAB
NHS Sussex chair the Training and Workforce Development (TWD) Sub-group, the
Domestic Abuse Related Death Review (DARDR) Oversight Group and the Multi-Agency
Risk Management Forum (MARM).

Training

NHS Sussex Safeguarding and Children in Care fortnight was held in November 2024 with
the theme of ‘Hidden Harm’. The training sessions offered frontline professionals and
their managers across Sussex the opportunity for a learning and reflective space to
improve understanding and awareness. This year of the fortnight was developed in
collaboration with the Safeguarding Children Partnerships and Safeguarding Adults
Boards to share resources and increase impact and awareness across the system.

T
;:‘| 12 S
o 1 934 gff 100+

Feedback Demonstrating Impact of Sessions
— It was very helpful to learn about the national

str. fors rting un mpanied minors.
| will bear this in mind with the work that | do with Bizafegy IOr SUPROIUNG UNSCoOMpaIed TEno

neurodiverse young people, it was interesting and

inspirational
p Training flowed well, Included Interesting,

relevant and challenging cases aswellas a

| will use my learning to inform my strategic
4 8 y & practical guide to assessment and referrals.

planning for families affected

My role has some strategic elements - | will use
| will share with my team and be more aware of this learning in my current and future practice
the option to utilise Prevent and other channels

Page 66



NHS Sussex have led on two Level 4 training sessions for health professionals across the
system:

‘Improving care for women whose babies have been removed from their care’
Feedback post training included:

» This was an excellent training session. | work in a psychiatric mother and baby unit
and sometimes babies are separated from mothers, and | have never heard about
Hope Boxes and have never heard about the charity Pause. The delivery of the
sessions was very good.

» Excellent speakers. Particularly enjoyed hearing from the care leavers and the
work being done around referrals to children’s services for women who have been
care experienced and currently well supported, and HOPE boxes work.

» Very thought-provoking session and I'm so glad to see the issues raised and
considered for this group of women who go on suffering from the loss of their child

By rating attendees’ knowledge pre and post training, NHS Sussex identified a 25%
increase in knowledge post training.

‘Understanding Neurodiversity in Safeguarding’

Feedback post training included:

» Brilliant training: | have always only thought about neuro divergent children and
never really thought about neuro divergent parents, parenting
neurotypical/divergent children (and other generations).

» It was good, | learnt about the different types of neurodiversity and to be more
aware and attentive when around everyone

By rating attendees’ knowledge pre and post training, NHS Sussex identified a 20%
increase in knowledge post training.

Provider assurance

NHS Sussex currently has a role in oversight and assurance of health providers through
quarterly exception reporting, biannual safeguarding assurance self-assessment and
through undertaking site visits. The quarterly exception report was reviewed in 24/25 and
has been amended to ensure we get the data required from providers that provides a
picture of where gaps may be or to highlight good practice. It has been agreed that
relevant data collected can be shared with the Safeguarding Adults Board to inform the
dashboard.

During 24/25 a safeguarding benchmarking toolkit was developed and shared with all
pharmacy, ophthalmology and dentistry practices in Sussex as a self-assessment.

Pagy 67



Working in Partnership to Provide Effective Safeguarding Arrangements

In response to the joint SAR (Gwen & lan) commissioned by the SAB, NHS Sussex led on
a collaborative piece of work developing a Self-Neglect Management Flow Chart for use
by primary care to support and improve practise around identifying self-neglect, making
referrals and undertaking carers assessment. The tool was promoted during
Safeguarding Fortnight and initial feedback from providers was positive. In 25/26 the tool
will be reviewed, and an audit undertaken to evaluate the impact on practice

NHS Sussex Safeguarding Team continue as source of expertise across the health and
social care system, providing leadership via regular supervision with colleagues in NHS
Providers, leading local and regional safeguarding forums and providing advice to system
partners on complex safeguarding cases involving health.

Sexual Safety Charter

During 2024/25 NHS Sussex led and supported implementation and roll out of the NHSE
Sexual Safety Charter across both the ICB and the provider network. The aim of the
Charter is to ensure a systematic, trauma-informed approach to sexual misconduct and
violence towards staff throughout the workplace. A gap analysis and action plan were
developed to ensure improvements were in place and relevant safeguarding and HR
policies were updated. A mandatory virtual training package ‘understanding sexual
misconduct in the workplace’ was launched in Q3, which enable staff to recognise and
report sexual misconduct and to understand how to support colleagues (victims and
witnesses).

Mental Capacity Act (MCA)

Following the identification of gaps in learning in recent SARs, specific MCA training has
been delivered to 93 primary care staff throughout the year to support embedding of MCA
in GP practice. The training was reviewed and updated in Jan 25 and is offered to clinical
staff on a bimonthly basis 60 people attended the sessions in Q4 with practitioners feeling
more competent in applying MCA to practice based on feedback. Focused development
work and training has been undertaken with All Age Continuing Care (AACC) to ensure
application of MCA for 16/17-year-olds and an MCA Competency Framework will be
developed by end of Q2 25/26 and will strengthen compliance.

Clinical Safeguarding Advice and support

NHS Sussex provide an important clinical safeguarding advisory role across the health
and social care system. Where safeguarding concerns of a clinical nature have been
raised, the Local Authority will consider the need for a safeguarding response under
Section 42 of the Care Act. 2.3. Receiving concerns and undertaking enquiries | Section
2 | Sussex Safeguarding Adults Policy and Procedures

NHS Sussex continue to offer a robust advice and signposting service to ensure multi
agency colleagues are supported with health-related safeguarding issues. Our Named
GPs for safeguarding offer a separate advice line for GP practices.

Page 68


https://www.sussexsafeguardingadults.org/access-the-policy-and-procedures/section-2/2-3-receiving-concerns-and-undertaking-enquiries/#D2.3.4.
https://www.sussexsafeguardingadults.org/access-the-policy-and-procedures/section-2/2-3-receiving-concerns-and-undertaking-enquiries/#D2.3.4.

East Sussex Inbox contacts; April 15t 2024 — March 31°' 2025

The graph below represents the number of contacts received by NHS Sussex in the last
year. Of these 126 contacts, 33 were specific to section 42 enquiries, 55 were
professionals asking for advice and 4 related to AACC enquiries. The second graph
relates to the Provider/Service Type in relation to the contacts. These figures highlight the
level of support given to partner agencies and providers and the collaborative working
undertaken to address the needs of our population.

150
140
130 126
120
110
100
90
a0
70
60 55
50
40 33
30
20
0 .
B Inbox Contacts W 542 O Advice 0O AACC Enquiries
B CarelMursing Home A6
B Independent Provider
B MHSProvider
B HostCommissioning
B Comiciliary Care
m PO
@ GFP or other Primary Care
B Cwn Home
m Supported Living Sarvice
B Cther
a 20 40 (=] ED 10D

Pag® 69



The graph below relates to the Type of Abuse in relation to the Inbox Contacts in the first

graph.

B @SNy umouy op
L -

1 ‘Aane|g uiapopy

ZT ‘levonesiuedig

7 ‘asngy Isawog

0 RIOYEUILILASI]
L

¥ 8 Fap a5

L

¥Z 33N
T ‘|EnKag
7 ‘lesi3ojoyaksg

0T feaishid

0 epueuly

120
110
100
a0
BD
70
B0
50
40
30
20

10

Page 70



Sussex Community NHS NHS
Foundation Trust (SCFT) Sussex Community

NHS Foundation Trust

Sussex Community NHS Foundation Trust (SCFT) serves a wide geographical area
which includes West Sussex, Brighton and Hove, High Weald, Lewes and Havens,
and provides health services in the community to both adults and children.

Safeguarding is a fundamental part of our recruitment process, ensuring appropriate
checks are in place to ensure all staff are employed within SCFT services to contribute
to the delivery of excellent care within the community. All staff have access to
mandatory and statutory safeguarding training for adults and children appropriate to
their role and position within the Trust, including higher-level training for those in
specialistroles.

SCFT has a safeguarding team which provides specialist advice for both adults and
children across all services and supports staff to recognise signs of abuse and how to
report it. The Trust works effectively with all safeguarding partnerships to ensure a
multi-disciplinary and cross-agency approach.

The safeguarding team works closely with new service developments to ensure we
provide high quality and effective health services. The team is part of a Quality and
Safety Department, which enables close working both with specialist safety teams and
clinical staff. This ensures that SCFT focuses on learning for improvement and
strengthens their personalised approach to safeguarding. In 2025/2026 there be will a
trust-wide focus on developing good practice around the Mental Capacity Act and Mental
Capacity Act assessments.

SCFT continues to work in line with their safeguarding strategy, which underpins their
commitment to providing excellent care at the heart of the community.

The aim of the strategy is to ensure that everything they do, wherever it takes place,
ensures the safety, security, and well-being of children and adults who are involved

with SCFT services. This will be achieved through the following goals, which reflect the
priorities of the Trust’s Strategy:

Our People - SCFT will provide effective safeguarding advice and guidance to staff,
volunteers, and carers to enable them to support people with any safeguarding
concerns.

Inclusive - SCFT will recognise and respect diversity to meet the safeguarding needs of

marginalised and seldom-heard groups, reducing inequalities and deprivation within
their communities.

Pagd 71



Learning — SCFT| will continue to promote a culture of continuous safeguarding

improvement and learning in the face of economic uncertainty.

Partnerships - SCFT will build on internal and external partnerships to strengthen
safeguarding practice. Developed with the help of the SAB partners, the strategy sets out
how they will deliver their commitment to safeguarding and their strategic priorities for

the next three years.

Safeguarding adults training

Level | Target Cohort Target 2024-2025 Analysis of Variance
Compliance Data

L2 Mandatory for all 85% 98% Compliance remained above

staff SCFT compliance target of
95%

L3 Mandatory for all 85% 90.5% In line with the NHS
Adultand Intercollegiate Guidance the
Specialist Services annual target is 85%
registered nursing
and AHP staff Band
5-8a

L3 Mandatory for 85% 97.5% Compliance evidence that

WRAP | Adult and the final stretched third year
Specialist Services target of 85% by Q4 23-24
staff that require has been met.

Adult Safeguarding
L3, and Children’s
Services.

L3 Mandatory training for all new starters | New starter | ESR Module MCA: Assessing

MCA (in L3 cohort) and is also accessible to | compliance: Mental Capacity.
all staff should they chose to |96.4% Completion will fluctuate
complete it. depending on new staff flow

into SCFT, and substantive
staff choice to complete.

Raising safeguarding concerns

SCFT staff demonstrate an awareness of risk and escalate adult safeguarding concerns
to ensure support is provided to the adults involved. Safeguarding concerns raised to

East Sussex County Council are as follows:

Adult safeguarding concerns raised by SCFT to ESCC 2024-2025

ESCC

\ 103

Page 72




Theme of concerns raised to East Sussex 2024/2025

46
20 43

No. of themes
N
(2]

7
1(5) ° 2 4 4 2
0 0
0 i i
2 (7 (7 (2 < < X
o & o & > o » & ¥ *o‘)&
s s s ¥ g \s \s S° e ¥
D P X B & & <L & « e
& g & & & & o ? O
L S S & o S N o S
x$ < & & QP g
< v O N
S o & &
] & QY O
%Q/
é‘&

OTheme of concern

The table above shows the various safeguarding themes captured within the concerns
raised to ESCC, and the key theme of neglect/acts of omission is as expected given the
broad scope of issues encompassed within this category across health and social care
services. These concerns may relate to care provided by SCFT, care delivered by other
health or social care providers of care given by unpaid carers, such as family members
and friends.

SCFT Internal Safeguarding Adults Advice line

SCFT staff have access to specialist advice via the SCFT safeguarding advice line. This
support enables SCFT staff to improve their practice, knowledge and confidence in
safeguarding and supports better outcomes for adults who need care and support. This
also reinforces a culture of developing improved outcomes in the promotion of
safeguarding adults from harm and abuse in line with the values expected from all
healthcare professionals.

SCFT: Safeguarding Adults Advice Line 2024-2025
Contacts (Trust-wide) 552

Pags 73



East Sussex Healthwatch

Advice line contact demonstrates that staff discuss healthw tCh

concerns directly with patients (when appropriate to East Sussex
do so and in line with consideration of mental

capacity), provide risk mitigation where possible,

provide safety netting information and case management, and contact Adult Social Care
directly when urgency is required. The SCFT Safeguarding Adults team also escalates
potential quality issues within other provider services to the NHS Sussex Integrated Care
Board (ICB) Safeguarding Team for wider consideration.

Healthwatch is the independent consumer champion created to gather and
represent the views of the public on issues related to health and social care. They
have legal functions, including a statutory power to ‘enter and view’ health and care
services, established under the Health and Social Care Act 2012.

Healthwatch published 35 reports in 2024/25. The reports include findings and
recommendations in relation to health and social care concerns and experiences of
East Sussex residents.

e 3,586 people shared their experiences of health and social care services with
Healthwatch helping to raise awareness of issues and improve care.

* Healthwatch directly supported 566 people with enquiries through their
Information and Signposting service, including users of food banks, migrants
and residents in Lewes Prison

* Healthwatch conducted ‘enter and view’ visits to 20 care homes settings
across East Sussex to ask people about their experiences of dentistry and
oral health care and their experience of hospital discharge.

¢ Healthwatch conducted face-to-face engagement with 197 people during the
Listening Tour 2024/25, which focused on Wealden District, Lewes and the
Havens, and Hastings Borough.

* Healthwatch staff and volunteers carried out a ‘mystery shopping’ exercise of
Modern General Practice, reviewing the website and in-hours phone
messages of 55 GP practices from across East Sussex.

* During two phases of engagement Healthwatch staff and volunteers spoke to
358 people in the waiting rooms of Emergency Departments (ED) or Urgent
Treatment Centres (UTC) at East Sussex hospitals about the journey they had
taken before attending.

* Recommendations from Healthwatch reports are shared with statutory and
VCSE partners. The Annual Report is presented to the East Sussex Health and
Wellbeing Board.

You can view further information on all the reports Healthwatch have published here.

Page 74


https://www.healthwatcheastsussex.co.uk/report/dentistry-and-oral-health-care-homes-report
https://www.healthwatcheastsussex.co.uk/report/dentistry-and-oral-health-care-homes-report
https://www.healthwatcheastsussex.co.uk/report/hospital-discharge-discharge-to-assess-beds-enter-and-view
https://www.healthwatcheastsussex.co.uk/report/2025-06-27/healthwatch-listening-tour-202425-summary-report
https://www.healthwatcheastsussex.co.uk/report/modern-general-practice-mystery-shop
https://www.healthwatcheastsussex.co.uk/report/2025-06-03/pathways-emergency-departments-and-urgent-treatment-centres
https://www.healthwatcheastsussex.co.uk/report/2025-06-03/pathways-emergency-departments-and-urgent-treatment-centres
https://www.healthwatcheastsussex.co.uk/report/2025-06-25/healthwatch-east-sussex-annual-report-2024-25-unlocking-power-people-driven-care
https://www.healthwatcheastsussex.co.uk/news-and-reports
https://healthwatcheastsussex.co.uk/reports/

South East Coast Ambulance

NHS

South East Coast

Ambulance Service
NHS Foundation Trust

Service

South East Coast Ambulance Service (SECAmMb)

responds to 999 calls from the public, urgent calls from healthcare professionals and
provide NHS 111 services across Brighton & Hove, East Sussex, West Sussex, Kent,
Surrey, and North East Hampshire (a geographical area of 3,600 square miles). SECAmb
employs over 4,000 staff with almost 90% of the workforce being operational staff - those
caring for patients either face to face, or overthe phone at our emergency dispatch centre
where we receive 999 calls.

Safeguarding SECAmb reinforces the principle that safeguarding is everybody’s
responsibility and develops a culture of continuous learning and improvement to
promote the safety and welfare of adults at risk, children and young people and looked
after children.

In 2024/25, a total of approximately 41,000 referrals were received across the NHS111
and 999 services: 33,000 for adults and 8,000 for children. This equates to an increase of
23 per cent compared to the previous year. All referrals continue to be triaged by
members of the Safeguarding team before forwarding to the relevant local authority or
other lead agency.

Despite the continued increase in referral number and subsequent pressure on the
team’s capacity there is assurance that SECAmb are escalating concerns appropriately
and in a timely way. There are regular touchpoint meetings with heads of service across
the SECAmb footprint in both adult and children’s social teams where discussions take
place regarding the quality and appropriateness of referrals.

A randomised audit was conducted throughout February 2025, spanning a month, to
ensure timely processing of referrals. The audit concluded

o 57.5% of referrals on average processed in 24 hours

e 22% of referrals on average processed in 48 hours

o 11.1% of referrals on average processed in 72 hours

e 9% of referrals on average processed between 72 and 120 hours

SECAmb’s Safeguarding team have built good relationships with partners across social
care and with the Designated Safeguarding Teams within the ICBs. This enables queries
to be answered quickly where necessary to ensure there is no delay to patient care, it also
raises the profile of the ambulance service within the wider safeguarding network.
Working in partnership with local police services has seen improvements in joint working
when sharing referrals. The Trust has established a clear pathway to share concernsin a
timely way particularly if there are concerns regarding potential areas of neglect.

Padges 75



An example of good safeguarding practice demonstrated by SECAmb clinicians were
demonstrated when paramedics responded to an incidentinvolving an elderly gentleman
who had reportedly fallen. Upon arrival, the patient was assessed and deemed suitable
for home treatment. However, when this outcome was communicated to his wife, she
became highly distressed. She then revealed to the staff that her husband had been
physically and emotionally abusing her for the past 20 years. Her intention was to leave
the home while he was in the hospital. A call was made to the on-call safeguarding
practitioner, and a safety plan was discussed for the wife.

Page 76



The Probation Service Probation

Service

As of the 10™ July 2025, there are 2928 cases which are
managed by the Brighton and East Sussex Probation Delivery Unit.
In 2024/25, there have been increases in safeguarding enquiry requests and responses,

as well as an increase in the number of police intelligence requests and responses.

The percentage of cases with a safeguarding enquiry requested is 77.70%, which
is anincrease of 1.26% on 2024/25

The percentage of cases with a safeguarding enquiry response is 75.47%, which is
anincrease of 3.73% on 2024/25

The percentage of cases with a police enquiry requested is 83.85%, which is an
increase of 2.67% on 2024/25

The percentage of cases with a police enquiry response is 69.64%, which is an
increase of 12.87% on 2024/25

Safeguarding and Police Requests & Referrals Within the Last 12 Months by Gender

Type of Safeguarding Check / Referral
Saf di Poli Police
Safeguarding i Safeguarding a egu.a.r i ollce Intelligence
Safeguarding . Enquiries - Intelligence o
Gender Referral ) Enquiries . Enquiries - Total
Referral (Child) Response Enquiries -
(Adult) Requested i Response
Received Requested .
- Received
Female 1 1 191 160 257 184 794
Male 2054 1771 2551 1894 8271
Total 1 2 2245 1931 2808 2078 9065
e 91.24% of requests and responses are for males on the Brighton & East Sussex
caseload
e The strategic plan can be viewed in:

Safeguarding and Police Requests & Referrals Within the Last 12 Months by Age

Type of Safeguarding Check / Referral
Saf di Poli Police
Safeguarding ) Safeguarding a egu.a-r ng o-lce Intelligence
Safeguarding .. Enquiries - Intelligence ..
Age Group Referral . Enquiries o Enquiries - Total
Referral (Child) Response Enquiries -
(Adult) Requested . Response
Received Requested .
- Received
18-20 0 0 95 72 121 88 376
21-24 0 0 210 161 246 188 805
25-30 0 1 367 326 445 323 1462
31-40 0 1 783 696 975 693 3148
41-50 1 0 458 393 564 431 1847
51-60 0 0 238 198 327 247 1010
61-70 0 0 71 67 98 79 315
71-80 0 0 21 16 29 24 90
81-90 0 0 2 2 3 5 12
Total 1 2 2245 1931 2808 2078 9065
o 34.72% of requests and responses are for the 31-40 age group of the Brighton

and East Sussex caseload

Pagy 77



Appendix 3 Self-Neglect Assessment and Management

INHS

Self-Neglect Assessment and Management Sussex

(Digital Format with links)
The term sall-negleact Can bs used 10 deecribe 8 wde 1angs of gitualions or Lehaviours. It Coud bs 20meors Not looking 8fter ther own heslth o personsl cars o NOL ma Mteiring

e homa enAronment for 50 LoNg that It becomes cluttared, dirty andéor ursate. The Care Act recog selt-neglect as a £01y Of 3OUSA And aMPNEEISES the IMPoTance of
V/orkIng togethar and tha Neod to taks Preventatsc sctions to mIninise sk (Carc Act 2014 (logsiation.gov. uk)

Manige a lorg-tarm Understanding the Developig an e™ectie Faciitating incr omanral nigot atod
Gp ROLE crodncn by - =, peraurn, e hlory, reduisorsd sy Luswd un whw ghecs wemedd wl recuce y 1oh ol b,
comb ning Knowng ard the comtect of ooty selintilng & Fater 15 the MCA snd your non-attendnce

Ecirg ond Daing ok bonaiours rozpose policy s3nd guidance
Diagr Triad ot Beh. L] R gnise Behavi
1 N2gleot of porscndl noods
2. Nagieat of enviconmant
3 Decines mtervontions
= Hoardng Coreatar 11m Tameial CO 36 Of S0l -TRRIact, (O SIRMP R, 14 F. (et O
£ Neglectsd pets Torgatand ng, “s  swies © swser by of 8w mply ceog et g mcunlp ovwe
Make a diagnosis time. Does the chronology suppon the hypotnesived coses”

Use your professional ourosity
ESS48 Py ot o Dur iy Lskeront 3ol o

m lal May the perron beceln from o locsl suthorty Nesds Assessment?
onti. hoilln Viues ool ¢ WSOG - Sussex2Aur S0 x0e dstesiTact
o |ty Consider Causes & U Ohen b ores 2N LDCA- S e ALALLITALE
[Tra. mats: 1 ory cm SO0 - [ Siwes Care “mads prasaymect nformat on
prevey =l mane
pucorol misus: wooal
e Leok for cvidenoe of montal impainment which codd affect the
Boummu e pan 203003 COPOCity O Iid NanT iUl Crocs. WOt 13 B3 0urst Iduration
Look for any orograsmon & foctustion: nd does this oorelate with the
gk el roede Buwoaiun I o0 Gcpersston i i t of mind cond Son's hatory o Cou ther & De anothe fector al olay wheet mgit
$ ‘wpare w citferect mocecnch?
ACUTE VARIABLE GRADUAL
How do tamity, trlends, visitors and nelghbours Acu zzedin ol Tunser? RO wed Boms Vopury Desscnie
. Medsariors » Mertad tlrnnn
interact with the parson
N ?".;:'L': SUPPOTT Tor CHIers - SAgnpost 1or AEBIStANCS.
- ’ = o
o Negmctur e Protective or coercve A - "".k"':"":" '"'T:’ u.:n S R,
ol < looks wier & relwtiie. Fmed or “mighbour w N manege wErou
. Crmream
others =t i help. This could be duc to o dzablity, mentol of pliywica. Il heaizh,
D0 ey ek & mopport “etwan? Jddicuon o raity. The core Ty @2 5 unpaid g Corers ore

chixren und yuury pecple whu e

wring rule. Canng ofter bux »

MCT 00 CO0ples’ Omn hialth and well-Diirg and is
o5 a hoairm nouairy in S

1100 T 3540 "Ouzn 1
Sumetirus ths pe

1010 2000 " 15 000G G 10 FIaRe
0 My Lnzenstied uu
W ek sunnrd compiats e
Sxil o o D Wi mendivies st 60 s Sabigihinid aosdl Scintol nnsbaniamesis sees tharelons Assess capacity to . Euﬂ S N.M-Cl" Sagnrhis cin ~|J unoaid carsca | Care Fo: The

apatiee iy
recognis

Ackx apmzry avoid harm
Sumue e Lol Nermt Bratios Cuavtrewn boe Tt LI | Suseas Carers a-dd Primary Cace (carerssudpornt. oog uk)
This i 100k of umouiive capacily 5u they san't cancuts the desielon o Boabtun & Huew Primaey Curw Lk Yok - Tras Cunerx Cuntie

B RANIne AR NI | ae ke EApas by Y ential steps for GP:
- Conaicnr 8 local nthor 1o v Ang refarra +* Eelow)

Identity, Refer, Inform (moee nto

Inter by local Mok of harrs mmny b inchacmdd, wod gl By of Sn impoorsse, By ths
< a 1t ch when: services Cumiatien bacelit arieing from sapsrate misnwnticne.
Ao e your Non Atindonce Polcy

1
x

e g ek
WELL-BEING
SRUAEAN, ARSI TN T T By ety MENTAL PHYSICAL
Acalgeiia Mm Apt ances
i s vos Pevdl s TAn paresa @ 02 Bigh sed Eeererean et Zapporatn A0
i< o b s s zeara 3 B Sapuachy, o Senman b sy | R— Multi-agency
st ke asmsarb e loon bl ksl ez leoe Sefepuerding & bs Daerd Ml Approach

“*Raise a Safeguarding concern when:

R+ T AR U TR AR L The £eron i5 o sk of Sbuse from Cners and CONmaE DIOLact U omsclves.
Wit Susien SO MARM 0 2 Achid or anothr ad.lt & sk s lviog in the houseboid
Seahion & Do Mulr-Agency [ies Macagamant IMATAL [rarseasart N Lagal actine misy e cnepared Bacauss of tobiie intarmet s @ nx ot S

4 Treperscn is o risk of ha'm froem thair se-neg ect

Agercy Rak Marageren NARV] pro

Furthur ifo o algne and ind # of abuss wnd neghect sed whit
Ahon A D raported A 8 RAIRZUN N COnDam X wen Nt e proteesionale visg
W AU 1rrmbolds Gudence for seclveined
Safeguarding .
Referral Selt-raginct puitancs pags 8
Quick References
Make a referral: Adult Make a reforral: Child
Wiest Sussex County Councit West Sussex County Councit Support from local fire officers -
Maces 3 wategtedivg conOem e g the orflw o Raise @ concom usng the oolivs on Home safety visits
Conte U Aduts Curs Ponl (1225 822121 Contset tha MUIt-Asnrey Satnised ng Hn (NASHC on 01400 220,
E™ail: 2AUZs G200 20K M SLLLLLEK ST K 50
Foe =ut 6 houre contaet (020323 2007 For cut of howrs Contact 0330 222 6664 01 07711 762657 West Sussex
NILOS /WA Wl STaUS Sae e UkT re-ameegancios-and
Ennt Sussex County Council East Sussex County Council COIMewass -2 1ormny4wn- and raacue-saricehome-fime
Ralse 3 0100 " wairg e > " =
i e Wit Comoct the Sirgle Auint ot Advce 1ISPO&) on 01323 464 222 o by satety/sate-and- vemil st

the oolios fam
For o of "our portact Emugmncy Doty Sanios o 01273 335 108
lll'miumcmc«mﬂ or U273 XIS ¥ a s e
Ralea s conen = S i

Foroul of hours contac U045 B0 BC 197 & select ootion 2

Lmasi Mo sdth snd &cul social car o teats: Brighton and Howve City Councit brips Aleaww astis ong/havae
neaaidoguiarde o Tarec.gueh Cortact e Freot Door e Farilms on 01 271 200 400
11500 "398 0INT 75 IhDT L0 MAINE Wiy "Yet CIA BAD LIDOOT NEOTE S £l FeootDoort v amiie s OO ton -hoen 200 s
ALALLCNOE ZEACIO00 " tee 220 LIk FOr cut of howrs Conact 09273 335 306 0r 01273 335506
Support for Carers - Add L Inf th Provided by Cara for Carers
Idertify - Mary; pecple do not idectily s ‘caners’ intisly Asc pathect £ they are Tcoking after somicne whe could not mani e Wwithout their Pelp. Add carer 10 e priction's Relevant SAR learning- SAR lan
Corwe x lmziatar & fag thar racoed. Rncond SNOMI ) cosde: D448 [Pt it A e D0 NG HNO (Carme foe u rmint te)

and Owen
Inform - Tedl carer that free suppont 5 eailable T oUEh Thelr OO, Garers OIpan s on and u.unl'hw register 26 0 carer. I carer's welldaing is affected by the caring role,

referon 1l xehaf. Record.
Redur - Al nuet intersnction, sk sbout thelr cariag reda. f they hivs 2ot sef cofamec, serind thet saoper s fab I coarer’' s sl g i by the caring role, efur on
trwis behsll. Fmcoed

Eost Suszex: Profesziooal refomals | Cox
Wewt Sussex Rater ol Uooaid Cacar
Brganon & Moo Saniosa for e

SAR-Grvendsn-Learn
rg-Briefing-2024-pd




Appendix 4 SAB Membership

East Sussex Adult Social Care & Health (ASCH)

NHS Sussex Integrated Care Board (ICB)

Sussex Police

Care for the Carers

Care Quality Commission (CQC)

Change, Grow, Live (CGL)

District and borough council representation

East Sussex Fire and Rescue Service (ESFRS)

East Sussex Healthcare NHS Trust (ESHT)

East Sussex Safeguarding Children Partnership (ESSCP)
Healthwatch

HMP Lewes

Independent Homecare representatives

Kent, Surrey, Sussex Community Rehabilitation Company (KSS CRC)
Lay members

National Probation Service (NPS)

NHS England

Registered Care Association (RCA)

South-East Coast Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust (SECamb)
Sussex Community NHS Foundation Trust (SCFT)
Sussex Partnership NHS Foundation Trust (SPFT)
Trading Standards, East Sussex County Council

Voluntary and community sector representation

Pag® 79



Appendix 5 SAB Structure

East Sussex
Safeguarding
Adults Board

~)  safer
: k\ communities

Brighton & Hove

East Sussex Safer East Sussex SAB

Communities Safeguarding Adults Safeguarding
Partnership Board Adults Board

Brighton and Hove
Safeguarding
Adults Board

East Sussex
Safeguarding
Children Partnership

08 abed

Performance and Training and
Quality Workforce
Assurance Development
Subgroup Subgroup

Sussex Policy
and Procedures

Review Group

East Sussex
Safeguarding
Children
Partnership Safeguarding Operational

Adults Review Practice
Subgroup Subgroup

West Sussex
Safeguarding
Adults Board

West Sussex ()
: Safeguarding Adults O
Safeguarding Board \ P

Community Making Safeguarding Personal

Network

50



Agenda Iltem 6

Report to: East Sussex Health and Wellbeing Board

Date: 23 September 2025

By: Stephen Lightfoot, Chair, NHS Sussex

Title: Update from NHS Sussex Integrated Care Board (ICB)

Purpose of Report: This paper summarises the latest progress in implementing the
transition of NHS Sussex into a new Surrey and Sussex ICB from 1
April 2026.

Summary

This paper summarises the latest progress in implementing the transition of NHS Sussex into a
new Surrey and Sussex ICB from 1 April 2026. The ambition is to take the best from both of our
systems to improve the health outcomes, reduce the health inequalities, and secure the best value
for money from the delivery of high-quality NHS services for the population of three million people
living in Sussex and Surrey.

Our ambition of providing more multi-disciplinary neighbourhood health services through our 13
Integrated Community Teams (ICTs) in Sussex is also progressing well, with collaborative
partnership working and defined commissioning intentions with specific outcomes to shift more
care from our hospitals to our communities.

Recommendation(s) to the Board

The East Sussex Health & Wellbeing Board is asked to note the update from NHS Sussex in
response to the NHS Reforms and Neighbourhood Health.

1 NHS Reform
Background and Context

1.1 Earlier this year on 13 March, the Government announced that it is going to make
significant changes to the structure of the NHS, aimed at strengthening roles and reducing
duplication so more funding can be directed to the frontline care of patients. These changes signal
a leaner way of working, where every part of the NHS is clear on their purpose, what they are
accountable for, and to whom, to support the delivery of the Government’s recently published 10
Year Health Plan to improve the outcomes for our patients and communities.

1.2 As part of this NHS reform, Integrated Care Boards (ICBs) have been directed to
significantly reduce their operating costs by an average of 50% and focus on their critical role as
strategic commissioners. This means that ICBs will be responsible for improving population health
outcomes, reducing health inequalities and improving access to consistently high-quality care
within their annual public funding allocation.

NHS Sussex Response

1.3 After careful consideration, the Boards of the NHS Sussex and NHS Surrey Heartlands
ICBs concluded in May 2025 that the only practical way to reliably fulfil their statutory and legal
duties within the nationally-determined running cost allocation of £19 per head of weighted
population is to expand their geographical footprint across Sussex and the whole of Surrey

Page 81



(including the Surrey Heath and Farnham areas of Surrey currently covered by the NHS Frimley
ICB).

1.4  This expanded geographical area will be coterminous with the two proposed Mayoral
Combined Authorities in Sussex and Surrey. The combined weighted population of 3.0 million
residents will also provide the scale and an ICB running cost budget of around £57 million to retain
the essential skills and expertise needed to commission NHS services effectively.

15 A joint proposal was submitted to NHS England (NHSE) by the NHS Sussex and NHS
Surrey Heartlands Boards on 30 May 2025, which has now been agreed by NHSE and received
formal endorsement from Government Ministers. This will involve one ICB working across two
Systems and the Places within them, which will be aligned to the final structure of the unitary
authorities when the ongoing local government reorganisation has been completed.

Why Surrey and Sussex?

1.6 NHS Sussex and NHS Surrey Heartlands share a proud history of collaboration grounded
in mutual trust, aligned values, and joint delivery across commissioning, workforce, and clinical
innovation. From integrated planning to shared leadership development, we have demonstrated
what purposeful collaboration can achieve.

1.7 There are also long-established health partnerships across the two systems with the Surrey
& Sussex Cancer Alliance, Surrey & Sussex Local Medical Committee, and Community Pharmacy
Surrey & Sussex, as well as NHS providers such as Surrey & Sussex Healthcare NHS Trust,
South East Coast Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust, Queen Victoria Hospital NHS
Foundation Trust, Royal Surrey NHS Foundation Trust, and University Hospitals Sussex NHS
Foundation Trust, all providing NHS services to patients in both Sussex and Surrey.

An opportunity to build a brand-new organisation

1.8 This change provides us with an opportunity to create a brand new organisation, which
brings together the best of both existing ICBs, to deliver improved population health outcomes and
reduce the health inequities that exist across our extended area. This will require new contracts for
our providers and even stronger partnership working to make the best use of the public funding
allocation we receive.

1.9 To focus on the role as a strategic commissioner, the new ICB for Surrey and Sussex will
need to develop a new operating model which will be based on a set of core functions. These will
include areas such as population insights and analytics; quality and patient experience; strategic
commissioning, strategy and planning; finance and contracting; and statutory and corporate
services. This also means that some functions currently undertaken by ICBs will need to be
transferred to the Department of Health and Social Care/NHS England Regions, some functions
will transfer to other providers, and other functions will be hosted by one ICB on behalf of a group
of ICBs. The details around specific functions are still being worked through and will be confirmed
in due course.

Preserving local relationships and focus

1.10 Whilst the new ICB will be coming together across a much wider footprint, we know that
real change happens locally, at a neighbourhood level, which is a key focus of the 10 Year Health
Plan. That is where relationships are strongest, knowledge is deepest, and integration is most
feasible.

1.11 Both systems have strong roots in neighbourhood health, with lots of examples of local
partnerships driving improvement, even though the population size and proposed models of care
delivery for Integrated Community Teams in Sussex and Integrated Neighbourhood Teams in

Page 82



Surrey are quite different. We will build on these strong foundations as we develop our new
organisation to ensure that local community needs, relationships and ways of working are
embedded into the way we operate.

1.12 In creating one new ICB, we will continue working as key and integral partners within our
two systems and the Places within them. We will continue to work closely with all existing local
authority partners, and the new unitary authorities when established. Our approach will continue to
be fully inclusive of patients, their families and unpaid carers, the voluntary, community and social
enterprise sector and social care providers, as well as our education, research and innovation
partners, as we are committed to maintaining high levels of inclusivity and local collaboration.
Listening to and working with people and communities will run right through how we operate,
ensuring that we understand and act on what we hear, so we can commission the services
required to meet the needs of local people.

Impact on our staff and looking to the future

1.13 Of course, these changes will have an impact on how we currently operate and on our staff.
Supporting colleagues through these changes, and the inevitable reduction in staff numbers, is a
key priority during this period of change.

1.14 Some of our current functions may also transfer to other organisations over time, with
timescales and specific functions still to be agreed, and we will work closely with our staff and
partners to ensure these transfers operate as smoothly as possible.

1.15 We are determined that the new ICB will take the best from both our systems and become
the excellent strategic commissioner we need it to be. Our collective ambition is to improve the
health outcomes, reduce the health inequalities and secure the best value for money for the
population of three million people living in Surrey and Sussex.

2 Latest Update on NHS Sussex Transition

2.1 A Joint ICB Transition Programme has been established across Surrey and Sussex to lead
and coordinate the organisational change needed to deliver the required reforms and mandated
savings. The programme scope is centred on the design and implementation of a Target Operating
Model and a comprehensive Transition Plan, with clearly defined workstreams and oversight from
a Joint Transition Committee, to deliver the required reductions in ICB running costs whilst
maintaining a focus on operational effectiveness and service continuity.

2.2 Progress on key elements of the Transition Programme remains dependent upon some
national decisions and funding for the staff redundancies. These dependencies have introduced
unavoidable delays to the commencement of formal staff consultation, and this is limiting our ability
to meet the original timescales for completing the ICB restructuring by December 2025.

2.3 However, the first major decision has been made, and that is the appointment of lan Smith
as the Chair across the Sussex and Surrey Integrated Care Boards after my retirement on 30
September 2025. lan is currently the Chair for NHS Surrey Heartlands and has been since its
inception in July 2022.

2.4 lan’s new appointment will begin from 1 October 2025 as the Sussex and Surrey ICBs
move to a ‘clustering arrangement’, where the two existing ICBs will share a Chair, Chief Executive
and a Board in Common, until the new combined organisation is established as a single legal entity
from 1 April 2026.

2.5 The next major decision will be the appointment of the Chief Executive Officer for the
Sussex and Surrey ICBs, which is anticipated in September 2025, so that the selection process for

Page 83



Executive and Non-Executive Board Members of the Board in Common can then take place in
October 2025.

2.6 There is continued recognition of staff anxiety during this period of uncertainty as the
Sussex and Surrey ICBs work to implement this transition, and we continue to take proactive steps
to engage staff. This includes timely and transparent internal communications through staff
webinars and the availability of practical advice, training and support.

2.7 A Mutually Agreed Resignation Scheme was also launched across the NHS Sussex and
NHS Surrey Heartlands ICBs on 1 September 2025 and will run until 21 September 2025, which
may be attractive for those staff who want certainty and/or have a shorter length of service. We are
also working closely with our Staff Networks and Trade Unions to ensure our staff feel heard,
valued, and supported throughout this time.

3 Delivering Neighbourhood Health through ICTs in Sussex

3.1 Work continues on the implementation of the Government’s 10 Year Health Plan and the
delivery of the Sussex Improving Lives Together strategy. The formation of 13 Integrated
Community Teams (ICTs) across Sussex is our key response to both of these strategic plans. This
is because we know it is important to our residents to have strong, local, community-based
services that wrap around individuals and communities to provide personalised care that keeps
people well, offer preventive and proactive care, and reduce the need for hospital-based care. This
also directly responds to the ambitions set out in the 10 Year Health Plan to shift care from
hospitals to the community, with a neighbourhood health service that provides more care at or
close to people’s homes.

3.2 Sussex has been on a journey with ICTs over the last three years with the following
milestones:

e Year 1(2023/24): Established three frontrunner programmes in Hastings, East Brighton
and Crawley, built an understanding of each community, developed data insight packs, and
defined a core service offer for ICTs.

e Year 2 (2024/25): Formed multi-disciplinary leadership teams, conducted ‘tests for change’
focusing on high-need individuals, and began the community mental health team
implementation.

e Year 3 (2025/26): Focusing on embedding six core NHS England neighbourhood
guidelines, continuing the development of community mental health teams, and advancing
the ‘team of teams’ model with a population health management approach. In July, we
launched an outcomes dashboard and agreed the winter priority of addressing high and
ongoing care needs to reduce avoidable admissions.

e Year 4 (2026/27): An outcome framework with targets for 2026/27 aligned with the six
domains will be established alongside the 2026/27 Neighbourhood commissioning
framework. The development of integrated neighbourhood services is also a key
component of the NHS Sussex Commissioning Intentions for 2026/27.

3.3 In East Sussex, our five ICT Leadership Groups are building relationships with their teams
and developing specific areas of focus informed by population health outcomes data and locally
agreed priorities. These are all well-aligned with the priorities of the East Sussex Health and
Wellbeing Board Strategy.

3.4 Last month, health systems across the country were invited to submit bids to be part of the
first wave of 42 neighbourhood health schemes given government support to accelerate the rollout
of neighbourhood health in line with the 10 Year Health Plan. As a result of the strong foundations

Page 84



in Sussex, there was widespread support across our three current Places (Brighton & Hove, East
Sussex and West Sussex), and we were able to submit three bids to the National Neighbourhood
Health Implementation Programme (NNHIP). Positively, we received confirmation on 9 September
that East Sussex has been selected.

4 Conclusion

4.1 This paper summarises the latest progress in implementing the transition of NHS Sussex
into a new Surrey and Sussex ICB from 1 April 2026. The ambition is to take the best from both of
our systems to improve the health outcomes, reduce the health inequalities, and secure the best
value for money from the delivery of high-quality NHS services for the population of three million
people living in Sussex and Surrey.

4.2 Our ambition of providing more multi-disciplinary neighbourhood health services through
our 13 ICTs in Sussex is also progressing well, with collaborative partnership working and defined
commissioning intentions with specific outcomes to shift more care from our hospitals to our
communities.

4.3 Finally, and just before | retire, | would like to take this personal opportunity to thank all our
staff, partners, stakeholders and members of the public for their interest, involvement and support
over the last four years in my role as Chair Designate and then Chair of NHS Sussex as we have

worked collaboratively on Improving Lives Together.

Stephen Lightfoot
Chair of NHS Sussex
September 2025

Page 85



This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Item 7

Report to: East Sussex Health and Wellbeing Board
Date of meeting: 23 September 2025

By: Director of Joint Commissioning and Integrated Community
Teams Development (East Sussex), NHS Sussex and Director of
Adult Social Care and Health, East Sussex County Council

Title: Integration programme update

Purpose of Report: To provide an update of progress with the East Sussex priorities
in the Sussex Shared Delivery Plan in quarter 1 25/26, including
the outcomes of the fifth informal HWB development session,
and an update on wider developments influencing integration
and collaboration.

Recommendations:

East Sussex Health and Wellbeing Board (HWB) is recommended to:

1. Note the progress in quarter 1 for the East Sussex HWB Shared Delivery Plan
(SDP) priorities and plans in 25/26 as set out in Appendix 1

2. Agree the outcomes from the informal HWB development session on reducing
health inequalities and measuring the impact of our work as a health and care
system, as set out in the summary briefing note contained in Appendix 2

3. Endorse the successful submission from East Sussex to be part of the
Government’s National Neighbourhood Health Implementation Programme,
and our collective delivery of the programme starting in September 25
focussed on Hastings and Rother

4. Endorse the HWB’s leadership role in supporting the development of the new
neighbourhood health plan, in line with further guidance that is expected from
the Department of Health and Social Care (DHSC) and NHS England (NHSE),
and aligning with the 5-year organisation plans for the NHS.

1 Background

1.1 The 5-year Sussex Integrated Care Strateqy Improving Lives Together was approved
by the Sussex Health and Care Assembly in December 2022, setting out our ambition for a
healthier future for everyone in Sussex over a 5 year period. It builds on our East Sussex
Health and Wellbeing Board Strategy Healthy Lives, Healthy People (2022 — 2027) and our
understanding of our population in East Sussex through our Joint Strategic Needs
Assessment (JSNA). An accompanying 5-year Shared Delivery Plan (SDP) was also agreed
by all partners in June 2023.

1.2 As reported at the last HWB meeting, the Government’s new 10 Year Health Plan for
England: fit for the future (10YHP) was published on 3 July 2025. This sets out plans to
reinvent the NHS based on three shifts as the core components of a new care model:

e from hospital to community

e from analogue to digital

Page 87


https://www.sussex.ics.nhs.uk/our-priorities/our-strategy/
https://www.eastsussex.gov.uk/social-care/policies/health-wellbeing-strategy
https://www.eastsussex.gov.uk/social-care/policies/health-wellbeing-strategy
https://www.eastsussexjsna.org.uk/
https://www.eastsussexjsna.org.uk/
https://www.sussex.ics.nhs.uk/our-work/our-plan-for-our-population/
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/10-year-health-plan-for-england-fit-for-the-future
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/10-year-health-plan-for-england-fit-for-the-future

e from treating sickness to prevention

1.3 The 10YHP also set out reforms to the NHS operating model to enable and underpin
the three shifts, including national changes to NHS England (NHSE) and the Department of
Health & Social Care (DHSC), and local changes to Integrated Care Boards (the subject of a
separate report to the HWB at the last meeting, and also at this meeting).

14 Alongside this the 10YHP introduced an expectation that a new ‘neighbourhood
health plan’ will be drawn up under the leadership of the HWB. Since the HWB meeting on
15 July 2025, a new National Neighbourhood Health Implementation Programme (NNHIP)
has been launched to support delivery of the 10YHP shift from hospital to community, and a
new 5-year planning framework for the NHS in England has now been published. Further
guidance is also expected about implementing the 10YHP, including developing
neighbourhood health plans.

15 The national developments are in keeping with our joint vision set out in Improving
Lives Together and our Sussex Integrated Care System (ICS) approach more broadly. This
has a strong Place focus reflecting the specific needs and challenges of the populations in
East Sussex, West Sussex and Brighton & Hove informed by the three HWB strategies and
the Joint Strategic Needs Assessments (JSNAS) for their populations. It includes the shared
ambition to see more joined up working in our communities and neighbourhoods through
establishing Integrated Community Teams (ICTs).

1.6 This report brings an update of progress with our early work in 2025/26 on our Place
delivery plans in our SDP, including the outcomes of our fifth informal HWB development
session and progress with ICTs. It also considers some of the recent national developments
and the implications for the HWB and our collaborative work in East Sussex.

2 Supporting information
East Sussex HWB SDP progress in 25/26

2.1 Since the refresh for year 3 of our East Sussex HWB SDP objectives, early progress
in quarter 1 (1 April — 30 June 2025) has been reviewed. A draft summary of progress
across our 7 shared priorities is included in Appendix 1, covering our collaborative work
together at Place to support delivery in the following areas:

e Health outcomes improvement
e Children and young people

e Strengthening the role and vision of the HWB and East Sussex Health and Care
partnership

e Mental health

¢ Integrated Community Teams (ICTs) and neighbourhood health
e Improving hospital discharge

e Health, housing and care

Strengthening the role and vision of the HWB and East Sussex Health and Care
partnership

2.2 The fifth informal HWB development session took place on 4 September 2025 as
part of the programme of 7 sessions to deliver our ongoing SDP objective of strengthening
the unique role of the HWB as the key strategic stewardship group for our health and care
system in East Sussex. The session focussed on the JSNA theme of reducing health
inequalities and explored how we can understand the impact we are having on population
health and wellbeing in a measurable way, using the East Sussex Shared Outcomes

Page 88



Framework set out in our East Sussex Health and Wellbeing Board Strategy Healthy Lives,
Healthy People.

2.3 The draft summary briefing with the key messages from the session is included in
Appendix 2 for review and formal agreement by the HWB. The programme of informal
development sessions has now been underway for a year, with two more sessions to go.
The next session will take place in November 2025 focussed on mental health and wellbeing
and the final session in the initial phase of the programme is planned for February 2026 to
review and begin the process of refreshing our rolling 5-year HWB strategy Healthy Lives,
Healthy People (2022 — 2027).

Integrated Community Teams (ICTs) and Neighbourhood Health

2.4 The shift from hospital to community set out in the 10YHP involves remodelling to a
‘Neighbourhood Health Service’ that brings care into local communities, convenes
professionals into patient-centred teams, and ends fragmentation.

2.5 Our implementation of ICTs is our shared ambition that will support delivery of
Neighbourhood Health in Sussex. In East Sussex this is structured around our teams
working together in common footprints that are aligned to our 5 borough and district
boundaries.

2.6 Building on work in 2024/25, we have continued to make strong progress with putting
in place the leadership arrangements for our teams to develop joint plans. This will help
manage resources across the shared strategic priorities for our health and care system in
the specific ICT area, as well as local priorities driven by the strengths and challenges of the
communities in that footprint.

2.7 Our current focus as we prepare for winter is implementing multi-disciplinary teams to
deliver more proactive care to people with high and more complex health and social care
needs, for example due to being older and frail or having multiple long term health
conditions. We aim to bring teams of professionals together to start to use a new risk tool to
identify groups of people who would benefit from better coordinated proactive care to avoid
unnecessary admission to hospital. Over time it is expected that this will lead to less reliance
on urgent and unplanned care and better outcomes overall.

National Neighbourhood Health Implementation Programme (NNHIP)

2.8 The new National Neighbourhood Health Implementation Programme (NNHIP) was
launched by NHSE and DHSC on 9 July 2025 through an open invitation to local authority

and ICB Chief Executives to submit expressions of interest from their Places by 22 August
2025. As one of the three Places within the Sussex ICS, the East Sussex Health and Care
Partnership submitted an application.

2.9 In a highly competitive process, with 141 expressions of interest (roughly 83% of the
number of Places in England), it was announced on 9 September 2025 that East Sussex is
one of the cohort of 43 successful Places selected to be part of the first wave of this flagship
programme. The initiative is one of the first of its kind in the country, designed to bring
healthcare directly into local communities, and is backed by the Government’s £10 million
investment nationally in neighbourhood health services.

2.10 The national initiative will support working at scale, both within Place and alongside
other Places across the country simultaneously, to accelerate the implementation and
learning necessary to transform to a neighbourhood focussed health and care model. As
part of the programme, Places will have access to a national coach, subject experts, face-to-
face regional workshops, and a knowledge hub for peer-to-peer learning. The NNHIP
formally starts in September 2025 and is expected to be delivered within existing system

Page 89


https://www.eastsussex.gov.uk/social-care/policies/health-wellbeing-strategy
https://www.england.nhs.uk/long-read/your-invitation-to-be-involved-in-the-national-neighbourhood-health-implementation-programme/

resources, with much of the work taking place at the local level.

2.11 The initial focus for the national requirements is Hastings and Rother, where we have
some of our largest gaps in health outcomes and an ageing population in coastal and rural
communities. Building on our ICTs, neighbourhood teams will bring together a wide range of
professionals and services, including GPs, community nurses, hospital doctors, pharmacists,
dentists, optometrists, social care workers, paramedics, and local voluntary organisations.
By working together, these professionals will deliver joined-up, end-to-end care tailored to
patients’ needs.

2.12 The focus will initially be on improving services to help people manage multiple
conditions and complex needs to reduce unnecessary hospital visits, prevent complications,
and make access to care simpler and faster. In time this type of neighbourhood working will
deliver care that better meets the needs of children and adults, including those with multiple
long-term conditions and those affected by wider social and economic factors.

2.13 Our East Sussex Partnership application was framed around our strong shared
understanding of our population at Place, and the need to do more to respond to health and
care needs to build on our strong foundations of established and embedded integrated care
services as well as our development of ICTs. This includes improving the experience and
guality of care for people with multiple long-term conditions and the proportionately higher
numbers of older and frail people in our population, as well as stronger approaches to
population health and prevention across all age groups. Over time improved proactive care
in communities and neighbourhoods will also help reduce the need for more expensive
health and care services, further enabling the transformation to a more neighbourhood-
based model of integrated care.

2.14 A strength in our submission was the Place partnership infrastructure we have to
lead development of Neighbourhood Health approaches in all five of our ICTs in East
Sussex, as well as across our System. This comprises a strong delivery partnership across
health and social care providers and the voluntary sector, working with the Sussex Primary
Care Provider Collaborative, Sussex Provider Collaborative, and Sussex Hospice Alliance.

2.15 Being part of this national platform will be a significant opportunity to further
concentrate collective efforts on delivering our shared vision for our local communities
across the NHS, local government, and VCSE sector in East Sussex. As a result, we will
now need to ensure our partnership and programme governance arrangements are
strengthened to manage delivery within this new context. This links to our broader SDP
objective to review our East Sussex Health and Care Partnership governance and takes in
the wider system changes and risks such as ICB reforms, as signalled at the last HWB
meeting.

New planning framework for the NHS in England

2.16 As reported at the last meeting of the HWB, in the national 10YHP in the future a
‘neighbourhood health plan’ will be drawn up by local government, the NHS, and their
partners, incorporating Public Health, social care, and the Better Care Fund under the
leadership of the HWB. The ICB will then bring together the local neighbourhood health
plans into a population health improvement plan for its footprint and use this to inform
commissioning decisions.

2.17 In August 2025 NHSE published the ‘Planning Framework for the NHS in England’
setting out a new 5-year planning horizon. Alongside neighbourhood health plans, this
included a new process of separate but aligned plans and returns from ICBs and Trusts. An
integrated process, this includes finance, workforce, and clinical and operational service
plans, as well as digital, quality improvement, and infrastructure/capital plans.

2.18 The national Planning Framework informs the development of plans for 2026/27 —
2030/31, with initial phases this year to support returns for 2026/27. Further multi-year

Page 90



guidance and financial allocations are expected at the end of September/early October.

2.19 The Planning Framework is targeted primarily at ICBs and provider Trusts who will
produce a 5-year strategic commissioning plan and a 5-year integrated delivery plan
respectively. These two 5-year organisation plans, together with the neighbourhood health
plan, will be the core outputs of the integrated local planning processes, and NHSE and the
DHSC will issue further specific guidance to support their respective development.

2.20 Under the leadership of the HWB, Place partners are expected to have a key role
within the Planning Framework as follows:

e Supporting triangulation of plans beyond the NHS with local government and other
partners, ideally including local authority plans for public health, social care and
broader community development.

¢ Providing Place-level input on population needs and local priorities, including Joint
Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA).

¢ Leading the co-design of integrated service models at Place level.

¢ Developing the neighbourhood health plan itself and supporting place-based delivery
plans. The plan should set out how the NHS, local authority and other organisations,
including social care providers and VCSE, will work together to design and deliver
neighbourhood health services. The DHSC will publish separate guidance to support
the development of the plan.

2.21 The graphic below shows the key elements of the national planning architecture:

10 Year Health Plan (10YHP) National/ regional
‘Centre’

aggregate operational
NHS planning framework/ guidance ‘ and financialplan

! 1

( \ ;
ICB Five year strategic commissioningplan ‘ |:> ICB plan returns ‘
NHS Trust / U Eo
Foundation ! Five year integrated delivery plan ‘ ! I:} | Provider plan returns
Trust | ]
Place ‘ Neighbourhood health plans ‘

2.22 The renewed emphasis on the role of Place in bringing together a joint
neighbourhood health plan under the leadership of the HWB is welcome. In light of this new
requirement, it is currently unclear what the status and expectations for the statutory HWB
Strategy is and it is hoped that the further guidance will address this. NHSE will also work
with Government to review the previous requirement for ICBs and their Provider Trusts to
prepare a 5-year joint forward plan (JFP), which in Sussex is our Shared Delivery Plan.

NHS Sussex ICB commissioning intentions for 2026/27

2.23 To support planning for 2026/27, NHS Sussex ICB launched its draft Commissioning
Intentions 2026/27 in August, accompanied by engagement with local stakeholders including
a public survey. The commissioning intentions outline plans to:

bring care closer to home

cut variation in quality and outcomes

improve value through local and acute provider alliances
make better use of technology and workforce skills

Page 91


https://www.sussex.ics.nhs.uk/our-work/planning-for-2026-27/
https://www.sussex.ics.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/sites/9/2025/08/Draft-NHS-Sussex-Commissioning-Intention-2026-27-for-engagement.pdf
https://www.sussex.ics.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/sites/9/2025/08/Draft-NHS-Sussex-Commissioning-Intention-2026-27-for-engagement.pdf

e support innovation through new contracts and shared risk
e tackle financial imbalance, with Sussex currently 3.9% over its fair funding share

2.24 Strongly focussed on delivering Neighbourhood Health to support integration and
overall system sustainability, this is part of the ICB’s response to the 10YHP and its
developing role as a strategic outcomes-based commissioner arising from the nationally
announced changes to ICBs (previously reported to the July meeting of the HWB). As a
key partner, commissioner (including joint commissioner), and provider of key local social
care and public health services in East Sussex, many of which are integrated with health,
the County Council provided early written feedback to support this and attended the
stakeholder seminar on 3 September 2025 alongside other partners to help shape the
plans.

3 Conclusion and reasons for recommendations

3.1 We are making good early progress with our Place delivery plans for our HWB
objectives for year 3 (2025/26) of the SDP, in particular the implementation of our five East
Sussex ICTs and frontline multi-disciplinary teams for proactive care, as the foundation for
delivering Neighbourhood Health in Sussex. Our work to strengthen the vision and strategic
role of the HWB is also continuing to create a greater shared understanding of our
population health and care needs, together with the assets and collective resources
available within our communities.

3.2 Our work to put in place a joined-up offer of health, care and wellbeing in our

communities and neighbourhoods puts us in a strong position to both continue to navigate
the context of the risks and challenges within a reformed health and care system, signalled
at the last HWB meeting, and respond to new expectations in the 10YHP Fit for the Future.

3.3 The development of a neighbourhood health plan under the leadership of the HWB,
together with the 5-year organisation plans for our provider Trusts and the ICB, will help to
better align our vision, ambitions and resources for the population of East Sussex and
underpin the supporting Place delivery plans across our organisations and services. This
may also influence and further shape in-year Place delivery plans in some areas, as well as
our SDP more broadly, and ultimately our collaborative work to refresh the HWB Strategy.

3.4 In addition to our successful submission to be part of the first cohort of Places on the
flagship National Neighbourhood Health Implementation Programme, this represents a
significant opportunity to further focus collective attention and effort on delivery of our shared
ambitions for our local communities and improve outcomes for our population. As such, the
HWB'’s strategic leadership of this across the NHS, local government and voluntary sector at
Place will be critical.

ASHLEY SCARFF
Director of Joint Commissioning and Integrated Community Teams Development (East
Sussex), NHS Sussex

MARK STAINTON
Director of Adult Social Care and Health, East Sussex County Council

Contact Officer
Email: Vicky.smith@eastsussex.gov.uk

Page 92



Tel: 07827 841063

Appendix 1: Draft progress summary East Sussex HWB high level SDP quarter 1 (25/26)
Appendix 2: HWB development session 5 — draft summary briefing

Page 93



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 1

Appendix 1
East Sussex Health and Wellbeing Board (HWB) Shared Delivery Plan (SDP)
Draft progress summary quarter 1 25/26 (1 April — 30 June 2025)
Background

The 5-year Sussex SDP covers areas for improvement over the immediate, continuous and long
term, as well as shared Place delivery priorities specific to each of the three Health and Wellbeing
Boards (HWBs) and their populations in Sussex. In light of this, joint work takes place between the
County Council, the local NHS, Voluntary, Voluntary, Community and Social Enterprise (VCSE)
sector, Healthwatch, and Borough and District council partners. Collectively this is known as the
East Sussex Health and Care Partnership, and the joint work contributes to a range of service and
outcomes improvement objectives for the benefit of the East Sussex population.

As agreed at the HWB meeting in July 2025, our joint Place delivery priorities for East Sussex have
been refreshed for 2025/26 (year 3 of the SDP). This also aligns with the national NHS planning
guidance for 2025/26, and existing pan-Sussex SDP priorities and work aimed at improving health
and care outcomes.

This paper provides a brief summary of progress undertaken by the East Sussex Health and Care
Partnership in quarter 1 of 2025/26 (1 April — 30 June 2025) in light of or refreshed plans.

1) Health outcomes improvement

East Sussex HWB SDP priority Date What we will
] achieve

We will continue to deliver our agreed whole system action plans | March Improved outcomes

on cardiovascular disease (CVD), Chronic Respiratory Disease 2026 for the population

(CRD), healthy ageing and frailty and mental health prevention,
and monitor progress on a quarterly basis through the Health
Outcomes Improvement Oversight Board, with a deep dive into
one priority area each quarter.

We will ensure that the health outcomes improvement and
learning are used to inform ICT implementation and address
variation in outcomes.

Q1 progress summary

56% of GP practices in East Sussex are now signed up to deliver NHS Health Checks (target
88% for 2025/26). This is supported by training opportunities and a new monthly dashboard
showing invitations for the health checks and take up.

A range of planning work has been taken forward to support Healthy Ageing in East Sussex. This
includes a falls prevention action plan for 2025/26, the Age Without Limits Action Day in Hastings
& Rother; a Stay Strong, Stay Steady, Stay Independent community falls prevention awareness
campaign; and the ‘Full of Life Festival’ celebrating international older people’s day on 1 October.
Investment in infrastructure to support a coordinated approach to Age Friendly communities in
Hastings and Rother is being taken forward in partnership with Hastings Borough Council and
Rother District Council.

Work is being taken forward exploring the role and positive impact of peer support and personal
resilience in mental health and wellbeing to understand how we can best support outcomes. This

Page 95


https://www.sussex.ics.nhs.uk/our-work/our-plan-for-our-population/

includes reviewing best practice and a survey for VCSE organisations and schools to understand
more about what is already being offered and delivered around peer support.

An improvement project was launched in April 2025 to reduce variation in lipid-lowering therapy
(LLT) prescribing across primary care, to help reduce cholesterol and the risk of Cardiovascular
Disease. Two educational webinars were delivered, and all East Sussex practices have signed up
to the project, which is expected to significantly increase LLT prescribing.

2) Role and vision of the Health and Wellbeing Board

East Sussex HWB SDP priority DE! What we will
] achieve

We will continue to strengthen the strategic stewardship role and | March A clear focus and

vision of the Health and Wellbeing Board (HWB) through 2026 approach across all

completing our programme of development sessions aimed at partners.

growing a deeper shared understanding of our population health
and care needs and strengths, and understanding how well we
are working together as a system to improve outcomes.

Building on the work on system stewardship in 2024/25, we will
ensure our East Sussex Health and Care Partnership is operating
effectively across our system at Place, with accountability to the
HWB for our strategic planning and operational collaboration in
our local communities.

Q1 progress summary

The informal HWB development sessions continue to be a successful way to grow relationships
and a shared understanding of the issues and challenges affecting the East Sussex population.
Progress with the sessions is being made to plan. The session held in June focused on the JSNA
theme of the importance of the life course, and the JSNA theme for the following session in
September is reducing health inequalities. We remain on target for completion of the initial
programme by March 26, geared around our JSNA themes and building towards the refresh of
our HWB Strategy in 2026/27. The summary briefings with the key messages from the sessions
held so far is published here: East Sussex in Figures — Data Observatory — JSNA — JSNA: Health
and Wellbeing Board briefing notes

Our East Sussex Health and Care Partnership has agreed actions to proactively respond to
recently announced national and local changes that affect the context for how way we
strategically collaborate as partners, and what we need to prioritise together, including
ICB/system reform and a significant reduction in capacity, as well as increasing financial and
service pressures.

3) Children and young people

East Sussex HWB SDP priority Date What we will
achieve

We will continue to enhance support to parents and carers and March Improved

families to enable the best start in life and ensure service 2026 experience and

improvements, including pathway and service redesign, are increased

effectively implemented to improve the health and wellbeing and opportunities to

life chances of children and young people. support our most
vulnerable families.

Q1 progress summary

Page 96



https://www.eastsussexinfigures.org.uk/jsna/jsna-health-and-wellbeing-board-briefing-notes/
https://www.eastsussexinfigures.org.uk/jsna/jsna-health-and-wellbeing-board-briefing-notes/

Feedback from schools and parents in the first year of the Partnerships for Inclusion of
Neurodiversity in Schools (PINS) project (16 East Sussex schools) has been collated to inform
year 2 which will run from June 2025 — March 2026 (10 East Sussex schools).

To support improved access to information and support, a pilot of the ‘Dimensions’ tool is planned
to run to February 2026 in 13 East Sussex schools, to provide a personalised profile and
information about self-care, local services and support to children and young people across a
range of emotional and mental health issues.

4) Mental health

East Sussex HWB SDP priority Date What we will
achieve

We will implement integrated delivery of community mental health | March Reduced reliance

services and a wider range of earlier mental health support for 2026 on specialist

adults of all ages and people with dementia, through delivering services and

functional Neighbourhood Mental Health Teams (NMHTSs) and improved

ensuring their alignment with emerging Integrated Community population health

Teams, in line with the Sussex-wide approach, as well as and wellbeing

improving access and outcomes in supported accommodation

and capitalising on opportunities presented by the planned

opening of the new Coombe Valley Hospital.

Q1 progress summary

Neighbourhood Mental Health Team (NMHT) implementation has continued at pace. A soft
launch date for NMHTSs is planned for 10 November 2025, and all NMHT core team staff are
expected to be using a new shared client record system.

A successful bit for local external funding will support a feasibility study to be undertaken, looking
at possible options to deliver a community dementia hub within the Lewes area.

Linking with our SDP plans and partnership work to improve health outcomes, work has begun on
evidence building and developing recommendations in the area of peer support and personal
capital, recognising the benefits and impact for promoting positive mental health.

Work is also underway with the East Sussex Older People’s Mental Health Needs Assessment
which includes compiling and analysing data, completing literature searches and starting qualitive
data collection.

5) Integrated community teams (ICTs)

East Sussex HWB SDP priority Date What we will

achieve
We will support the move to a neighbourhood health service that | March In year plan
delivers more care at or closer to home through our five 2026 delivered.
Integrated Community Teams (ICTs) across East Sussex. In line
with ICTs across Sussex, this will focus on providing proactive,
joined-up care for people who require support from multiple
services and organisations; improved access to local health and
care services and, improving the health and wellbeing of our
population through an asset-based approach.

Q1 progress summary

Page 97



Our 5 new ICT leadership groups continue to meet bi-monthly in our 5 ICT footprints to develop
the day-to-day joint management, planning and coordination for each ICT with good attendance
from across system partners. This includes developing joint ICT action plans based on three key
aims; improving access, providing integrated proactive care, and a joined-up approach to
prevention.

Working across Sussex we’ve supported the development of the draft Sussex Neighbourhood
Health Framework and wider plans to deliver neighbourhood health. This includes using the
learning from the work over winter 2024/25 to identify people who would benefit from proactive
care due to falls and medicines risks, to start to outline plans for winter 2025/26 and establish
multi-disciplinary proactive care teams working at neighbourhood level around groups of people
with a high risk of admission to hospital. A risk stratification tool has been procured to support
teams across primary, community and social care to do this in conjunction with using our Sussex
Integrated Dataset.

6) Improving hospital discharge

East Sussex HWB SDP priority Date What we will

achieve
More people will be

We will continue to embed efficiency and process learning from

transformation programmes into ‘business as usual’ to further able to be
strengthen efficient hospital discharge processes, supported by discharged safely to
digital automation, with a long-term funding plan for discharge a community
capacity setting.

Q1 progress summary

Whole system collaboration continues to focus on improving hospital discharge and reducing the
number of people who remain in hospital after they have no clinical need to stay due to their
complex onward care needs. Actions include supporting people to stay active whilst in hospital
and minimise deterioration in health and wellbeing, establishing hubs to better coordinate the
transfer of care, two Social Work Teams supporting ‘discharge to recover and assess’ beds and a
discrete scheme commissioned to help people arranging and paying for their own care.

As of June 2025, the number of people categorised as no longer having a medical reason to be in
an acute hospital is steadily improving in East Sussex, with the recent NCTR numbers at ESHT
hospitals being consistently below 200. Although this is still very high, it mirrors the 2023
‘summer’ levels. Alongside good multi-disciplinary and system working, it is in part dependent on
continuing to have the right levels of bed capacity in the community.

Funding allocations have been agreed until the end of Quarter 2 2025/26. Despite a reduction in
Discharge To Assess (D2A) beds, overall performance continues to improve. This is reliant on our
health and care system investing in the right type of support to respond to people’s increasingly
complex needs appropriately after being in hospital.

7) Housing, health and care

East Sussex HWB SDP priority Date What we will
achieve

We will finalise, agree and implement our shared vision for the March | A clear ambition

housing sector in East Sussex set out in the East Sussex Housing | 2026 for all partners

Partnership Strategy and mobilisation plan, with a strong focus on
health, housing and care as part of a strategic partnership
framework that complements the borough and district housing
authority strategies.

Page 98



Q1 progress summary

Work is continuing to support the agreement of a finalised place-based East Sussex Housing
Partnership Strategy. The draft Strategy has now been published for public consultation in July —
August 2025 supported by an online survey. The partnership strategy will complement the
individual strategies in each of the local housing authorities and provide a framework to
strengthen partnership working in the context of devolution and local government reorganisation.
The recent public sector spending review included several announcements to support investment
in affordable housing, improve housing standards and homelessness prevention. Further
information and local funding allocations are expected in the autumn.

The East Sussex multiple compound needs health needs assessment* has now been published,
including homelessness, poor mental health and substance dependency support needs. The
findings and recommendations will guide future partnership work, including our programme
supporting rough sleepers and links to Integrated Community Teams and Mental Health
Neighbourhood Support Teams. Work is also underway to strengthen links with homelessness
prevention activities and the work of landlords to support community development as part of the
Adult Social Care Prevention Strategy.

A pan-Sussex response was submitted to the recent national consultation on supported housing
regulations. The response highlighted the importance of supported housing as an alternative to
temporary accommodation and enabling discharge from acute health and care settings.

*Multiple compound needs (sometimes also described as severe and multiple disadvantage) describes the
experience of having several support needs linked to social exclusion, usually three or more of the
following: housing, substance misuse and mental health needs, engagement with the criminal justice
system (specifically probation) or experience of domestic abuse, and the multiplying effects of these needs
in combination.

Page 99



https://www.eastsussexinfigures.org.uk/jsna/multiple-compound-needs-health-needs-assessment/

This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix2

East Sussex
Health & Wellbeing Board

East Sussex Health & Wellbeing Board
Development Sessions Summary Briefing

DRAFT Session #5: Reducing Health
Inequalities

1. Background

Two Peer Reviews of the County Council noted that, in addition to performing its statutory role
as a formal committee of the Council, the Health and Wellbeing Board (HWB) could be further
strengthened to become a vehicle for genuine strategic stewardship of our system focussed
on the health, care and wellbeing needs of the population.

This complements ‘Place’ at upper tier/HWB level being a key point of subsidiarity in our
Sussex Integrated Care System (ICS) for collaboration across the local NHS, Local
Authorities and the voluntary, community and social enterprise (VCSE) sector — and reflecting
the variation in inequalities, needs and context for delivery in Sussex.

Strengthening the focus and role of our HWB and our East Sussex Health and Care
Partnership was agreed in July 2024 as a Place delivery priority in the Shared Delivery Plan
(SDP). To support this a programme of 7 informal development sessions was arranged,
structured around the priority themes in our East Sussex Joint Strategic Needs Assessment
(JSNA), starting in September 2024. Both voting HWB members and non-voting members
with speaking rights are invited to the sessions, which are aimed at deepening the shared
understanding of our population’s health and care needs and priorities. The priority has
continued in our SDP plans for 2025/26, with the current programme of sessions running until
February 2026. Overall, the sessions are an opportunity to:

e Improve consistency of shared knowledge and understanding about our population

e Generate innovation and ideas

e Inform our in-year plans and co-creation of the Health and Wellbeing Board Strategy
refresh during 2026/27

This briefing note sets out the summary outcomes and key messages from the fifth
development session, which took place on 4 September 2025 in Hastings on the theme of
reducing health inequalities. Building on our previous discussions about system
stewardship, the main aim of the session was to provide some time to grow shared
understanding of the following:
e What we mean by health inequalities and what we know about health inequalities in
East Sussex, and the collaborative work we do to reduce inequalities

e How we can approach measuring the impact of our work to improve population health
and wellbeing, and how this can drive our joint work in this area

Improving Lives Together  Page 101



https://www.eastsussexjsna.org.uk/about-us/jsna-summary-east-sussex-2024/

Acknowledging that the programme of development sessions has now been running for a
year, the HWB also spent some time recapping past learning across the JSNA themes.

2. Briefing note

2.1 Reducing health inequalities

The JSNA topic for the session was reducing health inequalities. Our aim to reduce health
inequalities for our population underpins everything we do. However, the gaps are always
changing and not always in the direction we want them to.

Health inequalities are avoidable and unfair differences in health status between groups of
people or communities?. Equality is the even distribution of resources across all people.
Equity, on the other hand, is the distribution of resources based on need. The diagram below
illustrates this:

Equality Inclusion

The assumption is Everyone get the All 3 can see the game
that everyone support they need, without supports or
benefits from the thus producing accommodations
same supports. This equity. because the cause(s) of
is equal treatment. the inequity was

addressed. The
systemic barrier has
been removed.

Image Credit: A collaboration between Center for Story-based Strategy & Interactive Institute for Social Change. Adapted

for use By Active Oxfordshire. and

Health inequalities refer to both preventable differences in health status and to factors that
contribute to health status, such as differences in the care that people receive or the
opportunities to lead healthy lives. Inequalities in these factors are interrelated, interacting
with each other to benefit or disadvantage different people or groups.

The reasons for health inequalities can be complex and we also have to look at the things that
determine health in the first place. A person’s chance of enjoying good health and a longer
life is influenced by the range of interacting social, economic and environmental
conditions in which they are born, grow, live, work and age. These conditions determine
health, and include individual lifestyle factors, community influences, living and working
conditions, and more general social circumstances that influence our health. Consequently,
they can be hard for any one organisation to impact in totality, and requires collaboration
across both local and national levels.

Health inequalities are also affected by the experiences of different people and groups
within our population, all of which can interact:
e Protected characteristics under the Equalities Act 2010 - race, sex, sexual
orientation, pregnancy and maternity, disability, gender reassignment, marriage and
civil partnership and religion or belief

1 Public Health England, 2017

Page 102



e Socio-economic deprived groups and the impact of the wider determinants e.g.
education, low income, occupation, unemployment and housing

e Inclusion health and vulnerable groups who may be further disadvantaged through
lack of access to services e.g. gypsy, roma and traveller and boater communities,
people experiencing homelessness, offenders and former offenders, and sex workers

e Geography which includes population composition, built and natural environment,
levels of social connectedness, and whether an area has urban, rural or coastal
features

Facts and figures about inequalities in East Sussex

e In East Sussex 78,400 people (14%) of our 550,720 residents live in ‘Core20’
neighbourhoods — the most deprived 20% of neighbourhoods nationally using the
Index of Multiple Deprivation (IMD).

e The gap between the highest and lowest life expectancy in East Sussex at Medium
Super Output Area? (MSOA) is 10.1 years for females and 12.7 years for males.

e The average life expectancy in East Sussex is 83.4 years for females (England
average 83.1 years) and 79.9 years for males (England average 79.1 years).

e Life expectancy in East Sussex was improving until 2013-15, then stalled until 2018-20,
and has dropped since the pandemic. It currently remains lower than pre-pandemic
levels.

e The areas in East Sussex with the highest and lowest life expectancy for women
are Frant and Groombridge (Wealden) — 88.7 years, and Central St Leonards
(Hastings) — 78.5 years, respectively.

e The areas in East Sussex with the highest and lowest life expectancy for men are
Crowborough North East (Wealden) — 86.2 years, and Pier (Eastbourne) — 73.4 years,
respectively.

e The biggest health contributors to the life expectancy gap between the most and
least deprived areas in East Sussex for both men and women are Cardiovascular
Disease (CVD) and cancer?.

e The biggest causes of premature death are Heart Disease, Chronic Lower
Respiratory Disease, and trachea, bronchus and lung cancers*.

e Tobacco is the greatest risk factor for both deaths and the number of years lived in
ill health. Smoking prevalence is declining but more slowly in more deprived
communities. The gap in prevalence between the most and least deprived areas has
increased®.

e Alzheimer’s and heart disease are the biggest causes of death in East Sussex, with
Alzheimer’s accounting for 1.5 times the number of deaths caused by heart disease®.

e Together Alzheimer’s and Heart Disease account for 1.75 times more deaths than the
next most common causes of death - stroke and chronic lower respiratory disease’.

Our collaborative work

The national Core20PLUS5 approach launched by NHS England to reduce health inequalities
at both national and system level underpins our joint action as the Sussex ICS. The approach
defines a target population group — the ‘Core20PLUS’ — and identifies ‘5’ clinical focus areas
requiring accelerated improvement.

2 MSOA is an area of approximately 8,000 people
3 Institute of Health Metrics Evaluation, GBD 2023
4 Public Health Mortality Files 2025
5 Institute of Health Metrics Evaluation, GBD 2023
6 Public Health Mortality Files 2025
7 Public Health Mortality Files 2025

Page 103


https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/english-indices-of-deprivation-2019
https://www.england.nhs.uk/about/equality/equality-hub/national-healthcare-inequalities-improvement-programme/core20plus5/

The ‘Core20’ is the most deprived 20% of the national population as defined by the Index of
Multiple Deprivation (IMD). The ‘Plus’ are population health groups determined as
experiencing poorer than average health access, experience or outcomes, but not captured in
the ‘Core20’ alone. The 5 clinical areas of focus for adults in East Sussex are severe mental
illness; cancer; maternity care; hypertension and Chronic respiratory disease. For children
and young people the 5 clinical areas of focus are: asthma; epilepsy; diabetes; mental health,
and; oral health.

In summary, using the above approach as part of broader plans and strategies, reducing
health inequalities is treated as a cross-cutting theme in everything we do. It is at the heart of
our Sussex Improving Lives Together Strategy, East Sussex HWB Strategy and the range of
work described in the Shared Delivery Plan and other Place-based strategies and plans.

This extends to our collaborative action in our communities and neighbourhoods as part of
developing Integrated Community Teams (ICTs). To help us reach, engage and improve
outcomes for the 20% most deprived population our ICT Profiles include information on
population size, Core20, diversity, healthy life expectancy, wider determinants of health and
service use. By supporting this better shared understanding of communities within each ICT
footprint, we can build on a range of activity aimed at improving outcomes and narrowing the
gap in life expectancy and healthy life years, including:

e Geographically targeted interventions at our most disadvantaged communities such
as Hastings, Eastbourne, Newhaven using data e.g. our asset-based community
development programme Making it Happen

e Forming local partnerships and trusted relationships through close working
between local councils, VCSE, community leaders who have deep reach into socially
isolated communities with low trust in services and multiple disadvantages

e Outreach and digital inclusion reducing barriers to access: transport, digital literacy,
mistrust of statutory services

e Community co-production - embedding lived experience and co-production through
panels, listening events and targeted engagement with marginalised groups shaping
culturally competent and trauma-informed services

e Training and developing our workforce including social prescribers, health visitors,
housing officers and clinicians, to build relationships with underserved populations

e Investing in VCSE infrastructure organisations, community development and hyper-
local grassroots organisations that are trusted by communities and have a proven track
record of engaging people who do not traditionally access health and care services

e Tackling the wider determinants aligning action on poverty, housing, employment,
education, early years e.g. warm homes, food insecurity and employability schemes

e Targeted prevention and proactive care using risk stratification to identify high-need
individuals and provide tailored proactive interventions to reduce avoidable hospital
admissions and improve self-management.

e Evaluation and continuous learning tracking equity of access, experience and
outcomes using disaggregated data (e.g. by deprivation quintile, ethnicity, age) to
monitor impact and adapt approaches

Page 104


https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/english-indices-of-deprivation-2019
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/english-indices-of-deprivation-2019
https://www.eastsussexjsna.org.uk/resources/ict-profiles/

2.2 Improving population health and wellbeing

The session also spent some time exploring ways to better understand and measure the
outcomes and impact of our partnership work to support population health and wellbeing. This
can be done through using strategic tools such as the Sussex Population Health Outcomes
Framework and the East Sussex Shared Outcomes Framework, which includes a domain
for population health and wellbeing.

The following principles were used in choosing specific measures and indicators within these
strategic outcomes frameworks:

e Whether the data exist already, if it is reliable and can be accessed easily (this means
it is likely to come from existing organisation datasets)

e Avoid duplication and cross reference between Sussex and East Sussex and with
national outcomes frameworks such as the Public Health Outcomes Framework, Adult
Social Care Outcomes Framework

e Choose measures and indicators that are hard to deliver without organisations working
well in partnership, and that tell us something about how well we work together as a
system

e Be prepared to work with ‘proxy’ indicators and be clear that data and indicators only
give one part of the picture about what is happening

e Keep the list as short as possible and focussed on key strategic priorities to avoid
‘information overload’

Using the Population Health and Wellbeing Domain of the East Sussex Shared Outcomes
Framework, the indicators and measures were updated and an initial draft report of our
position against them was shared for discussion. The indicators are set out over the life
course, and also the gap in health outcomes for the most and least deprived areas of East
Sussex. The key headlines from the data, mostly comparing East Sussex with the rest of
England, are as follows:

Children have a good start in life
e Better (compared with England) for breastfeeding, and excess weight for 10 to 11-year-
olds
e Worse (compared with England) for maternal smoking and emergency admissions for
CYP
e Whilst MMR uptake is above England it is still below the 95% target for herd immunity

People are able to live well
e Better (compared with England) across adult social care measures (social care related
quality of life, having enough social contact, feelings of anxiousness or depression)
e Worse (compared with England) for self-harm admissions and NHS Health Checks

People age well
e Better (compared with England) for Healthy Life Expectancy and preventable deaths
e Worse (compared with England) for emergency admissions due to falls

People have a good end of life
e Lower (i.e. better) for deaths that occur in hospital

The gap in health outcomes is improved (between most and least deprived areas in
East Sussex — Wealden and Hastings)
e The gap in rates of childhood obesity in 4-5 years olds has widened, and there’s little
change for 10-11 year olds, since the last reporting period
e The gap in emergency hospital admissions has reduced since the last reporting period
e The gap in rates of preventable deaths has widened, but is starting to reduce for
treatable deaths since the last reporting period

Page 105



The discussion explored the benefits and limitations of what the report can tell us about the
effectiveness of our partnership work to improve population health and wellbeing, and how
this can help inform our strategies and plans. The following key points came out of
discussions:

e The outcomes in the East Sussex SOF domain of ‘population health and wellbeing’ are
helpful in that they reflect the East Sussex JSNA themes covered in the informal HWB
development sessions - improving healthy life expectancy; a whole life course
approach; the building blocks of health, as well as reducing the gap in health outcomes
(health inequalities)

e Although it's good to have choice, a smaller number of measures — e.g. two or three
strategic barometer indicators, for example school readiness, would be of value to the
HWAB in its role as a strategic stewardship group for the health and care system

e The report is helpful in a delivery context to help drive the focus of strategies and
delivery plans, and the data is already doing this, for example through partnership work
on falls prevention led by Public Health

e The data always needs to be analysed further to understand what is happening behind
the headline indicator, particularly with indicators where improvement can only be
made through multi-organisational and multi-layered action (national and local), for
example childhood obesity

e Theory of Change or Logic Models could be used to align strategic outcomes with
service delivery plans and specific developments and initiatives to impact key
indicators. This could also help inform our delivery plans and activity at ICT level

3. Next steps

This briefing has been produced for sharing with organisations, partners and stakeholders to
facilitate a wider understanding of how our HWB's role is developing to support our joint work.
In this session we have explored health inequalities and our collaborative work to reduce
them. We also looked at the ways we can understand whether population health and
wellbeing is improving as a result of partnership action, and how measuring this can be used
to drive strategies and plans going forward.

This information will be used to inform how we approach refreshing the HWB strategy in 2026.
It will also influence how we shape the new neighbourhood health plan that is expected to be
produced under the leadership of HWBS, as recently set out in national 10 Year Health Plan
and supporting planning framework that has recently been published by NHS England. This
includes the development of 5-year population health improvement plans and integrated
delivery plans by our ICB and NHS Trusts.

The next informal HWB development session is scheduled for 13 November 2025 and will
look at our last JISNA theme of mental health and wellbeing, focusing on prevention and early
support.

For more information please contact:

Vicky Smith, Programme Director, East Sussex Health and Care Transformation
East Sussex County Council and NHS Sussex

Contact: vicky.smith@eastsussex.gov.uk

Page 106



Agenda Iltem 8

Report to: East Sussex Health and Wellbeing Board

Date of meeting: 23 September 2025

By: Director of Public Health
Title: East Sussex Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2025
Purpose: To present the 2025 East Sussex Pharmaceutical Needs

Assessment to the Health and Wellbeing Board for approval,
and agreement for it to be published, as required by the NHS
(Pharmaceutical and Pharmaceutical Services) 2013
Regulations.

Recommendations:
East Sussex Health and Wellbeing Board is recommended to:

1. approve the 2025 East Sussex Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment attached as
Appendix 1; and

2. agree to the publication of the Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment.

1 Background

1.1 Since April 2013 every Health and Wellbeing Board (HWB) in England has a
statutory responsibility to publish every three years, and keep up to date, a statement of the
need for pharmaceutical services in its area, otherwise referred to as a pharmaceutical
needs assessment (PNA).

1.2 The current PNA was published in October 2022 and so there is a requirement to
publish an updated PNA by October 2026. The required content for PNAs is set out in
Schedule 1 to the NHS (Pharmaceutical and Local Pharmaceutical Services) Regulations
2013.

1.3 The aim of the East Sussex PNA is to describe the underlying need for and current
provision of pharmaceutical services in East Sussex, to ensure that the minimum statutory
requirements for PNAs are met, to identify systematically any gaps in services and, in
consultation with stakeholders, make recommendations on future development.

14 Since July 2022, the NHS Sussex Integrated Care Board (ICB) has been responsible
for managing the Community Pharmacy Contractual Framework and is expected to refer to
the PNA when making decisions about market entry for new service providers, as well as in
the commissioning of enhanced services from pharmacies.

2 East Sussex Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment

2.1 The PNA was guided by a steering group, chaired by Public Health, with
representation from Local Medical Committee (LMC), Local Pharmaceutical Committee
(LPC), Healthwatch, NHS Sussex ICB and the Adult Social Care consultation and insight
team.

2.2 The full 161-page report at Appendix 1 includes the following:
Page 107


http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2013/349/contents/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2013/349/contents/made

2.3

Executive summary with clear conclusions and recommendations
PNA process and strategic context

Local data on demography and health and care needs by district and borough council
area

Details of current pharmaceutical services provision including locations and specific
commissioned services available

Results of the resident survey with 947 responses
Gap analysis looking at travel times at different times of the day/week
Results of stakeholder public consultation.

The report recognises how important and valued these services are in communities

across East Sussex. Whilst there are some challenges with access, most residents were
able to access services at various times of the day and week across all five district and
borough areas of the county.

24

Whilst the report recognises there have been some closures since the last PNA, the

main conclusion of this PNA is that there are:

2.5

no geographical gaps in the location of premises;

no geographical gaps in the provision of services; and

no gaps in the times at which, or days on which, services are provided.
The recommendations from the PNA include the following:

Commissioners to support current pharmacies to enhance access to the advanced
and locally commissioned services currently available in East Sussex.

Commissioners and current providers to continue to support ongoing good quality
services that are highly valued by residents in East Sussex. This includes
considerations for those with physical or communication needs and those who
support others to access pharmaceutical services.

Commissioners and current providers to ensure information on available pharmacy
provision, especially on Sundays and Bank Holidays, is clearly communicated, up-to-
date and accessible to residents and health and care providers.

East Sussex County Council to maintain and improve, where possible, access to
public transport, particularly for villages and towns in more rural areas of East
Sussex.

NHS Sussex ICB to consider the need for an out of hours locally commissioned
service from existing pharmacies, including reviewing provision in Lewes on weekday
evenings and rural Rother on Sundays.

NHS Sussex ICB to regularly review the commissioning of Bank Holiday provision in
East Sussex to ensure it appropriately meets resident needs.

3 Conclusion and reasons for recommendations

3.1

The Health and Wellbeing Board is required by the NHS (Pharmaceutical and

Pharmaceutical Services) 2013 Regulations to publish and keep up to date a statement of
the need for pharmaceutical services in its area.

Page 108



3.2 The due process for developing the revised PNA has been completed and all the
regulations associated with its production have been followed.

3.3 The Health and Wellbeing Board is recommended to approve the 2025 East Sussex
PNA and to agree to its publication.

Darrell Gale
Director of Public Health
East Sussex County Council

Contact Officer
Email: graham.evans@eastsussex.qgov.uk

Appendix 1: Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2025

Page 109


mailto:graham.evans@eastsussex.gov.uk

This page is intentionally left blank



éPRQQQ'T jlb nt Strate g
Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2025 ]S NA | Needs Ass ent

EAST SUSSEX

Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment
October 2025

—a- 0 == " _ =" uan o P =
== = I III14 lcv:i: I1Il 4
LI L i IKIM[MHMMIKI

=R¢p
i

[==1 _ddd . =00 30 000 e




East Sussex

Joint Strategic
Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2025 ] S NA

Needs Assessment

Document summary

This document is an analysis across East Sussex regarding the need for and use of
community pharmacy services for the period 2025-2028.

The document has 11 sections, an executive summary, one appendix and a glossary.

Document Control

Version Date Purpose Author
1 16/04/2025 For steering group review. G Evans
2 24/04/2025 Updated following steering group review. G Evans
3 07/05/2025 Updated following review by Director of Public health G Evans

and accessibility checks, ready for public consultation.

4 12/0802025 Updated following public consultation and review by G Evans
steering group.

Page 112 Page 2 of 160



Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2025

East Sussex

JSNA

Distribution of PNA Draft for Consultation

Organisation

Sussex Local Pharmaceutical Committee
Surrey and Sussex Local Medical Committee
Healthwatch East Sussex

East Sussex Healthcare NHS Trust

Sussex Community NHS Foundation Trust
Sussex Partnership NHS Foundation Trust
Brighton & Hove Health and Wellbeing Board
West Sussex Health and Wellbeing Board
Kent Health and Wellbeing Board

Surrey Health and Wellbeing Board

Approval:

This document has been approved by:
Name: Darrell Gale
Designation: Director of Public Health

Document version number: 4

Related information:

Date

9/5/2025
9/5/2025
9/5/2025
9/5/2025
9/5/2025
9/5/2025
9/5/2025
9/5/2025
9/5/2025
9/5/2025

Date: TBC

Joint Strategic
Needs Assessment

Enquiries: Graham Evans, Head of Public Health Intelligence, Adult Social Care & Health

Department, East Sussex County Council
Author: Graham Evans

Email: graham.evans@eastsussex.gov.uk

Page 113

Page 3 of 160


mailto:graham.evans@eastsussex.gov.uk

East Sussex | Joint Strategic
Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2025 JSNA | Needs Assessment
Contents
Document summary 2
Acknowledgements 9
Executive summary 10
Introduction 10
Process 10
Key findings 10
Demography 10
Health and care needs 11
Current pharmaceutical services provision 12
East Sussex residents survey 14
Gap analysis 15
Conclusions 17
Recommendations 18
1. Introduction 19
1.1 What is a Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment (PNA) 19
1.2 The role of the PNA in the provision of services 19
1.3 Commissioning of community pharmacy 20
1.4 NHS pharmaceutical services provision 20
1.5 The Community Pharmacy Contractual Framework 21
1.6 Definition of types of pharmaceutical services 21
Essential pharmaceutical services 21
Advanced services 21
Enhanced services 22
GP dispensing service 23
Locally Commissioned Services 23
2. The Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment process 25
2.1 Aim 25
2.2 Objectives 25
2.3 Methodology 26
Page 114

Page 4 of 160



Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2025

2.4 Key Steps
2.5 Defining “necessary services” for the PNA
3. Strategic Context
3.1 The geography of East Sussex
3.2 Health and care sites
4. Demography
4.1 Age and sex
Age structure
Key age groups across East Sussex
Births
4.2 Ethnicity
4.3 Population change 2025-2028
4.4 Housing development plans 2025/26 to 2027/28
Eastbourne borough
Hastings borough
Lewes district
Rother district
Wealden district
4.5 Rural and urban areas
4.6 Access to a car / van
4.7 Deprivation (IMD 2019)
5. Health and care needs
5.1 Life expectancy
5.2 Disease and poor health
Bad health
Disability
Chronic disease
6. Current pharmaceutical services provision
6.1 Pharmacy provision in East Sussex

Location of community pharmacies in East Sussex

Page 115

East Sussex

JSNA

Joint Strategic
Needs Assessment

26
27
28
28
29
31
31
31
32
35
37
40
43
43
45
46
49
52
56
58
60
64
64
67
67
67
70
71
71
71

Page 5 of 160



East Sussex

Joint Strategic

Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2025 JSNA | Needs Assessment
Pharmacy changes since the last PNA 73
Provision compared to neighbouring areas 74
Provision across East Sussex boroughs and districts 75
Pharmacy Access Scheme (PhAS) 75

6.2 Opening Hours 76
100-hour contract changes 76
Contracted hours in East Sussex 77
Opening times 78

6.3 Travel times to access pharmacies 83
Method 83
Weekday access 83
Evening access 86
Weekend access 88

6.4 Necessary Services 93
Dispensing activity 93
Distance Selling Pharmacy activity 93
Discharge Medicines Service (DMS) 94
Pharmacy First service (Advanced service) 95

6.5 Enhanced services 98
Bank holiday provision 98
COVID-19 Vaccination Service 98

6.6 Advanced services 99
New Medicine Service (NMS) 99
Flu vaccination 100
Hypertension Case-Finding service 100
Smoking Cessation Service (SCS) 101
Pharmacy Contraception Service (PCS) 102
Lateral Flow Device (LFD) tests supply service 102

6.7 Locally commissioned services 103
End of life care / palliative care drugs - NHS Sussex ICB 103

Page 116

Page 6 of 160



East Sussex

Joint Strategic
Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2025 ] S NA

Needs Assessment

Supply of oral antiviral medication for the treatment of COVID-19 and management of

Influenza - NHS Sussex ICB 104
C-Card for under 25s - ESCC 105
Emergency Hormonal Contraception (EHC) to under 25s - ESCC 106
Smoking Cessation - ESCC 107
Opiate reversers (naloxone) - CGL 108
Needle and syringe exchange programme (NSP) - CGL 109
Distribution of oral substitution therapy and supervised consumption - CGL 110

6.8 Other services affecting demand for and which supply pharmaceutical services 112

NHS Acute Trust Hospitals 112
NHS Community Hospitals 113
Mental health services 113
Residential and Nursing Care homes 113
Other services 114
7. East Sussex Residents’ Survey 2025 115
Methodology 115
7.1 Findings 116
Area of residence 116
Equalities questions 117
Where do you usually get your prescription from? 120
How often do you use a pharmacy for health reasons? 121
How do you usually travel to the pharmacy? 122
What time do you usually go to the pharmacy? 123
How easy was it to access a pharmacy at different times 123
Access for people with physical disabilities 125
Experience for people with communication needs 126
Helping others access pharmacies 127
Any other comments about pharmacy services in East Sussex 128
10. Gap analysis 129
10.1 Geographical gaps in the location of pharmacies 129
10.2 Geographical gaps in the provision of services 129
Page 117

Page 7 of 160



East Sussex

JSNA

Joint Strategic
Needs Assessment

Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2025

10.3 Gaps in the times at which, or days on which, services are provided 130
11. Stakeholders’ consultation 131
11.1 Consultation responses 132
11.2 Detailed comments and responses 136
Appendices 149
Glossary 149
List of Pharmacies and GP dispensing practices included in this PNA 151
Page 118

Page 8 of 160



East Sussex

Joint Strategic
Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2025 ] S NA

Needs Assessment

Acknowledgements

Steering group members

Dr. Chrissie Clayton - Surrey & Sussex Local Medical Committee (LMC)
Ellen Mason - Senior Medicines Optimisation Pharmacist, NHS Sussex ICB
Emma King - Consultant in Public Health, ESCC (Chair)

Graham Evans - Head of Public Health Intelligence, ESCC

Joshua Bluck - Consultation and Insight Officer, ESCC

Julia Powell - CEO, Community Pharmacy, Surrey & Sussex (LPC)

Katie Perkins - Pharmacy & Optometry Commissioning, NHS Sussex ICB

Vanessa Taylor - Non-Executive Director, Healthwatch East Sussex

The East Sussex Health and Wellbeing Board would like to acknowledge the contribution of
staff from: ESCC departments (Adult Social Care, Marketing and Communications, Public
Health); NHS Sussex Integrated Care Board; Community Pharmacies; GP Practices; the
Sussex Local Pharmaceutical Committee; the Local Medical Committee; and all other
stakeholders and members of the public towards the development of the 2025
Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment (PNA).

Page 119 Page 9 of 160



East Sussex

Joint Strategic
Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2025 ] S NA

Needs Assessment

Executive summary

Introduction

Since 15t April 2013 every Health and Wellbeing Board (HWB) in England has a statutory
responsibility to publish every three years and keep up to date a statement of the need for
pharmaceutical services in its area, otherwise referred to as a pharmaceutical needs
assessment (PNA).

From July 2022, the NHS Sussex Integrated Care Board (ICB) is responsible for managing the
Community Pharmacy Contractual Framework and is expected to refer to the PNA when
making decisions about market entry for new service providers, as well as in the
commissioning of enhanced services from pharmacies.

The required content for PNAs is set out in Schedule 1 to the NHS (Pharmaceutical and
Local Pharmaceutical Services) Regulations 2013.

The aim of the East Sussex PNA is to describe the underlying need for and current provision
of pharmaceutical services in East Sussex, to ensure that the minimum statutory
requirements for PNAs are met, to identify systematically any gaps in services and, in
consultation with stakeholders, make recommendations on future development.

Process

To oversee the process, a PNA Steering Group was formed consisting of key professionals
drawn from the Public Health department at East Sussex County Council (ESCC), the Insight,
Information and Communication Team at ESCC, NHS Sussex ICB, Healthwatch, the Local
Pharmaceutical Committee (LPC), and the Local Medical Committee (LMC).

The PNA has reviewed and analysed East Sussex’s demographic changes, health needs,
mapped current pharmaceutical service provision and consulted the public and other
stakeholders through surveys.

To comply with the Regulations a public consultation of the PNA document was undertaken
from 9t May to 315t July 2025. Views from the public and other stakeholders were sought
and responded to in drafting the final document.

Key findings

Demography

East Sussex has a mixture of urban and rural areas, with the concentration of urban areas
located on the coast, in the central corridor north from Eastbourne up to Heathfield, and
the market towns of Lewes, Uckfield and Crowborough in the West and North.

Page 120 Page 10 of 160


http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2013/349/contents/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2013/349/contents/made

East Sussex

Joint Strategic
Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2025 ] S NA

Needs Assessment

East Sussex has a total resident population of 551,007 and a much older age profile
compared to England.

All districts have an older age profile compared to England, but Rother has a particularly
older profile with almost 1 in 3 residents aged 65 years or older, compared to fewer than 1
in 5 for England.

Within the county, older age groups are more concentrated in Seaford, Bexhill, Eastbourne
and Eastern Rother.

The more ethnically diverse communities in East Sussex are located in Eastbourne, Hastings
& St Leonards, the Havens, Lewes town and Forest Row.

Between 2025 and 2028 there is estimated to be an extra 13,180 residents that will be
living in East Sussex which represents a 2.4% increase over the three-year period. The
greatest percentage increases will occur in the older age groups.

Wealden is estimated to see the largest percentage increase in population at 4.6%. Lewes
(2.2%) and Rother (2.2%) are projected to experience similar increases to the East Sussex
average (2.4%). Hastings (1.3%) is estimated to see a smaller increase, whilst Eastbourne is
estimated to see a slight decrease (-0.1%).

Around 9,000 new housing completions are currently planned for the period of the PNA. 46%
of new completions are currently planned for Wealden, with 19% in Rother, 16% in Lewes,
11% in Hastings and 8% in Eastbourne. No single area within East Sussex has close to a
further 2,000 planned developments.

The areas with low percentages of households with access to a car/van are all in the more
densely populated urban areas of East Sussex.

Hastings is the most deprived local authority in the South East and amongst the most
deprived nationally.

In East Sussex, the most deprived areas are mainly in urban coastal areas.

Health and care needs

Life Expectancy (LE) at birth is higher at an East Sussex level compared to England for both
males and females.

At a district and borough level, male LE for 2021-2023 ranges from 76.7 years in Hastings to
81.9 years in Wealden. For females LE ranges from 80.9 in Hastings to 84.5 in Wealden.

31,149 residents in East Sussex responded that their health was bad or very bad, which
represents 5.7% of the population. This was higher than for England (5.2%). Higher
percentages were seen in Hastings (7.3%), Eastbourne (6.3%) and Rother (6.0%).

Page 121 Page 11 of 160



East Sussex

Joint Strategic
Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2025 ] S NA

Needs Assessment

In East Sussex there were 110,553 residents who self-reported to be disabled, representing
20.3% of the population. This was higher than for England (17.3%). Higher percentages were
seen in Hastings (22.6%), Eastbourne (21.6%) and Rother (21.6%).

Looking at a more local level, the higher percentages of disabled people are in the coastal
areas of East Sussex and also Hailsham.

Prevalences of chronic diseases are higher in East Sussex compared to England. This may be
due to the older age profile in East Sussex and the fact that many chronic conditions are
age-related.

Rother has the highest prevalence rates of chronic diseases with the exception of
depression, where Hastings is highest.

Current pharmaceutical services provision

As at April 2025, there were 92 community pharmacies included in the pharmaceutical list
for East Sussex and three distance selling pharmacies. There are 16 GP Dispensaries in East
Sussex, and no Dispensing Appliance Contractors providing services within East Sussex.

There has been a gradual reduction in provision of pharmacies at a local, regional and
national level. In East Sussex since the last PNA in 2022 there are seven fewer community
pharmacies, which is a 6% reduction, whilst the number of distance selling pharmacies and
dispensing practices have remained the same. The greatest decrease has been in
Eastbourne where there are 3 fewer pharmacies.

The rate of pharmacies in East Sussex is 17.1 per 100,000 population which is lower than
the England rate of 18.1. Looking at neighbouring areas to East Sussex both Brighton and
Hove (18.2) and Medway (17.8), which are both more urban densely populated areas, have
higher rates than East Sussex. However, compared to more similar neighbouring counties
(West Sussex, Surrey and Kent), East Sussex has the highest rate of provision. Note that it’s
not possible to add in dispensing practices to the national data as it is not routinely
available.

Looking at pharmacy provision across the districts and boroughs in East Sussex, where we
can also include the local dispensing practices. This shows highest provision per 100,000
population in Rother (24.2), which has the oldest population profile, followed by Hastings
(22.0) which has the most population living in areas of deprivation. The lowest rates are in
Eastbourne (16.4) and Lewes (16.8).

Of the 92 community pharmacies in East Sussex, four are on 100 hours (amended)
contracts. This is a reduction of four from the eight that were in place at the last PNA.
Pharmacies with 40-hour contracts can choose to open for longer under supplementary
hours arrangements. (see section 6.2)

All 92 community pharmacies and 16 dispensing practices are open weekdays.

Page 122 Page 12 of 160



East Sussex

Joint Strategic
Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2025 ] S NA

Needs Assessment

Across East Sussex 39% of pharmacies and GP dispensaries are open evenings (open for at
least one day beyond 6pm Monday to Friday) and this ranges from 48% in Wealden to 31% in
Lewes.

77% of pharmacies and GP dispensaries are open on a Saturday and this ranges from 88% in
Eastbourne to 64% in Rother.

15% of pharmacies and GP dispensaries are open on a Sunday and this ranges from 35% in
Eastbourne to 3% in Wealden.

As well as the neighbouring city of Brighton and Hove, the towns of Burgess-Hill, Haywards
Heath, East Grinstead and Royal Tunbridge Wells all boost access to pharmacies for East
Sussex residents, including in the evenings and weekends.

There are no populated areas of East Sussex that are not within a 30 minute drive by car of
an open community pharmacy or dispensing practice, both within and outside rush hour
during weekdays and after 6pm.

When looking at access via public transport on weekdays the analysis showed that 10,738
(1.9%) residents did not have access within 30 minutes.

Whilst there are no services open in the evening in Lewes town, the analysis showed that
travel times by car and public transport are sufficient to nearby towns such as Uckfield and
Brighton.

Whilst rural areas are boosted by dispensing practices, not all are open every evening for
long beyond 6pm. This particularly affects areas in rural Rother.

When looking at access via public transport on weekday evenings the analysis showed that
32,324 (5.9%) residents did not have access within 30 minutes.

There are no populated areas of East Sussex that are not within 30 minute drive by car of a
community pharmacy or dispensing practice on either a Saturday or Sunday.

When looking at access via public transport on Saturdays the analysis showed that 69,747
(12.7%) of residents did not have access within 30 minutes. This increased to 218,288
(39.6%) on a Sunday.

There were 10.3 million items dispensed by pharmacies in East Sussex during 2024.
Pharmacies in Eastbourne dispensed the greatest number of items per pharmacy (9,857 per
month per pharmacy) and Rother the fewest (7,734).

On average there were 18.5 prescription items dispensed per head of population per year in
East Sussex during 2024. This was highest in Hastings (24.1) and Eastbourne (20.5) and
lowest in Rother (14.7) and Lewes (16.1).

Pharmacy First services are available across all community pharmacies in East Sussex,
although some pharmacies experience more activity than others. ‘Urgent medicine supply’
consultations saw the greatest activity in terms of numbers, followed by the ‘Minor illness

Page 123 Page 13 of 160



East Sussex

Joint Strategic
Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2025 ] S NA

Needs Assessment

referral’ consultations. Of the seven common condition clinical pathways ‘acute sore
throat’ and ‘uncomplicated UTI’ both saw the greatest activity.

The other advanced and locally commissioned services although not defined as necessary,
provide geographical coverage across East Sussex and secure additional benefits for
residents.

East Sussex residents survey

947 residents responded to a survey during the 6 weeks between 6™ February and 20t
March 2025. The survey received slightly more responses from residents living in Wealden
and Rother, compared to their share of the general population in East Sussex. Responses
from residents living in Eastbourne and Hastings were slightly lower than their share of the
East Sussex population.

71% of respondents reported they got their prescription from a pharmacy/chemist shop,
with 14% getting it directly from a GP Surgery. Of those who got their prescription from a
GP, 57% lived in Rother and 37% lived in Wealden which reflects the availability of
dispensing practices for more rural patients.

The vast majority of respondents visited their pharmacy monthly (65%), with 17% every few
months, 10% weekly and 7% once a year or less.

For those who visited a pharmacy in person, 53% travelled by car and 42% walked. Only 2%
travelled by public transport. Use of public transport is highest in Eastbourne (6%) and
lowest in Rother (2%) and Wealden (0%). This reflects the access to car/van statistics in
those areas.

The vast majority of respondents (86%) go to their pharmacy on weekdays between 9am and
6pm. 3% usually go on a weekday evening and another 3% on the weekend (8% did not
answer or were unsure).

Most respondents found it easier to access the pharmacy weekdays between 9am and 6pm
(66% found it easy) and at weekends (49% found it easy), whilst only 29% found it easy
weekdays after 6pm and 28% on bank holidays.

Looking at the responses by district/borough and which area scored poorest on access for
each time option, Hastings respondents found it hardest to access weekdays, Lewes
respondents found it hardest in the evenings and bank holidays, and Rother respondents
found it hardest on the weekends.

27% (259) of people responded that they had a physical disability with 79% (204 people) of
those reporting that the pharmacy always met their needs.

For those that said their needs were sometimes or never met, 35% stated difficulties
accessing the building because of steps, 25% insufficient/no seating, 18% difficulty opening
the door and 10% long queues.

Page 124 Page 14 of 160



East Sussex

Joint Strategic
Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2025 ] S NA

Needs Assessment

21% (194) of people responded that they had communication difficulties (such as hearing
impairment or need information in another language), and of those, 79% (154 people)
reported that the pharmacy always met their needs.

The most common reason for why the pharmacy did not meet their needs related to some
form of telecommunication need not being met. This might include the pharmacy not
calling/messaging to update/respond to customers, no longer being able to call the
pharmacy, or the pharmacy being slow at responding to emails/calls.

33% (311) of people help someone to use pharmacy services, and of those 6% (18 people)
reported they found it difficult to meet that person’'s needs.

When respondents were asked what makes it easy or difficult to collect on behalf of
someone else, there were four times more positive responses to negative ones.

Gap analysis

Guidance from the Department of Health and Social Care suggests there are three types of
gaps in provision that can be articulated in the PNA:

e Geographical gaps in the location of premises.
e Geographical gaps in the provision of services.
e Gaps in the times at which, or days on which, services are provided.

This section summarises the analysis in East Sussex.

Geographical gaps in the location of pharmacies

Section 6.1 contains analysis of provision (pharmacies and dispensing practices) per 100,000
population across the districts and boroughs in East Sussex. This shows highest provision per
100,000 population in Rother (24.2), which has the oldest population profile, followed by
Hastings (22.0) which has the most population living in areas of deprivation. The lowest
rates are in Eastbourne (16.4) and Lewes district (16.8).

Section 4.5 shows a map of all pharmacy locations overlaid onto population density. This
shows that all highly populated areas of the county have sufficient pharmacy locations
nearby. Access in more rural areas, such as rural Rother and the northern areas of Wealden,
is boosted with dispensing practices.

Access for residents is boosted by provision in towns outside East Sussex but within 5km of
the county border (section 6.2).

Current planned housing developments will not create a gap during the lifetime of the PNA
(section 4.4).

Conclusion: No gaps in the location of pharmacies.

Page 125 Page 15 of 160


https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1029805/pharmaceutical-needs-assessment-information-pack.pdf

Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2025 ] S NA

East Sussex

Joint Strategic
Needs Assessment

Geographical gaps in the provision of services

Section 6.4 has shown that there are no gaps in the provision of necessary services
which included all essential services, and the Pharmacy First advanced service
provided from the majority of premises to give good geographical coverage.

In terms of advanced services (section 6.6) and locally commissioned services
(section 6.7), existing pharmacies should be further supported by commissioners to
enhance provision and uptake of services for residents in East Sussex.

Conclusion: No gaps in provision of necessary services and no identified needs for
additional pharmaceutical services

Gaps in the times at which, or days on which, services are provided

Section 7.1 shows that the vast majority of survey respondents (86%) go to their
pharmacy on weekdays between 9am and 6pm. 3% usually go on a weekday evening
and another 3% on the weekend (8% did not answer or were unsure).

Section 6.2 shows opening times for pharmacies across East Sussex. Coverage is best
on weekdays when the vast majority of residents access services.

Evenings (open after 6pm at least one weekday)

Across East Sussex 39% of pharmacies and GP dispensaries are open evenings and this
ranges from 48% in Wealden to 31% in Lewes. Access for residents is boosted by
provision in towns outside East Sussex but within 5km of the county border (section
6.2).

The travel analysis in section 6.3 showed no areas were more than 30 minute drive
from an open location and only 5.9% of the population did not have access via public
transport within 30 minutes.

The resident survey analysis in section 7.1 showed that 47% found it hard to access a
pharmacy in the evening. This ranged from 39% in Eastbourne to 50% in Lewes
district.

Weekends

77% of pharmacies and GP dispensaries are open on a Saturday and this ranges from
88% in Eastbourne to 64% in Rother. 15% of pharmacies and GP dispensaries are open
on a Sunday and this ranges from 35% in Eastbourne to 3% in Wealden (section 6.2).
Access for residents is boosted by provision in towns outside East Sussex but within
5km of the county border. This is far better on a Saturday than a Sunday.

The travel analysis in section 6.3 showed no areas were more than 30 minute drive
from an open location on a Saturday or Sunday.

When looking at access via public transport on Saturdays the analysis showed that
69,747 (12.7%) of residents did not have access within 30 minutes. This increased to
218,288 (39.6%) on a Sunday.

Page 126 Page 16 of 160



Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2025

East Sussex

JSNA

Joint Strategic
Needs Assessment

e The resident survey analysis in section 7.1 showed that 23% found it hard to access a
pharmacy on the weekends. This ranged from 16% in Eastbourne to 29% in Rother.

Bank holidays

e There is an enhanced service commissioned by NHS Sussex ICB to ensure suitable

access is available across East Sussex.

e The resident survey analysis in section 7.1 showed that 54% found it hard to access a
pharmacy on a bank holiday. This ranged from 46% in Eastbourne to 60% in Lewes

district.

Access to car/van

e Section 4.6 shows that the areas with low percentages households with access to a
car/van are all in the more densely populated urban areas of East Sussex which have
better access to pharmacies during the evenings and weekends.

Conclusion: No gaps in the times at which, or days on which, services are provided.

Conclusions

The main conclusion of this PNA is that there are:

¢ No geographical gaps in the location of premises.
¢ No geographical gaps in the provision of services.
e No gaps in the times at which, or days on which, services are provided.

The regulations require a series of statements that are detailed in the table below:

Statement required by regulations

PNA response

Pharmaceutical services that the Health
and Wellbeing Board has identified as
services that are necessary to meet the
need for pharmaceutical services

Necessary services include all essential
services, and the Pharmacy First advanced
service provided from the majority of
premises to give good geographical
coverage.

Pharmaceutical services that have been
identified as services that are not provided
but which the Health and Wellbeing Board
is satisfied need to be provided to meet a
current or future need for a range of
pharmaceutical services or a specific
pharmaceutical service

Page 127

The PNA has not identified any current or
future needs [between 2025 to 2028] for a
service that is not currently provided.

From the current planning estimates there
is no gap in pharmaceutical provision during
the lifetime of this PNA (2025-2028).

Page 17 of 160



Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2025

Statement required by regulations

East Sussex

JSNA

Joint Strategic
Needs Assessment

PNA response

Pharmaceutical services that the Health
and Wellbeing Board has identified as not
being necessary to meet the need for
pharmaceutical services but have secured
improvements or better access

Enhanced, advanced and locally
commissioned services currently in place in
East Sussex are securing improvements and
better access for residents to key services,
and current pharmacies should be
supported to continue and expand delivery
of these services.

Pharmaceutical services that have been
identified as services that would secure
improvements or better access to a range
of pharmaceutical services or a specific
pharmaceutical service, either now or in
the future

The PNA has not identified any new services
that would secure improvements or better
access.

Other NHS services that affect the need for
pharmaceutical services or a specific
pharmaceutical service.

Recommendations

These are described in section 6.8 and
include NHS acute, community and mental
health trusts, residential and nursing care
homes in East Sussex.

1. Commissioners to support current pharmacies to enhance access to the advanced and
locally commissioned services currently available in East Sussex.

2. Commissioners and current providers to continue to support ongoing good quality
services that are highly valued by residents in East Sussex. This includes
considerations for those with physical or communication needs and those who
support others to access pharmaceutical services.

3. Commissioners and current providers to ensure information on available pharmacy
provision, especially on Sundays and Bank Holidays, is clearly communicated, up-to-
date and accessible to residents and health and care providers.

4. East Sussex County Council to maintain and improve, where possible, access to public
transport, particularly for villages and towns in more rural areas of East Sussex.

5. NHS Sussex ICB to consider the need for an out of hours locally commissioned service
from existing pharmacies, including reviewing provision in Lewes on weekday

evenings and rural Rother on Sundays.

6. NHS Sussex ICB to regularly review the commissioning of bank holiday provision in
East Sussex to ensure it appropriately meets resident needs.

Page 128

Page 18 of 160



East Sussex

JSNA

Joint Strategic
Needs Assessment

Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2025

1. Introduction

1.1 What is a Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment (PNA)

Since April 2013 every Health and Wellbeing Board (HWB) in England has a statutory
responsibility to publish every three years, and keep up to date, a statement of the need
for pharmaceutical services in its area, otherwise referred to as a pharmaceutical needs
assessment (PNA). Here are the regulations:

e The NHS (Pharmaceutical and Local Pharmaceutical Services) Regulations 2013 and
amendment regulations
e Statutory Instrument 2013 No 349
e http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2013/349/contents/made
e Relevant sections are:
o Part 1 - regulation 2 - contains definitions of words and phrases.
o Part 2 - regulations 3 to 9
o Schedule 1 - information to be included in the pharmaceutical needs
assessment (PNA)

1.2 The role of the PNA in the provision of services

If a person (a pharmacy or a dispensing appliance contractor) wants to provide
pharmaceutical services, they are required to apply to NHS Sussex ICB to be included in the
pharmaceutical list for the Health & Wellbeing Board’s area in which they wish to have
premises.

In general, their application must offer to meet a need that is set out in the Health &
Wellbeing Board’s PNA, or to secure improvements or better access similarly identified in
the PNA. However, there are some exceptions to this, such as applications offering benefits
that were not foreseen when the PNA was published (‘unforeseen benefits applications’).

In April 2016, NHS England published (updated in February 2023) the Pharmacy Manual
which outlines the procedures to be followed by pharmacy contractors, including market
entry, applications to join the pharmaceutical list, change of ownership and no significant
change relocation of premises.

As well as identifying whether there is a need for additional premises, the PNA will also
identify whether there is a need for an additional service or services, or whether
improvements or better access to existing services are required. Identified needs,
improvements or better access could either be current, or will arise within the three-year
lifetime of the pharmaceutical needs assessment.

Page 129 Page 19 of 160


http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2013/349/contents/made
https://www.england.nhs.uk/publication/pharmacy-manual/

East Sussex

Joint Strategic
Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2025 ] S NA

Needs Assessment

1.3 Commissioning of community pharmacy

Whilst the PNA is primarily a document for commissioners of pharmaceutical services to use
in making commissioning decisions, it may also be used by others to understand the needs
for community pharmacy services in the county.

Integrated Care Systems (ICSs) with Integrated Care Boards (ICBs) and Integrated Care
Partnerships (ICPs) have been established across England. Commissioning responsibilities for
community pharmacies have been delegated to ICBs.

PNAs are key reference documents as regards the development and improvement of local
pharmaceutical services. ICBs must consider local PNAs while dealing with applications from
potential new pharmaceutical service providers to join the pharmacy list.

Applicants may challenge ICB decisions not to approve new pharmacies and PNAs need to
provide a robust summary of evidence which may subsequently be contested when legal
challenges to ICB decisions are made. The NHS Resolution (formerly NHS Litigation
Authority) will refer to the PNA when hearing appeals on ICB decisions.

Local commissioning bodies may also use the PNA in making decisions on which other NHS,
ICB and local authority funded local services need to be provided by local community
pharmacies, although this is not a statutory function of a PNA.

1.4 NHS pharmaceutical services provision

Pharmaceutical services are defined within the National Health Service Act 2006. NHS
England commissions pharmaceutical services for the population.

Pharmaceutical services may be provided by:

e A pharmacy contractor who is included in the Local Pharmaceutical Services list for
the area of the Health & Wellbeing Board.

e A dispensing appliance contractor (DAC) who is included in the pharmaceutical list
held for the area of the Health & Wellbeing Board - There are no DAC’s currently
operating in East Sussex.

e A doctor or GP practice that is included in the dispensing doctor list held for the area
of the Health & Wellbeing Board.

NHS Sussex ICB is responsible for preparing and maintaining these lists and NHS England
publishes them. Consolidated Pharmaceutical List - Datasets - Open Data Portal

To provide pharmaceutical services in England a person and the premises from which they
will provide services must be included in the relevant pharmaceutical list.

The pharmaceutical services Section 126 of the 2006 Act places an obligation on NHS
England to put arrangements in place so that drugs, medicines and listed appliances
ordered via NHS prescriptions can be supplied to persons.

Page 130 Page 20 of 160


https://resolution.nhs.uk/
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1029805/pharmaceutical-needs-assessment-information-pack.pdf
https://opendata.nhsbsa.net/dataset/consolidated-pharmaceutical-list

East Sussex

JSNA

Joint Strategic
Needs Assessment

Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2025

1.5 The Community Pharmacy Contractual Framework

Unlike for GPs, dentists, and optometrists, the relevant ICB does not hold contracts with
pharmacy and dispensing appliance contractors for most services they provide. Instead,
pharmacy services are provided under a contractual framework, referred to as the
Community Pharmacy Contractual Framework (CPCF).

Community Pharmacy Contractual Framework: 2024 to 2025 and 2025 to 2026 - GOV.UK

1.6 Definition of types of pharmaceutical services

Under the CPCF, pharmacy contractors can provide several types of services that fall within
the definition of NHS pharmaceutical services. There are several types of pharmaceutical
services available:

e Essential services that must be provided by all pharmacies

e Advanced services that pharmacies may choose to provide

e Enhanced services that integrated care boards (ICBs) may commission from
pharmacies as well as some commissioned by NHS England nationally

Other services available outside of the CPCF include:

e GP dispensing service provided by some GP practices
e Locally Commissioned Services - services commissioned from pharmacies by ICBs
(other than enhanced services) and by local authorities

Essential pharmaceutical services

The following are Essential services that must be provided by all pharmacies:

e Dispensing of medicines and appliances

e Dispensing of repeatable prescriptions

e Disposal of unwanted medicines

e Promotion of healthy lifestyles

e Healthy Living Pharmacy

e Signposting to other providers of health and social care services
e Support for self-care

e Discharge Medicines Service

Advanced services

The following are Advanced services that pharmacies may choose to provide:

¢ New medicine service
e Stoma appliance customisation
e Appliance use reviews

Page 131 Page 21 of 160


https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/community-pharmacy-contractual-framework-2024-to-2025-and-2025-to-2026/community-pharmacy-contractual-framework-2024-to-2025-and-2025-to-2026
https://cpe.org.uk/national-pharmacy-services/essential-services/
https://cpe.org.uk/national-pharmacy-services/advanced-services/

Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2025 ] S NA

East Sussex

Joint Strategic
Needs Assessment

Flu vaccination

Community pharmacy hypertension case-finding service

Community pharmacy smoking cessation service

Pharmacy First (replaced the community pharmacist consultation service) [New since
last PNA]

Community pharmacy contraception service [New since last PNA]
Lateral flow device tests supply service [New since last PNA]

Enhanced services

The following are Enhanced services that integrated care boards (ICBs) may commission
from pharmacies:

Anticoagulant monitoring

Care homes

Disease specific medicines management
Gluten free food supply

Home delivery

Language access

Medication review

Medicines assessment and compliance support service
Minor ailment

Needle and syringe exchange

On demand availability of specialist drugs
Out of hours

Patient group direction

Prescriber support

Schools service

Screening

Stop smoking

Supervised administration
Supplementary prescribing

Emergency supply service

Antiviral collection points

There are two nationally specified enhanced services:

COVID-19 vaccination service
RSV and Pertussis Vaccination Service (not currently available in East Sussex)

Page 132 Page 22 of 160


https://cpe.org.uk/national-pharmacy-services/national-enhanced-services/

East Sussex

Joint Strategic
Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2025 ] S NA

Needs Assessment

GP dispensing service

GP practices may dispense medicines in certain circumstances and provision of the service
is included in their medical contract.

Primarily, these services are provided to patients in rural areas or those who have limited
access to a community pharmacy. To be eligible for dispensing services from a doctor,
patients must generally live in a designated rural area (controlled locality) and more than
1.6km from a pharmacy or demonstrate "serious difficulty” in accessing a pharmacy.

The map below is used by some practices with a dispensary to support their patients who
can apply to have their medicines dispensed by them if they live outside the blue areas.
Patients will only be eligible if their registered practice is a dispensing practice.

Map: Mapping tool to support dispensing list validation, accessed April 2025

Royal Tunbridge S
st Grinstead Nell

anbrook

Ashdown Crowborough

Forest

ywards Heath

Heathfield sTbadd
Walland

darch
Marsh

urgess Hill e

Winchelsea
ittle

L
Hallsham

aford §
astbourne
Beach

Heat

Esri UK, Esri, TomTom, Garmin, FAOQ, METI/NASA, USGS \==J

Source: South East ICBs: Mapping Tool to Support Dispensing List Validation, SCW CSU

Locally Commissioned Services
The following are locally commissioned by the NHS Sussex Integrated Care Board:

e Oral Antiviral Medication for the Treatment of COVID-19 and Management of
Influenza
e End of life drugs

Page 133 Page 23 of 160


https://nhsgisscw.maps.arcgis.com/apps/webappviewer/index.html?id=2a5dfb4b64dd4a9a86b40ca1929c4913

East Sussex

JSNA

Joint Strategic
Needs Assessment

Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2025

e Extended open hours for Bank Holidays (managed by the South East Commissioning
Hub)

The following are locally commissioned by East Sussex County Council as Public Health
Local Service Agreements:

e (CCard
e Emergency Hormone Contraception (EHC)
¢ Smoking Cessation

The following are locally commissioned via Change Grow Live (CGL) who provide substance
misuse treatment services in East Sussex for East Sussex County Council:

e Opiate reversers [naloxone]
e Needle exchange
e Distribution of oral substitution therapy and supervised consumption

Page 134 Page 24 of 160


https://www.england.nhs.uk/south-east/our-work/nhs-community-pharmacy-optometry-and-dental-commissioning-as-well-as-nhs-complaints-to-be-hosted-by-nhs-frimley-integrated-care-board-icb-on-behalf-of-all-icbs-across-the-south-east/
https://www.england.nhs.uk/south-east/our-work/nhs-community-pharmacy-optometry-and-dental-commissioning-as-well-as-nhs-complaints-to-be-hosted-by-nhs-frimley-integrated-care-board-icb-on-behalf-of-all-icbs-across-the-south-east/
https://www.eastsussex.gov.uk/social-care/providers/health/contracts/public-health-local-service-agreements-phlsas-for-gp-practices/community-pharmacy-phlsa-services
https://www.eastsussex.gov.uk/social-care/providers/health/contracts/public-health-local-service-agreements-phlsas-for-gp-practices/community-pharmacy-phlsa-services
https://www.eastsussex.gov.uk/media/r3ll0r2t/2024-25-published-ph-specifications-c-card.pdf
https://www.eastsussex.gov.uk/media/zzxbwwr3/2024-25-published-ph-specifications-ehc.pdf
https://www.eastsussex.gov.uk/media/z5qjr4gi/2024-25-published-ph-specification-smoking-cessation.pdf
https://www.changegrowlive.org/star-drug-alcohol-service-east-sussex/drugs

East Sussex

Joint Strategic
Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2025 ] S NA

Needs Assessment

2. The Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment
process

2.1 Aim

The aim of the East Sussex PNA is to describe the current pharmaceutical services in East
Sussex, systematically identify any gaps in provision in relation to population need and, in
consultation with stakeholders, make recommendations on future development, and meet
or exceed the minimum statutory requirements for PNAs and enable the HWB to have
regard to all relevant matters.

2.2 Objectives

To state, on behalf of the HWB,

e which pharmaceutical services are necessary to meet the need for pharmaceutical
services

e not provided but need to be to meet a current or future need for a range of or
specific pharmaceutical service

e not necessary to meet the need for pharmaceutical services but have secured
improvements or better access

e which would secure improvements or better access either now or in the future

e other NHS services that affect the need for pharmaceutical services or a specific
pharmaceutical service

e examine the current and future demographics of the local population and their
health needs in relation to pharmaceutical service provision

e state how localities have been determined and how their different needs have been
identified, including the different needs of those who shared a protected
characteristic

e compile a comprehensive list of pharmacies and review the services currently
provided

e define choice and identify whether there is sufficient choice about obtaining
pharmaceutical services

e compile a comprehensive list of GP dispensaries

e list other services including community pharmacies and services available in
neighbouring Health and Wellbeing Board (HWB) areas that might affect the need for
services in East Sussex

e identify service gaps that could be met by providing additional or new pharmacy
services [including hours of opening], or potentially by opening one or more new
pharmacies

Page 135 Page 25 of 160



East Sussex

JSNA

Joint Strategic
Needs Assessment

Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2025

e produce maps relating to East Sussex pharmaceutical services, location of
pharmacies in relation to population deprivation indices, estimate travel/walking
times

e consult and engage with stakeholders and the public throughout the process so that
their opinions inform the PNA document

e collate the findings from and respond to the two-month statutory public consultation
period, after completion of the draft PNA assessment, before consideration by the
Health and Wellbeing Board and publication in October 2025

2.3 Methodology

The 2022 PNA report has been used in developing the 2025 PNA.

A key reference document for this PNA has been the Guidance for PNAs produced by the
Department for Health and Social Care in October 2021.

District and borough council areas have been used where data are available to provide the
local level analysis where required. For some of the population demographic maps, smaller
geographies have also been used.

A steering group was formed to guide the PNA process. The steering group included
representatives from the following organisations:

e NHS Sussex Integrated Care Board - Commissioning and Medicines Optimisation team
e East Sussex County Council - Public Health and Consultation teams

e Community Pharmacy, Surrey & Sussex (Local Pharmaceutical Committee)

e Surrey & Sussex Local Medical Committee

e Healthwatch East Sussex

2.4 Key Steps

The assessment has involved the following key steps:

e Reviewing current and predicted population demographics

e Looking at health and social care needs

e Collation of community pharmacy and GP dispensary information about current
service provision including travel analysis

¢ Collation and summary of routine pharmacy contracting and activity data

e Survey of the public who use local pharmacy services

e Gap analysis for each District and Borough area in East Sussex

e Undertake professional and public consultation

Page 136 Page 26 of 160


https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1025647/pharmaceutical-needs-assessment-information-pack.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1025647/pharmaceutical-needs-assessment-information-pack.pdf
https://www.sussex.ics.nhs.uk/
https://www.eastsussex.gov.uk/
https://surreysussex.communitypharmacy.org.uk/about-us/your-lpcs/
https://www.sslmcs.co.uk/
https://healthwatcheastsussex.co.uk/

East Sussex

JSNA

Joint Strategic
Needs Assessment

Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2025

2.5 Defining “necessary services” for the PNA

From: Pharmaceutical Needs Assessments guidelines

Necessary services are defined within the 2013 regulations as those that are necessary to
meet the need for pharmaceutical services and could be provided within or outside of the
health and wellbeing board’s area.

The 2013 regulations do not include a definition of what is a necessary service and what is
not, so health and wellbeing boards have complete discretion as to how they go about this.

There are two potential ways to define which services are necessary services

(a) by the type of service, for example all essential services and certain advanced and
enhanced services; or

(b) by pharmacy, location, or time and day of the week that services are provided. This
may be harder where, for example, there are four pharmacies in a town all providing the
same range of services at approximately the same times of the day and days of the week.
The health and wellbeing board may have difficulty in deciding which are necessary and
which are other relevant services.

For the purposes of this pharmaceutical needs assessment 2025, the Steering Group agreed
that necessary services are:

e Essential services provided at all premises included in the pharmaceutical lists

e Pharmacy First advanced service provided from the majority of premises to give good
geographical coverage

e The dispensing service provided by some GP practices

Page 137 Page 27 of 160


https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/617bdc31d3bf7f5601cf3168/pharmaceutical-needs-assessment-information-pack.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/617bdc31d3bf7f5601cf3168/pharmaceutical-needs-assessment-information-pack.pdf

East Sussex

JSNA

Joint Strategic
Needs Assessment

Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2025

3. Strategic Context

3.1 The geography of East Sussex

East Sussex is located on the southeast coast of England. It is a two-tier local authority,
with an upper tier local authority (East Sussex County Council) and five lower tier local
authorities (Eastbourne Borough Council, Hastings Borough Council, Lewes District Council,
Rother District Council and Wealden District Council) covering a population of
approximately 550,700 residents (ONS mid-year estimates, 2022).

East Sussex lies between Kent to the north and east, and Brighton and West Sussex to the
west. The most populated areas are along the coast with other inland towns surrounded by
more rural areas. The county includes the iconic Seven Sisters coastline, the South Downs
National Park and the High Weald area of Outstanding Natural Beauty. Within Lewes district
there is a port at Newhaven with cross channel connections to Dieppe for both commercial
and private passengers.

Map: County of East Sussex and details the major towns and roads within its boundary

Holtye,

Hartfield

J
o
Forest.Row N Frant

Marden's Hill ) Wadhurst
Crowborough /

@ Yy
bod Gate 8 / "‘”7 Town'RoW- . Tidebrook

Argos Hill

\ \ ({ High // Mayfield

Hurstwood

r A;;f Sitver Hill = |

Northbridge Street Flackley Iden

/[
{ Ash
Staplecross Playden

Heathfield
Old Heathfield

North
Chailey

Uckfield o

Rt
Mountfield BroadOak IS

Pe Brede

Palehouse
'‘Common

Udimore Camber

2\
South'Street & \Sedlescom
d

b
Plu\mp(o\n Green 725 w=Winchelsea B

EaSt Hoathly

2
-

Threé)oaks

Muddles
Green

Hellingly

Hailsham

\ Betwick | :

T——Polegate
Milton Street

10w . South
Héighton

Reacehaven

Litlington

© Crown copyright - all rights reserved. AC000808855, 2025.

Page 138 Page 28 of 160



East Sussex

JSNA

Joint Strategic
Needs Assessment

Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2025

3.2 Health and care sites

Within East Sussex the health and care infrastructure across the county includes:

e 2 acute hospitals and 5 community hospitals

e 50 GP practices, 48 branch/satellite surgeries and 12 Primary Care Networks

e 93 community pharmacies, 3 distance selling pharmacies and 16 dispensing GP
practices

e 282 care homes

Map: Key NHS Sites in East Sussex

®  Community Pharmacy
¢ GP practice
% Hospital
[ District Boundaries
A roads

Builtup areas

@ Crown copyright
and database rights 2025.
05 AC000808855

Page 139 Page 29 of 160



East Sussex

JSNA

Joint Strategic
Needs Assessment

Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2025

Map: Care homes in East Sussex

Care Homes
®  Community Pharmacy

[ District Boundaries

A roads

Builtup areas

© Crown copyright
and database rights 2025.
0S AC000808855

Page 140 Page 30 of 160



East Sussex

Joint Strategic
Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2025 ] S NA

Needs Assessment

4. Demography

4.1 Age and sex

Age structure

East Sussex has a total resident population of 551,007 and a much older age profile
compared to England.

Chart: Population pyramid for East Sussex and England, mid-2022 population estimates

OEngland Males OEngland Females
East Sussex Males East Sussex Females

S0+
85-89
80-84
75-79
70-74
65-69
60-64
55-59
50-54
45-49
40-44
35-39

30-34
25-29
20-24

15-19
10-14

Age band

0-4

4% 2% 0% 2% 4%
Percent of the total population

Source: Mid-2022 population estimates, Office for National Statistics

In terms of population size, Wealden is the largest district in East Sussex and Hastings is the
smallest.

All districts have an older age profile compared to England, but Rother has a particularly
older profile with almost 1 in 3 residents aged 65 years or older, compared to fewer than 1
in 5 for England.

Page 141 Page 31 of 160



Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2025

Table: Resident population estimates, 2022

East Sussex

JSNA

Joint Strategic
Needs Assessment

Area 0-15 16-64 65-84 85+ Total
Eastbourne 17,110 59,930 21,125 4,199 102,364
Hastings 16,144 55,716 16,385 2,376 90,621
Lewes 16,635 57,032 22,840 4,172 100,679
Rother 13,753 49,751 26,069 4,648 94,221
Wealden 27,015 92,479 37,624 6,004 163,122
East Sussex 90,657 314,908 124,043 21,399 551,007
England 10,567,635 35,915,152 9,204,907 1,424,848 57,112,542

Source: Mid-2022 resident population estimates, Office for National Statistics

Table: Resident population estimates, 2022

Area 0-15 16-64 65-84 85+ Total
Eastbourne 17% 59% 21% 4.1% 17%
Hastings 18% 61% 18% 2.6% 18%
Lewes 17% 57% 23% 4.1% 17%
Rother 15% 53% 28% 4.9% 15%
Wealden 17% 57% 23% 3.7% 17%
East Sussex 16% 57% 23% 3.9% 16%
England 19% 63% 16% 2.5% 19%

Source: Mid-2022 resident population estimates, Office for National Statistics

Key age groups across East Sussex

The following small area maps show the percentage of the population in specific more
dependent age groups; 0-15 years, 65-84 years and 85 years and over. The younger age
group is more concentrated in urban areas of Eastbourne, Hastings, Bexhill, Hailsham,

Newhaven and Crowborough.

Page 142

Page 32 of 160



East Sussex

Joint Strategic
Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2025 ] SNA

Needs Assessment

The older age groups are more concentrated in Seaford, Bexhill, Eastbourne and Eastern
Rother.

Map: Population aged 0-15 years by MSOA in East Sussex, 2022

MSOA East Sussex
% population aged 0-15
9.3 - 13.6%
13.7 - 15.9%
16.0 - 16.9%
N 17.0 - 18.8%
I 18.9 - 24.8%
/\ Dispensing Practice
©®  Community Pharmacy
[ District/Borough boundaries

@© Crown copyright
and database rights 2025.
OS AC000808855

Source: Mid-2022 population estimates, Office for National Statistics

Page 143 Page 33 of 160



East Sussex

Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2025 ] SNA

Joint Strategic
Needs Assessment

Map: Population aged 65-84 years by MSOA in East Sussex, 2022

MSOA East Sussex
% population aged 65-84
[]10-17%
[ ]18-22%
[ 23-24%
Bl > - 28%
B 2 - 38%
/\ Dispensing Practice
@ Community Pharmacy
[ District/Borough boundaries

@© Crown copyright
and database rights 2025.
OS AC000808855

Source: Mid-2022 population estimates, Office for National Statistics

Page 144 Page 34 of 160



East Sussex

Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2025 ] SNA

Joint Strategic
Needs Assessment

Map: Population aged 85 years and over by MSOA in East Sussex, 2022

MSOA East Sussex
% population aged 85+
[J09-23%
[ ]24-32%
[133-4.0%
Bl 41-50%
B 5i-99%
/\ Dispensing Practice
@ Community Pharmacy
[ District/Borough boundaries

@© Crown copyright
and database rights 2025.
OS AC000808855

Source: Mid-2022 population estimates, Office for National Statistics

Births

There has been a general decline in birth rates in East Sussex over the past 5 years, similar
to what has been observed in England.

East Sussex and most of its districts and boroughs have had lower birth rates (all ages) than
England, however Hastings has higher birth rates than England

Page 145 Page 35 of 160



Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2025

East Sussex

JSNA

Joint Strategic
Needs Assessment

Chart: Live birth rate (per 1,000 women aged 15-44 years), 2014-2020

68

66

./0
64 e |
62 8. s S —
..,
60 L T oz
[
s8 | T o

56
54
52

50

2014 2015 2016

@ England @ East Sussex

Please note the Live Birth Rate axis does not start at zero

Source: Office for National Statistics

2017

Eastbourne ) Hastings

2018

Lewes

2019

Rother

Wealden

2020

The table below shows that for women aged 35+ birth rates were lower than England for all
districts and boroughs apart from Lewes and Rother. All districts and boroughs had a higher
birth rate compared to England in women aged 20-34 years apart from Lewes.

The birth rates for women under 20 years, and 40 years and over, are based on the female
population aged 15 to 19 years and 40 to 44 years, respectively. Birth rates for under 20s
were higher than England in Eastbourne and Hastings Boroughs in 2020.

Table: Live Birth rate (per 1,000 women in the age group), 2020

Location Under 20 20-24 25-29 30-34 35-39 40 & Over  all ages
England 10 45 85 103 60 16 55
East Sussex 10 50 92 104 56 13 53
Eastbourne 15 54 101 107 47 12 54
Hastings 17 68 94 99 50 15 59
Lewes 7 39 88 102 63 13 51
Rother 7 52 90 96 63 15 53
Wealden 6 39 90 110 57 13 51
Source: Office for National Statistics
Page 146

Page 36 of 160



Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2025

4.2 Ethnicity

East Sussex

JSNA

Joint Strategic
Needs Assessment

Key Findings from East Sussex 2021 Census Briefing: Ethnicity, Language and Religion

Around 512,440 residents (93.9%) of East Sussex identified their ethnic group as white in the
2021 Census, the second highest proportion in the South East after the Isle of Wight. The
second most common high-level ethnic group was “Mixed or Multiple ethnic groups”,
comprising 2.3% of the population (12,310 people).

The number of residents identifying through the “White: Other White” category increased
from 3.4% (17,870 people) in 2011 to 4.5% (24,580) in 2021, the largest percentage increase

across all 19 ethnic groups.

Only 5.5% of the overall population (29,880 people) identified with a non-UK national
identity; the largest increase within this group was in the “Romanian only” group, which
increased from 0.06% of all residents (290 people) in 2011 to 0.4% (2,010) in 2021. Overall,
this is the 3rd most common non-UK national identity after “Polish only” (0.4%, 2,390) and

“Irish only” (0.4%, 2,250).

96.3% of residents aged three and over (511,760 out of 531,370) cited English as their main
language, and a further 3.2% (16,770) said they spoke English either "well" or "very well”
but did not speak it as their main language.

Table: Percentage of the population by ethnic group, 2021

Ethnic group Eastbourne Hastings Lewes Rother Wealden East Sussex England
All Asian or Asian British 3.5% 2.8%  1.9% 1.5% 1.4% 2.1% 9.6%
All Black, Black British, 1.3% 1.4%  0.7% 0.6% 0.4% 0.8% 4.2%
Caribbean or African
All Mixed or Multiple ethnic 2.8% 2.9%  2.5% 1.8% 1.7% 2.3% 3.0%
groups
All White ethnic group 90.8% 91.4% 94.2%  95.6% 96.0% 93.9% 81.0%
- White: English, Welsh, 82.1% 85.1% 88.9%  91.7% 91.8% 88.3% 73.5%
Scottish, Northern Irish or
British
- White: Other 8.7% 6.4%  5.3% 3.9% 4.3% 5.6% 7.5%
All Other ethnic group 1.7% 1.5%  0.7% 0.5% 0.5% 0.9% 2.2%

Source: 2021 Census, Office for National Statistics

Page 147

Page 37 of 160


https://www.eastsussexinfigures.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2024/04/B_Ethnicity-Language-and-Religion-Briefing-Census-2021.pdf

East Sussex

JSNA

Joint Strategic
Needs Assessment

Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2025

Chart: Ethnic groups other than White British or Northern Irish in East Sussex, 2021

’ England . East Sussex

Percetntage

3
£

0 I

Ll

group [

e
| &= B ) c E = o c c c x e | e|lte] B | & e
222 | S| 5|5 |¢|S|5|§8|2|¢|28|28¢8|£|¢ |5
c |EF| £ S - B ‘B |
- - o @ ] - — 7 - | = K- =
s =2/ |E|EZ (3| E(<2|E|8|o|<[dE@] 5| |F
2 [29C) & s | = e | < | = s | o [B<|BE| - | =
£ |[>==| 2 a o | © o ] 2 c | cCG|l O | ©
= |2 £ c = o £ o | @ BQ| £ | £
S o a o o o @ v 5 |8
> o & |S - (®) =]
| @ £ | £ = 2
| z |2 (= |2

Source: 2021 Census, Office for National Statistics

The more ethnically diverse populations in East Sussex are located in Eastbourne, Hastings
& St Leonards, the Havens, Lewes town and Forest Row.

Page 148 Page 38 of 160



East Sussex

JSNA

Joint Strategic
Needs Assessment

Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2025

Map: Ethnically diverse populations* by MSOA, 2021

MSOA East Sussex

% Poulation who are minority ethnic group
4.8-7.3%
7.4 - 8.6%
8.7-11.7%
B 118-147%
I 148-40.1%
/\ Dispensing Practice
@ Community Pharmacy
[ District/Borough boundaries

© Crown copyright
and database rights 2025.
0S AC000808855

*Note: Percent of the population from an ethnic group other than White: English, Welsh,
Scottish, Northern Irish or British

Source: 2021 census, Office for National Statistics

Page 149 Page 39 of 160



East Sussex

Joint Strategic
Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2025 ] S NA

Needs Assessment

4.3 Population change 2025-2028

Between 2025 and 2028 there is estimated to be an extra 13,180 residents that will be
living in East Sussex which represents a 2.4% increase over the three-year period. The
greatest percentage increases will occur in the older age groups.

Table: Population projections between 2025 and 2028 in East Sussex

Age group 2025 2028 Change % change
0-15 89,960 88,620 -1,340 -1.5%
16-64 316,740 319,240 2,500 0.8%
65-84 130,420 139,760 9,340 7.2%
85+ 22,880 25,560 2,680 11.7%
Total 560,000 573,180 13,180 2.4%

Source: Population projections (2023 based dwelling led), East Sussex County Council,
March 2025

Wealden is estimated to see the largest percentage increase in population at 4.6%. Lewes
(2.2%) and Rother (2.2%) are projected to experience similar increases to the East Sussex
average (2.4%). Hastings (1.3%) is estimated to see a smaller increase, whilst Eastbourne is
estimated to see a slight decrease (-0.1%).

Table: Population projections between 2025 and 2028 in Eastbourne borough

Age group 2025 2028 Change % change
0-15 16,620 15,660 -960 -5.8%
16-64 60,320 59,180 -1,140 -1.9%
65-84 22,380 23,930 1,550 6.9%
85+ 4,380 4,800 420 9.6%
Total 103,700 103,570 -130 -0.1%

Source: Population projections (2023 based dwelling led), East Sussex County Council,
March 2025

Page 150 Page 40 of 160



East Sussex

Joint Strategic
Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2025 ] S NA

Needs Assessment

Table: Population projections between 2025 and 2028 in Hastings borough

Age group 2025 2028 Change % change
0-15 15,730 15,290 -440 -2.8%
16-64 55,910 55,940 30 0.1%
65-84 17,200 18,480 1,280 7.4%
85+ 2,560 2,880 320 12.5%
Total 91,400 92,590 1,190 1.3%

Source: Population projections (2023 based dwelling led), East Sussex County Council,
March 2025

Table: Population projections between 2025 and 2028 in Lewes district

Age group 2025 2028 Change % change
0-15 16,490 16,120 -370 -2.2%
16-64 57,580 58,290 710 1.2%
65-84 23,810 25,280 1,470 6.2%
85+ 4,530 4,960 430 9.5%
Total 102,410 104,650 2,240 2.2%

Source: Population projections (2023 based dwelling led), East Sussex County Council,
March 2025

Page 151 Page 41 of 160



Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2025

East Sussex

JSNA

Joint Strategic
Needs Assessment

Table: Population projections between 2025 and 2028 in Rother district

Age group 2025 2028 Change % change
0-15 13,610 13,380 -230 -1.7%
16-64 49,420 49,410 -10 0.0%
65-84 27,080 28,900 1,820 6.7%
85+ 4,850 5,390 540 11.1%
Total 94,960 97,080 2,120 2.2%

Source: Population projections (2023 based dwelling led), East Sussex County Council,

March 2025

Table: Population projections between 2025 and 2028 in Wealden district

Age group 2025 2028 Change % change
0-15 27,510 28,170 660 2.4%
16-64 93,510 96,430 2,920 3.1%
65-84 39,960 43,180 3,220 8.1%
85+ 6,560 7,530 970 14.8%
Total 167,540 175,310 7,770 4.6%

Source: Population projections (2023 based dwelling led), East Sussex County Council,

March 2025

Page 152

Page 42 of 160



East Sussex

Joint Strategic
Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2025 ] S NA

Needs Assessment

4.4 Housing development plans 2025/26 to 2027/28

This section details the latest available planned housing completions within each of the
district and borough council areas in East Sussex for the period 2025/26 to 2027/28.

The figures gathered are the current estimates of completions planned over the period of
the PNA. Some plans are currently being reviewed and updated and may change during the
lifetime of the PNA. Also, it is possible that houses may not be completed by the date
originally intended in the plans.

Around 9,000 new completions are currently planned for the period of the PNA. 46% of new
completions are currently planned for Wealden, with 19% in Rother, 16% in Lewes, 11% in
Hastings and 8% in Eastbourne.

No single ward/parish has close to a further 2,000 planned developments and therefore
there is no need for additional pharmacy locations.

Table: Planned housing completions, 2025/26 to 2027/28

District/borough 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28 Total %
Eastbourne 229 234 238 701 8%
Hastings 382 395 218 995 11%
Lewes 408 565 506 1,479 16%
Rother 386 624 727 1,737 19%
Wealden 1,001 1,548 1,552 4,101 46%
East Sussex 2,406 3,366 3,241 9,013 100%

Source: Local planning teams in East Sussex

Eastbourne borough

Table: Planned housing completions in Eastbourne, 2025/26 to 2027/28

Eastbourne ward 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28 Total

Devonshire 58 41 81 180

Hampden Park 5 10 0 15
Page 153

Page 43 of 160



Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2025

East Sussex

JSNA

Joint Strategic
Needs Assessment

Eastbourne ward 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28 Total
Langney 7 4 1 12
Meads 75 65 11 151
Old Town 12 8 2 22
Ratton 1 2 11 14
Sovereign 0 46 35 81
St. Anthony's 5 3 36 44
Upperton 66 55 61 182
Total 229 234 238 701

Map: Wards in Eastbourne

@ Crown copyright
&nd database rights 2025,
05 ACO0D8088SS

Page 154

® Community Pharmacy

A roads
B roads
Builtup areas

Page 44 of 160



East Sussex

Joint Strategic
Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2025 ] S NA

Needs Assessment

Hastings borough

Table: Planned housing completions in Hastings, 2025/26 to 2027/28

Hastings ward 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28 Total
Ashdown 82 63 63 208
Baird 24 3 3 30
Braybrooke 2 12 3 17
Castle 56 120 3 179
Central St Leonards 8 18 3 29
Conquest 33 33 33 99
Gensing 13 2 22 37
Hollington 3 3 33 39
Maze Hill 13 38 11 62
Old Hastings 3 3 3 9
Ore 3 17 29 49
Silverhill 21 3 2 26
St Helens 3 3 2 8
Tressell 33 23 2 58
West St Leonards 69 52 3 124
Wishing Tree 16 2 3 21
Total 382 395 218 995
Page 155

Page 45 of 160



East Sussex

Joint Strategic
Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2025 ] S NA

Needs Assessment

Map: Wards in Hastings

@  Community Pharmacy
A roads
B roads

Builtup areas

© Crown copyright
and database rights 2025,
05 ACDO0808E55

Lewes district

Table: Planned housing completions in Lewes, 2025/26 to 2027/28

Lewes parish 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28 Total
Barcombe 13 12 10 35
Beddingham 0 0 0 0
Chailey 19 23 17 59
Ditchling 3 0 0 3
East Chiltington 2 0 0 2
Falmer 0 0 0 0
Firle 0 0 0 0
Glynde 0 0 0 0
Page 156

Page 46 of 160



East Sussex

Joint Strategic
Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2025 ] S NA

Needs Assessment

Lewes parish 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28 Total
Hamsey 10 7 7 24
Iford 0 0 0 0
Kingston 2 0 1 3
Lewes 94 74 76 244
Newhaven 71 142 134 347
Newick 29 25 6 60
Peacehaven 20 18 12 50
Piddinghoe 1 0 0 1
Plumpton 23 31 22 76
Ringmer 42 94 120 256
Rodmell 1 0 0 1
Seaford 44 59 47 150
Southease 0 0 0 0
South Heighton 0 11 0 11
St Ann Without 0 0 0 0
St John Without 0 0 0 0
Streat 1 0 0 1
Tarring Neville 1 0 0 1
Telscombe 10 8 0 18
Westmeston 1 0 0 1
Wivelsfield 21 61 54 136
Total 408 565 506 1,479
Page 157

Page 47 of 160



East Sussex | Joint Strategic
Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2025 ] SNA | Needs Assessment

Map: Parishes in Lewes

@

Wivelsfiald

Mewick

Chailey

Chiltington

Hamsey

Kingston
MNear
Lawes

@ Community Pharmacy

Beddingham ‘
Tarring
Neville

B roads

A roads

Builtup areas Piddinghoe
Telscombe

Peacehaven

© Crown copyright
and database rights 2025,
05 ACOD0BOBESS

Page 158

Page 48 of 160



Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2025

Rother district

East Sussex

JSNA

Table: Planned housing completions in Rother, 2025/26 to 2027/28

Joint Strategic
Needs Assessment

Rother parish 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28 Total
Ashburnham 0 0 0 0
Battle 25 110 120 255
Beckley 2 2 1 5
Bexhill 248 393 437 1,078
Bodiam 0 0 0 0
Brede 1 1 1 3
Brightling 0 0 0 0
Burwash 28 16 2 46
Camber 2 11 1 14
Catsfield 1 1 1 3
Crowhurst 2 2 2 6
Dallington 0 0 0 0
East Guldeford 0 0 0 0
Etchingham 0 0 0 0
Ewhurst 1 1 0 2
Fairlight 1 0 0 1
Guestling 2 2 2 6
Hurst Green 15 15 26 56
Icklesham 2 1 1 4
Iden 0 0 12 12
Page 159

Page 49 of 160



East Sussex

Joint Strategic
Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2025 ] S NA

Needs Assessment

Rother parish 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28 Total
Mountfield 2 2 2 6
Northiam 2 2 2 6
Peasmarsh 1 21 26 48
Penhurst 0 0 0 0
Pett 0 0 0 0
Playden 0 0 0 0
Rye 5 5 34 44
Rye Foreign 1 0 0 1
Salehurst and Robertsbridge 17 17 29 63
Sedlescombe 19 12 1 32
Ticehurst 5 6 4 15
Udimore 0 0 0 0
Westfield 3 3 23 29
Whatlington 1 1 0 2
Total 386 624 727 1,737
Page 160

Page 50 of 160



East Sussex

Joint Strategic
Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2025 ] S il

Needs Assessment

Map: Parishes in Rother

Ticehurst

} Elchlnqham
Bodiam

p

(}/\) Salehurst and / \\T
Robartshridge .

Burwash " @ -—/} o

/ Northiam Backl
.' Ewhurst L*i 4] sehey
f/ L‘/\v/ _"_\_‘_/\_K

NS QO \\ S

Dallington K C\rﬁ\ g’\rhaumgzﬁ

/_1\ \—/-ﬁ«k‘ Sedlesccmbcz Brede |
ij - (/ T ’
Pcnhurst 5\7 Battie L

Hurst Grccm

Camber

i
2 PR
® Westfield Y

/ Guesiling

A

Ashbumhdm |

"j Catsfisld

Fairlight

o]

Community Pharmacy
A roads
B roads

Bexhil Builtup areas

© Crown copyright
and database rights 2025, 4§
0S ACDODA0RE5S

Page 161

Page 51 of 160



Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2025

Wealden district

East Sussex

JSNA

Table: Planned housing completions in Wealden, 2025/26 to 2027/28

Joint Strategic
Needs Assessment

Wealden parish 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28 Total
Alciston 0 0 0 0
Alfriston 0 0 0 0
Arlington 10 5 3 18
Berwick 2 0 10 12
Buxted 29 32 35 96
Chalvington with Ripe 32 41 40 113
Chiddingly 13 6 0 19
Crowborough 141 103 50 294
Cuckmere Valley 0 0 0 0
Danehill 2 1 0 3
East Dean & Friston 4 2 0 6
East Hoathly with Halland 50 60 70 180
Fletching 3 0 0 3
Forest Row 11 9 0 20
Framfield 47 81 80 208
Frant 2 22 52 76
Hadlow Down 0 0 0 0
Hailsham 212 349 377 938
Page 162

Page 52 of 160



Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2025

East Sussex

JSNA

Joint Strategic
Needs Assessment

Wealden parish 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28 Total
Hartfield 3 2 0 5
Heathfield and Waldron 8 7 9 24
Hellingly 73 201 148 422
Herstmonceux 15 62 50 127
Hooe 0 0 0 0
Horam 2 59 64 125
Isfield 1 0 0 1
Laughton 4 0 3 7
Little Horsted 0 0 0 0
Long Man 0 0 0 0
Maresfield 9 11 14 34
Mayfield and Five Ashes 1 2 3 6
Ninfield 11 35 35 81
Pevensey 2 1 1 4
Polegate 29 52 80 161
Rotherfield 2 4 8 14
Selmeston 0 0 0 0
Uckfield 84 80 79 243
Wadhurst 4 3 3 10
Warbleton 1 0 0 1
Page 163

Page 53 of 160



East Sussex

JSNA

Joint Strategic
Needs Assessment

Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2025

Wealden parish 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28 Total

Wartling 2 1 1 4

Westham 135 239 209 583

Willingdon and Jevington 51 75 125 251

Withyham 6 3 3 12

Total 1,001 1,548 1,552 4,101
Page 164

Page 54 of 160



East Sussex

JSNA

Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2025

Map: Parishes in Wealden

§
{

)
|
VoL
Harllield Withyham /J/ ¢J,
Forest Row \f / \l‘,\
iz
/} =

Crowborough (o)
Flatching

Frant

Rotherlield ‘Wadhurst G

Mareslield Mayfield and

0] Five Ashas

_f}

Heathfisld
and Waldron

Framfiald

oL A

Hoathly with Horam
Halland

Isfield

Little

Harsted Warbleton

\
Hallingly \ \lL

Chiddingly

" ?

®  Community Pharmacy

Laughton
B roads j/\;'
A roads
Chalvington Hcrstmoncc:ux Wartling
Builtup areas with Ripn
2 ailsham
Arlington 1
Selmeston -
F'e\'ense:,r
Berwlclu Pulegate Wcstham
Alciston
— Long Man “ 0
) Willingdon op)
Alfriston ahd Jevingtan
Cuckmere [
Walley
East
Dean and
Friston
@ Crown copyright
and database rights 2025,
05 ACODOBOAESS
Page 165

Minfishd
—\

Hooe

Joint Strategic
Needs Assessment

)

Page 55 of 160



East Sussex

Joint Strategic
Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2025 ] S NA

Needs Assessment

4.5 Rural and urban areas

East Sussex has a mixture of urban and rural areas, with the concentration or urban areas
located on the coast, in the central corridor north from Eastbourne up to Heathfield, and
the market towns of Lewes, Uckfield and Crowborough in the West and North.

Map: Rural urban areas across East Sussex, 2021

Rural Urban classification
B smaller rural

Larger rural
B Urban
/\ Dispensing Practice
® Community Pharmacy
[ District/Borough boundaries

@© Crown copyright
and database rights 2025.
OS AC000808855

Source: 2021 Rural Urban Classification - Office for National Statistics

When it comes to density of population, the majority of the land in East Sussex is sparsely
populated in the rural areas. The areas of high population density in East Sussex are areas
with community pharmacies close by.

Page 166 Page 56 of 160


https://www.ons.gov.uk/methodology/geography/geographicalproducts/ruralurbanclassifications/2021ruralurbanclassification

East Sussex

Joint Strategic
Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2025 ] S NA

Needs Assessment

Map: Population density across East Sussex, 2021

Population density - people per square kilometre
36 - 213
214 - 1577
1578 - 3219
I 3220 - 5030
I 5031 - 17753
© Crown copyright ® Community Pharmacy
L Rl [ District/Borough boundaries

Source: 2021 Census, Office for National Statistics

Page 167 Page 57 of 160



Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2025

4.6 Access to a car / van

East Sussex

JSNA

Joint Strategic
Needs Assessment

The areas with low percentages of households with access to a car/van are all in the more
densely populated urban areas of East Sussex.

Table: Access to car/van across East Sussex, 2021

1 or more cars or No cars or vans Total % of households with no
District vans in household in household households access to a car or van
Eastbourne 33,512 12,096 45,608 26.5
Hastings 28,658 11,801 40,459 29.2
Lewes 35,478 8,212 43,690 18.8
Rother 35,360 6,742 42,102 16.0
Wealden 61,044 7,222 68,266 10.6
East Sussex 194,052 46,073 240,125 19.2

Source: 2021 Census, Office for National Statistics

Page 168

Page 58 of 160



East Sussex

Joint Strategic
Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2025 ] SNA

Needs Assessment

Map: Access to car/van across East Sussex, 2021

MSOA East Sussex
% of households with access to a car or van
50.3-74.7%
74.8 - 80.1%
80.2 - 85.%
B 85.3-91.2%
I 91.3 - 94.9%
© Crown copyright /% Dispensing Practice

and database rights 2025.

. .
0S AC000808855 Community Pharmacy

[ District/Borough boundaries

Source: 2021 Census, Office for National Statistics

Page 169 Page 59 of 160



East Sussex

Joint Strategic
Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2025 ] S NA

Needs Assessment

4.7 Deprivation (IMD 2019)

The Index of Multiple Deprivation 2019 (IMD 2019) describes relative deprivation nationally
at Lower Super Output Area (LSOA) level. The table below shows that 43% of LSOAs in
Hastings are amongst the most deprived 20% of areas in England. This makes Hastings the
most deprived local authority in the South East and amongst the most deprived nationally.

Table: Percentage of East Sussex LSOAs in each national deprivation quintile, IMD 2019

National deprivation East
quintile Eastbourne Hastings Lewes Rother Wealden Sussex
1 = most deprived 20% 20% 43% 3% 10% 4% 14%
of areas

2 30% 30% 19% 21% 3% 19%
3 26% 15% 24% 34% 26% 26%
4 13% 1% 37% 26% 35% 26%
5 = least deprived 20% 1% 0% 16% 9% 32% 16%
of areas

Source: Ministry of Housing, Communities & Local Government, 2019

The map below shows levels of deprivation for Lower Super Output areas (LSOAs) in East
Sussex. They are presented as national quintiles so that quintile 1 represents areas that are
amongst the most deprived 20% of LSOAs in England. The most deprived areas are mainly in
urban coastal areas. This is also the case for Income Deprivation affecting both children and
older people.

Page 170



East Sussex

Joint Strategic
Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2025 ] S NA

Needs Assessment

Map: Areas of deprivation in East Sussex showing the LSOAs ranking according to their
national deprivation quintile, 2019

Index of Multiple Deprivation 2019
I 1 most deprived 20% of LSOAs
Il 2

3

4

5 least deprived 20% of LSOAs

/A Dispensing Practice
© Community Pharmacy
[ District/Borough boundaries

© Crown copyright
and database rights 2025.
OS AC000808855

Source: Ministry of Housing, Communities & Local Government, 2019

Page 171 Page 61 of 160



East Sussex

Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2025 ] SNA

Joint Strategic
Needs Assessment

Map: Income Deprivation Affecting Children Index (IDACI), 2019

IDACI 2019
I 1 most deprived 20% of LSOAs
Il 2

3

4

5 least deprived 20% of LSOAs

/\ Dispensing Practice
® Community Pharmacy
[ District/Borough boundaries

@© Crown copyright
and database rights 2025.
OS AC000808855

Source: Ministry of Housing, Communities & Local Government, 2019

Page 172 Page 62 of 160



East Sussex

Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2025 ] S NA

Joint Strategic
Needs Assessment

Map: Income Deprivation Affecting Older people Index (IDAOPI), 2019

IDAOPI 2019
I 1 most deprived 20% of LSOAs
Il 2

3

4

5 least deprived 20% of LSOAs

® Community Pharmacy
[ District/Borough boundaries

© Crown copyright
and database rights 2025.
OS AC000808855

Source: Ministry of Housing, Communities & Local Government, 2019

Page 173 Page 63 of 160



East Sussex

Joint Strategic
Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2025 ] S NA

Needs Assessment

5. Health and care needs

5.1 Life expectancy

Life Expectancy (LE) at birth is higher at an East Sussex level compared to England for both
males and females. LE was increasing in East Sussex up to around 2012-2014 when it began
to plateau. It then dropped slightly during the years affected by the COVID-19 pandemic.
Recent data (2021-2023) estimates that life expectancy in East Sussex for males is 79.1
years and for females is 83.1 years.

At a district and borough level, male LE for 2021-2023 ranges from 76.7 years in Hastings to
81.9 years in Wealden. For females LE ranges from 80.9 in Hastings to 84.5 in Wealden.

For both males and females, LE is lower than England in Hastings and Eastbourne, and
higher in Wealden, Lewes and Rother.

At a small area level (MSOA, latest data 2016-2020) Crowborough North East has the highest
LE for males (86.2 years) and Frant and Groombridge for females (88.7 years). For males it
is lowest in Pier in Eastbourne (73.4 years) and for females it is lowest in Central St
Leonards (78.5 years). At an MSOA level that means that the gap is 12.7 years for males and
10.1 for females.

Table: Life expectancy at birth by district and borough in East Sussex, 2021-2023

Area Males Females
Eastbourne 78.8 82.6
Hastings 76.7 80.9
Lewes 80.4 84.9
Rother 80.3 83.2
Wealden 81.9 84.5
East Sussex 79.9 83.4
England 79.1 83.1

Source: Public Health Outcomes Framework | Fingertips | Department of Health and Social
Care

Page 174 Page 64 of 160


https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/public-health-outcomes-framework
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/public-health-outcomes-framework

East Sussex

Joint Strategic
Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2025 ] SNA

Needs Assessment

Map: Life expectancy at birth for males by Middle Layer Super Output Area (MSOA) in
East Sussex, 2016-2020

Life Expectancy at birth, 2016-2020, Males
East Sussex MSOAs

D District Boundaries
ONS Middle Super Output Areas
Life Expectancy (years)

83.1-862

81.2-830

78.8-81.1
B 759-787
B 734-758

© Crown copyright - all rights reserved. ACO00808855, 2024

Source: Local health, public health data for small geographic areas | Fingertips |
Department of Health and Social Care

Page 175 Page 65 of 160


https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/local-health
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/local-health

East Sussex

Joint Strategic
Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2025 ] SNA

Needs Assessment

Map: Life expectancy at birth for females by Middle Layer Super Output Area (MSOA) in
East Sussex, 2016-2020

Life Expectancy at birth, 2016-2020, Females
East Sussex MSOAs

D District Boundaries
ONS Middie Super Output Areas
Female_LE_16t020 / none

86.1-88.7

849-860

837-848
I 520-836
Il 755519

€ Crown copyright ~ all rights reserved. ACO00808855, 2024

Source: Local health, public health data for small geographic areas | Fingertips |
Department of Health and Social Care

Page 176 Page 66 of 160


https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/local-health
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/local-health

East Sussex

Joint Strategic
Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2025 ] S NA

Needs Assessment

5.2 Disease and poor health

Bad health

The 2021 Census asked residents “How is your health in general?”. 31,149 residents in East
Sussex responded that their health was bad or very bad, which represents 5.7% of the
population. This was higher than for England (5.2%). Higher percentages were seen in
Hastings (7.3%), Eastbourne (6.3%) and Rother (6.0%).

Table: Self-reported health status, 2021

Bad or very Fair health Very good or Total

bad health good health
Area Number % Number % Number % Number
Eastbourne 6,383 6.3% 15,503 15% 79,800 78% 101,686
Hastings 6,613 7.3% 14,122 16% 70,260 77% 90,995
Lewes 5,484 5.5% 14,156 14% 80,265 80% 99,905
Rother 5,580 6.0% 14,561 16% 72,969 78% 93,110
Wealden 7,089 4.4% 20,209 13% 132,853 83% 160,151
East Sussex 31,149 5.7% 78,551 14% 436,147 80% 545,847
England 5.2% 13% 82%

Source: 2021 Census, office for National Statistics

Disability

The 2021 Census included a two-part question on disability. Firstly, respondents were asked
if they had any long-term physical or mental health conditions or illnesses lasting or
expected to last 12 months or more. Those who answered "Yes" were then asked if these
conditions limited their ability to carry out day-to-day activities. People whose activities
were limited "a little" or "a lot" were considered disabled.

In East Sussex there were 110,553 residents who self-reported to be disabled, representing
20.3% of the population. This was higher than for England (17.3%). Higher percentages were
seen in Hastings (22.6%), Eastbourne (21.6%) and Rother (21.6%).

Page 177 Page 67 of 160



East Sussex

Joint Strategic
Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2025 ] S NA

Needs Assessment

Table: Population who are disabled, 2021

Area Number %
Eastbourne 21,919 21.6%
Hastings 20,525 22.6%
Lewes 20,342 20.4%
Rother 20,138 21.6%
Wealden 27,629 17.3%
East Sussex 110,553 20.3%
England 17.3%

Source: 2021 Census, Office for National Statistics

Looking at a more local level, the higher percentages of disabled people are in the coastal
areas of East Sussex and also Hailsham.

Page 178 Page 68 of 160



East Sussex

Joint Strategic
Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2025 ] S NA

Needs Assessment

Map: Population who are disabled, 2021

MSOA East Sussex
% population who are disabled
12.9-16.1%
16.2 - 19.4%
19.5-21.3%
B 21.4-228%
I 22.9-26.9%
/\ Dispensing Practice
@ Community Pharmacy
[ District/Borough boundaries

@ Crown copyright
and database rights 2025.
0S AC000808855

Source: 2021 Census, Office for National Statistics

Page 179 Page 69 of 160



East Sussex

Joint Strategic
Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2025 ] S NA

Needs Assessment

Chronic disease

Data are published on the number of patients on specific chronic disease registers in GP
practices as part of the Quality Outcomes Framework (QOF). This data has been
summarised by district and borough area in the figure below.

Prevalences are higher in East Sussex compared to England. This may be due to the older
age profile in East Sussex and the fact that many chronic conditions are age-related.

Rother has the highest prevalence rates with the exception of depression, where Hastings is
highest.

Figure: Chronic disease prevalence, 2023/24

Quintites IR M High

n ” - i
Compared to England TSRS Similar | Higher 99.8%

=
o E
s 2 2 £ g & 3
i . a4 2 I w E -'Fa' @
Indicator Period "~ § § & = % e =
Stroke: QOF prevalence 2023/24 <H» 19 26 25 24 27 32 24
Hypertension: QOF prevalence 2023/24 <ff» 148 179 170 168 177 217 172
COPD: QOF prevalence 2023/24 ff» 19 24 22 30 22 28 19

CHD: QOF prevalence 2023/24 <H» 30 36 n 35 38 456 n

Depression: QOF prevalence - L
2022123 «H» 132 160 172 131 148 155 150
retired after 2022/23 L

Osteoporosis: QUF prevalence 2023/24 @ 11 15 24 54
(50+ yrs)

Asthma: QOF prevalence (6+ yrs) 2023/24 <H» 65 71 71 67 75 73 72

Rheumatoid Arthritis: QOF

202324 <ij]-[',:> 0.8 0.9 1.0 0.9 0.9 0.9 1.0
prevalence

Source: Fingertips | Department of Health and Social Care

Page 180 Page 70 of 160


https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/search/QoF#page/0/gid/1/pat/502/par/E10000011/ati/501/are/E07000061/iid/212/age/1/sex/4/cat/-1/ctp/-1/yrr/1/cid/4/tbm/1

East Sussex

Joint Strategic
Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2025 ] S NA

Needs Assessment

6. Current pharmaceutical services
provision

6.1 Pharmacy provision in East Sussex

As at April 2025, there were 92 community pharmacies included in the pharmaceutical list
for East Sussex and three distance selling pharmacies. There are 16 GP Dispensaries in East
Sussex, and no Dispensing Appliance Contractors providing services within East Sussex.

Location of community pharmacies in East Sussex

Map: Location of community pharmacies and dispensing practices in East Sussex

Groombridge

& Hartfield Wadhurst
Medical Group Pharmacy
Ashdown
Ashdown Forest Pharmacy 4
Health Centre Boots the ) Belmont
! Chemists Morrisons Surgery
o { Pharmacy o Denys |
Ph !
Chappells Pharmacy armacy Ticehurst
Pharmacy
¥
St Denys Pharmacy ) E; Dunstans Robertsbridge Northiam
armacy Pharmacy Surgel
EqwzltEd\ ‘ gery )
edica Heathfield Fairfield empsons Rve Medical
Buxted ye Medical
Phamacy Centre Surgery Surgery ‘Pharmacy Contra
Kamsons Procter Health
Ph Care Pharmacy, Oldwood
armacy Karmsons | Surgery o
‘ Pharacy " Boots the Chemists | Day Lewis
= Pharmacy. Battle Sedlescombe Ferry Road
Health Surgery i
Procter Health Centre g
Manor Centre
Tesco Health Care Pharmacy Pharmacy Your Local Boots the Chemists
Ditchiin Pharmacy L Boots Day Lewis
Ph o Warwick and Pharmacy Pharmacy
armacy - Boots Ka Radcliffe
— the msons Pharmacy : | Westfield
Chemists Ringmer Pharmacy The Surgery
| Pharmac S
J ¥ Paydens Pharmacy . N:ﬁ:a’
HAEe ker\ } Boots the / Sidley e
Chemists Seaforth Pharmacy Pharmacy 2\

7 Little /
Procter Health : e
/ rocter Heal Corimon Pharmacy —

St Annes Pharmacy Wyborns Kamsons Care Pharmacy oy " pebsham
Pharmacy Pharmacy Pharmacy
Well Boots _the 2':';';;;' Your Local
Chemists — Boots Boots the Chemists

Kamsons.
Pharmacy

Kamsons
Ph
4 Pharmacy ey S/ amacy . & Dispensing Practice
Kamsons Pharmacy ‘esco
= Community Pharma
Seaford Pharmacy ) Iy
Rharmacy

Kamsens
Pharmacy Boots - East Sussex district/
Newhaven Pharmacies Ltd \ o L 1 Collis & Co the borough boundaries
ay .
Morrisons Lewis Chemists Aroads
© Crown copyright Pharmacy Cameron L & Peels Pharmacy B roads
and database rights 2025. Sons . )
05 ACO00808855 L Boots the Chemists Builtup areas

Page 181 Page 71 of 160



East Sussex | Joint Strategic

Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2025 ] SNA | Needs Assessment

Map: Location of community pharmacies and dispensing practices in Eastbourne

Kamsons

Rharmacy Boots the
Chemists

P

Asda Pharmacy

Boots the ;“I
Tesco ~ Chemists_ /
Pharmacy Y

Tesco
Pharmacy

Kamsons vy
Fharmacvr_ A

__Your Local
Boots Pharmacy

Boots the Oshon Pharmacy
Chemists
N

Kamsons ) \
Pharmacy

Arlington Road Pharmacyi,‘

Newman
Pharmacy

_ Kamsons
Pharmacy

) Day
Lewis Harmers Pharmacy

Grand
Pharmacy

o
Kamsons
Pharmacy

(1 Community Pharmacy

[ East Sussex district/borough boundaries
A road

B road

Builtup area

& Crown copyright
and database rights 2025,
05 ACODOBDBESS

Map: Location of community pharmacies and dispensing practices in Hastings

Day Lewis

Hirst

Pharmacy Wellcare
| Pharmacy

Laycock:
Chemists \_

Tesco
Pharmacy _

) Day Lewis. !
~ _77_7_,,4\'1) Porter ;’1";
Hollington ‘Pharmacy Hillview
Pharmacy Pharmacy @ ‘I Pharmacy T .
Station | et T

Asda Pharmacy_7 - Plaza o
QOsbon

Pharmacy

o S 4—-. | Morrisons
Blooms \ - Pharmacy
Pharmacy | o

3 Andersen's

Clari 1
Pha‘:r:‘wt:cy \ Pharmacy
== Harold Road
. Surgery
! Boots the
. Kamsons Chemists -
\ "'B s th Pharmacy {+) Community Practice
' 00ts € A " " .
West St Chemists /" Dispensing Practice
Leonards -
East Sussex district/
Pharmacy - borough boundaries
A road
B road
Builtup area

© Crown copyright
and database rights 2025,
05 ACDO0808855

Page 182 Page 72 of 160



Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2025

Pharmacy changes since the last PNA

East Sussex

JSNA

Joint Strategic
Needs Assessment

There has been a gradual reduction in provision of pharmacies at a local, regional and

national level. Since the last PNA in 2022 there are seven fewer community pharmacies,
which is a 6% reduction, whilst the number of distance selling pharmacies and dispensing
practices have remained the same. The greatest decrease has been in Eastbourne where
there are 3 fewer pharmacies.

Table: Pharmacy service changes since the last PNA

Area Provision type Jan 2022 April 2025 Net change
Eastbourne Community pharmacy 20 17 -3
Distance selling pharmacy 0 0 0
Dispensing practice 0 0 0
Total 20 17 -3
Hastings Community pharmacy 20 19 -1
Distance selling pharmacy 0 0 0
Dispensing practice 1 1 0
Total 21 20 -1
Lewes Community pharmacy 17 16 -1
Distance selling pharmacy 1 1 0
Dispensing practice 0 0 0
Total 18 17 -1
Rother Community pharmacy 15 14 -1
Distance selling pharmacy 1 1 0
Dispensing practice 8 8 0
Total 24 23 -1
Wealden Community pharmacy 27 26 -1

Page 183

Page 73 of 160



East Sussex

Joint Strategic

Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2025 JSNA | Needs Assessment
Area Provision type Jan 2022 April 2025 Net change
Distance selling pharmacy 1 1 0
Dispensing practice 7 7 0
Total 35 35 0
East Sussex Total Community pharmacy 99 92 -7
Distance selling pharmacy 3 3 0
Dispensing practice 16 16 0
Total 118 111 -7

Provision compared to neighbouring areas

There are no recommended rates for provision of community pharmacy services.

The rate of pharmacies in East Sussex is 17.1 per 100,000 population which is lower than
the England rate of 18.1. Looking at neighbouring areas to East Sussex both Brighton and
Hove (18.2) and Medway (17.8), which are both more urban densely populated areas, have
higher rates than East Sussex. However, compared to similar neighbouring counties, East
Sussex has the highest rate of provision. It’s not possible to add GP dispensaries to the
analysis which would increase the rates in areas more rural in nature.

Table: Community pharmacy comparisons, Quarter 2 2024/25

Community Pharmacies Population Rate per Rank (out of 153, 1
Local Authority 2024/25 Q2 (Mid-2023) 100,000 =highest rate)
East Sussex 95 555,484 17.1 99
Brighton & Hove 51 279,637 18.2 82
Kent 254 1,610,251 15.8 120
Medway 51 286,800 17.8 95
Surrey 181 1,228,671 14.7 136
West Sussex 146 900,862 16.2 114
England 10,439 57,690,323 18.1

Page 184

Page 74 of 160



East Sussex

JSNA

Joint Strategic
Needs Assessment

Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2025

Note: Distance selling Pharmacies are included in above table as unable to remove them
from the national data easily. GP dispensaries are not included.

Source: NHS Business Services Authority and Population data from ONS

Provision across East Sussex boroughs and districts

Looking at pharmacy provision across the districts and boroughs in East Sussex we can
include the dispensing practices. This shows highest provision per 100,000 population in
Rother (24.2), which has the oldest population profile, followed by Hastings (22.0) which
has the most population living in areas of deprivation. The lowest rates are in Eastbourne
(16.4) and Lewes (16.8).

Table: Community pharmacy provision in East Sussex, Quarter 2 2024/25

Area Community Distance  Dispensing Total Population Rate per

Pharmacies selling practices (Mid-2023) 100,000

pharmacies

Eastbourne 17 17 103,796 16.4
Hastings 19 1 20 90,817 22.0
Lewes 16 1 17 101,356 16.8
Rother 14 1 8 23 94,862 24.2
Wealden 26 1 7 35 164,653 20.6
East Sussex 92 3 16 112 555,484 20.0

Source: NHS Business Services Authority and Population data from ONS

Pharmacy Access Scheme (PhAS)

The aim of the Pharmacy Access Scheme (PhAS) is a national scheme to support patient
access to NHS community pharmaceutical services in England. Qualifying pharmacies will
receive an additional payment.

The PhAS has been designed to capture isolated and eligible pharmacies to support patient
access.

Eligibility for PhAS is based on both the dispensing volume of the pharmacy, and distance
from the next nearest pharmacy. Pharmacy Access Scheme (PhAS) - Community Pharmacy
England

17 community pharmacies in East Sussex receive payments as part of the PhAS.

Page 185 Page 75 of 160


https://cpe.org.uk/quality-and-regulations/the-pharmacy-contract/pharmacy-access-scheme-phas/
https://cpe.org.uk/quality-and-regulations/the-pharmacy-contract/pharmacy-access-scheme-phas/

East Sussex | Joint Strategic
Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2025 ] SNA | Needs assessment

Map: Community Pharmacies who receive PhAS payments

Groombridggy’

Wadhurst

W
frawaorough oy Ticehurbt

Burivash

-~ Robertsbridge

HEATHFIELD
UCKFIELD .

wWirchelsea

. Ditchling

Y HAILSHAM Sidley

HASTINGS

Falmer
St Leanards

Polegate ‘BEXHILL
Pharmacy Access Scheme

P peuensay Bay D East district/borough boundaries

A road

B road

EASTBOURNE Builtup areas

d Hampder) Park [~ -
Saltdean

Peacehaven

© Crown copyright
and database rights 2025.
0S AC000808855

Source: NHS Sussex ICB

6.2 Opening Hours

Core hours: Those hours a pharmacy is formally contracted to provide NHS
pharmaceutical services. Core hours are usually 40 hours but there are some
contracted for 100 hours. See details in next section.

Supplementary hours: Additional hours a pharmacy opens beyond their core
hours. Decreases in hours can be modified with five weeks’ notice to NHS
Sussex ICB, and no notice period is required to increase them.

100-hour contract changes

100-hour pharmacies became a new provision under amendments to The National Health
Service (Pharmaceutical Services) Regulations 1992, which came into force on 1 April 2005.

In an attempt to increase pharmacy provision and competition, the legislation introduced
four exemptions to earlier NHS regulations that prohibited new contractors from entering

Page 186 Page 76 of 160



East Sussex

Joint Strategic
Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2025 ] S NA

Needs Assessment

the pharmaceutical list unless it was “necessary or expedient” to securing the adequate
provision of pharmaceutical services locally.

These exemptions included pharmacies where the applicant committed to providing
pharmaceutical services for at least 100 hours each week, as well as those located in large
shopping centres, and those that would provide pharmacy services online.

However, the exemption was removed in a 2012 update to the NHS regulations, after a
government white paper found in 2008 that Primary Care Trusts (commissioners at the
time) were not able to control where 100-hour pharmacies opened, which meant there was
“no match between the better access that a 100 hours per week pharmacy delivers and the
need for such an improvement locally”. Additionally, the government found that there was
a “clustering of 100 hours per week pharmacies close to each other”.

The updated regulations meant that no new 100-hour pharmacies could open but stated
that existing 100-hour pharmacies must maintain their opening hours. However, in May
2023, further amendments were made to the National Health Service (Pharmaceutical and
Local Pharmaceutical Services) Regulations 2013; one of which allowed existing 100-hour
pharmacies to reduce their minimum opening hours to 72 hours per week.

Under the amended regulations, pharmacies that held 100-hour contracts would have to
remain open between 17:00 and 21:00 from Monday to Saturday, and between 11:00 and
16:00 on Sundays, if previously open these hours, to maintain out-of-hours pharmacy
provision.

Contracted hours in East Sussex

Of the 92 community pharmacies in East Sussex, four are on 100 hours (amended)
contracts. This is a reduction of four from the eight that were in place at the last PNA.
Pharmacies with 40-hour contracts can choose to open for longer under supplementary
hours arrangements.

Table: Community pharmacies in East Sussex by contract type

Area 40 hours 100 Hours (Amended) Grand Total
Eastbourne 15 2 17
Hastings 17 2 19
Lewes 16 16
Rother 14 14
Wealden 26 26
Page 187

Page 77 of 160



East Sussex | Joint Strategic
Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2025 JSNA | Needs Assessment
Area 40 hours 100 Hours (Amended) Grand Total
East Sussex 88 4 92

Source: NHS Sussex Integrated Care Board
Opening times
All 92 community pharmacies and 16 dispensing practices are open weekdays.

Map: Pharmacies and dispensing practices open weekdays i.e. all locations

== Trovl Y
TUNBRIDGE
= WELLS N
Aa-

4  CROWECROUGH &

Ticehurét
P A& Ticehu

HEATHFIELD
4 UCKFELD -

A
A

s

HAILSHAM

ey
Y HASTINGS

St Leonart ds

Polegate

Y

Langney

-

ensey Bay P A Pharmacies open weekdays (160)

- /. Dispensing open weekdays (16)

/ © _ 1 5 km buffer round East Sussex

, [ East Sussex district/borough boundaries
A road
B road

© Crown copyright T~ - / Builtup areas

and database rights 2025. ~
0S AC000808855 —_—_ -

For this PNA, and as agreed by the Steering Group, we have defined evening opening hours
as being open for at least one day beyond 6pm Monday to Friday. Weekend opening is
defined as being open for any period of time on Saturday/Sunday.

Across East Sussex 39% of pharmacies and GP dispensaries are open evenings and this ranges
from 48% in Wealden to 31% in Lewes.

77% of pharmacies and GP dispensaries are open on a Saturday and this ranges from 88% in
Eastbourne to 64% in Rother.

Page 188 Page 78 of 160



East Sussex

Joint Strategic
Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2025 ] S NA

Needs Assessment

15% of pharmacies and GP dispensaries are open on a Sunday and this ranges from 35% in
Eastbourne to 3% in Wealden.

The maps in this section also display pharmacy services within 5km of the East Sussex
border that are open at specific times. As well as the city of Brighton and Hove, the towns
of Burgess-Hill, Haywards Heath, East Grinstead and Royal Tunbridge Wells all boost access
to pharmacies for East Sussex residents, including in the evenings and weekends.

Table: Community Pharmacies and Dispensing practices open evenings and weekends

Open evenings Open Saturdays Open Sundays
Area Total Number %  Number %  Number %
Eastbourne 17 6 35% 15 88% 6 35%
Hastings 20 7 35% 17 85% 6 30%
Lewes 16 5 31% 13 81% 1 6%
Rother 22 8 36% 14 64% 2 9%
Wealden 33 16 48% 24 73% 1 3%
East Sussex 108 42 39% 83 77% 16 15%

Source: NHS Sussex Integrated Care Board

Page 189 Page 79 of 160



East Sussex | Joint Strategic

Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2025 ] SNA | Needs Assessment

Map: Pharmacies and dispensing practices open on a weekday evening

== = Thoval Y

- ~
TUNBRIDGE N
WELLS

A ~

EAST
GRINSTEAD

Graombridge

Forest Row
]

CROWBOROUGH

. Howkhurst ~

4

+ Ticehurst

Bdrwash
¥

Rabertsaridge
e g

£

HEATHFIELD
o

A UCKFIELD

. Winchelsea

Ditchling

I
i
- - -
I A s
| A
.AHMLSHAM .E-\dhy o 7
T 1ASTINGS 7/
St Leonards s
Y BEXILL -7
~ A \AA Polegate Langney .-
d A A -
iGN | Pevensey Bay -~ A Pharmacies open Evenings (51)
’\ & TEORE Hampden Park P Pharmacies closed Evenings (109)
saldean -
A Peacehaven / v Dispensing open evenings (13)
N EASTBOURNE / N . . )
~ ’ ¥  Dispensing closed evenings (3)
~ _
.o e T~ 3 5 km buffer round East Sussex
=~ /
.. s [ East Sussex district/borough boundaries
~ ’
~
@ Crown copyright T~ 4 A road
and database rights 2025. ~ P s B road
0OS AC000808855 S - _ -
Builtup areas

Page 190 Page 80 of 160



East Sussex | Joint Strategic

Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2025 ] SNA | Needs Assessment

Map: Pharmacies open on a Saturday

e T

~
TUNBRIDGE
A WELLS N

Graombridge

i A Forest Row S
1 N
\ S~ L~
' CROWEOROUGH ~ N
\ & aMewkourst ~ -~
E & Ticehurét -~ o
¥ A ~
~
- 4 \
-
-~ Lo
7 Hae ~
HAYVIARDS gy e ~
HEATH . . Barwash N
/ A t A A Robertsiridge \
! A
HEATHFIELD LoD
! A UCKFTELD & RYE i N
| i \
BuRgess HiL &
dis T Ay 1
A
I . Winchelsea
" a

] 4 [ . bichling
! rd
I - -
~ - -
I A s
| A
.‘HMDHAM v
i HASTINGS
St Leonards s
N, g P
A Polegate Langney BEXHILL - -
, a / -
BRIGHTON Pevensey ay -3 .
AND HOVE - A Pharmacies open Saturday (139)
& NEWHAVEN Hompden Park P Pharmacies closed Saturday (21)
- -
\ / T~ 7 5 km buffer round East Sussex
\ / _ )
N . [ East Sussex district/borough boundaries
~
- P A road
/
- ’ B road
h ! It
~
@© Crown copyright -~ ’ Builtup areas
and database rights 2025. ~ P ks
~

03 AC000808855

Page 191 Page 81 of 160



East Sussex | Joint Strategic
] SN A | Needs Assessment

Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2025

Map: Pharmacies open on a Sunday

~
TN = = TRl Yo
TUNBRIDGE  ~ «

WELLS

Graombridge

Forest Row

. Howkhurst
~

CROWBOROUGH
+ Ticehurst

. Barwash
;| Rabertstridge

HEATHFIELD

A UCKFIELD
. Winchelsea

BURGESS HILL ™ "

Ditchling

Sidley

1ASTINGS
-

HAILSHAM
St Leonards
-

Y -
~ . .Pcuht-gate Lenarey BEXHILL - -
\ i -
N 7 bevensey Bay -7 .
WDHOE  ~ A - ~ A Pharmacies open Sunday (23)
NEWHAVEN Hampden Park P Pharmacies closed Sunday (137)
' Seldean - .=
\ Peacehavan / . _ . 5 km buffer round East Sussex
A EASTEQURNE / o .
N . [ East Sussex district/borough boundaries
~
T -7 A road
-~ /
Teal s B road
~ “ 7 |
€ Crown copyright T~ , ’ Builtup areas
~ - -

and database rights 2025.
0OS AC000808855

Page 192 Page 82 of 160



East Sussex

Joint Strategic
Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2025 ] S NA

Needs Assessment

6.3 Travel times to access pharmacies

Method

This analysis utilised the SHAPE tool which is an online, interactive, data mapping, analysis
and insight tool that supports service planning and estates strategy development. Its
supported by the Department of Health and Social Care and allows users to plot pharmacies
and then calculate travel times. Travel methods used were car by time and public transport
by time. The travel catchment areas come from a third party provider called Targomo
Location-Based Analytics for Decision Makers - Targomo. Based on the pharmacy/dispensing
practice locations selected in SHAPE, that location data is sent to Targomo based on the
selected travel time and type and will return an area which is accessible. Once this
information is returned, SHAPE use that to calculate the population within that area. This
population is called “Included population” in the analysis here.

The steering group agreed to use the 30 minutes travel time for a one-way journey for the
analysis, which was the same as for the previous PNA.

A buffer zone of 5 kilometres was used to include community pharmacies within reasonable
distance from East Sussex to take account of residents who’s nearest pharmacy may be
outside of the county.

Each blue marker on the maps represents a community pharmacy and where there
are pharmacies in close proximity the number on the marker displays how many

are close by. The green markers represent dispensing practices. A GPb marker is a
branch surgery that hosts the dispensary.

Horsebridge Ma

Upper Horsebridoe

o T Where there are two or more locations close together on the map,
L they are replaced with an icon that shows how many locations are
plotted in that area.

0
l-mvm

The yellow area mapped shows areas within 30 minutes of an open pharmacy/Dispensing
practice.

Weekday access

There are no populated areas of East Sussex that are not within a 30 minute drive by car,
both within and outside rush hour.

Page 193 Page 83 of 160


https://shapeatlas.net/
https://www.targomo.com/

East Sussex

JSNA

Joint Strategic
Needs Assessment

Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2025

Map: Car travel access weekdays (outside rush hour)

(CI} Included population: 551,007

¢ \ i e T £\ RS A = o
i . P | o % N
@_@zug@ooem TTSo.  TONBRIDGE & = N /)
A Ny PADDOCK WOOD ) : / 7
’ N e . A s . "\ | 451
SOUTHEZROUG . ST Sk
N O
e g/ B ASHFORD
DGE ~ &
Wi ‘\‘
> = \s
’ R v -
; : BN
\d N
A Y
\ o > 5 “~ —— ° =
~Q@ O @ @
: { ASEL =
D % o
: ©Q
i :

: \'\*:-b, /
S e

© Crown copyright and database rights 2024 Ordnance Survey 100016969 | parallel | Mapbox | OpenStreetMap contributors

Source: SHAPE Place « Car: by time « 0 locations « 5 to 30 minutes ¢ 30 minutes visible

Page 194 Page 84 of 160


https://app.shapeatlas.net/place/E54000064#10/51.0612/-0.2925/b-97R/sc-pc,s-200,s-300/v-0,K9Z4X,L6N4X,H82057,G81036001,H82003,G81038,G81042,H82072002,H82005,H82057002,E6H0I,G81646,Y02676,G81018,H82084,G81054,G81656,G81011,G81689,G81006,G81613,G81028,G81014,G81036,H82044,H82072,G81038002,G81613001,G81038001,H82057003,G81014002,G81075,H82005003,H82056,Y06007,G81006001,G81669,H82040003,G81071,H82040,H82035,H82100,G81065,H82040002,G81076,F5F9S,H81023,H82063,G8J0X,C9I4T,G81021003,C7O2F,G81053,G81100,G81021001,G81021,R2Q4D,G81021004,G81016,G81061,G81021002,G81037,G81614001,G81086,G81029,G81099,G81019,G81055,G81102001,G82059001,G81098002,G81043001,G82022001,G81043,G82152,G81102002,G81088,G81049,G82137,G81004,G81040,G82025,G82768,G82041,G81012,G81032,G82041001,G81059001,G81098003,G81059,G81098,G82016,G82022,G81104,G81050,G81002,G81003,J7U6Q,G81008,G81017,G81003001,G81098001,G81022,G81022001,G82155,G81634,G81008001,Y00080,G81008004,G82170,G81030002,G81039,G81041,G81077,G81041001,T1Q9T,G81023,G81039001,A5K7E,G82055,P9R8K,G81089,B6H8U,G81048,B4S2S,G81074,G81096,G2J5Q,G81658,A3M1Y,G81641,G81051002,G81095,G81087001,L4Q6N,X1Y0W,G81031002,G81031001,G81051003,G81051001,G81085002,G81085003,Z3M4Y,G82072,FXA84,FRK13/o-v,a/f-FQY87/m-CCG,ml-CCG,mbf-5000/rs-type,rsp-300,rh-0,rdr-t,rtu-car__minutes,rv-5_30,rco-30

East Sussex

Joint Strategic
Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2025 l SNA

Needs Assessment

Map: Car travel access weekdays (during rush hour)

(CI} Included population: 551,007

| BB T e L4 PRI R A . 3 B 7
- e = 3! =
@,_@“5&"55 TETSSL 7 TONBRIDGE . i N\ Y /A
a N PADDOCK WOOD L Ny
4 . -‘T‘ —————— ~a » BN ""\\‘ »‘l Y ‘{ ‘
. Loy 5 A
ASHFORD

- - o
@ S’ TENTER!&B‘
f N
TSN

© Crown copyright and database rights 2024 Ordnance Survey 100016969 | parallel | Mapbox | OpenStreetMap contributors

Source: SHAPE Place « Car: by time « 0 locations ¢« Rush hour « 5 to 30 minutes « 30 minutes
visible

When looking at access via public transport on weekdays the analysis showed that 10,738
(1.9%) residents did not have access within 30 minutes.

Page 195 Page 85 of 160


https://app.shapeatlas.net/place/E54000064#10/51.0569/-0.2815/b-97R/sc-pc,s-200,s-300/v-0,K9Z4X,L6N4X,H82057,G81036001,H82003,G81038,G81042,H82072002,H82005,H82057002,E6H0I,G81646,Y02676,G81018,H82084,G81054,G81656,G81011,G81689,G81006,G81613,G81028,G81014,G81036,H82044,H82072,G81038002,G81613001,G81038001,H82057003,G81014002,G81075,H82005003,H82056,Y06007,G81006001,G81669,H82040003,G81071,H82040,H82035,H82100,G81065,H82040002,G81076,F5F9S,H81023,H82063,G8J0X,C9I4T,G81021003,C7O2F,G81053,G81100,G81021001,G81021,R2Q4D,G81021004,G81016,G81061,G81021002,G81037,G81614001,G81086,G81029,G81099,G81019,G81055,G81102001,G82059001,G81098002,G81043001,G82022001,G81043,G82152,G81102002,G81088,G81049,G82137,G81004,G81040,G82025,G82768,G82041,G81012,G81032,G82041001,G81059001,G81098003,G81059,G81098,G82016,G82022,G81104,G81050,G81002,G81003,J7U6Q,G81008,G81017,G81003001,G81098001,G81022,G81022001,G82155,G81634,G81008001,Y00080,G81008004,G82170,G81030002,G81039,G81041,G81077,G81041001,T1Q9T,G81023,G81039001,A5K7E,G82055,P9R8K,G81089,B6H8U,G81048,B4S2S,G81074,G81096,G2J5Q,G81658,A3M1Y,G81641,G81051002,G81095,G81087001,L4Q6N,X1Y0W,G81031002,G81031001,G81051003,G81051001,G81085002,G81085003,Z3M4Y,G82072,FXA84,FRK13/o-v,a/f-FQY87/m-CCG,ml-CCG,mbf-5000/rs-all,rh-1,rdr-t,rtu-car__minutes,rv-5_30,rco-30
https://app.shapeatlas.net/place/E54000064#10/51.0569/-0.2815/b-97R/sc-pc,s-200,s-300/v-0,K9Z4X,L6N4X,H82057,G81036001,H82003,G81038,G81042,H82072002,H82005,H82057002,E6H0I,G81646,Y02676,G81018,H82084,G81054,G81656,G81011,G81689,G81006,G81613,G81028,G81014,G81036,H82044,H82072,G81038002,G81613001,G81038001,H82057003,G81014002,G81075,H82005003,H82056,Y06007,G81006001,G81669,H82040003,G81071,H82040,H82035,H82100,G81065,H82040002,G81076,F5F9S,H81023,H82063,G8J0X,C9I4T,G81021003,C7O2F,G81053,G81100,G81021001,G81021,R2Q4D,G81021004,G81016,G81061,G81021002,G81037,G81614001,G81086,G81029,G81099,G81019,G81055,G81102001,G82059001,G81098002,G81043001,G82022001,G81043,G82152,G81102002,G81088,G81049,G82137,G81004,G81040,G82025,G82768,G82041,G81012,G81032,G82041001,G81059001,G81098003,G81059,G81098,G82016,G82022,G81104,G81050,G81002,G81003,J7U6Q,G81008,G81017,G81003001,G81098001,G81022,G81022001,G82155,G81634,G81008001,Y00080,G81008004,G82170,G81030002,G81039,G81041,G81077,G81041001,T1Q9T,G81023,G81039001,A5K7E,G82055,P9R8K,G81089,B6H8U,G81048,B4S2S,G81074,G81096,G2J5Q,G81658,A3M1Y,G81641,G81051002,G81095,G81087001,L4Q6N,X1Y0W,G81031002,G81031001,G81051003,G81051001,G81085002,G81085003,Z3M4Y,G82072,FXA84,FRK13/o-v,a/f-FQY87/m-CCG,ml-CCG,mbf-5000/rs-all,rh-1,rdr-t,rtu-car__minutes,rv-5_30,rco-30

East Sussex

Joint Strategic
Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2025 l SNA

Needs Assessment

Map: Public transport access weekdays

(CE) Included population: 540,269
([0 Excluded population: 10,738

AT g s R A K

3 A — " '°\ =
“%aL /VTONBRIDGE- . [ \", N M ,/J
\ LA SN v _ PADDOCKWOOD |~ —— | L N
T - . B e LN - PR SR 2
! o ~ ¢ VAN RN I
o oGy N\ [ s & QY% o e S
f ~ 7 4 3 2 ASHFORD *.
< . £ \ o \",\.\ N Al \K'\
) (S a7 Y / S e
\ Wi o e <= ] N
e 3 v s o

© Crown copyright and database rights 2024 Ordnance Survey 100016969 | parallel | Mapbox | OpenStreetMap contributors

Source: SHAPE Place « Public transport « 169 locations ¢ 5 to 30 minutes « 30 minutes
visible

Evening access

The definition used for the PNA is for a location to be open for at least one day beyond 6pm
Monday to Friday

There are no populated areas of East Sussex that are not within a 30 minute drive by car of
a community pharmacy or dispensing practice after 6pm.

Whilst there are no services open in the evening in Lewes town, the analysis showed that
travel times by car and public transport are sufficient to nearby towns such as Uckfield and
Brighton.

Whilst rural areas are boosted by dispensing practices, not all are open every evening for
long beyond 6pm. This particularly affects areas in rural Rother

Page 196 Page 86 of 160


https://app.shapeatlas.net/place/E54000064#10/51.0483/0.3145/b-97R/sc-pc,s-200,s-300/v-0,K9Z4X,L6N4X,H82057,G81036001,H82003,G81038,G81042,H82072002,H82005,H82057002,E6H0I,G81646,Y02676,G81018,H82084,G81054,G81656,G81011,G81689,G81006,G81613,G81028,G81014,G81036,H82044,H82072,G81038002,G81613001,G81038001,H82057003,G81014002,G81075,H82005003,H82056,Y06007,G81006001,G81669,H82040003,G81071,H82040,H82035,H82100,G81065,H82040002,G81076,F5F9S,H81023,H82063,G8J0X,C9I4T,G81021003,C7O2F,G81053,G81100,G81021001,G81021,R2Q4D,G81021004,G81016,G81061,G81021002,G81037,G81614001,G81086,G81029,G81099,G81019,G81055,G81102001,G82059001,G81098002,G81043001,G82022001,G81043,G82152,G81102002,G81088,G81049,G82137,G81004,G81040,G82025,G82768,G82041,G81012,G81032,G82041001,G81059001,G81098003,G81059,G81098,G82016,G82022,G81104,G81050,G81002,G81003,J7U6Q,G81008,G81017,G81003001,G81098001,G81022,G81022001,G82155,G81634,G81008001,Y00080,G81008004,G82170,G81030002,G81039,G81041,G81077,G81041001,T1Q9T,G81023,G81039001,A5K7E,G82055,P9R8K,G81089,B6H8U,G81048,B4S2S,G81074,G81096,G2J5Q,G81658,A3M1Y,G81641,G81051002,G81095,G81087001,L4Q6N,X1Y0W,G81031002,G81031001,G81051003,G81051001,G81085002,G81085003,Z3M4Y,G82072,FXA84,FRK13/o-v,a/f-FQY87/m-CCG,ml-CCG,mbf-5000/rs-all,rh-1,rdr-t,rtu-transit__minutes,rv-5_30,rco-30
https://app.shapeatlas.net/place/E54000064#10/51.0483/0.3145/b-97R/sc-pc,s-200,s-300/v-0,K9Z4X,L6N4X,H82057,G81036001,H82003,G81038,G81042,H82072002,H82005,H82057002,E6H0I,G81646,Y02676,G81018,H82084,G81054,G81656,G81011,G81689,G81006,G81613,G81028,G81014,G81036,H82044,H82072,G81038002,G81613001,G81038001,H82057003,G81014002,G81075,H82005003,H82056,Y06007,G81006001,G81669,H82040003,G81071,H82040,H82035,H82100,G81065,H82040002,G81076,F5F9S,H81023,H82063,G8J0X,C9I4T,G81021003,C7O2F,G81053,G81100,G81021001,G81021,R2Q4D,G81021004,G81016,G81061,G81021002,G81037,G81614001,G81086,G81029,G81099,G81019,G81055,G81102001,G82059001,G81098002,G81043001,G82022001,G81043,G82152,G81102002,G81088,G81049,G82137,G81004,G81040,G82025,G82768,G82041,G81012,G81032,G82041001,G81059001,G81098003,G81059,G81098,G82016,G82022,G81104,G81050,G81002,G81003,J7U6Q,G81008,G81017,G81003001,G81098001,G81022,G81022001,G82155,G81634,G81008001,Y00080,G81008004,G82170,G81030002,G81039,G81041,G81077,G81041001,T1Q9T,G81023,G81039001,A5K7E,G82055,P9R8K,G81089,B6H8U,G81048,B4S2S,G81074,G81096,G2J5Q,G81658,A3M1Y,G81641,G81051002,G81095,G81087001,L4Q6N,X1Y0W,G81031002,G81031001,G81051003,G81051001,G81085002,G81085003,Z3M4Y,G82072,FXA84,FRK13/o-v,a/f-FQY87/m-CCG,ml-CCG,mbf-5000/rs-all,rh-1,rdr-t,rtu-transit__minutes,rv-5_30,rco-30

Joint Strategic

East Sussex
Needs Assessment

JSNA

Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2025

When looking at access via public transport on weekday evenings the analysis showed that

32,324 (5.9%) residents did not have access within 30 minutes

Map: Car travel access weekday evenings

— -
(2 ) Included population: 551,007
x ; ) e S T q i . & ~ \ >
= EPENBRIDGESET= | 7 TONBRIDGE Fe = M /A
- Ny PADDOCK WOOD 3 N\ A (J
-‘\_--—-‘-\‘\ . »'\‘ \j y { ‘
SOUTHBOROUGH N e
ASHFORD

©
R = 'TENT-ERIJ\EN
{ FOSEN L L

“‘---\
~

Ll Ty

gl

BEXHILEZOT:
f«
St

_,—_x_r-_:C«"

::c‘:ﬂ‘poc -
%}\\"\\n =
S e

f
=

© Crown copyright and database rights 2024 Ordnance Survey 100016969 | parallel | Mapbox | OpenStreetMap contributors

Source: SHAPE Place « Car: by time « 0 locations ¢ 5 to 30 minutes ¢« 30 minutes visible

Page 197 Page 87 of 160


https://app.shapeatlas.net/place/E54000064#10/51.0604/-0.3008/b-97R/sc-pc,s-200,s-300/v-1,G81024,G81102,G81099001,G81614,G81088001,G81030,G81052,G81082,G81057,G81057001,G81087,G81031,G81051,FHK64,FRN06,FTT23,FDF64,FW676,FN225,FHG58,FF787,FL613,FKE94,FG804,FA088,FCQ88,FJF96,FA342,FGG50,FGP96,FME72,FXA71,FNE56,FQ577,FYE94,FD564,FYX43,FGA19,FH723,FX478,FNJ90,FH358,FCQ39,FP954,FV493,FJ416,FD341,FQV61,FVM25,FF114,FVQ77,FG057,FQG85,FJK61,FPA95,FY677,FFC93,FH752,FMJ93,FV050,FH594,FMG75,FLE70/o-v,a/f-FPA95/m-CCG,ml-CCG,mbf-5000/rs-all,rh-0,rdr-t,rtu-car__minutes,rv-5_30,rco-30

East Sussex

Joint Strategic
Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2025 l SNA

Needs Assessment

Map: Public transport access weekday evenings

{(z} Included population: 518683
([0 Excluded population: 32,324

S gﬁ“:o e RN = Y . = SN
Yay  TONBRIDGE —— [ o/ | y T
P2 ) PADDOCKWOOD ~ =~ | b AN
;(“ -~_‘_-‘-‘-~‘ . & ( ST — - S \ R
.~ SOUTHBOROUGH ™ (% S L T emp s INE
~_ v ‘: \ < 2

-

- ,——-~rep¢1'-gno‘m ¥ ; (i

% / b - sz

* HEATHFIELD -

r_qu HOVE

= 6‘*’0&@
g

\l'":’QC« s
© Crown copyright and database rights 2024 Ordnance Survey 100016969 | parallel | Mapbox | OpenStreetMap contributors

Source: SHAPE Place « Public transport « 60 locations ¢ 5 to 30 minutes « 30 minutes visible

Weekend access

There are no populated areas of East Sussex that are not within 30 minute drive by car of a
community pharmacy or dispensing practice on either a Saturday or Sunday.

When looking at access via public transport on Saturdays the analysis showed that 69,747
(12.7%) of residents did not have access within 30 minutes. This increased to 218,288
(39.6%) on a Sunday.

Page 198 Page 88 of 160


https://app.shapeatlas.net/place/E54000064#10/51.0638/-0.3296/b-97R/sc-pc,s-200,s-300/v-1,G81024,G81102,G81099001,G81614,G81088001,G81030,G81052,G81082,G81057,G81057001,G81087,G81031,G81051,FHK64,FRN06,FTT23,FDF64,FW676,FN225,FHG58,FF787,FL613,FKE94,FG804,FA088,FCQ88,FJF96,FA342,FGG50,FGP96,FME72,FXA71,FNE56,FQ577,FYE94,FD564,FYX43,FGA19,FH723,FX478,FNJ90,FH358,FCQ39,FP954,FV493,FJ416,FD341,FQV61,FVM25,FF114,FVQ77,FG057,FQG85,FJK61,FPA95,FY677,FFC93,FH752,FMJ93,FV050,FH594,FMG75,FLE70/o-v,a/f-FPA95/m-CCG,ml-CCG,mbf-5000/rs-all,rh-0,rt-e,rdr-t,rtu-transit__minutes,rv-5_30,rco-30

Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2025

East Sussex

JSNA

Joint Strategic
Needs Assessment

Map: Saturday access by car

(0 iInduded population: 551,007

L4
B,

=AOVE

oak 8y &
\ ~
BriGHTSN

o ‘ -id £ »..;‘"' ‘o
@_e_nsnan_loce-:r TTS<_ . TONBRIDGE

y o ~ R v 2 \
o L_‘ ’ i : 2 sourunﬁ-om@ ™ T LK
- ] ~ v ) N
—A - N E ; o\ ASHFORD
> T &) c’ N A - <
XA ROYAL SZRIDGE . 3 >4
.0 EAsTowilSTEAD A WELLS -5

Y O TR 0 o
7 tn el i
(e

O
> PADDOCK WOOD

(St T ST T

=L —--'rsnrgnom
@ " .
f Semay
Tl

i e
QDCI:(:::::N

=

© Crown copyright and database rights 2024 Ordnance Survey 100016969 | parallel | Mapbox | OpenStreetMap contributors

Source: SHAPE Place « Car: by time « 0 locations ¢ 5 to 30 minutes ¢« 30 minutes visible

Page 199 Page 89 of 160


https://app.shapeatlas.net/place/E54000064#10/51.0587/-0.3214/b-97R/sc-pc,s-300/d-phsat/v-0,FTT23,FMA84,FV520,FQT17,FG542,FEC31,FT435,FKW32,FMN73,FHG68,FGG50,FVP55,FME72,FNE56,FXA84,FDR00,FYX43,FNJ90,FJJ23,FVK18,FQL85,FD420,FEX32,FRK13,FAN63,FF054,FDN08/o-v,a/m-CCG,ml-CCG,mbf-5000/rs-all,rh-0,rt-e,rdr-t,rtu-car__minutes,rv-5_30,rco-30

Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2025

Map: Saturday access by public transport

(D7) Included population: 481,260
(0 Excluded population: 69,747

J/“'l'onmtu:u:iz- — ) FEER

7, PADDOCKWOOD | = s

..\—-...a_r____,.-

East Sussex

JSNA

Joint Strategic
Needs Assessment

® Crown copyright and database rights 2024 Ordnance Survey 100016969 | parallel | Mapbox | OpenStreetMap contributors

Source: SHAPE Place « Public transport « 133 locations ¢ 5 to 30 minutes « 30 minutes

visible

Page 200

Page 90 of 160


https://app.shapeatlas.net/place/E54000064#10/51.0621/-0.2911/b-97R/sc-pc,s-300/d-phsat/v-0,FTT23,FMA84,FV520,FQT17,FG542,FEC31,FT435,FKW32,FMN73,FHG68,FGG50,FVP55,FME72,FNE56,FXA84,FDR00,FYX43,FNJ90,FJJ23,FVK18,FQL85,FD420,FEX32,FRK13,FAN63,FF054,FDN08/o-v,a/m-CCG,ml-CCG,mbf-5000/rs-all,rh-0,rt-wm,rdr-t,rtu-transit__minutes,rv-5_30,rco-30
https://app.shapeatlas.net/place/E54000064#10/51.0621/-0.2911/b-97R/sc-pc,s-300/d-phsat/v-0,FTT23,FMA84,FV520,FQT17,FG542,FEC31,FT435,FKW32,FMN73,FHG68,FGG50,FVP55,FME72,FNE56,FXA84,FDR00,FYX43,FNJ90,FJJ23,FVK18,FQL85,FD420,FEX32,FRK13,FAN63,FF054,FDN08/o-v,a/m-CCG,ml-CCG,mbf-5000/rs-all,rh-0,rt-wm,rdr-t,rtu-transit__minutes,rv-5_30,rco-30

East Sussex

JSNA

Joint Strategic
Needs Assessment

Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2025

Map: Sunday access by car

(0 iInduded population: 551,007

EDENSRIDGE: = = ~ 2
.~ EDENBRIDGE:Z= 2 a |~ TONBRIDGE

o
PADDOCK WOOD
~o b

a2 SRUSELE T

a ; Vi !
RLEY % 8 :
L ! L . SOUTHBOROUGH
4 - ! ‘

ROYAL TUNBRIDGE
W [

: s
) rl
CRAWLEY A
‘ |}
'
\
\
o5 h
\{\' CROWBOROUGH
'
¥ L ,"'_ T
CUCKFIE
s O
/ 8 =

{

o

o —r—
UCKFIELD ~ HEATHFIELD >
L -

J

© Crown copyright and database rights 2024 Ordnance Survey 100016969 | parallel | Mapbox | OpenStreetMap contributors

Source: SHAPE Place « Car: by time « 0 locations ¢ 5 to 30 minutes ¢« 30 minutes visible

Page 201 Page 91 of 160


https://app.shapeatlas.net/place/E54000064#10/51.0664/-0.3296/b-97R/sc-pc,s-300/d-phsun/v-1,FDF64,FTV55,FA088,FQL56,FA342,FRR58,FQC51,FH723,FV493,FQV61,FTQ44,FLA61,FG057,FJK61,FPA95,FY677,FFC93,FH752,FV050,FH594,FVY65,FPM78,FMG75/o-v,a/m-CCG,ml-CCG,mbf-5000/rs-all,rh-0,rt-wm,rdr-t,rtu-car__minutes,rv-5_30,rco-30

Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2025

Map: Sunday access by public transport

(D7) Included population: 332,719
(0 Excluded population: 218,288

.ulﬁt_—‘ y

..\—-.'.f: LR

-y
D ¥

SOUTHBOROUGH ~* %,

! -
i~ WADHURST

A e
= * HEATHFIELD

|3 LY

IGHTON AN

D HOVE
Pha(

=

- - | eoeeRiGE: = TomeRoe gl |
| . _ ~ PADDOCKWODOD
y | T !

.y Sl e g

East Sussex

JSNA

Joint Strategic
Needs Assessment

2 Crown copyright and database rights 2024 Ordnance Survey 100016969 | parallel | Mapbox | OpenStreetMap contributors

Source: SHAPE Place « Public transport ¢ 0 locations ¢ 5 to 30 minutes « 30 minutes visible

Page 202

Page 92 of 160


https://app.shapeatlas.net/place/E54000064#10/51.0051/0.1772/b-97R/sc-pc,s-300/d-phsun/v-1,FDF64,FTV55,FA088,FQL56,FA342,FRR58,FQC51,FH723,FV493,FQV61,FTQ44,FLA61,FG057,FJK61,FPA95,FY677,FFC93,FH752,FV050,FH594,FVY65,FPM78,FMG75/o-v,a/m-CCG,ml-CCG,mbf-5000/rs-all,rh-0,rt-wm,rdr-t,rtu-transit__minutes,rv-5_30,rco-30

East Sussex

Joint Strategic
Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2025 ] S NA

Needs Assessment

6.4 Necessary Services

Necessary services for this PNA are described in section 2.5. Not all activity is available for
every element of the services, so a summary of what is available is provided below.

Dispensing activity

There were 10.3 million items dispensed by pharmacies in East Sussex during 2024.
Pharmacies in Eastbourne dispensed the greatest number of items per pharmacy (9,857 per
month per pharmacy) and Rother the fewest (7,734). On average there were 18.5 items
dispensed per head of population per year in East Sussex during 2024. This was highest in
Hastings (24.1) and Eastbourne (20.5) and lowest in Rother (14.7) and Lewes (16.1).

It should be noted that activity data is a measure of pharmaceutical demand on a service
and not pharmaceutical need.

Table: Dispensing activity by community pharmacies in East Sussex, 2024 calendar year

Number of
items per
Average Number of items head of
Number of  Total items items per per month per population
pharmacies dispensed month pharmacy Population per year
Eastbourne 18 2,129,171 177,431 9,857 103,796 20.5
Hastings 19 2,184,907 182,076 9,583 90,817 24.1
Lewes 16 1,629,789 135,816 8,488 101,356 16.1
Rother 15 1,392,099 116,008 7,734 94,862 14.7
Wealden 27 2,946,853 245,571 9,095 164,653 17.9
East Sussex 95 10,282,819 856,902 9,020 555,484 18.5

Note: Analysis includes pharmacies open at any point during the calendar year

Source: Dispensing contractors' data | NHSBSA

Distance Selling Pharmacy activity

There were almost 800,000 items dispensed to patients registered with East Sussex GP
Practices by distance selling pharmacies (DSPs) in 2024/25. This was almost a doubling of
activity compared to 2019/20. Items dispensed by DSPs now represents 6% of all items
dispensed in East Sussex, but it ranges from 5% in Wealden to 8% in Rother. Rother has also
seen the greatest increase in DSP activity over the same period.

Page 203 Page 93 of 160


https://www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/prescription-data/dispensing-data/dispensing-contractors-data

East Sussex

Joint Strategic
Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2025 ] S NA

Needs Assessment

Table: Items dispensed via distance selling services by district/borough of prescribing
GP Practice, 2019/20 to 2024/25

Location of
District dispensed items  2019/2020 2020/2021 2021/2022 2022/2023 2023/2024 2024/2025
Eastbourne  Distance selling 83,876 96,483 120,116 131,316 149,445 154,977
All pharmacies 2,122,824 2,107,011 2,134,712 2,176,555 2,247,126 2,330,562
% distance selling 4.0% 4.6% 5.6% 6.0% 6.7% 6.6%
Hastings Distance selling 38,933 76,567 95,531 108,719 120,965 140,770
All pharmacies 2,222,372 2,177,075 2,143,451 2,193,611 2,248,904 2,303,337
% distance selling 1.8% 3.5% 4.5% 5.0% 5.4% 6.1%
Lewes Distance selling 64,358 102,854 129,715 133,036 125,143 137,075
All pharmacies 1,828,663 1,782,758 1,792,880 1,847,795 1,796,313 1,790,256
% distance selling 3.5% 5.8% 7.2% 7.2% 7.0% 7.7%
Rother Distance selling 32,250 62,401 91,682 138,052 172,139 184,248
All pharmacies 2,171,658 2,141,911 2,158,443 2,187,892 2,236,292 2,279,173
% distance selling 1.5% 2.9% 4.2% 6.3% 7.7% 8.1%
Wealden Distance selling 194,223 158,852 184,523 210,294 207,242 182,072
All pharmacies 3,309,431 3,217,768 3,281,507 3,365,095 3,529,585 3,675,995
% distance selling 5.9% 4.9% 5.6% 6.2% 5.9% 5.0%
East Sussex  Distance selling 413,640 497,157 621,567 721,417 774,934 799,142
All pharmacies 11,654,948 11,426,523 11,510,993 11,770,948 12,058,220 12,379,323
% distance selling 3.5% 4.4% 5.4% 6.1% 6.4% 6.5%

Source: ePACT2 | NHSBSA, accessed 8/8/2025

The NHS 10 year plan, published at the end of July 2025, acknowledges the pressure the
health and care system is currently under. It is proposing three radical shifts to improve
services, one of which is moving from analogue to digital where new technology will
liberate staff from admin and allow people to manage their care as easily as they bank or
shop online. 10 Year Health Plan for England: fit for the future - GOV.UK.

The plan commits to continue current partnerships with libraries and other community
organisations to help set people up on the NHS App. They will continue recruiting App
Ambassadors across the country to support uptake. The NHS will continue to contribute
fully to the cross-government Digital Inclusion Action Plan, led by the Department for
Science, Innovation and Technology, to improve access to and skills with technology among
socially excluded groups.

Information about online health and prescription services are available from NHS online
services - NHS

Discharge Medicines Service (DMS)

Since 15th February 2021, NHS Hospital Trusts have been able to refer patients who would
benefit from extra guidance around prescribed medicines for provision of the DMS at their
community pharmacy. The service has been identified by NHS England’s Medicines Safety

Page 204 Page 94 of 160


https://www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/access-our-data-products/epact2
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/10-year-health-plan-for-england-fit-for-the-future
https://www.nhs.uk/nhs-services/gps/online-health-and-prescription-services/
https://www.nhs.uk/nhs-services/gps/online-health-and-prescription-services/

East Sussex

Joint Strategic
Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2025 ] S NA

Needs Assessment

Improvement Programme to be a significant contributor to the safety of patients at
transitions of care, by reducing readmissions to hospital.

Activity is varied across East Sussex and is reliant on the referral from hospital providers.
Rates are highest in Eastbourne (2.3 per 1,000 population) and lowest in both Hastings (0.5)
and Rother (0.5). This suggests that referrals are greater from the Eastbourne District
General Hospital, compared to the Conquest Hospital in Hastings. NHS Sussex ICB is already
working locally to encourage and support hospital services in utilising this service.

Table: Discharge Medicines Service activity in East Sussex, 2024 calendar year

East
Activity Eastbourne Hastings Lewes Rother Wealden Sussex
Complete Discharge 91 22 137 14 124 388
Medicines Services
Part complete Discharge 147 23 22 35 100 327
Medicines Services
Total Discharge Medicines 238 45 159 49 224 715
Services
Rate per 1,000 population 2.3 0.5 1.6 0.5 1.4 1.3

Source: Dispensing contractors' data | NHSBSA

Pharmacy First service (Advanced service)

The new Pharmacy First service, launched 31 January 2024, replacing the previous
Community Pharmacist Consultation Service. It enables community pharmacies to complete
episodes of care for seven common conditions following defined clinical pathways and also
incorporates the elements of the former Community Pharmacist Consultation Service, i.e.
minor illness consultations with a pharmacist and the supply of urgent medicines (and
appliances). An electronic patient referral for the service is sent from NHS 111, general
practices (urgent supply referrals are not allowed from general practices) and other
authorised healthcare providers to the community pharmacy. For the seven common
conditions patients can also self-refer directly to the pharmacy.

Pharmacy First services are available across all community pharmacies in East Sussex,
although some pharmacies experience more activity than others. Urgent medicine supply
consultations saw the greatest activity in terms of numbers, followed by the Minor illness
referral consultations. Of the seven common condition clinical pathways acute sore throat
and uncomplicated UTI both saw the greatest activity.

Page 205 Page 95 of 160


https://www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/prescription-data/dispensing-data/dispensing-contractors-data

East Sussex

Joint Strategic
Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2025 ] S NA

Needs Assessment

Table: Pharmacy First activity, numbers in 2024 calendar year

Pharmacy First Service Eastbourne Hastings Lewes Rother Wealden East
Sussex
Urgent Medicine Supply 2,341 3,634 1,165 1,815 2,076 11,031

Consultations

Minor Illness Referral 2,672 1,521 1,156 1,409 2,923 9,681
Consultations

Consultations - Acute 1,033 925 624 706 1,176 4,464
Sore Throat

Consultations - 992 755 627 551 1,176 4,101
Uncomplicated UTI

Consultations - Sinusitis 424 333 330 396 504 1,987
Consultations - Acute 394 294 227 375 609 1,899
Otitis Media

Consultations - Infected 301 334 286 347 410 1,678
Insect Bites

Consultations - Impetigo 116 165 119 127 213 740
Consultations - Shingles 136 124 79 133 219 691

Source: Dispensing contractors' data | NHSBSA

Looking at the activity as rates per 1,000 resident population, Hastings has double the rate
(40.0) for urgent medicine supply consultations compared to the East Sussex average (19.9).
Lewes saw the lowest rate (11.5) which was half the East Sussex average (19.9). For the
minor illness referral consultations, Eastbourne (25.7) had the highest rate with Lewes
having the lowest (11.4).

Page 206 Page 96 of 160


https://www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/prescription-data/dispensing-data/dispensing-contractors-data

East Sussex

Joint Strategic
Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2025 ] S NA

Needs Assessment

Table: Pharmacy First activity, rate per 1,000 population in 2024 calendar year

Pharmacy First Service Eastbourne Hastings Lewes Rother = Wealden East Sussex

Urgent Medicine Supply 22.6 40.0 11.5 19.1 12.6 19.9
Consultations

Minor Illness Referral 25.7 16.7 11.4 14.9 17.8 17.4
Consultations

Consultations - Acute Sore 10.0 10.2 6.2 7.4 7.1 8.0
Throat
Consultations - 9.6 8.3 6.2 5.8 7.1 7.4

Uncomplicated UTI

Consultations - Sinusitis 4.1 3.7 3.3 4.2 3.1 3.6
Consultations - Acute 3.8 3.2 2.2 4.0 3.7 3.4
Otitis Media

Consultations - Infected 2.9 3.7 2.8 3.7 2.5 3.0
Insect Bites

Consultations - Impetigo 1.1 1.8 1.2 1.3 1.3 1.3
Consultations - Shingles 1.3 1.4 0.8 1.4 1.3 1.2

Source: Dispensing contractors' data | NHSBSA

Page 207 Page 97 of 160


https://www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/prescription-data/dispensing-data/dispensing-contractors-data

East Sussex

JSNA

Joint Strategic
Needs Assessment

Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2025

6.5 Enhanced services

Bank holiday provision

There is one local enhanced service commissioned by NHS Sussex ICB in East Sussex which is
for selected pharmacies for bank holidays. The pharmacies that open change for each bank
holiday and so there is no single list of pharmacies that are signed up to this.

As an example, for Good Friday (18t April 2025) there were 15 community pharmacies open
across the county. These were in Eastbourne (4), Hailsham (1), Seaford (1), Bexhill-on-Sea
(1), Hastings (2), St Leonards (2), Peasmarsh [near Rye] (1), Crowborough (1), Lewes (1) and
Uckfield (1).

COVID-19 Vaccination Service

This is a national enhanced service commissioned by NHS England, and on 30th May 2024,
NHS England opened a new Expression of Interest (EOI) process for pharmacy owners that
wished to take part in future COVID-19 vaccination service campaigns between September
2024 and March 2026. COVID-19 Vaccination Service - Community Pharmacy England

The current phase of the vaccination programme is the Spring 2025 campaign and 48 out of
92 community pharmacies are currently commissioned to deliver this service in East Sussex.

Table: Pharmacies commissioned to deliver the COVID-19 vaccination service for the
Spring 2025 campaign

Eastbourne Hastings Lewes Rother Wealden Total

Pharmacies 7 13 10 9 9 48
commissioned

Total pharmacies 17 19 16 14 26 92

% 41% 68% 63% 64% 35% 52%

Source: NHS Sussex ICB

Page 208 Page 98 of 160


https://cpe.org.uk/national-pharmacy-services/national-enhanced-services/covid-19-vaccination-service/

East Sussex

Joint Strategic
Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2025 ] S NA

Needs Assessment

6.6 Advanced services

Advanced services relevant to community pharmacies in East Sussex are detailed below.
Services undertake by dispensing appliance contractors (DAC) are not covered as there are
currently none of these in the county, residents can access a DAC outside the county. There
were no Stoma Customisation or Appliance Use Reviews claimed for during 2024 by any
community pharmacies in East Sussex.

New Medicine Service (NMS)

The NMS, which commenced on 1st October 2011, provides support for people with long-
term conditions newly prescribed a medicine to help improve medicines adherence. It is
focused on specific patient groups and conditions.

The current conditions eligible for the service are:

e asthma and COPD

e diabetes (Type 2)

e hypertension

e hypercholesterolaemia

e osteoporosis

e gout

e glaucoma

e epilepsy

e Parkinson’s disease

e urinary incontinence/retention

e heart failure

e acute coronary syndromes

e atrial fibrillation

e long term risks of venous thromboembolism/embolism
e stroke / transient ischemic attack
e coronary heart disease

All community pharmacies across East Sussex are providing this service with all of them
claiming payments during 2024. There is a variation in activity rates across the county with
highest activity per 1,000 population in Hastings (110.6) and lowest in Rother (74.1).

Page 209 Page 99 of 160



East Sussex

Joint Strategic
Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2025 ] S NA

Needs Assessment

Table: New Medicines Service activity, 2024 calendar year

Activity Eastbourne Hastings Lewes Rother Wealden East Sussex
NMS interventions 9,301 10,047 8,298 7,025 15,045 49,716
declared

Rate per 1,000 89.6 110.6 81.9 74.1 91.4 89.5
population

Source: Dispensing contractors' data | NHSBSA

Flu vaccination

All but five community pharmacies claimed payments for flu vaccinations during 2024. Four
(out of 26 in Wealden) of these were in Wealden (Heathfield x 2, Polegate and Horam) and
one (out of 17 in Hastings) was in Hastings (St Leonards). There is a variation in activity
rates across the county with highest activity per 1,000 population in Hastings (151.2) and
lowest in Wealden (54.5).

Table: Flu vaccination activity, 2024 calendar year

Activity Eastbourne Hastings Lewes Rother Wealden East Sussex
Influenza 10,419 13,729 9,975 10,115 8,978 53,216
Administered Fees

Rate per 1,000 100.4 151.2 98.4 106.6 54.5 95.8
population

Source: Dispensing contractors' data | NHSBSA

Hypertension Case-Finding service

The Hypertension Case-Finding Service was commissioned as an Advanced service from 1st
October 2021. In public-facing communications, the service is described as the NHS Blood
Pressure Check Service.

The service aims to:

e Identify people aged 40 years or older, or at the discretion of pharmacy staff, people
under the age of 40, with high blood pressure (who have previously not had a
confirmed diagnosis of hypertension), and to refer them to general practice to
confirm diagnosis and for appropriate management.

Page 210 Page 100 of 160


https://www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/prescription-data/dispensing-data/dispensing-contractors-data
https://www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/prescription-data/dispensing-data/dispensing-contractors-data

East Sussex

Joint Strategic
Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2025 ] S NA

Needs Assessment

e At the request of a general practice, undertake ad hoc clinic and ambulatory blood
pressure measurements. These requests can be in relation to people either with or
without a diagnosis of hypertension.

e Provide another opportunity to promote healthy behaviours to patients.

All but eight community pharmacies claimed payments for blood pressure checks during
2024. Six (out of 26 in Wealden) of these were in Wealden (Crowborough x 2, Heathfield x
2, Horam and Rotherfield). One (out of 17 in Hastings) was in Hastings (St Leonards) and
another one was in Eastbourne (out of 17 in Eastbourne). There is a variation in activity
rates across the county with highest activity per 1,000 population in Eastbourne (54.7) and
lowest in Wealden (19.3).

Table: Hypertension case-finding activity, 2024 calendar year

Activity Eastbourne Hastings Lewes Rother Wealden East Sussex
Clinic Blood 5,428 2,414 2,423 2,725 2,903 15,893
Pressure checks

Ambulatory Blood 250 241 184 106 270 1,051
Pressure

Monitoring (ABPM)

Total activity 5,678 2,655 2,607 2,831 3,173 16,944
Rate per 1,000 54.7 29.2 25.7 29.8 19.3 30.5
population

Source: Dispensing contractors' data | NHSBSA

Smoking Cessation Service (SCS)

The SCS was commissioned as an Advanced service from 10th March 2022. This service has
been designed to enable NHS hospital trusts to undertake a transfer of care on patient
discharge, referring patients (where they consent) to a community pharmacy of their choice
to continue their smoking cessation treatment, including providing medication and support
as required. The ambition is for referral from NHS trusts to community pharmacy to create
additional capacity in the smoking cessation pathway.

There are only two pharmacies in East Sussex who have claimed activity on this service
during 2024. One pharmacy in Eastbourne has claimed 29 consultations and one pharmacy in
Hastings has claimed for 1.

The reason the activity was so low in East Sussex is because the in-patient tobacco
dependency treatment service within East Sussex Healthcare NHS Trust was not fully live in

Page 211 Page 101 of 160


https://www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/prescription-data/dispensing-data/dispensing-contractors-data

East Sussex

Joint Strategic
Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2025 ] S NA

Needs Assessment

2024. The service will be up and running in 2025 which in turn will lead to increased
referrals for this service to community pharmacies.

Pharmacy Contraception Service (PCS)

The PCS commenced on 24th April 2023, allowing the on-going supply of oral contraception
(OC) from community pharmacies. From 1st December 2023, the service expanded to
include both initiation and on-going supply of OC. From October 2025, subject to the
introduction of IT updates to community pharmacy clinical services IT systems, the service
will be expanded to include Emergency Hormonal Contraception (EHC).

All but 35 community pharmacies claimed payments for PCS during 2024. There is a
variation in activity rates across the county with highest activity per 1,000 population in
Hastings (3.6), Rother (3.4) and Eastbourne (3.3), and lowest in Lewes (1.4).

Table: Pharmacy contraception service activity, 2024 calendar year

Activity Eastbourne Hastings Lewes Rother Wealden East Sussex
Initiation consultations 60 41 23 33 62 219
Ongoing consultations 278 290 119 290 419 1,396
Total activity 338 331 142 323 481 1,615
Rate per 1,000 3.3 3.6 1.4 3.4 2.9 2.9
population

Source: Dispensing contractors' data | NHSBSA

Lateral Flow Device (LFD) tests supply service

The LFD tests supply service for patients potentially eligible for COVID-19 treatments was
commissioned as an Advanced service from 6th November 2023. In March 2024 it was
announced that the service would continue to be commissioned in 2024/25 and that
additional patient groups became eligible to access the service. In late May 2024, the
service specification was updated to make the eligibility criteria section clearer to
understand, as well as emphasising that patients eligible for the service do not need to
have symptoms of COVID-19 to obtain a free box of LFD test kits under the service.

All but 14 community pharmacies claimed payments for LFD service during 2024. There is a
variation in activity rates across the county with highest activity per 1,000 population in
Hastings (7.7) and lowest in Eastbourne (3.5).

Table: Pharmacy contraception service activity, 2024 calendar year

Page 212 Page 102 of 160


https://www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/prescription-data/dispensing-data/dispensing-contractors-data

East Sussex

Joint Strategic
Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2025 ] S NA

Needs Assessment

Activity Eastbourne Hastings Lewes Rother Wealden East Sussex
LFD Test Supply 360 702 467 580 696 2,805
Service Fees

Rate per 1,000 3.5 7.7 4.6 6.1 4.2 5.0
population

Source: Dispensing contractors' data | NHSBSA

6.7 Locally commissioned services

There are two services locally commissioned by NHS Sussex ICB, three commissioned by East
Sussex County Council (ESCC), and three commissioned via Change Grow Live (CGL) who
provide substance misuse treatment services as commissioned by ESCC.

End of life care / palliative care drugs - NHS Sussex ICB

This service has been commissioned so that patients or their representatives can always
have access to essential Palliative Care drugs. This is particularly important for staff
working in the community to be aware of to be able to sign-post to. For pharmacies
providing the service they will need to stock minimum quantities of a specific set of items.

25 out of 92 community pharmacies across East Sussex are commissioned to provide this LCS
and they are shown in the map below and offer a good number of locations across the
county.

Page 213 Page 103 of 160


https://www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/prescription-data/dispensing-data/dispensing-contractors-data

East Sussex

Joint Strategic
Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2025 ] S NA

Needs Assessment

Map: Pharmacies signed up to the End-of-Life Care / Palliative Care Drugs LCS

CROWBOROUGH

. Robertsbridge

HEATHFIELD
- UCKFIELD 2

w5 HAILSHAM

,;\j HASTINGS
1

St Leanards

Polegate BEXHILL

© End of life Care LCS (35)
D East district/borough boundaries
A road
B road

vof EAsTBOURNE Builtup areas

@ Crown copyright
and database rights 2025.
0OS AC000808855

Supply of oral antiviral medication for the treatment of COVID-19
and management of Influenza - NHS Sussex ICB

There are four out of 92 pharmacies commissioned to provide this LCS, and they are shown
in the map below. For both of these services a selected number of pharmacies are
commissioned to provide geographical coverage and service provision is not open to all
pharmacies.

Page 214 Page 104 of 160



Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2025

East Sussex

Joint Strategic

] SN A | Needs Assessment

Map: Pharmacies signed up to the Antiviral LCS

{Forest Row

¥ Danehill

- UCKFIELD

. Ditchling

_JLEWES

Saltdean’

Peacehaven
SEAFORD
@ Crown copyright

and database rights 2025.
0OS AC000808855

Groombridgg’

CROWBOROUGH

HEATHFIELD

HAILSHAM

Polegate

Hampder} Park - *

C-Card for under 25s - ESCC

This service is for the distribution of condoms only as part of The East Sussex C-Card
Condom Distribution Scheme. The scheme is a free and confidential co-ordinated condom
distribution network for young people aged 13-24 years old in East Sussex. It aims to
provide quick and confidential access to condoms, supported by evidence based, accurate
contraceptive and sexual health information, and signposting to comprehensive

contraceptive and sexual health services.

Tieehurst)

Burlash

. Robertsbridge

BATTLE

Sidiey

,,-_\ HASTINGS
? St Leanards

BEXHILL

_RYE

irichelsea

© Antiviral LCS (4)

Pevensey Bay D

Community Pharmacy PHLSA Services | East Sussex County Council

East district/borough boundaries
A road

B road

Builtup areas

There are 28 out of 92 pharmacies signed up for this service across the county with at least

four locations in each district/borough area.

Page 215

Page 105 of 160


https://www.eastsussex.gov.uk/social-care/providers/health/contracts/public-health-local-service-agreements-phlsas-for-gp-practices/community-pharmacy-phlsa-services

East Sussex

JSNA

Joint Strategic
Needs Assessment

Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2025

Map: Pharmacies signed up to the C-card LCS

Groombridgg

o Wadnhfst

CROWBOROUGH - Ticehurs

Danhill

Burlvash
Robetsbridge
HEATHFIELD

o UCKFIELD RYE
Newick 5

SWifichelsea
BATTLE

. Ditchling

LEWES
-
1 :i' \HAILSHAM _Sidley

HASTINGS
Falmer = !
L 0 St Leanards

Polegate BEXHILL

L NEWHAVEI

Saltdean’ a1,

Peacehaven

Hampder) Park (~

Langney-
Pevensey Bay

<7 EASTBOURNE

©  C-Card LCS (28)
D East district/borough boundaries
A road
B road
Builtup areas

SEAFORD

@ Crown copyright
and database rights 2025.
©OS AC000808855

Emergency Hormonal Contraception (EHC) to under 25s - ESCC

This service is for the provision of free Emergency Hormonal Contraception (EHC). The
contractor must be able to provide the EHC service for 90% of their opening times in order
to maintain trust in the East Sussex sexual health website service finder
www.eastsussexsexualhealth.co.uk

This service covers:

e Assessing and dispensing, under local Patient Group Direction (PGD), free emergency
hormonal contraception to East Sussex residents aged 25 or under, and those aged
over 25 who are unable to access the alternative free at point of delivery services
such as GP practices, online (SH.UK) and specialist sexual health services.

e Provision of free pregnancy testing when appropriate to East Sussex residents aged
25 and under who are requesting EHC.

e Provision of free STI home sampling kits to all ages.

Community Pharmacy PHLSA Services | East Sussex County Council

Page 216 Page 106 of 160


http://www.eastsussexsexualhealth.co.uk/
https://www.eastsussex.gov.uk/social-care/providers/health/contracts/public-health-local-service-agreements-phlsas-for-gp-practices/community-pharmacy-phlsa-services

East Sussex

JSNA

Joint Strategic
Needs Assessment

Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2025

There are 27 out of 92 pharmacies signed up for this service across East Sussex with four or
more locations available in each district/borough.

Map: Pharmacies signed up to the ECH LCS

Groambridgg’

IForest Row

o Wadhifst

CROWBOROUGH Tieehursy

¥ Danehil

_Buflash
_Robertsbridge

HEATHFIELD

2 = UCKFIELD ok
Newick 3

Wifichelsea

BATTLE

. Ditchling

LEWES v
AR
' I»i_ \HAILSHAM _S\d\ﬁs‘

\ HASTINGS
Falmer o
Vo St Leonards

Polegate BEXHILL

Langney ©  EHCLCS (27)
Pevensey Bay [ East district/borough boundaries
ST S NEWHAVE Hamplen Park [~ A road
Saltdean’ s = B road
Peacehaven 5. .
EASTBOURNE Builtup areas

SEAFORD

© Crown copyright
and database rights 2025.
0s AC000808855

Smoking Cessation - ESCC

This service enables Community Pharmacies to provide Stop Smoking Services to their
clients which:

e Offer choice of treatment options appropriate to clients

e Offer or support clients to use the most effective evidence-based treatments
available

e Support people to successfully quit smoking

e Achieve high levels of client satisfaction

Community Pharmacy PHLSA Services | East Sussex County Council

There are 22 out of 92 pharmacies signed up for this service in East Sussex with three or
more locations available in each district/borough.

Page 217 Page 107 of 160


https://www.eastsussex.gov.uk/social-care/providers/health/contracts/public-health-local-service-agreements-phlsas-for-gp-practices/community-pharmacy-phlsa-services

East Sussex

Joint Strategic
Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2025 ] S NA

Needs Assessment

Map: Pharmacies signed up to the smoking cessation LCS

Groombridgy’

o Wadnhfst

CROWBOROUGH - Ticehurs

¥ Danehil

Burfyash
Robertsbridge

HEATHFIELD

. UCKFIELD \ R

SWifichelsea
BATTLE

SLEwEs J
= {fa HATLSHAM Sidley
" HASTINGS
St Leanards

Polegate BEXHILL

-~ Langney + Smoking LCS (22)
Pevensey Bay [ East district/borough boundaries
Hampder) Park (~ = A road
B road
Peacehaven gy,
<7f EASTBOURNE Builtup areas

SEAFORD

© Crown copyright
and database rights 2025.
©OS AC000808855

Opiate reversers (naloxone) - CGL

Naloxone is an emergency antidote for overdoses caused by opiates such as heroin,
methadone, morphine, codeine and fentanyl. Community pharmacies dispense naloxone to
anyone who is likely to provide support for an opiate overdose.

34 out of 92 community pharmacies are signed up to the service with good coverage across

the main built-up areas.

Table: Naloxone activity, 1st April 2024 to 17th March 2025

Activity Eastbourne Hastings Lewes Rother Wealden East Sussex
Naloxone activity 9 146 6 13 0 174
Rate per 1,000 0.1 1.6 0.1 0.1 0.0 0.3
population
Source: CGL
Page 218

Page 108 of 160



East Sussex

JSNA

Joint Strategic
Needs Assessment

Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2025

Map: Pharmacies signed up to the Naloxone LCS

Groombridggy’

- Wadharst
CROWBOROUGH

Tieehurst)

¥ Danehill

. Robertsbridge
HEATHFIELD

& UCKFIELD \ pre

irichelsea
BATTLE

. Ditchling

,JLEWES f
. 1O HAILSHAM . Sidley

=g
- HASTINGS
ot St Leanards

Polegate BEXHILL
(angney * Naloxone LCS (34)
7 peensey 83y [ East district/borough boundaries

S ey NEWHAVE Hampder} Park - * </ A road

Saftdean’ S 5 B road
. EASTBOURNE Builtup areas

SEAFORD
@ Crown copyright

and database rights 2025.
0OS AC000808855

Needle and syringe exchange programme (NSP) - CGL

The aim of this service is to reduce the transmission of blood-borne viruses associated with
injecting drug use by providing free, sterile injecting equipment and advice in line with
NICE public health guideline PH52

22 out of 92 community pharmacies are signed up to the service, mainly concentrated in
coastal areas plus Lewes town and Hailsham.

Table: Needle exchange activity, 1st April 2024 to 17th March 2025

Activity Eastbourne Hastings Lewes Rother Wealden East Sussex
Needle Exchange 1,382 4,905 755 25 239 7,306
interactions
Rate per 1,000 13.3 54.0 7.4 0.3 1.5 13.2
population

Page 219

Page 109 of 160


https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ph52

East Sussex

Joint Strategic
Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2025 ] S NA

Needs Assessment

Map: Pharmacies signed up to the Needle and syringe exchange LCS

Groombridggy’

- Wadharst
CROWBOROUGH

Tieehurst)

¥ Danehill

. Robertsbridge

HEATHFIELD

. UCKFIELD RE

irichelsea
BATTLE

. Ditchling

| JLEWES
D o HAILSHAM -, Sidley 2

HASTINGS
St Leanards

Polegate BEXHILL

(angney * Needle Exchange LCS (22)
Pevensey Bay [ East district/borough boundaries
g — 3P NEWHAVE Hampden Park [ A road
Saltdean o B road
Peacehaven 4 "
EASTBOURNE Builtup areas

SEAFORD

@ Crown copyright
and database rights 2025.
0OS AC000808855

Distribution of oral substitution therapy and supervised
consumption - CGL

The supervised consumption scheme through community pharmacy aims to reduce mortality
and morbidity among high-risk opiate users by improving consistency and quality of care.
This service supports individuals in complying with their prescribed regime therefore
reducing incidents of accidental deaths through overdose, and pharmacists are able to keep
to a minimum the misdirection of controlled drugs, which may help reduce drug related
deaths in the community

80 out of 92 community pharmacies are signed up to the service with excellent coverage
across the county.

Page 220 Page 110 of 160



East Sussex

Joint Strategic
Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2025 ] S NA

Needs Assessment

Table: Supervised consumption activity, 1st April 2024 to 17th March 2025

Activity Eastbourne Hastings Lewes Rother Wealden East Sussex
Supervised 2,678 3,140 525 522 317 7,182
consumption

interactions

Rate per 1,000 25.8 34.6 5.2 5.5 1.9 12.9
population

Map: Pharmacies signed up to the supervised consumption LCS

Groombridgg

IForest Row

- Wadhifst

CROWBOROUGH

o Ticehurst

Burlash

 Robertstridge

HEATHFIELD
2y UCKFIELD i}

ifichelsea

o Ditchling

) LEWES
VR

(o pAlLSHAM Sy

HASTINGS

Falmer

-
i) St Leanards

Polegate BEXHILL
*) Supervised consumption LCS (80)
Pevensey Bay D East district/borough boundaries
A road
B road

Wy EasTBOURNE Builtup areas

o7 Langnef

4 Hampder) Park [~ -~
Saltdean’

Peacehaven

& Crown copyright
and database rights 2025.
05 AC000808855

Page 221 Page 111 of 160



East Sussex

Joint Strategic
Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2025 ] S NA

Needs Assessment

6.8 Other services affecting demand for and which supply
pharmaceutical services

NHS Acute Trust Hospitals

East Sussex NHS Trust (ESHT) is the main trust providing both acute hospital and outpatient
services to East Sussex residents in the East of the county. Acute hospital services are
provided over two sites at Eastbourne District General Hospital, and The Conquest Hospital
in Hastings. The hospital pharmacy service operates from both acute sites with a single
Chief Pharmacist overseeing both.

Although based outside of East Sussex, University Hospitals Sussex (UHSx) (hospitals in
Brighton and Haywards Heath) and Maidstone and Tunbridge Wells (MTW) (hospital in

Pembury) also provide extensive acute inpatient and outpatient services to many East
Sussex residents.

The table below shows that for emergency admissions to hospital, 70% of residents
attended ESHT, 15% at UHSx and 10% at MTW. This distribution differs between districts and
borough in East Sussex.

Table: Emergency admissions for East Sussex residents by hospital trust admitted to,
2022/23

NHS Trust Eastbourne Hastings Lewes Rother Wealden East
Sussex
East Sussex Healthcare 93% 94% 26% 87% 52% 70%

Trust (ESHT)

University Hospitals 3% 2% 69% 2% 13% 15%
Sussex (UHSx)

Maidstone and Tunbridge 0% 1% 0% 7% 29% 10%
Wells (MTW)

Elsewhere 4% 3% 4% 4% 6% 4%
Percent Total 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100%

Source: East Sussex Joint Strategic Needs Assessment |

Page 222 Page 112 of 160


https://www.eastsussexjsna.org.uk/area-profiles/east-sussex-county-area-profile/#hospital_activity

East Sussex

Joint Strategic
Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2025 ] S NA

Needs Assessment

NHS Community Hospitals

Sussex Community NHS Foundation Trust (SCFT) runs three community hospitals across the
county in Crowborough, Lewes, and Uckfield. Rye and Bexhill Hospitals are run by ESHT.
Community hospital services in East Sussex are summarised below, Table 26

Table: Community Hospital Services in East Sussex

Community Services provided (Trust)
Hospital

Crowborough War  Urgent care centre, minor injuries unit, intermediate care unit;
Memorial community nursing; therapies; diagnostic imaging. (SCFT)

Crowborough birthing centre. (MTW)

Lewes Victoria Urgent Treatment Centre (UTC); Intermediate care unit; community
nursing; therapies; diagnostic imaging. (SCFT)

Uckfield Minor injuries unit, intermediate care beds; community nursing;
Community therapies; Diagnostic imaging. (SCFT)

Rye, Winchelsea Intermediate care unit, Palliative and end of life of care, outpatient
and District services. (ESHT)

Memorial

Bexhill Ophthalmic Day Surgery, Outpatient clinics, Physiotherapy,

Radiology, Wet Age-related Macular Degeneration (AMD) follow-up;
Diabetic Retinal Screening, intermediate care unit. (ESHT)

Source: SCFT; ESHT; MTW

Mental health services

Sussex Partnership NHS Foundation Trust provides mental health services across East
Sussex. They provide services in a variety of different locations including hospitals, health
centres, rehabilitation and recovery centres and smaller clinic spaces all over East Sussex.

Hospitals and locations :: Sussex Partnership NHS Foundation Trust

Residential and Nursing Care homes

In East Sussex there were 282 care homes. See map in section 3.2 There are three hospices
(one in Hastings, Eastbourne and Chailey respectively) registered in East Sussex.

Page 223 Page 113 of 160


https://www.sussexcommunity.nhs.uk/patients-and-visitors/locations/crowborough-war-memorial-hospital
https://www.mtw.nhs.uk/service/crowborough-birth-centre/
https://www.sussexcommunity.nhs.uk/patients-and-visitors/locations/lewes-victoria-hospital
https://www.sussexcommunity.nhs.uk/patients-and-visitors/locations/uckfield-community-hospital
https://www.esht.nhs.uk/our-locations/rye-winchelsea-and-district-memorial-hospital/
https://www.esht.nhs.uk/our-locations/bexhill-hospital/
https://www.sussexpartnership.nhs.uk/our-services/hospitals-locations?filter=1&type=Other+location&location=East+Sussex#bID-593

East Sussex

Joint Strategic
Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2025 ] S NA

Needs Assessment

Apart from Lewes District, the District and Boroughs in East Sussex have more care home
beds per 100 people aged 75 and over than the England average.

The number of nursing home beds per 100 people aged 75 and over is lower than the
England average for Lewes and Rother and higher for Eastbourne, Hastings and Wealden.

Table: Rates of care home bed provision, 2021

East
Eastbourne Hastings Lewes  Rother = Wealden Sussex  England

Care home 13.9 17.2 8.2 12.2 9.8 11.7 9.4
beds per 100

people 75

and over

Nursing 6.3 7.0 3.5 3.9 5.4 5.1 4.6
home beds

per 100

people 75+

Source: Palliative and End of Life Care Profiles - Data | Fingertips | Department of Health
and Social Care

Other services
Dentists

Dentists may issue NHS prescriptions which are dispensed as part of pharmaceutical
services. However the level of activity is unknown.

Cross border NHS services

East Sussex is bounded to the west by Brighton & Hove and West Sussex, to the north and
East by Kent. Patients who live toward the borders of the county may choose to access
pharmaceutical services from pharmacies located in the major towns close to these
borders, namely Brighton & Hove, Burgess Hill, Haywards Heath, East Grinstead and Royal
Tunbridge Wells, all of which are found within five kilometres of the East Sussex border.

Private hospitals

There are three private healthcare sites within East Sussex: the Esperance (BMI Healthcare)
in Eastbourne, the Horder Centre (Horder Healthcare) in Crowborough, and the Spire
Hospital Sussex (Spire Healthcare) in Hastings. These provide several specialties, including
surgical and non-surgical services. All have in-house pharmacy departments.

Page 224 Page 114 of 160


https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/end-of-life/data#page/3/gid/1938133060/pat/402/par/E10000011/ati/401/are/E07000062/iid/92489/age/162/sex/4/cat/-1/ctp/-1/yrr/1/cid/4/tbm/1/page-options/car-do-0
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/end-of-life/data#page/3/gid/1938133060/pat/402/par/E10000011/ati/401/are/E07000062/iid/92489/age/162/sex/4/cat/-1/ctp/-1/yrr/1/cid/4/tbm/1/page-options/car-do-0

Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2025

East Sussex

JSNA

Joint Strategic
Needs Assessment

7. East Sussex Residents’ Survey 2025

Methodology

A key aspect of the PNA is capturing the views of people who use community pharmacy
services in the county. To do this a resident survey was designed, building on previous
surveys undertaken in previous PNAs. The steering group helped to ensure the survey was
focussed on the key areas where we required evidence from the public. The survey was
designed and tested by a member of the public unfamiliar with a PNA to ensure the

questions were clear.

The survey was hosted on the East Sussex County Council’s Survey and consultation portal,
Citizen Space. Have your say on pharmacy services in East Sussex - East Sussex - Citizen

Space and ran during the 6 weeks between 6th February and 20th March 2025.

A poster was designed to promote the survey

which was posted out to all community
pharmacies, GP Practices (and branch
surgeries), all 17 public libraries and all 11

family hubs with a letter asking if they would

display the poster in their premises.

Hard copy surveys were also available in
public libraries and sent out to anyone
requesting one.

The survey was promoted through the GP
Practice Patient Participation Group
Network, who encouraged their members to
complete the survey and promote within
their practices. Partners, such as
Healthwatch and NHS Sussex, promoted the
survey through their newsletters.

Social media advertising was purchased to
promote the survey on Facebook and
Instagram, whilst there were also posts from
ESCC accounts on Facebook, Instagram and
X.

Page 225

| &

Have your '

say?
We would like to hear how you
access and use pharmacy services

in East Sussex

Your feedback will help us to understand if there are
any gaps in pharmacy services around the county.

« The survey will only take 5 to 10 minutes to complete.
« The survey is open until 20th March

2| Scan the QR Code to take the survey

ast Sussex
For a paper copy of the survey please call: 07701 395075 WM

o | Or visit eastsussex.gov.uk/pharmacy

Further information is available from communitysurvey@eastsussex.gov.uk

Page 115 of 160


https://consultation.eastsussex.gov.uk/public-health/pharmacy/
https://consultation.eastsussex.gov.uk/public-health/pharmacy/

East Sussex

JSNA

Joint Strategic
Needs Assessment

Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2025

7.1 Findings

Area of residence

Of the 947 who responded to the survey, 943 provided the district/borough where they live.
Comparing the distribution to the general population we can see that Rother and Wealden
are slightly over represented and Eastbourne and Hastings slightly under-represented.
However the sample size is big enough to provide useful results.

Where data are split by district/borough some numbers and percentages may be slightly
different in tables and charts when comparing to East Sussex, as some people did not
provide their district/borough of residence.

Chart: District/borough of residence

35% 32%
30%
30%
25% 22%
20% 19% 162 18% 18% 17%
15% 13%
10%
5%
0%
Eastbourne Hastings Lewes Rother Wealden
Borough Borough District District District
Council Council Council Council Council

m % of responses received W% size of population

Table: Responses by area of residence

Area Responses
Eastbourne 144
Hastings 122
Lewes 167

Page 226

Page 116 of 160



East Sussex

JSNA

Joint Strategic
Needs Assessment

Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2025

Area Responses
Rother 206
Wealden 304
Don't know 2
Not Answered 2
Total 947

Equalities questions

Age and sex

27% of responses were from men compared to 73% from women. The chart below compares
the age and sex distribution of respondents to the survey (coloured bars) to the general
resident population in East Sussex (outlines). This shows that a greater percentage of
respondents were in the 65-84 age category compared to the general population. A lower
proportion were in the 18-64 age group, although this was more pronounced for males. A
similar percentage were aged 85+ compared to the population. This tells us that older
females responded most to the survey. This will reflect population groups who are generally
more likely to respond to a survey, plus the population who will be utilising pharmacy
services the most.

Chart: Responses by age and sex

85+
65-84
18-64
60% 40% 20% 0% 20% 40% 60%
DEast Sussex Females DEast Sussex Males
Survey Females m Survey Males
Page 227

Page 117 of 160



East Sussex

JSNA

Joint Strategic
Needs Assessment

Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2025

Ethnic group

83% of respondents were white ethnicity, with 1.5% other ethnic groups and 16% who did
not answer or preferred not to say.

Chart: Responses by ethnic group

83%
16%
0.5% 0.5% 0.2% 0.2% .
White Asian or Mixed or  Black, Black Other Not
Asian British  multiple British Answered or
ethnic groups Caribbean or Prefer not to
African say

78% of respondents were straight/heterosexual, with 3.4% other orientations and 19% who
did not answer or preferred not to say.

Chart: Responses by sexual orientation

78%
19%
2.4% 0.7% 0.2% .
‘Straight’ /  Gay or Lesbian Bisexual Other Not Answered or
Heterosexual Prefer not to
say

m % of responses received

Religion or belief

48% of respondents were Christian, 30% had no religion and 2.3% were other
religions/beliefs. 19% did not answer or preferred not to say.

Page 228 Page 118 of 160



East Sussex

Joint Strategic
Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2025 ] S NA

Needs Assessment

Chart: Responses by religion or belief

Other religion or philosophical belief I 1.5%

Buddhist | 0.3%

Hindu ‘ 0.2%
Sikh = 0.1%
Jewish  0.1%
Muslim = 0.1%

Not Answered or Prefer not to say - 19%

m % of responses received

Long-term limiting illness
56% (531 people) responded that they did have a physical or mental health conditions or
illnesses lasting or expected to last 12 months.

Chart: Do you have any physical or mental health conditions or illnesses lasting or
expected to last 12 months or more?

Yes 56%

No 27%

Not Answered 15%

Prefer not to say 2%

m% of responses received

Of those 531 people 69% responded that their condition or illnesses reduced their ability to
carry out day-to-day-activities.

Page 229 Page 119 of 160



East Sussex

Joint Strategic
Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2025 ] S NA

Needs Assessment

Chart: Do any of your conditions or illnesses reduce your ability to carry out day-to-day
activities?

Yes, a lot 26%
Yes, a little 43%
No 28%

4%

Not Answered or Prefer
not to say

m % of responses received

Where do you usually get your prescription from?

71% of respondents reported they got their prescription from a pharmacy/chemist shop,
with 14% getting it directly from a GP Surgery. Of those who got their prescription from a
GP, 57% lived in Rother and 37% lived in Wealden which reflects the availability of
dispensing practices for more rural patients.

Chart: Where do you get your prescription from?

71%
14% 1%
5%
I 0.2%
Pharmacy/chemist's shop Directly from my GP surgery  Delivery from your usual Delivery from an online Not Answered

pharmacy pharmacy

m% of responses received

Page 230 Page 120 of 160



East Sussex

Joint Strategic
Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2025 ] S NA

Needs Assessment

Chart: The percentage split for each district/borough showing where people usually get
their prescriptions

100%

6% 5% 6%
- K

80%

70%
60% m Not Answered

Delivery from an online pharmacy
50% )
B Delivery from your usual pharmacy

40% Directly from my GP surgery

30% ® Pharmacy/chemist's shop

Percentage split of responses

20%

10%

0%
Eastbourne Hastings Lewes Rother Wealden

How often do you use a pharmacy for health reasons?

The vast majority of respondents visited their pharmacy monthly (65%), with 17% every few
months, 10% weekly and 7% once a year or less.

Chart: How often do you use a pharmacy for health reasons?

65%
17%
10%
7%
H m -
Monthly Every few Weekly Once a year or Not sure or not
months less answered

m % of responses received

Page 231 Page 121 of 160



Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2025

East Sussex

JSNA

How do you usually travel to the pharmacy?

Joint Strategic
Needs Assessment

For those who visited a pharmacy in person, 53% travelled by car and 42% walked. Only 2%
travelled by public transport. Use of public transport is highest in Eastbourne (6%) and
lowest in Rother (2%) and Wealden (0%). This reflects the access to car statistics in section

4.6.

Chart: How do you usually travel to the pharmacy?

53%
42%
2% 2% 1%
| | —
Car Walk Someone Public Wheelchair
else goes on Transport / mobility
my behalf scooter

m % of responses received

Table: How do you usually travel to the pharmacy?

0%

Bicycle

Method of travel Eastbourne Hastings Lewes Rother Wwealden East Sussex
Car 49% 43% 42% 60% 59% 52%
Walk 42% 50% 52% 35% 38% 42%
Someone else goes 2% 4% 3% 2% 2% 2%
on my behalf
Public Transport 6% 3% 3% 2% 0% 2%
Wheelchair / 0% 1% 1% 2% 1% 1%
mobility scooter
Bicycle 1% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0%

Page 232

Page 122 of 160



East Sussex

JSNA

Joint Strategic
Needs Assessment

Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2025

What time do you usually go to the pharmacy?

The vast majority of respondents (86%) go to their pharmacy on weekdays between 9am and
6pm. 3% usually go on a weekday evening and another 3% on the weekend (8% did not
answer or were unsure).

Chart: What time do you usually go to the pharmacy?

86%

8%
3% 3%
— I _

Weekdays: 9am-6pm Weekdays: after 6pm Weekends Not answered or
unsure

m % of responses received

How easy was it to access a pharmacy at different times

Most respondents found it easier to access the pharmacy weekdays between 9am and 6pm
(66% found it easy) and at weekends (49% found it easy), whilst only 29% found it easy
weekdays after 6pm and 28% on bank holidays.

Looking at the responses by district/borough and which area scored poorest on access for
each time option, Hastings respondents found it hardest to access weekdays, Lewes
respondents found it hardest in the evenings and bank holidays, and Rother respondents
found it hardest on the weekends.

Chart: How easy was it to access a pharmacy at these different times?

Page 233 Page 123 of 160



East Sussex

Joint Strategic
Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2025 ] SNA

Needs Assessment

100%
90%
80%
70%
60%
50%
40%
30%
205%
10%

0%

Weekdays: 9am-6pm Weekdays: after 6pm Weekends Bank holidays

mEasy MNeither easy nor hard ®Hard

Page 234 Page 124 of 160



Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2025 ] S NA

East Sussex

Joint Strategic
Needs Assessment

Chart: % of respondents from each district/borough who found it "hard" to access a
pharmacy at these different times

70%

60%

50%

40%

30%

20%

10%

0%

60%
57%

54%
52% 50% . 51% 49%
46% A 48% 47%
0
39%
29%
24% 25% 2304 23%
0,
16% 18%
12%
9% I 1OI% I 8% li%
Eastbourne Hastings Lewes Rother Wealden East Sussex

W Weekdays: 9am-6pm  m Weekdays: after 6pm Weekends Bank Holidays

Access for people with physical disabilities

27% (259) of people responded to this question with 79% (204 people) of those reporting
that the pharmacy always met their needs.

For those that said their needs were sometimes or never met, 35% stated difficulties
accessing the building because of steps, 25% insufficient/no seating, 18% difficulty opening
the door and 10% long queues.

Chart: If you have a physical disability, does your pharmacy meet your needs for you to
access the building?

m Always
= Sometimes
Never

Page 235 Page 125 of 160



East Sussex

JSNA

Joint Strategic
Needs Assessment

Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2025

Chart: The reasons given by people with a physical disability need as to why the
pharmacy only sometimes or never meets their needs

35%
25%
18%
10%
8%
- .

Difficulty accessing  Insufficient/no Difficulty opening Long queues Difficulty parking ~ Communication
the building because seating door problems due to
of steps hearing/sight loss

Experience for people with communication needs

Communication needs might include needing written information in another format e.g.
large print, audio or in another language.

21% (194) of people responded to this question, and of those 79% (154 people) reported that
the pharmacy always met their needs.

The most common reason for why the pharmacy did not meet their needs related to some
form of telecommunication need not being met. This might include the pharmacy not
calling/messaging to update/respond to customers, no longer being able to call the
pharmacy, or the pharmacy being slow at responding to emails/calls.

Chart: If you have a communication need, does your pharmacy communicate
information with you in the way you need?

m Always
m Sometimes
Never

Page 236 Page 126 of 160



East Sussex

JSNA

Joint Strategic
Needs Assessment

Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2025

Chart: The reasons given by people (25 individuals) with a communication need as to
why the pharmacy does not always meet their needs

40%
24%
16%
12%
. - a
Poor tele Difficulty hearing Difficult Difficulty Long queues Language issue
communication staff communicating  understanding
with pharmacy with counter staff medication labels

Helping others access pharmacies

33% (311) of people help someone to use pharmacy services, and of those 6% (18 people)
reported they found it difficult to meet that person’s needs.

When respondents were asked what makes it easy or difficult to collect on behalf of
someone else, there were four times more positive responses to negative ones.

Chart: If you help someone else to use pharmacy services, does the pharmacy make it
easy or difficult for you to meet that person’'s needs

m Easy
= Neither easy
nor difficult

Difficult

Not Answered

Page 237 Page 127 of 160



Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2025 ] S il

East Sussex

Joint Strategic
Needs Assessment

Chart: What makes it easy or difficult to collect on behalf of someone else?

7
. 2 2 1 1 1
| | [ ] — — —

Collection Helpful staff  Good Long queues Delays Pharmacy Short Unhelpful Other

and delivery service or wait answering closure opening staff
is easy times phone hours
Easy Difficult

Any other comments about pharmacy services in East Sussex

The final question was an open question inviting any other comments to which we received
683 responses. We completed a qualitative analysis, and these were the numbers of
responses against some key themes:

1.

Convenience and Accessibility: There were 49 responses mentioning the
convenience of local pharmacies, with 15 responses highlighting issues with limited
opening hours and closures.

Service Quality: There were 38 responses praising the helpful and friendly staff,
while 12 responses criticise long wait times and poor customer service.

Delivery Services: Delivery services were mentioned in 27 responses, with 8
responses expressing concerns about unpredictability and delays. Note that delivery
services are not an NHS funded service, or a pharmacy commissioned service.

Pharmacy Closures: There were 22 responses expressing strong sentiment against
the closure of local pharmacies.

Role of Pharmacists: Pharmacists were valued in 31 responses for their advice and
handling minor health issues, but 9 responses mention concerns about overburdened
pharmacists and lack of continuity in care.

Out-of-Hours Services: There were 18 responses indicating a need for the existing
pharmacies to be open longer during evenings, weekends, and bank holidays.

Integration with GP Services: Better integration between pharmacies and GP
services was desired in 14 responses, with issues such as delays in prescription
processing and lack of communication highlighted.

Page 238 Page 128 of 160



East Sussex

Joint Strategic
Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2025 ] S NA

Needs Assessment

8. Environmental Concerns: Environmental impact of pharmacy practices was
mentioned in 5 responses. This was mainly related to plastic packaging.

10. Gap analysis

Guidance from the Department of Health and Social Care suggests there are three types of
gaps in provision that can be articulated in the PNA:

e Geographical gaps in the location of premises.
e Geographical gaps in the provision of services.
e Gaps in the times at which, or days on which, services are provided.

This section summarises the analysis in East Sussex.

10.1 Geographical gaps in the location of pharmacies

Section 6.1 contains analysis of provision (pharmacies and dispensing practices) per 100,000
population across the districts and boroughs in East Sussex. This shows highest provision per
100,000 population in Rother (24.2), which has the oldest population profile, followed by
Hastings (22.0) which has the most population living in areas of deprivation. The lowest
rates are in Eastbourne (16.4) and Lewes district (16.8).

Section 4.5 shows a map of all pharmacy locations overlaid onto population density. This
shows that all highly populated areas of the county have sufficient pharmacy locations
nearby. Access in more rural areas, such as rural Rother and the northern areas of Wealden,
is boosted with dispensing practices.

Access for residents is boosted by provision in towns outside East Sussex but within 5km of
the county border (section 6.2).

Current planned housing developments will not create a gap during the lifetime of the PNA
(section 4.4).

Conclusion: No gaps in the location of pharmacies.

10.2 Geographical gaps in the provision of services

e Section 6.4 has shown that there are no gaps in the provision of necessary services
which included all essential services, and the Pharmacy First advanced service
provided from the majority of premises to give good geographical coverage.

¢ In terms of advanced services (section 6.6) and locally commissioned services
(section 6.7), existing pharmacies should be further supported by commissioners to
enhance provision and uptake of services for residents in East Sussex.

Page 239 Page 129 of 160


https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1029805/pharmaceutical-needs-assessment-information-pack.pdf

Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2025 ] S NA

East Sussex

Joint Strategic
Needs Assessment

Conclusion: No gaps in provision of necessary services and no identified needs for
additional pharmaceutical services

10.3 Gaps in the times at which, or days on which,
services are provided

Section 7.1 shows that the vast majority of survey respondents (86%) go to their
pharmacy on weekdays between 9am and 6pm. 3% usually go on a weekday evening
and another 3% on the weekend (8% did not answer or were unsure).

Section 6.2 shows opening times for pharmacies across East Sussex. Coverage is best
on weekdays when the vast majority of residents access services.

Evenings (open after 6pm at least one weekday)

Across East Sussex 39% of pharmacies and GP dispensaries are open evenings and this
ranges from 48% in Wealden to 31% in Lewes. Access for residents is boosted by
provision in towns outside East Sussex but within 5km of the county border (section
6.2).

The travel analysis in section 6.3 showed no areas were more than 30 minute drive
from an open location and only 5.9% of the population did not have access via public
transport within 30 minutes.

The resident survey analysis in section 7.1 showed that 47% found it hard to access a
pharmacy in the evening. This ranged from 39% in Eastbourne to 50% in Lewes
district.

Weekends

77% of pharmacies and GP dispensaries are open on a Saturday and this ranges from
88% in Eastbourne to 64% in Rother. 15% of pharmacies and GP dispensaries are open
on a Sunday and this ranges from 35% in Eastbourne to 3% in Wealden (section 6.2).
Access for residents is boosted by provision in towns outside East Sussex but within
5km of the county border. This is far better on a Saturday than a Sunday.

The travel analysis in section 6.3 showed no areas were more than 30 minute drive
from an open location on a Saturday or Sunday.

When looking at access via public transport on Saturdays the analysis showed that
69,747 (12.7%) of residents did not have access within 30 minutes. This increased to
218,288 (39.6%) on a Sunday.

The resident survey analysis in section 7.1 showed that 23% found it hard to access a
pharmacy on the weekends. This ranged from 16% in Eastbourne to 29% in Rother.

Bank holidays

There is an enhanced service commissioned by NHS Sussex ICB to ensure suitable
access is available across East Sussex.

Page 240 Page 130 of 160



East Sussex

Joint Strategic
Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2025 ] S NA

Needs Assessment

e The resident survey analysis in section 7.1 showed that 54% found it hard to access a
pharmacy on a bank holiday. This ranged from 46% in Eastbourne to 60% in Lewes
district.

Access to car/van

e Section 4.6 shows that the areas with low percentages households with access to a
car/van are all in the more densely populated urban areas of East Sussex which have
better access to pharmacies during the evenings and weekends.

Conclusion: No gaps in the times at which, or days on which, services are provided.

11. Stakeholders’ consultation

The Regulations (2013) require the HWB to consult on their draft PNA for a minimum 60-day
period. This consultation ran for twelve weeks between 9 May 2025 and 1 August 2025.

The questionnaire was available on East Sussex Citizen Space at Share your views on the
Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2025 - East Sussex - Citizen Space

On the consultation site the full PNA was provided as well as an executive summary of the
PNA. The invitations went to the following organisations via an emailed letter from the
Director of Public Health for East Sussex.

Distribution of PNA Draft for Consultation

Organisation

Sussex Local Pharmaceutical Committee

Surrey and Sussex Local Medical Committee

Healthwatch East Sussex

East Sussex Healthcare NHS Trust

Sussex Community NHS Foundation Trust

Sussex Partnership NHS Foundation Trust

Brighton & Hove Health and Wellbeing Board

West Sussex Health and Wellbeing Board

Page 241 Page 131 of 160


https://consultation.eastsussex.gov.uk/public-health/pharma-needs-assessment-25/
https://consultation.eastsussex.gov.uk/public-health/pharma-needs-assessment-25/

East Sussex

Joint Strategic
Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2025 ] S NA

Needs Assessment

Kent Health and Wellbeing Board

Surrey Health and Wellbeing Board

The LPC extended the invitation to all pharmacies in East Sussex and the LMC extended the
invite to all GP Practices in East Sussex. It was also publicised by Healthwatch, on the
council’s social media pages and newsletters as well as NHS Sussex Health and Care
newsletter to the public.

11.1 Consultation responses

There were 17 responses, 16 as an individual and one as an organisation (neighbouring local
authority). The 16 responses were made up of a GP, a local government employee, 13
members of the public and two ‘Other’.

The following tables provide the results for the specific questions asked in the consultation.
The first three questions relate to the 7 responses that were just based on the Summary

document, and the rest are the combined answers of all respondents.

Table: Do you think that the summary explains the following things well: - What a PNA is

Option Total Percent
Yes 7 100%

No 0 0%

Not sure 0 0%

Table: Do you think that the summary explains the following things well: - How we
created our PNA

Option Total Percent
Yes 7 100%

No 0 0%

Not sure 0 0%

Table: Do you think that the summary explains the following things well: - The gaps we
assessed

Page 242 Page 132 of 160



East Sussex

Joint Strategic
Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2025 ] S NA

Needs Assessment

Option Total Percent
Yes 7 100%

No 0 0%

Not sure 0 0%

Table: Do you agree or disagree with the final recommendations made in the PNA?

Option Total Percent
Strongly agree 1 6%
Agree 3 18%
Neither agree nor disagree 2 12%
Disagree 1 6%
Strongly disagree 0 0%

Not Answered 10 59%

Table: Do you think that the PNA shows a good understanding of the health and
wellbeing needs of the people of East Sussex?

Option Total Percent
Yes 6 35%
No 3 18%
Not Answered 8 47%

Table: Do you think the PNA accurately describes the pharmaceutical services on offer
in East Sussex?

Option Total Percent
Yes 4 24%
No 5 29%

Page 243 Page 133 of 160



East Sussex

Joint Strategic
Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2025 ] S NA

Needs Assessment

Not Answered 8 47%

Table: Do you think the PNA accurately describes any gaps in services that exist now or
might in future?

Option Total Percent
Yes 5 29%
No 4 24%
Not Answered 8 47%

Table: Do you think the PNA properly highlights the challenges people in East Sussex
might face in using a pharmacy?

Option Total Percent
Yes 4 24%
No 5 29%
Not Answered 8 47%

Table: Do you think the PNA gives NHS England the information it needs to make
'market entry' decisions about new pharmacies for East Sussex?

Option Total Percent
Yes 4 24%
No 5 29%
Not Answered 8 47%

Table: Do you agree or disagree with the final recommendations made in the PNA?

Option Total Percent
Strongly agree 1 6%
Agree 3 18%
Neither agree nor disagree 4 23%

Page 244

Page 134 of 160



East Sussex

Joint Strategic
Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2025 ] S NA

Needs Assessment

Disagree 1 6%
Strongly disagree 0 0%
Not Answered 8 47%
Page 245

Page 135 of 160



East Sussex

Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2025 l SNA

11.2 Detailed comments and responses

Table: Comments made by respondents in the consultation

No. Consultation Comment
question

Joint Strategic
Needs Assessment

PNA steering group response Actions taken

1 Do you think that the  As a Disabled woman who needs
PNA shows a good medication for a range of issues |
understanding of the  have seen pharmacy after
health and wellbeing  pharmacy close in the past few
needs of the people of years. My nearest is Bohemia Road

- East Sussex? - If you but as there is no Parking nearby
L;é; said no, please tell us and | have issues with my Mobility |
N why: have to use Asda Pharmacy which
o has now started opening 1 hour

later than it used to because it has
no regular pharmacist and relies on
Locums who live miles away. This
means | have to make a special visit
to collect my prescription each
month rather than collect it like |
used to when doing my weekly
shop. They are very busy, and this
often means | am waiting with
others for at least an hour at a
time. The one on Bohemia Road
never has any medication in stock
and the wait there is even longer

We acknowledge there are sometimes
difficulties for people with disabilities
accessing pharmacy and other
healthcare services in East Sussex.

79% of persons who had a disability in
our residents survey reported that the
pharmacy always met their needs.

Parking facilities are not within the
direct control of a community
pharmacy.

Some pharmacies may be able to
deliver medicines. This is not within
the community pharmacy contractual
framework as a funded NHS
commissioned service. Some
pharmacies may provide a private
delivery service.



/¢ abed

Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2025

No. Consultation Comment

question

East Sussex

JSNA

Joint Strategic
Needs Assessment

PNA steering group response

Actions taken

than at Asda. The Pharmacy in
Sainsbury's has closed as has the
one opposite Asda. So there is
really only one choice of Pharmacy
to select when you need a
prescription.

2 Do you think that the  Too complex

PNA shows a good
understanding of the
health and wellbeing
needs of the people of
East Sussex? - If you
said no, please tell us
why:

The regulations and guidance require
a PNA to include some of this
information for market entry
decisions.

We'’ve tried to be comprehensive in
our assessment of health needs and
acknowledge that there is a lot of
data to read through.

The executive summary pulls out the
key points from the health and care
needs sections.

3 Do you think that the  Neurodivergent patients often are
dismissed at pharmacies. Often
understanding of the  having to wait almost 10 days to
health and wellbeing  collect a repeat prescription, which
needs of the people of was prescribed in time by the GP.
East Sussex? - If you This results in patients missing
medication because their 28 day

PNA shows a good

It is disappointing to hear about a bad
experience by this respondent.

To give feedback about a pharmacy,
start by attempting to resolve the
issue directly with the pharmacy,
either by speaking with the person in

Page 137 of 160



8¢ abed

Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2025

East Sussex

JSNA

Joint Strategic
Needs Assessment

No. Consultation Comment PNA steering group response Actions taken
question
said no, please tell us supply has run out. This is charge or by utilising their formal
why: detrimental to their health and complaints procedure.

well-being. If you don’t feel able to discuss any
Discriminatory and prejudicial issues raised with your pharmacy, you
attitudes from staff towards can contact NHS Sussex here:

patients who are prescribed https://www.sussex.ics.nhs.uk/nhs-
controlled drugs for whatever sussex/comments-and-complaints/
reason. Staff often rude to patients

in full view of other customers.

4 Do you think the PNA  People who live in rural areas have  One of the recommendations is: Section 6.4
accurately descr.lbes e1th<?r little or no public transport e East Sussex County Council to upda.ted to .mclude
the pharmaceutical and it’s not easy to access a _ . details of distance

. i . maintain and improve, where ]
services on offer in pharmacy. Also a certain older age . . selling pharmacy
_ possible, access to public o
East Sussex? - If you group can’t re-order their drugs on . . activity to reflect
) , transport, particularly for villages )
said no, please tell us line as they don’t know how too. . the increase of
and towns in more rural areas of )
why: items dispensed
East Sussex. )
on-line, and
GP Practices have to ensure that all reference to the
patients can order their medication government’s
and if a person cannot order online plans to shift from
will have alternative ways of ordering. analogue to digital
services.
5 Do you think the PNA | do not think they understand the  Hastings has the second highest rate

accurately describes

amount of people who need regular

of pharmacies per 100,000 population

Page 138 of 160


https://www.sussex.ics.nhs.uk/nhs-sussex/comments-and-complaints/
https://www.sussex.ics.nhs.uk/nhs-sussex/comments-and-complaints/

6172 abed

Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2025
No.

Consultation
question

East Sussex

JSNA

Comment

Joint Strategic
Needs Assessment

PNA steering group response

Actions taken

the pharmaceutical
services on offer in
East Sussex? - If you
said no, please tell us
why:

prescriptions and the impact this
has on the limited amount of
choice available. | have controlled
medication as well as others and
not all pharmacies keep these in
stock. The problems | see is that
the amount of people trying to gain
access to a pharmacy far outweighs
the amount there are in Hastings
and surrounding areas. | cannot
drive for long, and suffering from
severe anxiety as well | cannot
drive around unfamiliar
surroundings as this just causes me
more stress and anxiety.

out of the five districts and boroughs
in East Sussex.

Medication shortages are a recognised
national issue and outside the control
of the pharmacy.

Do you think the PNA
accurately describes
the pharmaceutical
services on offer in
East Sussex? - If you
said no, please tell us
why:

| didn’t have time to read it all too
detailed.

The regulations and guidance require
a PNA to include some of this
information for market entry
decisions.

We’ve tried to be comprehensive in
our assessment of health needs and
acknowledge that there is a lot of
data to read through.

Page 139 of 160



0G¢ abed

Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2025

East Sussex

JSNA

Joint Strategic
Needs Assessment

No. Consultation Comment PNA steering group response Actions taken
question
The executive summary pulls out the
key points from the health and care
needs sections.
7 Do you think the PNA It fails to cover online The PNA references the distance Section 6.4

accurately describes
the pharmaceutical
services on offer in
East Sussex? - If you
said no, please tell us
why:

pharmaceutical services which are
a growing trend now and certainly
in the future.

selling pharmacies (DSPs) located in
East Sussex but doesn’t include any
data on items dispensed on-line from
any DSP.

The PNA only covers NHS
commissioned services and not any
non-NHS funded services provided by
DSPs.

updated to include
details of distance
selling pharmacy
activity to reflect
the increase of
items dispensed
on-line, and
reference to the
government’s
plans to shift from
analogue to digital
services.

Do you think the PNA
accurately describes
any gaps in services
that exist now or
might in future? - If
you said no, please
tell us why:

There is a growing elderly
population, focus needs to be on
better health access support away
from medication if possible.

The PNA includes population
projections for older people in East
Sussex in section 4.3.

The NHS 10 year plan, published at
the end of July 2025, acknowledges
the pressure the health and care
system is currently under. It is
proposing three radical shifts to

Page 140 of 160



TG abed

Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2025

East Sussex

JSNA

Joint Strategic
Needs Assessment

No. Consultation Comment PNA steering group response Actions taken
question
improve services, one of which is
moving from sickness to prevention.
10 Year Health Plan for England: fit
for the future - GOV.UK
9 Do you think the PNA  They are not taking into account Currently we have concluded that
accurately describes the amount of people trying to there is sufficient access to residents
any gaps in services access these services and get their  in East Sussex.
th.at e).<lst now <;>r medlcatlc?n \A{h]Ch they desperat?ly If a pharmacy closes during the
might ?n future? - If need. This will only get worse with current 3 year lifetime of the PNA,
you said no, please the amount of pharmacy's that are this will be reviewed as to whether it
tell us why: closing and not bel.ng repl.aced. I creates a gap in provision and a
undetr.stand that thTS requires supplementary statement published if
qualified staff to give out the this is the case
medication but there are far too
many people for the amount of
pharmacy's that are actually open
now.
10 Do you think the PNA  There is scant reference to poor Medication shortages are a recognised

accurately describes
any gaps in services
that exist now or
might in future? - If
you said no, please
tell us why:

quality of service and this is an
area that needs to have more time
devoted to it. Availability of a
pharmacy may be good, but there
may be other issues: some may
have no or limited stock of

national issue and outside the control
of the pharmacy.

Any concerns about the quality of
services provided should be raised
directly with the pharmacy, either by
speaking with the person in charge or

Page 141 of 160


https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/10-year-health-plan-for-england-fit-for-the-future
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/10-year-health-plan-for-england-fit-for-the-future

2S¢ abed

Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2025
No.

Consultation
question

East Sussex

JSNA

Comment

Joint Strategic
Needs Assessment

PNA steering group response

Actions taken

medications, requiring multiple
revisits; long waits are no unusual;
some have extended closures over
lunch hours which then leads to
large queues.

by utilising their formal complaints
procedure.

If you don’t feel able to discuss any
issues raised with your pharmacy, you
can contact NHS Sussex here:
https://www.sussex.ics.nhs.uk/nhs-
sussex/comments-and-complaints/

11

Do you think the PNA
properly highlights the
challenges people in
East Sussex might face
in using a pharmacy? -
If you said no, please

| feel they feel like they know how
important this service is but do not
understand the impact it has on
people like myself when you are
unable to get your medication due
to shortages or no stock at all.

Medication shortages are a recognised
national issue and outside the control
of the pharmacy.

tell us why:

12 Do you think the PNA  Some pharmacies are understaffed = Reminders are not a funded local
properly highlights the and thus patients could do with service or a Community Pharmacy
challenges people in reminding to order their regular Contractual Framework requirement.
East Sussex might face medication a week ahead of
in using a pharmacy? - running out of their medication.

If you said no, please
tell us why:
13 Do you think the PNA  No because the general public can’t No comment required.

properly highlights the

be put in a box

Page 142 of 160


https://www.sussex.ics.nhs.uk/nhs-sussex/comments-and-complaints/
https://www.sussex.ics.nhs.uk/nhs-sussex/comments-and-complaints/

€6z abed

Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2025
No.

Consultation
question

East Sussex

JSNA

Comment

Joint Strategic
Needs Assessment

PNA steering group response

Actions taken

challenges people in

East Sussex might face

in using a pharmacy? -
If you said no, please
tell us why:

14

Do you think the PNA
gives NHS Sussex
Integrated Care Board
the information it
needs to make
'market entry'
decisions about new
pharmacies for East
Sussex? - If you said

no, please tell us why:

They need to have an idea of
population age groups and what
drugs are being prescribed and
what for - could prevention be
looked into and support such as
physio groups etc.

The NHS 10 year plan, published at
the end of July 2025, acknowledges
the pressure the health and care
system is currently under. It is
proposing three radical shifts to
improve services, one of which is

moving from sickness to prevention.

10 Year Health Plan for England: fit
for the future - GOV.UK

15

Do you think the PNA
gives NHS Sussex
Integrated Care Board
the information it
needs to make
'market entry’
decisions about new
pharmacies for East

The intentions may be there, but it
is not being taken seriously enough
and there is a serious shortfall in
qualified pharmacists to be able to
do these jobs as they should be.
There are plenty of empty shops in
Hastings and St Leonards that could
be used but who is going to fund
this? Hastings Council appears to

No comment required.

Page 143 of 160


https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/10-year-health-plan-for-england-fit-for-the-future
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/10-year-health-plan-for-england-fit-for-the-future

yGe abed

Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2025
No.

Consultation
question

East Sussex

JSNA

Comment

Joint Strategic
Needs Assessment

PNA steering group response

Actions taken

Sussex? - If you said

no, please tell us why:

have no funds available to spare for
these abandoned shops to be
refurbished.

16 Do you think the PNA  Needs to take online services into The PNA references the distance Section 6.4
gives NHS Sussex account as well. selling pharmacies (DSPs) located in updated to include
Integrated Care Board East Sussex but doesn’t include any details of distance
the information it data on items dispensed on-line from  selling pharmacy
needs to make any DSP. activity to reflect
'maljk.et entry The PNA only covers NHS .the incr.ease of
dec151ons_ about new commissioned services and not any 1tems dispensed
pharmacies for East non-NHS funded services provided by on-line, and
Sussex? - If you said DSPs. reference to the
no, please tell us why: government’s
plans to shift from
analogue to digital
services.
17 Do you agree or Agree: Weekends & before 10 & No comments required.

disagree with the final

recommendations
made in the PNA? -
Your comments:

after 5 an issue in Rural Rother.

Page 144 of 160



GGz abed

East Sussex

Joint Strategic

Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2025 JSNA | Needs Assessment

No. Consultation Comment PNA steering group response Actions taken
question

18 Do you agree or Neither agree nor disagree: If you Section 6.3 describes the tools and
disagree with the final rely on bus service in evening, first methodology used for the travel
recommendations you have to able to get to bus stop  analysis.
made in the PNA? - and secondly buses are less regular.
Your comments: 30 min access time debateable.

19 Do you agree or Disagree: ridiculous to say there The PNA already includes the Update first
disagree with the final are no gaps when about 50% can't following recommendations: recommendation
recommendations find a pharmacy on a bank holiday. listed here to

) ) ] e Commissioners and current _ )
made in the PNA? - | work for a service that provides . . . include residents
providers to ensure information

Your comments: urgent out of hours care to care . . “and health and
) on available pharmacy provision, .
home residents across East Sussex . care providers”
especially on Sundays and Bank
at weekends. | spend hours some

. ] Holidays, is clearly
shifts hunting around for a .
) _ communicated, up-to-date and
pharmacy in some areas (i.e.

accessible to residents.

Battle) e East Sussex County Council to
maintain and improve, where
possible, access to public
transport, particularly for villages
and towns in more rural areas of
East Sussex.

e NHS Sussex ICB to consider the
need for an out of hours locally
commissioned service from
existing pharmacies, including

Page 145 of 160



East Sussex | Joint Strategic
Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2025 JSNA | Needs Assessment
No. Consultation Comment PNA steering group response Actions taken
question
reviewing provision in Lewes on
weekday evenings and rural
Rother on Sundays.
20 Do you agree or | understand that they are aware of Medication shortages are a recognised

disagree with the final the shortages but there is not

national issue and outside the control

recommendations anything that gives me any of the pharmacy.
made in the PNA? - confidence that it will bring the
Your comments: results that are urgently needed.
21 Do you agree or Sorry too complex and too much to  The regulations and guidance require

disagree with the final read you need bullet points
recommendations

made in the PNA? -

Your comments:

9G¢ abed

a PNA to include some of this
information for market entry
decisions.

We’ve tried to be comprehensive in
our assessment of health needs and
acknowledge that there is a lot of
data to read through.

The executive summary pulls out the
key bullet points from the health and
care needs sections.

22  Please use the box More availability at weekend
below to make any needed
other comments and

One of the recommendations includes:

e NHS Sussex ICB to consider the
need for an out of hours locally
commissioned service from

Page 146 of 160



/G abed

Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2025
No.

Consultation
question

East Sussex

JSNA

PNA steering group response

Joint Strategic
Needs Assessment

Comment

Actions taken

suggestions you would
like to make:

existing pharmacies, including
reviewing provision in Lewes on
weekday evenings and rural
Rother on Sundays.

23

Please use the box
below to make any
other comments and
suggestions you would
like to make:

| would like to see a better offer
for the residents of Eastbourne who
do not necessarily have transport as
getting to a pharmacy can be
difficult in the evening after 6pm,
on weekends and bank holidays
depending on where you live in the
town.

No specific gaps were identified in the
analysis within the PNA for
Eastbourne.

One of the recommendations includes:

e NHS Sussex ICB to consider the
need for an out of hours locally
commissioned service from
existing pharmacies, including
reviewing provision in Lewes on
weekday evenings and rural
Rother on Sundays.

Not everyone lives near Boots at
the Crumbles, Tesco Lottbridge
Drive or Tesco/Morrisons at
Hampden Park.

24

Please use the box
below to make any
other comments and
suggestions you would
like to make:

| have owned share in a community No comment required.
pharmacy for 10 years. | have never

received any enquiry or

correspondence from the local

authority

25

Please use the box
below to make any

| would love to suggest that these
empty buildings are taken up by

No comment required.

Page 147 of 160



8G¢ abed

East Sussex | Joint Strategic
Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2025 JSNA | Needs Assessment
No. Consultation Comment PNA steering group response
question

Actions taken

other comments and
suggestions you would
like to make:

companies already established, But
as Lloyds Pharmacy have shut 2 in
the past years | have no faith that
any new ones will appear at all.
Hastings Town Centre has been left
to rot' in the past few years and
aside from vape shops/cafes there
is nothing to entice large brands to
invest in this area.

26

Please use the box
below to make any
other comments and
suggestions you would
like to make:

I’ve recently used the Pharmacy No comment required.
service and found it very useful but

like everything in the NHS too

complex, so people don’t

understand what is or isn’t

available.

Page 148 of 160



East Sussex

Joint Strategic
Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2025 ] S NA

Needs Assessment

Appendices

Glossary

Advanced services: Services that pharmacies may choose to provide

CGL - Change Grow Live: Provide substance misuse treatment services in East Sussex for
East Sussex County Council.

COVID-19 - Coronavirus Disease 2019: An infectious disease caused by the SARS-CoV-2 virus,
leading to a global pandemic.

DAC - Dispensing Appliance Contractor: A healthcare provider that supplies and dispenses
medical appliances.

Distance selling pharmacy: A pharmacy that provides prescription medications and
healthcare services remotely, often through online platforms or mail-order systems,
delivering directly to the patient's home or specified location.

EHC - Emergency Hormonal Contraception: Medication used to prevent pregnancy after
unprotected sex.

Enhanced services: Services that integrated care boards (ICBs) may commission from
pharmacies as well as some commissioned by NHS England nationally

ESCC - East Sussex County Council: The local authority responsible for services to residents
in East Sussex.

Essential services: Services that must be provided by all pharmacies .

GP dispensary: A facility within a general practice where patients can obtain prescribed
medications and receive pharmaceutical advice directly.

Healthwatch East Sussex: An independent organisation that gathers and represents the
views of the public about health and social care services in East Sussex. It works to ensure
that people's experiences are heard and acted upon, to improve these services.

HWB - Health and Wellbeing Board: A forum where key leaders from the health and social
care system work together to improve the health and wellbeing of their local population.

ICB - Integrated Care Board: A statutory NHS organisation responsible for planning and
commissioning health services in a specific area.

ICP - Integrated Care Partnerships: Collaborations between health and social care providers
to deliver integrated services.

ICS - Integrated Care Systems: Partnerships of health and care organisations working
together to coordinate services.

Page 259



East Sussex

Joint Strategic
Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2025 ] S NA

Needs Assessment

IDACI - Income Deprivation Affecting Children: A measure of the proportion of children aged
0-15 living in income-deprived households.

IDAOPI - Income Deprivation Affecting Older People: A measure of the proportion of older
people aged 60 and over living in income-deprived households.

IMD2019 - Indices of Multiple Deprivation 2019: A measure used to assess the level of
deprivation in different areas based on various factors such as income, employment,
health, and education.

LE - Life Expectancy: The average number of years a person can expect to live based on
current mortality trends.

LMC - Local Medical Committee: Represents and supports general practitioners and their
practices.

LCS - Locally Commissioned Services: Services commissioned from pharmacies by ICBs
(other than enhanced services) and by local authorities.

LPC - Local Pharmaceutical Committee: Represents community pharmacy contractors and
supports their interests.

MSOA - Middle Layer Super Output Area: A geographic area used for statistical purposes in
the UK, containing around 7,200 households.

ONS - Office for National Statistics: The UK's largest independent producer of official
statistics and data.

PNA - Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment: A statement of the pharmaceutical services that
are needed in a particular area.

RSV - Respiratory Syncytial Virus: A common virus that causes respiratory infections,
particularly in young children.

SCW CSU - South Central and West Commissioning Support Unit: An NHS organisation
supporting health commissioners with expertise and services.

UTI - Urinary Tract Infection: An infection in any part of the urinary system, including the
bladder and urethra.

Page 260 Page 150 of 160



Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2025

East Sussex

JSN

A

Joint Strategic
Needs Assessment

List of Pharmacies and GP dispensing practices included in this PNA

Table: Community Pharmacies used in this PNA, ordered by district/borough and then alphabetically by trading name

Code Trading Name Address 1 Address 2 Address 3 Post Code Contract Type District / Borough
FVM25 Arlington Road Arlington Road Medical 1 Arlington Road Eastbourne BN21 1DH Community Eastbourne
Pharmacy Practice
FJK61 Asda Pharmacy Crumbles Harbour Village Pevensey Bay Road  Eastbourne BN23 6JH Community Eastbourne
FMX79 Boots the Chemists 64 Kingfisher Drive Langney Eastbourne BN23 7RT Community Eastbourne
v
»
& T1Q44 Boots the Chemists 15 Eastbourne Arndale Eastbourne BN21 3NL Community Eastbourne
> Centre
=
FPA95 Boots the Chemists Units 2a and 2b Sovereign Harbour Eastbourne BN23 6JH 100 Hours Eastbourne
Retail Park (Amended)
FD420 Day Lewis Harmers 2 Furness Road Eastbourne BN21 4EY Community Eastbourne
Pharmacy
FC448 Grand Pharmacy 11 Grand Hotel Buildings =~ Compton Street Eastbourne BN21 4EJ Community Eastbourne
FEM37 Kamsons Pharmacy 46 Meads Street Eastbourne BN20 7RG Community Eastbourne
FJA86 Kamsons Pharmacy Victoria Medical Centre 153a Victoria Drive  Eastbourne BN20 8NH Community Eastbourne
FWD96 Kamsons Pharmacy lan Gow Memorial Health  Milfoil Drive, North  Eastbourne BN23 8ED Community Eastbourne

Centre

Langney



Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2025

East Sussex

JSNA

Joint Strategic

Needs Assessment

Code Trading Name Address 1 Address 2 Address 3 Post Code Contract Type District / Borough
FCM48 Kamsons Pharmacy 187 Victoria Drive Eastbourne BN20 8QJ Community Eastbourne
FLA61 Kamsons Pharmacy 7C Bolton Road Eastbourne BN21 3JU Community Eastbourne
FFE25 Newman Pharmacy 82 Seaside Eastbourne BN22 7QP Community Eastbourne
FF114 Osbon Pharmacy 116-118 Cavendish Place Eastbourne BN21 3TZ Community Eastbourne
FQVé61 Tesco Pharmacy Brassey Avenue Hampden Park Eastbourne BN22 9NG 100 Hours Eastbourne
(Amended)
Q‘tJEGOS7 Tesco Pharmacy Lottbridge Drove Eastbourne BN23 6QD Community Eastbourne
«
%EXBZ Your Local Boots Princes Park Health Centre Wartling Road Eastbourne BN22 7PG Community Eastbourne
N Pharmacy
FV050 Asda Pharmacy Battle Road St Leonards on  TN37 7AA 100 Hours Hastings
Sea (Amended)
FAN63 Blooms Pharmacy  55-57 Bohemia Road St Leonards on  TN37 6RE Community Hastings
Sea
FRH13 Boots the Chemists 35/37 London Road St Leonards on  TN37 6AJ Community Hastings
Sea
FVY65 Boots the Chemists Priory Meadow Shopping Hastings TN34 1PH Community Hastings
Centre
FWM16 Clarity Pharmacy 28 Kings Road St Leonards on  TN37 6DU Community Hastings

Sea

Page 152 of 160



Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2025

East Sussex

JSNA

Joint Strategic

Needs Assessment

Sea

Code Trading Name Address 1 Address 2 Address 3 Post Code Contract Type District / Borough
FN280 Day Lewis Hirst 7 Parkstone Parade Parkstone Road Hastings TN34 2PS Community Hastings
Pharmacy
FYN91 Day Lewis Porter 25 Mount Pleasant Road Hastings TN34 3SB Community Hastings
Pharmacy
FQH11 Hillview Pharmacy 242 Old London Road Hastings TN35 5LT Community Hastings
FDQ90 Hollington Pharmacy 128 Battle Road Hollington St Leonards on  TN37 7AN Community Hastings
Sea
DNO8 J Andersen's 164 Harold Road Hastings TN35 5NH Community Hastings
& Pharmacy
®
N
REPM78 Kamsons Pharmacy 1 York Buildings Wellington Place Hastings TN34 1NN Community Hastings
FYN83 Laycock Chemists  Holmehurst Village Centre 30 Little Ridge AvenueSt Leonards on  TN37 7LS Community Hastings
Sea
FKV77 Laycocks Chemists 494 Old London Road Hastings TN35 5BL Community Hastings
FMG75 Morrisons Pharmacy Queens Road Hastings TN34 1RN Community Hastings
FLE70 Osbon Pharmacy 478 Old London Road Hastings TN35 5BG Community Hastings
FH594 Pharmacy @ Station Station Approach Hastings TN34 1BA 100 Hours Hastings
Plaza (Amended)
FH752 Tesco Pharmacy Churchwood Drive St Leonards on  TN38 9RB Community Hastings

Page 153 of 160



Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2025

East Sussex

JSNA

Joint Strategic
Needs Assessment

Code Trading Name Address 1 Address 2 Address 3 Post Code Contract Type District / Borough
FDR15 Wellcare Pharmacy 68 Malvern Way Ore Valley Hastings TN34 3PX Community Hastings
FMJ93 West St Leonards 7 Bexhill Road St Leonards on  TN38 OAH Community Hastings
Pharmacy Sea
FQY87 Boots the Chemists 29A Broad Street Seaford BN25 1LS Community Lewes
FPD84 Boots the Chemists 23-25 High Street Newhaven BN9 9PD Community Lewes
FQC51 Boots the Chemists 14 Eastgate Street Lewes BN7 2LP Community Lewes
Q‘t?X679 Cameron L & Sons 12/14 Broad Street Seaford BN25 1ND Community Lewes
< Ltd
N
FKW32 Ditchling Pharmacy Unit 3 2 South Street, Hassocks BN6 8UQ Community Lewes
Ditchling
FDROO H A Baker 44 High Street Lewes BN7 2DD Community Lewes
FVD81 Kamsons Pharmacy 9 The Green Newick BN8 4LA Community Lewes
FW734 Kamsons Pharmacy 1-2 Dana Lodge Central Avenue Telscombe Cliffs BN10 7LX Community Lewes
FQ577 Kamsons Pharmacy 241 South Coast Road Peacehaven BN10 8LD Community Lewes
FXA84 Medication Delivery Unit 6C Meridian Industrial Hoyle Road Peacehaven BN10 8LN Distance selling Lewes
Services Ltd Estate
FX478 Morrisons Pharmacy Dane Road Seaford BN25 1DL Community Lewes

Page 154 of 160



Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2025

East Sussex

JSNA

Joint Strategic

Needs Assessment

Code Trading Name Address 1 Address 2 Address 3 Post Code Contract Type District / Borough
FYX43 Newhaven 43 Chapel Street Newhaven BN9 9QD Community Lewes
Pharmacies Ltd
FPC85 Ringmer Pharmacy Anchor Fields Ringmer BN8 5QN Community Lewes
FJGOO Seaford Pharmacy  18-20 Dane Road Seaford BN25 1LL Community Lewes
FLQ27 St Annes Pharmacy 50 Western Road Lewes BN7 1RP Community Lewes
FYE94 Well Anchor Health Centre, Peacehaven BN10 8NF Community Lewes
Meridian Way

T

&EJO06 Wyborns Pharmacy 35 Lansdown Place Lewes BN7 2JU Community Lewes

®

N

FEM25 Boots the Chemists 18-20 High Street Rye TN31 7JF Community Rother
FRV64 Boots the Chemists 14-16 Devonshire Road Bexhill on Sea  TN40 1AU Community Rother
FFC93 Boots the Chemists 5 Ravenside Retail & Leisure Bexhill on Sea TN40 2JS Community Rother

Park

FDLO7 Day Lewis Pharmacy 28 High Street Rye TN31 7JG Community Rother
FWD95 Day Lewis Pharmacy 53 High Street Battle TN33 OEN Community Rother
FE574 Jempsons Pharmacy Main Street Peasmarsh TN31 6YD Community Rother
FRA20 L J Collis & Co 9-11 St Leonards Road Bexhill on Sea TN40 1HJ Community Rother

Page 155 of 160



Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2025

East Sussex

JSNA

Joint Strategic
Needs Assessment

Code Trading Name Address 1 Address 2 Address 3 Post Code Contract Type District / Borough
FCM81 Little Common 77 Cooden Sea Road Little Common Bexhill on Sea TN39 4SL Community Rother
Pharmacy
FMJ50 Pebsham Pharmacy Seabourne Court Seabourne Road Bexhill on Sea TN40 2SW  Community Rother
FMW80 Pharmacy 2 Lewis Avenue Bexhill on Sea  TN40 2LE Distance selling Rother
Requirements
FXF97 Robertsbridge 17/19 High Street Robertsbridge = TN32 5AE Community Rother
Pharmacy
§P141 Sidley Pharmacy 44 Turkey Road Sidley Bexhill on Sea  TN39 5HE Community Rother
«Q
[}
IC\DEY677 Tesco Pharmacy Ravenside Retail Park Glyne Gap, De La Bexhill on Sea  TN40 2JS Community Rother
o Warr Road
FWL19 Ticehurst Pharmacy Church Street Ticehurst TN5 7AA Community Rother
FPV58 Your Local Boots 15 High Street Battle TN33 OAE Community Rother
Pharmacy
FD564 Ashdown Pharmacy The Square Forest Row Forest Row RH18 5ES Community Wealden
FQP33 Boots the Chemists 11 High Street Uckfield TN22 1AG Community Wealden
FP954 Boots the Chemists 3 London House 4 High Street Crowborough TN6 2QA Community Wealden
FEH23 Boots the Chemists 25 Vicarage Field Hailsham BN27 1BG Community Wealden
FNJ90 Buxted Pharmacy  Buxted Medical Centre Framfield Road Buxted TN22 5FD Community Wealden

Page 156 of 160



East Sussex

Joint Strategic

Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2025 JSNA | Needs Assessment
Code Trading Name Address 1 Address 2 Address 3 Post Code Contract Type District / Borough
FCQ39 Chappells Pharmacy Saxonbury House Surgery  Croft Road Crowborough TNé 1DL Community Wealden
FRK13 Coda Pharmacy Unit 15, Westham Business Pevensey BN24 5NP Distance selling Wealden
Park
FLG35 Day Lewis Peels 10 Freshwater Square, Willingdon Eastbourne BN22 OPS Community Wealden
Pharmacy Hamlands Estate
FJ416 Kamsons Pharmacy 12 Carew Court Hawkswood Road Hailsham BN27 1UL Community Wealden
FGA19 Kamsons Pharmacy Bell Farm Road Uckfield TN22 1BA Community Wealden
T
SFXMm83 Kamsons Pharmacy 1-2 Orchard Parade Lower Willingdon Eastbourne BN20 9PL Community Wealden
®
N
RX749 Kamsons Pharmacy Stone Cross Health Centre  Mimram Road, Stone Pevensey BN24 5DZ Community Wealden
Cross
FL244 Kamsons Pharmacy 43 High Street Polegate BN26 5AB Community Wealden
FEJ10 Manor Pharmacy 5 High Street Horam TN21 OEH Community Wealden
FH358 Morrisons Pharmacy Unit 4 Fernbank Shopping  High Street Crowborough TN6 2QB Community Wealden
Centre
FHJ23 Paydens Pharmacy 25 High Street Hailsham BN27 1AN Community Wealden
FRN35 Procter Health Care 69 High Street Polegate BN26 6AH Community Wealden
Pharmacy

Page 157 of 160



East Sussex

Joint Strategic

Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2025 JSNA | Needs Assessment
Code Trading Name Address 1 Address 2 Address 3 Post Code Contract Type District / Borough
FC177 Procter Health Care 63 High Street Heathfield TN21 8HU Community Wealden
Pharmacy
FP421 Procter Health Care Station Road Heathfield TN21 8LD Community Wealden
Pharmacy
FD341 Seaforth Pharmacy Vicarage Lane Hailsham BN27 1BH Community Wealden
FJJ23 St Denys Pharmacy Brook Health Centre Crowborough Hill, Crowborough TN6 2EG Community Wealden
Jarvis Brook
§WA05 St Denys Pharmacy 24 High Street Rotherfield TN6 3LJ Community Wealden
«Q
[}
IC\DEJH74 St Dunstans High Street Mayfield TN20 6AB Community Wealden
®© Pharmacy
FH723 Tesco Pharmacy Bell Farm Road Uckfield TN22 1BA Community Wealden
FPCé61 Wadhurst Pharmacy High Street Wadhurst TN5 6AP Community Wealden
FQG85 Warwick and Hailsham Road Hertsmonceux  BN27 4JX Community Wealden

Radcliffe Pharmacy

FRV87 Your Local Boots 26 Eastbourne Road Pevensey Bay BN24 6ET Community Wealden
Pharmacy

Page 158 of 160



Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2025

East Sussex

JSNA

Joint Strategic
Needs Assessment

Table: Dispensing practices within this PNA, ordered by district/borough and then alphabetically by surgery name

Code Surgery Name Address 1 Address 2 Town Post Code  District/Borough
G81031  Harold Road Surgery 164 Harold Road Hastings TN35 5NH Hastings
G81082  Battle Health Centre Telham House Mitre Way Battle TN33 OBF Rother
G81052  Fairfield Surgery High Street Burwash TN19 7EU Rother
G81085  Ferry Road Health Centre Ferry Road Rye TN31 7DN Rother
G81087  Northiam Surgery Main Street Northiam Rye TN31 6ND Rother
§G81082 Oldwood Surgery Station Road Robertsbridge  TN32 5DG Rother
§G81051 Rye Medical Centre Kiln Drive Rye Foreign Rye TN31 75Q Rother
L681057 Sedlescombe Surgery Brede Lane Sedlescombe Battle TN33 OPW Rother
G81057  Westfield Surgery Main Road Westfield TN35 4QE Rother
G81099  Alfriston Surgery The Furlongs Alfriston BN26 5XT Wealden
G81024  Ashdown Forest Health Lewes Road Forest Row RH18 5AQ Wealden
Centre
G81030  Belmont Surgery Wadhurst Medical Group St James Square Wadhurst TN5 6BJ Wealden
G81102  Buxted Medical Centre Framfield Road Buxted Uckfield TN22 5FD Wealden

Page 159 of 160



Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2025

East Sussex

JSNA

Joint Strategic
Needs Assessment

Code Surgery Name Address 1 Address 2 Town Post Code  District/Borough
G81614  Groombridge & Hartfield The Nook Withyham Road Groombridge TN3 9QP Wealden
Medical Group

G81088  Heathfield Surgery 96 -98 High Street Heathfield TN21 8JD Wealden
G81077  The Surgery Ninfield High Street Ninfield TN33 9JP Wealden

-

;u

«Q

®

N

\'

o

Page 160 of 160



Agenda Item 9

Report to: East Sussex Health and Wellbeing Board
Date of meeting: 23 September 2025

By: Director of Adult Social Care and Health

Title: East Sussex All Age Autism Action Plan

Purpose of Report: To share the East Sussex All Age Autism Action Plan and update
the Board on progress to date.

Recommendations:
East Sussex Health and Wellbeing Board is recommended to:

1. acknowledge the development of the East Sussex All Age Autism Action Plan and
the priorities within it which were identified through significant engagement and
consultation with local autistic people and stakeholders (section 2 and Appendix
1);

2. agree the proposal for an annual report to be presented to the East Sussex Health
and Wellbeing Board to update on progress (paragraph 2.6); and

3. note the progress made to deliver year 1 priorities during the five months since
the Action Plan was launched (section 3).

1 Background

1.1 Throughout 2024 the East Sussex Autism Partnership Board (APB) consulted with
the East Sussex Autistic community and stakeholders to agree the priorities for an East
Sussex All Age Autism Action Plan.

1.2 The East Sussex All Age Autism Action Plan (Appendix 1) was agreed by both the
Lead Member Adult Social Care and Health and the Lead Member Children and Families,
prior to launching the action plan during Autism Acceptance Week in April 2025.

1.3 The plan was developed in response to the latest National Autism Strategy published
in July 2021. This strategy extends the scope to children and young people for the first time
(previous strategies were adult only). East Sussex has therefore developed our Autism
Partnership Board membership and the Action Plan to align with the priorities of the national
strategy for all ages.

1.4  An easy-read version of the East Sussex All Age Autism Action Plan has also been
developed and published (Appendix 2).

15 Since its launch in April 2025, work has been undertaken to progress the actions
identified for delivery in year 1. This report provides a summary of the Action Plan and
progress made to date.

2 The East Sussex All Age Action Plan

2.1 The aim of the Action Plan is to improve the lives of Autistic people, their families,
carers, and wider support networks across East Sussex. We will do this through increasing

Page 271


https://www.eastsussex.gov.uk/social-care/policies/all-age-autism-action-plan#:~:text=dyslexia%20and%20dyscalculia.-,Aim,opportunities%20for%20the%20autistic%20community.
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-strategy-for-autistic-children-young-people-and-adults-2021-to-2026
https://www.eastsussex.gov.uk/social-care/disability/autism/autism-partnership-board
https://www.eastsussex.gov.uk/social-care/disability/autism/autism-partnership-board

autism awareness and improving education, employment, well-being and life opportunities
for the Autistic community.

2.2 Toinform the development of the Action Plan, during 2024 we:

¢ Worked with Public Health to review local and national data to better understand the
prevalence of autism in East Sussex.

o Carried out an online survey (April to June 2024) to gather the views of Autistic
residents, parents and unpaid carers, and others with an interest on a range of
topics. We received over 320 responses.

o Held three focus groups (July to September 2024) with Young Healthwatch, and
Autistic people accessing day opportunities to better understand what works well and
what could be improved to support them in their day-to-day life.

o Held four stakeholder workshops (September to October 2024), attended by over 80
people, to discuss the learning from the feedback, along with national and local
research. Through these workshops, we developed 26 actions across three priority
areas:

o Improving the health and wellbeing of autistic people

o Improving autistic children and young people’s access to education and
supporting positive transitions into adulthood

o Supporting autistic people into employment and sustaining their employment.

2.3 The plan was co-produced with an Autism Action and Planning Group, primarily
consisting of Experts by Experience from the East Sussex APB. The Action and Planning
Group continue to meet monthly to support delivery of the plan.

24 The plan and priorities were also developed with ESCC colleagues in the Education
Division and Employment and Skills Team, as well as NHS colleagues working in the
Sussex Neurodevelopmental Pathway Programme.

2.5 Alongside the Action Plan, an Equalities Impact Assessment (Appendix 3) was
completed, and a range of health and care groups were consulted to obtain wider feedback.

2.6 Progress against the plan will be reviewed by the East Sussex APB, who meet four
times a year. It is also proposed that an annual report will be presented to the East Sussex
Health and Wellbeing Board.

2.7 To evaluate how the Action Plan has impacted on improving the lives of autistic
people, their families, carers, and wider support networks, we will repeat the consultation
completed to inform the Action Plan at the end of the 3 years of delivery.

3 Progress against Year 1 priorities

3.1 Below is a summary of progress to date against year 1 actions identified under each
priority area:

3.2 Health and Wellbeing

e The APB has developed a Communications Strategy to raise the profile of autism
across East Sussex and promote examples of services that support Autistic people
well. This strategy will be delivered through utilising social media and newsletters to
promote positive examples and new developments around autism. We have also
begun working with ESCC colleagues to improve / increase the availability of
information for Autistic people on East Sussex One Space, East Sussex Community
Information Service, and the Local Offer.

Page 272



3.3

3.4

Building upon previous years the APB is also planning a series of communication
and learning opportunities (both online and in person) for Autism Acceptance Week
2026 (2-8 April).

The Autism Action and Planning Group has reviewed the range of autism health and
care passports available and developed a plan to promote the most relevant ones for
East Sussex.

The Autism Action and Planning Group and ESCC training colleagues have reviewed
the current autism training offer across the Council and are currently developing
options for embedding autism awareness and understanding into all Council
departments as well as schools.

Members of the APB are part of the NHS Integrated Care Board (ICB) stakeholder
group delivering the Neurodevelopmental Pathway Programme to increase the
universal help available to individuals pre, during, and post diagnostic assessment.

Education

ESCC Education services are working with NHS ICB colleagues to develop and pilot
a profiling tool for schools to use to understand individual needs and how those
needs can be met. The tool that is being piloted is the Dimensions Tool, developed
by Coventry and Warwickshire NHS Trust. The pilot is running in eight schools and
will be measuring the ease of use of the tool and the impact of using it on outcomes
for children, as well as relationships between schools and parent/carers. Data should
be available at the beginning of Term 3.

The autism training offer for schools is currently being developed by the
Communication, Learning and Autism Support Service (CLASS) with a view to
incorporating new e-learning software. CLASS is also delivering the Autism in
Schools project and Partnership for Inclusion of Neurodiversity in Schools (PINS)
project, both of which are aimed at building school staff understanding of and
approach to supporting Autistic learners.

Employment

The APB has worked with the Employment and Skills Team to ensure the new
employment Connect to Work Programme is accessible to people who are neuro-
different. We are also working together to make future editions of the Employability
and Skills brochure more accessible to Autistic people.

4  Conclusion and reasons for recommendations

4.1

The approach taken to develop the East Sussex All Age Autism Action Plan

recognised the importance and value of input from people with lived experience and wider
public consultation to deliver a meaningful action plan which responds to local priorities.

4.2

East Sussex Health and Wellbeing Board is recommended to:

acknowledge the development of the East Sussex All Age Autism Action Plan and
the priorities within it;

agree the proposal for an annual report to be presented to the East Sussex Health
and Wellbeing Board to update on progress; and

note the progress made to deliver year 1 priorities during the five months since the
Action Plan was launched.

Mark Stainton
Director of Adult Social Care and Health

East Sussex County Council

Page 273


https://www.careerseastsussex.co.uk/information/adults/estar/connect-to-work-1
https://www.canva.com/design/DAGgYuRRN_g/ATjM0o4uSwZ_M7h9a19Nqw/view?utm_content=DAGgYuRRN_g&utm_campaign=designshare&utm_medium=link2&utm_source=uniquelinks&utlId=hb35f0ec2d9#1
https://www.canva.com/design/DAGgYuRRN_g/ATjM0o4uSwZ_M7h9a19Nqw/view?utm_content=DAGgYuRRN_g&utm_campaign=designshare&utm_medium=link2&utm_source=uniquelinks&utlId=hb35f0ec2d9#1

Contact Officer: Sarah Crouch
Email: sarah.crouch@eastsussex.gov.uk
Tel: 07701 394821

Appendix 1: East Sussex All-Age Action Plan
Appendix 2: East Sussex All-Age Action Plan Easy Read version

Appendix 3: Equalities Impact Assessment

Page 274



East Sussex
Autism Partnership Board

East Sussex
All-Age Autism
Action Plan

2025- 2027

Appendix 1




East Sussex All-Age Autism Action Plan 2025-2027

Introduction

The East Sussex All-Age Autism Action Plan
is for and about Autistic people of any age,
with a formal diagnosis of Autism as well

as those who identify as Autistic.

It has been co-produced with people with
lived experience, alongside representatives
from East Sussex County Council, NHS and
independent sector providers, including
wellbeing, education and employment
providers.

Most importantly it has been informed by
the voices of Autistic people, their families
and carers. Throughout 2024 we consulted
with the East Sussex Autistic community
and wider stakeholders to identify what is
most important to Autistic people living in
East Sussex. As a result, this plan focuses
on improving three areas:

* Improving the health and wellbeing
of Autistic people

* Improving Autistic children and Young
People’s access to education and
supporting positive transitions into
adulthood

* Supporting Autistic people into
employment and helping them to
sustain their employment

The East Sussex All-Age Autism Action

Plan is a three year plan. The East Sussex
Autism Partnership Board has coordinated
the development of the plan and will also be
responsible for ensuring its implementation.

Autism Partnership Board

East Sussex Page 276

Aim
The aim of the East Sussex All-Age Autism
Action Plan is to improve the lives of Autistic

people, their families, carers, and wider
support networks across East Sussex.

We will do this through increasing Autism
awareness and improving

education, employment, wellbeing

and life opportunities for the Autistic
community.

Even though the Action Plan is Autism
focussed, the actions identified will be
delivered in a neuro-inclusive way to ensure
they are as accessible as possible to the
wider neurodivergent population. This

may include people with attention-deficit
hyperactivity disorder (ADHD) and/or
developmental coordination disorder (DCD),
also known as dyspraxia, dyslexia and
dyscalculia.




East Sussex All-Age Autism Action Plan 2025-2027

Background

East Sussex Autism Partnership
Board

The East Sussex Autism Partnership Board
was established as a response to the Autism
Act (2009) to ensure that Autistic people
and their carers’ voices are heard, and to
improve the lives of local Autistic people.
The Board includes Autistic members of

the community, family and friend carers,
local Autism charity and independent sector
representatives, NHS and County Council
representatives.

National Autism Strategy

The latest National Autism Strategy was
published in July 2021. This strategy follows
the Autism Act (2009), and two previous
adult Autism strategies. The new strategy
extends the scope to children and Young
People for the first time. East Sussex has
therefore developed our Autism Partnership
Board membership and the action plan

to align with the priorities of the national
strategy for all ages.

Partnership working

This Plan is a partnership approach and links
to, and supports, a number of programmes
of work in East Sussex, including:

The East Sussex Special Educational
Needs and Disabilities (SEND) Strategy
2022-2025 sets out the priorities
needed to support Children and Young
People (CYP) with SEND, and their
families, to enable them to achieve the
best possible outcomes in life. These are:

- Participation-my voice is heard and
acted on

East Sussex
Autism Partnership Board

Page 277

- Physical and mental health-my optimum
health and wellbeing are supported

- Safety and security -1 feel confident
and secure

- Inclusion and belonging-1 belong and
feel valued for who | am

- Progress and achievement -1 am
supported to develop and achieve my
goals.

The NHS Sussex Neurodevelopmental
Pathway Programme was established in
2022 to improve how the NHS supports
people with neurodevelopmental

needs, initially focussing on Autism and
Attention-deficit hyperactivity disorder.
The programme priorities are:

- Introducing a needs-based approach to
support people irrespective of diagnosis
and associated reduced demand on this
element of the pathway.

- Clear and streamlined access to
services and support, including digital
support.

- Streamlined approaches to assessment
and post assessment across
NHS services; and training more
practitioners, primary care and mental
health, to increase assessment capacity.



https://www.eastsussex.gov.uk/social-care/disability/autism/autism-partnership-board
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-strategy-for-autistic-children-young-people-and-adults-2021-to-2026
https://eastsussex.pagetiger.com/dalsgmf
https://eastsussex.pagetiger.com/dalsgmf
https://eastsussex.pagetiger.com/dalsgmf
https://www.sussex.ics.nhs.uk/our-work/cyp/learning-disability-and-autism/driving-improvements-in-neurodevelopmental-services-across-sussex/
https://www.sussex.ics.nhs.uk/our-work/cyp/learning-disability-and-autism/driving-improvements-in-neurodevelopmental-services-across-sussex/

East Sussex All-Age Autism Action Plan 2025-2027

+ The Sussex Learning Disability and
Autism Programme aims to enable more
people to receive personalised care in the
community, closer to home, and reduce
preventable admissions to inpatient
services. The three high level objectives
of their strategy are:

1. Close the gap in physical and mental
health outcomes for people with a
learning disability, Autism, or both.

2. Secure equitable access to early
intervention and prevention services
across the local NHS.

3. Use the talent, knowledge, and skills of
experts by experience to design better
services.

+ The East Sussex Employability and Skills

team oversees a range of external multi-
agency partnerships and employment
and skills training programmes, which
include:

- supporting people into learning and
work

- working with schools and Further
Education colleges to promote careers

- bringing training providers and
businesses together to address
employment and skills needs of
residents and employers.

East Sussex
Autism Partnership Board

Page 278

Local funding context

This action plan will be implemented at a
time when both the East Sussex County
Council and NHS Sussex Integrated Care
Board are facing significant funding
challenges.

Nationally, health and social care is

under pressure due to a combination of
demographic, financial, and systemic
factors. East Sussex is no stranger to this,
facing unique challenges which impact on
the need for support and services in the
county. Around 25% of the East Sussex
population is over 65 compared to a national
figure of 18%, average wages remain lower
than the national average and 30,000
people in the county are living in some of the
most deprived areas of England. We have
also seen a 40% increase in the average
weekly cost of providing care in East Sussex
since 2020. There is also evidence that the
cost-of-living challenges have increased
demand for care, as well as making people
less able to afford their contribution towards
the cost of care.

We have therefore worked with our
stakeholders to identify priorities which
are both achievable within current
funding challenges, whilst also delivering
meaningful change for the East Sussex
Autistic community.



https://www.sussex.ics.nhs.uk/our-work/our-priorities/mental-health-learning-disability-and-autism/learning-disability-and-autism/
https://www.sussex.ics.nhs.uk/our-work/our-priorities/mental-health-learning-disability-and-autism/learning-disability-and-autism/
https://www.eastsussex.gov.uk/business/support/employment-skills-training
https://www.eastsussex.gov.uk/business/support/employment-skills-training

East Sussex All-Age Autism Action Plan 2025-2027

How We Have Developed the Plan

To inform the development of the Plan,
during 2024 we have:

Worked with Public Health to review local
and national data to better understand
the prevalence of Autism in East Sussex.

Carried out an online survey (April to
June 2024) to gather the views of Autistic
residents, parents and unpaid carers,

and others with an interest on a range of
topics. We received over 320 responses.

+ Held 3 focus groups (July to September
2024) with Young Healthwatch,
and Autistic people accessing day
opportunities to better understand what
works wells and what could be improved
to support them in their day-to-day life.

East Sussex
Autism Partnership Board

Page 279

Held 4 stakeholder workshops
(September to October 2024), attended
by over 80 people, to discuss the learning
from the feedback, along with national
and local research. Through these
workshops we have developed 26 actions
across 3 priority areas:

- Improving the health and wellbeing of
Autistic people

- Improving Autistic children and Young
People’s access to education and
supporting positive transitions into
adulthood

- Supporting Autistic people into
employment and sustaining their
employment




East Sussex All-Age Autism Action Plan 2025-2027

Local Context

The following information captures Autism prevalence in East Sussex at a glance.

Population data

Chart 1

Estimated population of autistic people
in East Sussex

3.47% 2.87%

0@
i M

CYP population 114, 208 Adult population 441,276
Estimated prevalence 3,960 Estimated prevalence 12,660

Chart 2 Expected autism compared to
primary care recorded prevalence

2

12,660 4,091

White - East Sussex expected
Green-actual reported

|

3,960 4,814

Chart 3 Socio-Economic Variation in Autism Prevalence

Autism rate
per 1,000
population

Rate of autistic people per 1000
populations by index of multiple
deprivation

I I I . '

3 4 5

1 2

Deprivation Quintile (where 1 indicates the most deprived and 5 the least deprived)

National estimates of prevalence
show that approximately 3% of

the East Sussex population is
Autistic (Chart 1). However, a review
of primary care data shows that

in comparison with the national
estimates of prevalence, only 32%
of Autistic adults are currently
recorded on the health system in
East Sussex (Chart 2).

Of the Autistic people known to
primary care:

« 29% of Autistic people are female,
with 71% male. Non binary
information is not available.

« Black and minority ethnic groups
including white minority groups
(Irish, Gypsy or Irish Traveller,
Roma, Other White) make up
11.7% of usual residents in East
Sussex, compared to 10.9% of the
Autistic population.

« A higher proportion of Autistic
people live in the most deprived
areas of East Sussex. We looked
at where Autistic people live in
relation to the Index of Multiple
Deprivation which is the current
official measure of relative
deprivation for small areas in
England. It shows that 20 per
1000 population living in the most
deprived areas on East Sussex
are Autistic, compared to 10 per
1000 population living in the least
deprived areas (Chart 3)




East Sussex All-Age Autism Action Plan 2025-2027

Chart 4 Need for Specialist Provision by
Primary Need - Primary

Autism Spectrum Disorder

Speech Language and
Communication Needs

Social and Emotional
Mental Health

Moderate Learning
Difficulty

Other Primary Need

Source: SEND (Jan 24) Cencus
and ESCC’s SEND Forecasting
Model (July 24)

2023/4 2024/5 2025/6 2026/7 2027/8 2028/9

Chart5 Need by Specialist Provision by Primary Need -
Secondary Years 7-11

Autism Spectrum Disorder

Speech Language and
Communication Needs

Social and Emotional
Mental Health

Moderate Learning
Difficulty

Other Primary Need

Source: SEND (Jan 24) Cencus
and ESCC’s SEND Forecasting
Model (July 24)

200 o—O0 0 0 0 90 ¢ 9

0
2023/4 2024/5 2025/6 2026/7 2027/8 2028/9

Education and care data

As of January 2025 there were
1,977 children with an Education
Health and Care Plan (EHCP)
and a primary need of Autismin
East Sussex.

In line with the national picture,
Autism is the most common
primary need for those with
EHCPs in East Sussex, and is the
fastest growing need (Charts 4
and 5).

As of November 2024, there are
currently 625 Autistic people
known to adult social care where
Autism is recorded.

15% of the known Autistic
population also have a learning
disability.

“It can be very hit or miss when it comes to dealing with various healthcare professionals for
both myself and my children. | have had experience of GPs being extremely dismissive of
our concerns, but others who have been very supportive. | think a lot more Neurodiversity
training is required in all areas, but in particular females with autism/ADHD. | have been
misdiagnosed my whole life, and a better understanding of women and masking would have
helped health professionals greatly.”

East Sussex
Autism Partnership Board

Page 281

2024 East Sussex autism survey



East Sussex All-Age Autism Action Plan 2025-2027 8

Action Plan Priorities

Set out below are the 26 actions developed with our stakeholders across the three priority

areas identified:

+ Improving the health and wellbeing of Autistic people

« Improving Autistic children and Young People’s access to education and supporting positive
transitions into adulthood

+ Supporting Autistic people into employment and helping them to sustain their employment

“I have no clue about any ‘inclusive
wellbeing and leisure activities’. I’'m not
aware of any. You find things out in dribs
and drabs; nothing’s consistent, with the
distribution of information all over the
place. That’s why we need specific places
to be able to go to, whether over the
phone or in person where everything
is together.”

2024 East Sussex autism survey




East Sussex All-Age Autism Action Plan 2025-2027

Health and wellbeing: Improving the health and wellbeing
of Autistic people

What we have heard

Our survey for Autistic residents, parents and unpaid
carers told us:

The majority of respondents find it hard to access
activities, support and services.

There is poor understanding of Autism from
others, including professionals and the public, and
how it affects people’s lives.

East Sussex lacks inclusive, convenient and
suitable options for social and community activity
for Autistic people.

Access to health and care services is hard for most
respondents, with mental health being the hardest
to access.

The majority of people have to wait a long time
for their diagnosis, sometimes years if they don’t

What we will do now

pay privately. Whilst waiting for a diagnosis many
experience a decline in their circumstances.

Lack of support following diagnosis was also
raised as an issue.

55% of people said healthcare professionals
understanding of Autism was poor or very poor
(12% good)

60% said it was hard to access social care
support, with the main barriers being:

- The were unable to get the support they
needed

- The criteria for support is too strict
- Social care lacks understanding of Autism
- Social care lacks resources

1 Develop and promote accessible information and guidance on the Year 1-3
neurodevelopmental diagnosis process and universal help available pre, during
and post assessment, including crisis support

2 Raise the profile of Autism across East Sussex. Promote the work of Autistic Year 1-3
people and the benefits they bring to the community and workplaces. Recognise

achievements and talents, and strengths

3 Involve Autistic people in the design of Integrated Community Teams to ensure Year 1-3
services are accessible

4 Promote examples of services that support Autistic people well Year 1-3

5 Pilot tailored support for Autistic people rather than general signposting Year 1-3

6 Increase education and improve the knowledge of Autism of health and care Year 1
professionals (particularly those within universal health and care settings)

7 Embed Autism awareness and understanding into all council departments Year 1
Promote Autism health and care passports and alert cards Year 1

9 Promote healthcare Digital Flags for reasonable adjustments to Autistic people and Year 2-3
healthcare professionals

10 Develop Autism training champions across Health, Social Care and VCSE Year 2-3
organisations

1 Increase access to peer support groups for Autistic people and their families Year 3

12 Improve clinical environments, particularly diagnostic, to create more friendly and Year 3

accessible spaces

13 Implement Autism annual health checks

Year 3

Autism Partnership Board

East Sussex Page 283




East Sussex All-Age Autism Action Plan 2025-2027

10

Education: Improving Autistic children and Young People’s access
to education and supporting positive transitions into adulthood

What we have heard

One of the opening questions of our survey for
Autistic residents, parents and unpaid carers asked
‘What are the top 3 most important things to change
for Autistic people’. Schools and colleges came

out top, with 107 people feeding back it was most
important to them.

Our survey for Autistic residents, parents and unpaid
carers also told us that very few Autistic people find
it easy to access schools and colleges in East Sussex.
66% find it hard or very hard, and less than 3% said it
was easy or very easy

We received an additional 500 comments about how
education could be improved. The top five themes
were:

« Lack of resources and appropriate settings
+ The EHCP acquisition and appeals process
+ School/college setting’s lack of understanding

What we will do now

+ Insufficient training

+ A need to avoid a ‘one size fits all approach’ to
Autism and reasonable adjustments

Conversely, we also asked what was working well
in education. The most common answer was that
support from schools and colleges, particularly
primary schools was working well (23 comments).
Frequently, feedback referred to an individual in a
school which had made a significant difference.

The East Sussex Parent Carer forum also undertook
a survey between October 2023 and January 2024,
receiving 235 responses. Most of the families felt
they were not receiving the SEND support/ provision
that their children and Young People needed or are
entitled to. The most common message from parent
carers was the continuing and exhausting battle
they face with processes and services, and the need
to fight the system for their child or young person’s
needs to be met.

1 Develop profiling tool for schools to use to understand individual needs and how Year 1
those needs can be met

2 Ensure that appropriate education guidance, information and support is available to Year 1-2
Autistic children & Young People and their families

3 Promote Autism training to all school staff, including improving understanding of Year 1-2
masking, mental health and how a child’s environment impacts on their behaviour

4 Promote curriculums / sharing of information that are inclusive and adaptive to Year 2-3
ensure: ‘Every school/college sees itself as an education setting that meets the needs
of Autistic pupils’

5 Increase understanding and support for Autistic Young People in secondary schools Year 2-3

6 Improve the experience of transitions (primary to secondary / secondary to college) Year 3
for Autistic children and Young People

“Each individual has their own experiences. | know of several Young People who cannot
access secondary education due to the environment and demands. My son is doing well
in a mainstream primary school; however, there are other children in his school who do

not thrive in this environment. It’s really difficult to see. There does not appear to be
appropriate support for kids who present with harder-to-manage behaviours.”

2024 East Sussex autism survey

East Sussex
Autism Partnership Board

Page 284


https://www.espcf.org.uk/parent-survey-2024-results/
https://www.espcf.org.uk/parent-survey-2024-results/

East Sussex All-Age Autism Action Plan 2025-2027 11

Employment: Supporting Autistic people into employment and helping them
to sustain their employment

What we have heard

National research tells us:

« 21.7% of Autistic adults are in employment (ONS,
2020).
6.25% of Autistic adults hold full-time positions
(National Autistic Society)
Autistic people face the largest pay gap of all
disability groups, receiving 1/3 less than non-
disabled people on average (Buckland Review
2024)
Autistic graduates are twice as likely to be
unemployed after 15 months as non-disabled
graduates, with only 36% finding full time work in
this period. (Buckland Review 2024)
45% of neurodivergent individuals have
been forced out or have quit their jobs due to
misunderstandings related to their condition
(National Autistic Society)
Only 10% of organisations reported actively
addressing neurodiversity in the workplace (2018
CIPD survey)

Our survey for Autistic residents, parents and unpaid
carers told us:
59% of respondents said it is hard to find and keep
ajob (chart 6)
The main barriers to employment are:
- Employers’ lack of understanding
- Employers’ lack of reasonable adjustments
or accommodations
- The person’s own outlook/ characteristics
- The narrow range of employment options
- Not having any support
- Recruitment process is more favourable to
neurotypical applicants
Employment works well when there is:
- Managerial support and employers’
understanding
- Job coach support
- Reasonable adjustments

Chart6 Views of respondents with Autism on finding
and keeping a job in East Sussex

“There is not much support
for the whole process
of finding, dealing with
interviews, and then
maintaining the job too. It
is hard to find employers
who are understanding and
accommodating, especially
surrounding communication,
sensory overstimulation
and burnout. Employers
don’t understand when
you can’t always maintain
the same hours of work a
week as some other weeks,
or needing extra breaks or
accommodations.”

2024 East Sussex Autism survey

Very easy Neither easy Hard Very hard Not sure
nor hard

East Sussex Page 285

Autism Partnership Board




East Sussex All-Age Autism Action Plan 2025-2027 12

What we will do now

1 Publish and promote a centralised directory of employment support services in Year 1
East Sussex

2 Raise awareness and accessibility of resources to help employ more Year 1-2
neurodivergent people

3 Publish and promote guidance for making recruitment processes more accessible Year 1-2
for neurodivergent people

4 Further develop networks and peer support for employers working with and Year 1-2
employing neurodivergent people

5 Develop initial assessments for employment organisations to help to identify skills, Year 2
suitable roles and reasonable adjustments

6 Develop a programme of work to support Young People and their families to consider | Year 2
their future employment choices, through helping them to identify their strengths,
challenges and learning styles, and develop practical skills such as CV writing and
interview techniques

7 Develop support services that can act as a brokerage/advocate for employed Autistic | Year 3
people who may need support to navigate work environment

East Sussex Page 286

Autism Partnership Board




East Sussex All-Age Autism Action Plan 2025-2027 13

How will we measure success?

Each action will have an identified lead who will work with partners, including Autistic people and
their families, to oversee the implementation of the action. Progress will be reviewed by the East
Sussex Autism Partnership Board, and an annual report will be presented to the East Sussex Health
and Wellbeing Board.

It is important we also evaluate the impact the action plan has on improving the lives of Autistic
people, their families, carers, and wider support networks. We will repeat the consultation at the end
of the 3 years of action plan delivery, to further understand changes to the Autistic experience. This
will include evaluating the following outcomes:

Health and Wellbeing

I know how to find out about inclusive social activities in my local community

| am able to access inclusive wellbeing and leisure activities

| am able to connect with the Autistic community in my preferred way

| can access a timely assessment of my neurodevelopmental needs

| feel empowered to ask for reasonable adjustments to support my needs

| am able to access health care, delivered by the right people, at the right time

| am able to access the care and support services | need

If | have an unpaid carer or family member, they know how they can access support for themselves
Health and care professionals have the knowledge and skills to support me as an Autistic person

Education

| can access an education setting that meets the needs of Autistic pupils

| feel empowered to ask for reasonable adjustments to support my needs

| am supported to develop and achieve my goals

School and college staff have the knowledge and skills to support me as an Autistic person

Employment

| have access to clear information and advice about employment support available
| feel empowered to ask for reasonable adjustments to support my needs

| feel able to find and keep a job

I know how to access support if | am looking to change jobs or develop my career

East Sussex Page 287

Autism Partnership Board




Fast Sussex
Autism Partp%léséggp Board




Appendix 2

All-age autism
action plan - easy
read

All age autism
action plan - easy
read

PPPPPPP



eos

L reo

This is an easy read summary of the

East Sussex all-age autism action
plan

It includes the important points that
are in the non-easy read version.

Introduction

Page 290



We have written an all-age autism
action plan for East Sussex County
Councill.

Page 291



The action plan will explain what we

want to do to improve autistic
people’s lives in East Sussex.

Page 292



O0W
TR
{11011 111

The things we want to do are called
actions.

Page 293



The action plan is for and about
autistic people who:

 identify as autistic, or
 have been diagnosed as autistic,

or
e are waiting for a diagnosis of

autism.

Page 294



AL e Ty 3

The action plan has been co-
produced with:

People with lived experience
Staff from East Sussex County

Council
Staff from NHS Sussex

Support providers, including from
education, employment and
wellbeing.

Page 295



P |
I
2025 2027

—II—

The action plan is a 3-year plan.

Aims

Page 296



The aim of the action plan is to
improve the lives of:

e autistic people
e their families
e their carers.

Page 297



We also want to improve the wider
support networks across East
SuUSsSsex.

Page 298



V=
L=
[ =

We will improve these things with:

e more awareness of autism
better education

better job opportunities
better wellbeing

better life opportunities.

Money

Page 299



Our action plan is happening at a
time when East Sussex County
Council and NHS Sussex have less
money to spend.

Page 300



We know that this is a challenge.

Page 301



So we have decided to focus on 3
iImportant areas that we think we
can make a difference in.

These 3 areas are called our
priority areas.

How we developed the
plan

Page 302



In 2024 we asked lots of people
what was working well and what
could be better for the autistic
community.

This included:

Page 303



o Working with Public Health to look
at information and numbers. This
helped us to understand who the
autistic community are in East
Sussex.

Page 304



e Running a survey to get the views
of autistic people and their carers
on the things that impact the
autistic community.

Page 305



e Holding group meetings with
people in the autistic community.

Page 306



e Holding workshops to talk about
what we have learnt and to decide
what areas we should focus on in

the action plan.

Page 307



The workshops helped us to decide
on 3 priority areas to focus on.

These are:

Page 308



1. Improving the health and
wellbeing of autistic people (/social-
care/disability/easy-read/autism-
plan/priority-1)

Page 309



https://www.eastsussex.gov.uk/social-care/disability/easy-read/autism-plan/priority-1
https://www.eastsussex.gov.uk/social-care/disability/easy-read/autism-plan/priority-1
https://www.eastsussex.gov.uk/social-care/disability/easy-read/autism-plan/priority-1
https://www.eastsussex.gov.uk/social-care/disability/easy-read/autism-plan/priority-1

2. Improving autistic children and
young people’s access to education
and becoming an adult (/social-
care/disablility/easy-read/autism-
plan/priority-2)

Page 310



https://www.eastsussex.gov.uk/social-care/disability/easy-read/autism-plan/priority-2
https://www.eastsussex.gov.uk/social-care/disability/easy-read/autism-plan/priority-2
https://www.eastsussex.gov.uk/social-care/disability/easy-read/autism-plan/priority-2
https://www.eastsussex.gov.uk/social-care/disability/easy-read/autism-plan/priority-2
https://www.eastsussex.gov.uk/social-care/disability/easy-read/autism-plan/priority-2

3. Supporting autistic people to get
and keep a job (/social-
care/disability/easy-read/autism-
plan/priority-3)

Priority 1:;
Improving health

Page 311


https://www.eastsussex.gov.uk/social-care/disability/easy-read/autism-plan/priority-3
https://www.eastsussex.gov.uk/social-care/disability/easy-read/autism-plan/priority-3
https://www.eastsussex.gov.uk/social-care/disability/easy-read/autism-plan/priority-3
https://www.eastsussex.gov.uk/social-care/disability/easy-read/autism-plan/priority-3

and wellbeing
What we have heard

Most people find it hard to access
activities, support and services.

Page 312



There is poor understanding about
autism and how it affects people’s
lives.

Page 313



Most people find it hard to access
health care services.

Page 314



Most people have to wait a long
time to get a diagnosis of autism.

Page 315



There is not always enough support
after getting a diagnosis of autism.

Page 316



Just over half of people said
healthcare staff have a poor or very
poor understanding of autism.

Page 317



Just over half of people said it was
hard to access social care support.

What we will do now

Page 318



1. Make and share more accessible
information about getting a
diagnosis of autism.

Page 319



2. Raise awareness of autism in
East Sussex, including the good
that autistic people bring to the
community and the workplace.

Page 320



3. Involve autistic people in making
sure services are accessible.

Page 321



4. Share examples of services that
support autistic people well.

Page 322



5. Share information and advice
about support services that meet
people’s individual needs.

Page 323



6. Help health and support staff to
have a better understanding of
autism.

Page 324



/. Help council staff to have a better
understanding of autism.

Page 325



8. Raise awareness of autism health
and care passports and alert cards.

Page 326



10. Develop autism training
champions across organisations
that support people with autism.

Page 327



11. Improve access to peer support
groups for autistic people and their
families.

Page 328



12. Support the places that autistic
people access health care and
support to be more friendly and

accessible.

Page 329



13. Bring about autism annual
health checks.

Page 330



9. Raise awareness of healthcare
Digital Flags that show that a
person needs reasonable
adjustments when they are
accessing healthcare.

Priority 2:
Improving autistic



children and
young people’s
access to
education and

becoming an adult
What we have heard

sssssss



Very few autistic people find it easy
to access schools and colleges in
East Sussex.

What we will do now

1. Make a tool for schools to use to
understand what people’s individual

Page 333



needs are and how their needs can
be met.

2. Make sure that there is education
guidance, information and support
for autistic children and young
people and their families.

Page 334



3. Share information about autism
training for all school staff.

Page 335



4. Share information on how to

make sure all schools and colleges
can meet the needs of autistic
learners.

Page 336



5. Increase understanding and
support for autistic young people in
secondary schools.

Priority 3:
Supporting autistic

Page 337



people to get and
keep a job

What we have heard

Over half of people said it is hard to
find and keep a job

3333333



Getting a job works well when:

e autism is understood
e there is job coach support
e reasonable adjustments are made

What we will do now

Page 339



1. Create and share a list of
employment support services in
East Sussex.

Page 340



2. Raise awareness and
accessibility of resources to help
employ more autistic people.

Page 341



3. Create and share guidance for
making the recruitment process
more accessible.

The recruitment process includes
job adverts, applying for a job, going
to interviews, starting a new job.

Page 342



4. Develop networks and peer
support for employers who work
with autistic people.

Page 343



5. Develop tools to help understand

e what a person’s skills are

o what job roles might suit them

» what reasonable adjustments may
support the person

Page 344



6. Develop tools to support young
people and their families to think
about job choices and how they can
access the recruitment process.

Page 345



/. Develop services that can
support autistic people with their job
and their workplace

How will we know
If our plan is
working’ggem



It is Important that we make sure the

action plan is working to improve
the lives of autistic people, their
families, carers and wider support

networks.

Page 347



We will repeat the survey to see
how things are going in 3 years
time.

Page 348



This will help us to understand if
and how things have changed for
the autistic community.

Contact us

Page 349



You can get in touch with us by
emailing Autism Partnership Board

%

Page 350


mailto:apb@eastsussex.gov.uk
mailto:apb@eastsussex.gov.uk
mailto:apb@eastsussex.gov.uk

TGE abed

East Sussex
County Council

53
2

Equality Impact Analysis Template

Equality Impact Analysis (EqlA) (or Equality Impact Assessment) aims to make services and public policy better for all
service-users and staff and supports value for money by getting council services right first time.

We use EqglAs to enable us to consider all relevant information from an Equality requirements perspective when procuring or
restructuring a service, or introducing a new policy or strategy. This analysis of impacts is then reflected in the relevant action plan
to get the best outcomes for the Council, its staff and service-users?.

EqlAs are used to analyse and assess how the Council’s work might impact differently on different groups of people?. EqlAs help
the Council to make good decisions for its service-users, staff and residents and provide evidence that those decision conform with
the Council’s obligations under the Equality Act 20103.

This template sets out the steps you need to take to complete an EglA for your project. Guidance for sections is in the end-notes. If
you have any questions about your EglA and/or how to complete this form, please use the contact details at the end of this form.

Title of Autism All Age Action Plan
Project/Service/Policy*

Team/Departments Joint Commissioning Team

. Adult Social Care
Directorate

The East Sussex Autism Action Plan is being developed through the East Sussex Autism

Partnership Board in response to the most recent National Autism Strategy published in 2021.

Provide a comprehensive : : , e
description of your Project Members of the East Sussex Autism Partnership Board include: autistic members of the

(Service/Policy, etc.) community, family and friend carers, local autism charity representatives, NHS representatives,
including its Purpose and Sussex Police representatives and East Sussex County Council representatives

¢ Xipuaddy

Scope® The development and implementation of the Autism Action Plan will support the overarching
desired outcome of the project ‘to optimise resources available to improve the lives of autistic
people, their families and carers in East Sussex’.

2023



2S¢ abed

East Sussex
County Council

To inform the development of the East Sussex All Age Action Plan, throughout 2024 ES(!E = I = =

consulted with Autistic people, carers and stakeholders to identify the priorities for the plan. The
consultation identified three key priority areas for East Sussex:
1. Improving the health and wellbeing of autistic people

2. Improving autistic children and young people’s access to education and supporting
positive transitions into adulthood

3. Supporting autistic people into employment and sustaining their employment.

2023



£G¢ abed

East Sussex
County Council

53
2

Initial assessment of whether your project requires an EqlA

When answering these questions, please keep in mind all legally protected equality characteristics (sex/gender, gender
reassignment, religion or belief, age, disability, ethnicity/race, sexual orientation, marriage/civil partnership, pregnancy and
maternity) of the people actually or potentially receiving and benefiting from the services or the policy.

In particular consider whether there are any potential equality related barriers that people may experience when getting to know
about, accessing or receiving the service or the policy to be introduced or changed.

Discuss the results of your Equality assessment with the Equality Lead for your department and agree whether improvements or
changes need to be made to any aspect of your Project.

Question Yes No Don’t
Know

1 | Isthere evidence of different needs, experiences, issues or priorities on the basis of the equality | X
characteristics (listed below) in relation to the service or policy/strategy area?
2 | Are there any proposed changes in the service/policy that may affect how services are run and/or | X
used or the ways the policy will impact different groups?
3 | Are there any proposed changes in the service/policy that may affect service-users/staff/residents | X

directly?

4 | Is there potential for, or evidence that, the service/policy may adversely affect inclusiveness or X
harm good relations between different groups of people?

5 | Is there any potential for, or evidence that any part of the service/aspects of the policy could have X
a direct or indirect discriminatory effect on service-users/staff/residents?

6 | Is there any stakeholder (Council staff, residents, trade unions, service-users, VCSE X

organisations) concerned about actual, potential, or perceived discrimination/unequal treatment in
the service or the Policy on the basis of the equality characteristics set out above that may lead to
taking legal action against the Council?

7 | Is there any evidence or indication of higher or lower uptake of the service by, or the impact of the | X
policy on, people who share the equality characteristics set out above?

If you have answered “YES” or “DON’T KNOW?” to any of the questions above, then the completion of an EglA is necessary.

The need for an EqIA will depend on:

2023



yGe abed

East Sussex
County Council

53
2

¢ How many questions you have answered “yes”, or “don’t know” to;

e The likelihood of the Council facing legal action in relation to the effects of service or the policy may have on groups sharing
protected characteristics; and

e The likelihood of adverse publicity and reputational damage for the Council.

The East Sussex Autism Action Plan is considered to be low risk because the purpose of the plan is to improve outcomes
for autistic people, without negatively impacting others.

Update on previous EqlAs and outcomes of previous actions (if applicable)’

What actions did you plan last time? What improved as aresult? What further actions do you need to
(List them from the previous EqlA) What outcomes have these actions take? (add these to the Action Plan
achieved? below)

Not applicable, this is a new plan

2023



East Sussex
County Council

5
i

1. Review of information, equality analysis and potential actions

Consider the actual or potential impact of your project (service, or policy) against each of the equality characteristics.

Protected
characteristics
groups under the
Equality Act 2010

What do you know?8?
Summary of data about
your service-users and/or
staff

What do people tell
you9?

Summary of service-user
and/or staff feedback

What does this mean0?
Impacts identified from
data and feedback (actual
and potential)

What can you do1!?

All potential actions to:

. advance equality of
opportunity,

. eliminate discrimination,
and

. foster good relations

GGe abed

The population of East
Sussex is estimated at
545,800. East Sussex has
an older age profile than
England and the southeast,
with 26% of the county’s
population aged 65 or over,
compared to 19% across

England and 20% regionally.

According to the 2021

The consultation and
stakeholder workshops
covered all ages. This is
reflected in the range of
actions identified across
education, employment, and
health and wellbeing.

Our Autism action plan
needs to reflect all ages.

Service provision needs to
be sufficient to cope with
growing demand.

Any actions put in place
need to be accessible to all,
ensuring for those who
experience digital exclusion.

Clearly state age range that
services and resources are
applicable to within
signposting information.

Ensure there is a range of
ways to access information,
not just through digital
methods.

Age'? Census, the greatest growth Priority actions identified in
occurred in the 70-74 age the action plan include:
category, which increased e Develop profiling tool for
by 46.6% compared to a schools to use to
national average of 36.8%. understand individual
The proportion of the needs and how those
population of East Sussex needs can be met.
aged 65 and over now e Ensure that appropriate
stands at 26.1%, up from education guidance,
22.7% in 2011. information and support

is available to autistic
25/02/2025 S




9G¢ abed

East Sussex
County Council

Sussex Integrated Dataset
2024: The number of people
registered with their GP with
a recorded diagnosis of
Autism in East Sussex is
4350 children and young
people and 4160 adults

Older people are more likely
to face digital exclusion.
According to Age UK, three
out of ten people aged 65 to
74 and two-thirds of those
aged 75 and over are not
online.

There is also a link to social
disadvantage. For example,
while only 15 per cent of
people aged 65 to 74 in
socio-economic group AB do
not use the internet, this
rises to 45 per cent in group
DE.

children & Young People v

and their families
Promote Autism training
to all school staff,
including improving
understanding of
masking, mental and
physical health and how
a child’s environment
impacts on their
behaviour

Promote curriculums /
sharing of information
that are inclusive and
adaptive to ensure:
‘Every school/college
sees itself as an
education setting that
meets the needs of
autistic pupils.’

Increase understanding
and support for autistic
young people in
secondary schools.
Improve the experience
of transitions (primary to
secondary / secondary to
college) for autistic
children and young
people

Develop a programme of
work to support young
people and their families
to consider their future
employment choices,

25/02/2025


https://www.ageuk.org.uk/globalassets/age-uk/documents/reports-and-publications/reports-and-briefings/active-communities/later_life_in_a_digital_world.pdf

/G¢€ abed

East Sussex
County Council

through helping them to v

identify their strengths,
challenges and learning
styles, and develop
practical skills such as
CV writing and interview
techniques.

An ESCC Public Health
2024 analysis of the
prevalence of Autism in East
Sussex identified:

East Sussex adult autistic
population ranged between
4380 and 12660 (actual GP
caseloads register 4160).
This suggests an under
diagnosis for adults in East
Sussex.East Sussex CYP
population ranged between
680 and 3960 (actual GP

ESCC Autism consultation
survey 2024 results include:

o 47% had a condition that
was expected to last 12
or more months. Of
those, 88% said their
condition affects their
ability to carry out day-to-
day activities.

e 819% (259 respondents)
said it was hard/very hard
for Autistic people to

It is difficult to get an Autism
diagnosis and Autistic
people may be under
diagnosed.

Learning disabilities are
more common in autistic
people than in people who
are not Autistic. Health
outcomes are significantly
poorer for people with
learning disabilities, and
there is a higher need for

All documents will be written
in accessible language, and
people will be able to
request information in other
formats.

Neuro-inclusive language to
reflect Autism / ADHD

Priority actions identified in
the action plan include:

Develop and promote
accessible information

Disability3 caseloads registers 4350) access Autism diagnosis. | mental health support for and guidance on the
e 66% (212 respondents) this group of people. neurodevelopmental
East Sussex data (from the said that it is hard/very diagnosis process and
Sussex Integrated Dataset, hard for Autistic people to | Itis hard for autistic people universal help available
May 2024) identified that access healthcare. to access health and care pre, during and post
18% of the known autistic e 80% (258 respondents) services, particularly mental assessment, including
population also have ADHD. said that it is hard/very health services. The crisis support
However, international hard for Autistic people to | Purpose of the action planis | e Involve autistic people in
research has shown that access mental health to ensure that autistic people the design of Integrated
40% of autistic people have services. have access to support and Community Teams to
ADHD, with other studies e 55% (177 respondents) services to meet their needs ensure services are
suggesting that the rate may said that it is hard/very to manage daily living accessible
be closer to 70%. hard for Autistic people to
access hospitals.
25/02/2025 7



East Sussex
County Council

East Sussex data (fromthe | e 58% (187 respondents) e Pilot tailored support for v

8G¢ abed

Sussex Integrated Dataset,
May 2024) identified that
15% of the known autistic
population also have a
learning disability. The ICT
data pack Nov 2023
(Learning Disability)
identified that health
outcomes are significantly
poorer for people with a
learning disability and on
average die 22 years
younger than the general
population.Individuals with a
LD also want more support
with their mental health.

An estimated 56.6% of
autistic adults experience a
psychiatric condition (for
example, anxiety and
depression (Buck et al.
2014)).

In the 2021 census, 20.3%
of East Sussex residents
were living with a long-term
physical or mental health
condition or impairment that
affected their ability to carry
out day-to-day activities in
2021, the same proportion
as in 2011 (compares to
18% for England & Wales).

said that it is hard/very
hard for Autistic people to
access a dentist.

65% (208 respondents)
said it was hard/very hard
for Autistic people to
access schools and
colleges due to lack of
understanding and
insufficient training of
staff.

27% (86 respondents)
said that it is hard/very
hard for Autistic people to
find and keep
volunteering
opportunities due to lack
of understanding and
training for providers,
along with insufficient
support.

44% (140 respondents)
said that it is hard/very
hard for Autistic people to
find and keep a job due
to lack of understanding
and lack of reasonable
adjustments.

autistic people rather
than general signposting
Increase education and
improve the knowledge of
autism of health and care
professionals

Embed autism
awareness and
understanding into all
council departments
through training, and
guidance on accessible
buildings and recruitment.
Promote Autism health
and care passports and
alert cards

Promote healthcare
Digital Flags for
reasonable adjustments
to autistic people and
healthcare professionals
Develop Autism training
champions across
Health, Social Care and
VCSE organisations
Improve clinical
environments, particularly
diagnostic, to create
more friendly and
accessible spaces
Implement autism annual
health checks

Publish and promote a
centralised directory of

25/02/2025




6G€ abed

East Sussex
County Council

34.8% of households in East
Sussex had at least one
member identifying as
disabled under the Equality
Act in 2021.

National employment

research tells us:

e 21.7% of autistic adults
are in employment (ONS,
2020).

e 6.25% of autistic adults
hold full-time positions
(National Autistic Society)

e Autistic people face the
largest pay gap of all
disability groups, receiving
1/3 less than non-disabled
people on average
(Buckland Review 2024)

e Autistic graduates are
twice as likely to be
unemployed after 15
months as non-disabled
graduates, with only 36%
finding full time work in
this period. (Buckland
Review 2024).

e 45% of neurodivergent
individuals have been
forced out or have quit
their jobs due to
misunderstandings related
to their condition (National
Aultistic Society)

employment support v

services in East Sussex
Raise awareness and
accessibility of resources
to help employ more
neurodivergent people
Publish and promote
guidance for making
recruitment processes
more accessible for
neurodivergent people
Develop initial
assessments for
employment
organisations to help to
identify skills, suitable
roles and reasonable
adjustments

Develop support services
that can act as a
brokerage/advocate for
employed autistic people
who may need support to
navigate work
environment.

25/02/2025



09¢ abed

East Sussex
County Council

The Royal College of
Psychiatrists state that
Autistic people are more
likely to have other
conditions like:

e ADHD

e intellectual
disabilities

e learning difficulties
like dyslexia

e tics

e developmental
coordination disorder
o epilepsy
e joint hypermobility
and Ehlers-Danlos
syndromes
Furthermore, differences in
communication styles may
also not be understood, in
particular, by neurotypical
professionals, especially
those without appropriate
neurodivergent
training....Consequently,
neurodivergent physical
health needs are overlooked
causing a worsening of
symptoms, exacerbation or
prior psychiatric conditions
and underlying trauma from
not being believed,
particularly for those with no
diagnosis (Sala et al, 2020)

WY

25/02/2025

10



T9¢ abed

East Sussex
County Council

WY

Gender
reassignment

In 2021, 0.4% of adults in
East Sussex reported that
they had a gender identity
that was different to the sex
registered at birth (Census
2021). However, the East
Sussex LGBTQ+
Comprehensive Needs
Assessment estimates that
between 3.1% and 7% of
people living in East Sussex
are trans and gender
diverse.

Research indicates that
neurodivergent people are
more likely to identify as
LGTBQ+ than neurotypical
people (University of
Cambridge, 2021).

LGBT people are also
known to experience
inequalities in health and
social care (House of
Commons, 2019).

No additional feedback
received.

Trans people experience
health and social care
inequalities. They may fear
discrimination in health and
social care settings and may
be less likely to get the
support they need.

Explore targeted

engagement to ensure
support is available, and

how to access it.

25/02/2025

11



29¢ abed

East Sussex
County Council

Pregnancy and
maternity!®

There are just under 5,000
births per year in East
Sussex. Hastings has the
highest overall birth rate as
well as for women aged 15-
19 years. Lewes and then
Rother have the highest
birth rates for women aged
35-44 years.

According to the National
Autistic Society, evidence
suggests that autistic people
experience aspects of
pregnancy and childbirth
differently to non-autistic
people and may face unique
challenges, including:
¢ heightened sensory
sensitivities during
pregnancy
e communication and
interaction difficulties
with healthcare
professionals including
feeling misunderstood or
judged, feeling unable to
express themselves or
ask questions, finding
that information and
support does not meet
their needs (including
information on the birth
process)

Adutistic people may need
specific support during
pregnancy and childbirth. It
is important that health and
social care professionals
understand the different
experiences of autistic
people during pregnancy
and childbirth, and how to
support Autistic people
effectively.

Documents will be written in g

accessible language, and
people will be able to
request information in other
formats

Neuro-inclusive language to
reflect Autism / ADHD

Priority actions identified in

the action plan include:

¢ Increase education and
improve the knowledge of
autism of health and care
professionals

e Promote healthcare
Digital Flags for
reasonable adjustments
to autistic people and
healthcare professionals

25/02/2025

12


https://www.autism.org.uk/advice-and-guidance/topics/physical-health/pregnancy-and-childbirth
https://www.autism.org.uk/advice-and-guidance/topics/physical-health/pregnancy-and-childbirth

East Sussex
County Council

WY

e concern and/or anxiety

£9¢ abed

around disclosing autism
due to potential stigma

o differences in
experience of pain

These differences can

impact autistic people in

various ways, including:

e increased stress and
anxiety

e increased likelihood of
meltdowns or shutdowns
as a result of sensory
overload

e unmet physical or
emotional needs due to
health professionals
failing to accommodate
communication
differences.

Race (ethnicity)*®
Including migrants,
refugees and asylum
seekers

Black and minority ethnic
groups including white
minority groups (Irish, Gypsy
or Irish Traveller, Roma,
Other White) make up
11.7% of usual residents in
East Sussex, compared to
10.9% of the autistic
population.

ESCC Autism consultation

survey 2024:

e 71% of respondents to
consultation survey were
White British. The
remaining 6% who
answered the question
were spread across 8
ethnic group.

People from ethnic
minorities experience
inequality in health and
social care. This means it
may be harder for autistic
people from ethnic minorities
to get the support they need.

Documents will be written in
accessible language, and
people will be able to
request information in other
formats/ languages.

Identify further engagement
opportunities to explore
more widely autism and
intersectionality.

25/02/2025

13




¥9¢ abed

East Sussex
County Council

A report by the National
Autistic Society (2014)
suggests it is harder for
autistic people from ethnic
minorities to get the support
they need due to:

o Challenges getting a
diagnosis — either due to
lower levels of
understanding about
autism among community
members, or teachers
making incorrect
assumptions about a
student’s behaviour or
language abilities

¢ Information being
unavailable in languages
other than English and a
lack of translation services

e Fear that professionals
may be patronising or lack
cultural understanding,
and negative attitudes
towards professionals

Ethnicity is also a key
determinant of health
inequalities in England,
including autism services
(National Autistic Society,
2016).

WY

25/02/2025

14


https://www.autism.org.uk/advice-and-guidance/what-is-autism/autism-and-bame-people
https://www.autism.org.uk/advice-and-guidance/what-is-autism/autism-and-bame-people

East Sussex
County Council

WY

Gog abed

Religion or belief!’

In 2021, 45.9% (250,330) of
usual residents of East
Sussex identified as
Christian, down from 59.9%
(315,650) in 2011.

The second most common
religion in East Sussex after
Christianity is Islam. The
proportion of the population
stating they were Muslim
increased from 0.8% of the
usual resident population
(4,200) in 2011 to 1.1%
(6,190) in 2021.

While autism stigma exists
across all socio-cultural
contexts, research suggests
there may be higher levels
of stigma within some
religious communities
(National Autistic Society,
2016).

ESCC Autism consultation
survey 2024:

No religion 48.60%
Christian 21.18%
Buddhist 0.62%

Jewish 0.93%

Other 1.87%
Philosophical belief 2.80%

Research suggests it may
be harder for autistic people
within some religious
communities to get the
support they need.

Identify further engagement
opportunities to explore
more widely autism and
intersectionality.

25/02/2025

15




East Sussex
County Council

Awareness training to v

In East Sussex: 52% of the ESCC Autism consultation Need to ensure that access

99¢ abed

Sex18

population are women and
48% men.

Sussex Integrated Dataset
2024: There is a much
higher prevalence of Autism
in males than females. Only
29% of diagnosed autistic
people in East Sussex are
female, compared to 71%
male.

National Autistic Society:
Many autistic women and
girls struggle to get a
diagnosis, receive a
diagnosis later in life or are
misdiagnosed with

conditions other than autism.

Females are more likely to
‘mask’ autistic traits.

Women with learning
disabilities, autism or both
are three times more likely
to experience domestic
abuse than their peers.

Csecs et al. (2020)
highlighted joint
hypermobility as 3.52 times
more prevalent in autistic
and ADHD females, than
those with no

survey 2024: Only 8% of
males responded to our
consultation survey.

to services including
diagnosis is equitable and
that specific issues affecting
Autistic women are
understood by health and
care professionals.

include women/girls
masking, and the impacts of
key hormonal changes such
as puberty, pregnancy and
menopause.

Communication articles
around masking and how
this presents and
intersecting articles e.g.
domestic abuse, physical
health.

25/02/2025

16



https://arcengland.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2021/09/Us-Too-A-Guide-for-Domestic-Abuse-Sexual-Violence-Services.pdf

/9¢ abed

East Sussex
County Council

neyrodevelopmental

condition, suggesting gender
joint hypermobility syndrome
prevalence in the population.

WY

Sexual orientation!®

The 2021 East Sussex
LGBTQI+ Comprehensive
Needs Assessment
estimates that there may be
between 17,273 and 39,004
LGB+ people living in East
Sussex (between 3.1% and
7% of the population)

In adults, the GP patient
survey found that mental
health condition prevalence
was significantly higher in
LGB+ people (41%),
compared to heterosexual
people (11%), especially in
bisexual people (56%).
According to the 2021
Census 3.3% of East
Sussex residents declared
themselves as LGB+.

JSNA data: there are more
LGBT+ people in Hastings
than the national average.

JSNA data: there are more
LGBT+ people with a
disability in Lewes than the
national average.

ESCC Autism consultation
survey 2024:

Over half of respondents
61% identified as
heterosexual/straight, while
2% identified as gay or
lesbian, and 6% as
bi/bisexual (the remainder
chose not to complete the
question)

Neurodivergent people are
more likely to identify as
LGBTQ+ than neurotypical
people.

LGBTQ+ people experience
inequalities in health and
social care. They may be
fearful of discrimination from
services and less likely to
get the support they need.

Identify further engagement
opportunities to explore
more widely autism and
intersectionality.

25/02/2025

17




89¢ abed

East Sussex
County Council

Research indicates that
neurodivergent people are
more likely to identify as
LGTBQ+ than neurotypical
people (University of
Cambridge, 2021).

LGBTQ+ people are also
known to experience
inequalities in health and
social care (House of
Commons, 2019).

WY

Marriage and civil
partnership?®

Not applicable

Armed Forces?!

Not applicable

Impacts on
community
cohesion??

ESCC Autism consultation

survey 2024:

o 67% (215 respondents)
said that it is hard/very
hard for Autistic people to
find out about inclusive
social activities in the
local community due to
few or no options being
suitable.

e 63% (201 respondents)
said that it is hard/very

Need to ensure that there is
a range of access to
inclusive services, and
information about these
services are easy to find.

Priority actions identified in

the action plan include:

e Promote examples of
services that support
autistic people well

¢ Pilot tailored support for
autistic people rather
than general signposting

e Embed autism
awareness and
understanding into all
council departments,

25/02/2025

18




East Sussex
County Council

hard for Autistic people to through training, and v

69¢ abed

find out about inclusive
wellbeing and leisure
activities in the local
community due to lack of
options and convenience.
33% (106 respondents)
said that they felt either
unsafe or very unsafe
within their community /
neighbourhood due to
others attitudes or their
own personal anxieties /
needs.

40% (126 respondents)
reported that they have
experienced anti-social
behaviour within the last
two years.

32% (103 respondents)
said that it is hard/very
hard for Autistic people to
access social housing.
41% (133 respondents)
said that public transport
is either not often / not at
all accessible for Autistic
people due to sensory
experience or reliability.

guidance on accessible
buildings and recruitment
Increase access to peer
support groups for
autistic people and their
families

25/02/2025

19




East Sussex
County Council

Additional categories

5
i

(identified locally as potentially causing / worsening inequality)

Characteristic

What do you know?3?

What do people tell
you?4?

What does this mean?>?

What can you do?6?

74% of the population in
East Sussex lives in an
urban area with the

Some individuals have
difficulty accessing services
to due rural location

Review current service
provision in rural areas
Work with VCSE and

the national average.

the total. However, survey
responses were in relation to
the cared for person rather
than their own needs as a
carer

Rurality?’ remaining 26% living in a independent sector to
rural area (2021 census). identify opportunities for
developing additional
support services
There are over 10,000 ESCC Autism consultation Ensure the voice of the carer | Link with existing parent and
persons claiming Carers survey 2024: is heard through the carer groups including:
o Allowance in East Sussex. We had the most responses | implementation of the action e East Sussex parent
2 (Source DWP Feb 2020) from parents and carers of plan and carers forum
o) an Autistic person, with that e Care for the carers
3 Carers JSNA data: There are more | group accounting for 71% of to continue to understand
© carers in Eastbourne than

key priorities for carers and
to promote carers support
available.

Other groups that
may be differently
affected (including

people, substance
users, care leavers —
see end note)?8

but not only: homeless

East Sussex is the fifth most
deprived of 26 County
Councils.13% of people
aged 60 plus were living in
poverty in 2019 (source
Joint Strategic Needs
Assessment).

10.3% of households were
in fuel poverty in 2019
compared to 9.3 % in
England.

Intersectionality is a
significant consideration for
the autism population.

Ensure that all literature is
accessible and inclusive,
and services & support are
available in the most
deprived areas of East
Sussex

25/02/2025

20




T/€ abed

East Sussex
County Council

Sussex Integrated Dataset
2024: There is higher
prevalence of autism in
those living in deprivation.
20 per 1000 autistic
individuals live in the most
deprived quintile in East
Sussex compared to 9.5 per
1000 individuals that live in
the least deprived quintile.

Criminal Justice Service —
Individuals within the CJS
have a higher diagnosis of
ADHD and Autism than the
general population.

Lewes Prison has a special
ND unit

Sussex Integrated Dataset
2024: There is a much
higher expected prevalence
of autism in the Looked After
Child (LAC) population.

WY

25/02/2025

21



2/.¢ abed

East Sussex
County Council

o

Assessment of overall impacts and any further recommendations?® - include assessment of cumulative impacts (where a change in
one service/policy/project may have an impact on another)

The research and consultation we have undertaken to inform the East Sussex Autism Action Plan has enabled us to identify clear priority
actions to implement in the next 3 years. Alongside the consultation with autistic residents of East Sussex Adult Social Care has been
working closely with the ESCC Education division, Employment and Skills Team, NHS Sussex Neurodevelopmental Pathway
Programme and the Supported Employment Forum to ensure alignment with their priorities.

25/02/2025 22



East Sussex
County Council

5
i

2. List detailed data and/or community feedback that informed your EqlA

¢/¢ abed

Source and type of data (e.qg. Actions to fill these gaps: who else
research, or direct engagement : do you need to engage with?
(interviews), responses to Date Gaps in data (add these to the Action Plan below,
guestionnaires, etc.) with a timeframe)
Public Health analysis 2024 — Methods | 2024 Other neurodivergent conditions and their Current trainee Doctor on rotation in
of measuring the prevalence of Autism co-occurrence with autism Public Health is undertaking further
research and analysis to understand
prevalence of other neurodivergent
conditions. Due March 2025.
Inclusion Advisory Group 23 April Obtain feedback from LGBTQ groups such | Attempts were made to arrange a focus
2024 as Allsorts or Bourne Out Cafe group with members of Allsorts but this
was not achieved.
Contact again when action plan has been
agreed to try and get involvement in
implementation.
Obtain feedback from Young Healthwatch Focus group was held with Young
Healthwatch in May 2024
East Sussex County Council April-June Feedback from the consultation informed Implementation of the action plan priorities
Consultation survey 2024 the agenda and format for the Stakeholder
workshops
East Sussex Focus Groups with May-July Feedback from the focus groups informed Implementation of the action plan priorities
Autistic people: 2024 the agenda and format for the Stakeholder
e St Nicholas Day Service workshops
e Young Health Watch
e Roebuck Centre

25/02/2025

23




v/ ¢ abed

East Sussex
County Council

Implementation of the acticw

Stakeholder Workshops September- | Unclear and difficult to access information
Employment October regarding services
Education 2024
Health & Wellbeing (adults) Lack of reasonable adjustments
Health & Wellbeing (children & young
people) Lack of knowledge and understanding of
autism especially within health & social
care, employment, education and the
community
Lack of accessibility to employment
opportunities
Lack of peer support groups
Lack of access to services
East Sussex Supported Employment 17 Shared autism prevalence information and Additional employment representation
Forum September invited members to the stakeholder obtained at stakeholder workshops
2024 workshops
28 Sought agreement of priority actions Support given to priority actions.
November identified Attendance at March 2025 meeting to take
2024 forward how some of the employment
actions will be implemented.
East Sussex Mental Health Community | 07 January Develop links with the new community Meeting to be arranged to discuss how
Transformation Group 2025 mental health teams priority actions can be aligned to emerging

teams.

Present autism action plan to the East
Sussex Mental Health Lived Experience
Advisory Group (LEAG) in March 2025

25/02/2025

24



G/ ¢ abed

East Sussex
County Council

Disability Rights Reference Group
(DRRG)

17 January
2025

Feedback from the deaf autistic community

Autism training and awareness of DWP staff

Liaise with Surdi to identif
engagement opportunities with people
who are deaf and autistic

Ensure DWP staff are made aware of
training opportunities

25/02/2025

25



9/¢ abed

4. Prioritised Action Plan®°
NB: These actions must now be transferred to service or business plans and monitored to ensure they achieve the outcomes

East Sussex
County Council

5
i

identified.
Impact identified Action planned Expected outcome Measure of success Timeframe
and group(s)
affected
Age Ensure there is a range of ways ¢ Improved online information and Autistic people are able to April 2025 to
Disability to access information, not just documents about services and easily find out about inclusive March 2028
Pregnancy and through digital methods. support for autistic people social, wellbeing and leisure
maternity e Pilot tailored face to face and activities
Race telephone support for autistic people
Impacts on ¢ |Information, both online and in hard
Community Cohesion copy, use accessible and neuro-
inclusive language, and people will
be able to request information in
other formats.
Age Clearly state age range that e Search engines enable filters on age | Autistic people are able to March 2026
services and resources are e Information leaflets clearly state easily find out about inclusive
applicable to within signposting referral criteria including age social, wellbeing and leisure
information activities
Disability Work with NHS Sussex to ¢ Improved online information and e Autistic people understand | March 2028
promote accessible information documents about services and what support is in place,
and guidance on the support for autistic people pre and post diagnosis.
neurodevelopmental diagnosis o Work with NHS Sussex to promote e Autistic people can access
process and universal help changes to the Neurodevelopmental a timely assessment of
available pre, during and post Pathway their neurodevelopmental
assessment, including crisis e Work with VCSE and independent needs.
support sector to identify opportunities for
25/02/2025 26



/1€ abed

East Sussex
County Council

developing additional support

SIS

services, in particular crisis support.
Disability Involve autistic people in the e Integrated Community Teams are e Autistic people are able to | March 2026
design of Integrated Community developed to be accessible for access health care
Teams to ensure services are autistic people delivered by the right
accessible people at the right time
e Autistic people feel
empowered to ask for
reasonable adjustments to
support their needs
Disability Increase education and improve | e Promote autism awareness and Autistic people are able to April 2025 to
Pregnancy and the knowledge of autism of training available to health, social access health care March 2028
maternity health, care and other care, DWP and council delivered by the right
Sex professionals departments. people at the right time
Impacts on o Further understand gaps in training. Health and care
Community Cohesion « Develop autism training champions professionals have the
across health, social care and VCSE knowledge and skills to
organisations. successfully support
e Awareness training to include autistic people
women/girls masking, and the Autistic people feel
impacts of key hormonal changes. empowered to ask for
e Ensure training addresses reasonable adjustments to
intersectionality and additional support their needs
barriers experienced.
Disability Promote Autism health and care e Review existing passports and Autistic people feel March 2026
passports and alert cards alert cards with autistic people to empowered to ask for
agree an East Sussex approach reasonable adjustments to
support their needs
25/02/2025 27



8/ ¢ abed

East Sussex
County Council

RIS

Disability Promote healthcare Digital Flags |e Promote Digital flag already e Autistic people feel
Pregnancy and for reasonable adjustments to available on primary care system empowered to ask for
maternity autistic people and healthcare e Explore with health and care reasonable adjustments to
professionals partners the potential for digital flags support their needs
on social care, community and acute
systems
Disability Work with NHS Sussex to Co-produce guidance documents with | e Autistic people are able to March 2028
improve clinical environments, autistic people access health care
particularly diagnostic, to create delivered by the right
more friendly and accessible people at the right time
spaces e Autistic people feel
empowered to ask for
reasonable adjustments to
support their needs
Disability Work with NHS Sussex to Learn from Learning Disability annual | Improved health and wellbeing | March 2028
implement autism annual health health check roll out. for autistic people
checks
Disability Develop profiling tool for schools | Review of existing profiling tools Improved understanding of March 2026
Age to use to understand individual elsewhere autistic peoples needs and
needs and how those needs can | Co-produce, pilot and evaluate an reasonable adjustments
be met. East Sussex tool required
Disability Ensure that appropriate ¢ Promote the support available Autistic children and young March 2026
Age education guidance, information (local offer) within the autistic people feel supported to
and support is available to community and parent/carers develop and achieve their
autistic children & Young People | e Use the Preparation for Adulthood | goals.
and their families framework to support schools to
equip individuals with skills for
adulthood
e Promote post 16 provision,
particularly in areas of deprivation
25/02/2025 28



6/ € abed

East Sussex
County Council

Disability
Age

Promote Autism training to all
school staff, including improving
understanding of masking,
mental health and how a child’s
environment impacts on their
behaviour

Communication, Learning and
Autism Support Service (CLASS)
to further promote their existing
training, which is based on Autism
Education Trust (AET) training
programme

Support delivered to schools
through CLASS Core Offer
Engagement in Autism in Schools
and PINS (Promoting the Inclusion
of Neurodiversity in Schools)
projects to further develop school
practice.

School and college staff have
the knowledge and skills to
successfully support autistic
people

RIS

Disability
Age

Promote curriculums / sharing of
information that are inclusive and
adaptive to ensure: ‘Every
school/college sees itself as an
education setting that meets the
needs of autistic pupils.’

Promotion to include:

Embedding the Universally
Available Provision in schools
Incorporating neuro-affirmative
approaches, such as role models
Individuals understanding
themselves as well as the
importance of others
understanding autism

Share best practice between
specialist and mainstream schools
possibly through ideas such as
dual placements

Information sharing to support
individuals and the learning needs
of Looked After Children

Learn from family support worker
pilot to address parents’
confidence to develop adjustments
(Enhancing inclusive practice
project)

Autistic children and young
people are supported to
develop and achieve their
goals

School and college staff have
the knowledge and skills to
successfully support autistic
people

March 2028

25/02/2025

29



08¢ abed

East Sussex
County Council

o Exploration of further use of

alternative provision to support
children, where appropriate

SIS

Disability
Age

Increase understanding and
support for autistic young people
in secondary schools.

¢ Use understanding gained from

Autism in Schools project to

develop the following in secondary

schools:

o Increased and improved
communication between
parents, children and secondary
school staff

o Shared training and resources
between parents and staff

o Promotion of social inclusion
within schools (e.g. breaktime /
lunchtime / clubs)

o Increased availability of self-
advocacy in secondary schools

Increased knowledge/understanding
of neurodiversity for other pupils

(peer awareness)

School and college staff have
the knowledge and skills to
successfully support autistic
people

March 2028

Disability
Age

Improve the experience of
transitions (primary to secondary
/ secondary to college) for autistic
children and young people

¢ Improve partnership work between

primary and secondary schools to
support smooth transitions

e Explore options to further develop

enhanced transition support such

as

o Developing a
Transition/Education
Programme of engagement to
support young people in the
period between finishing
GCSE'’s and starting college

School and college staff have
the knowledge and skills to
successfully support autistic
people

Autistic children and young
people are supported to
develop and achieve their
goals

March 2028

25/02/2025

30



T8¢ abed

East Sussex
County Council

o Working with the National
Citizen Service (NCS) to
develop and promote a summer
transition programme

Feed through information from

Education, Health and Care Plan

reviews to post-16 to support

strategic planning - individual and
trends. Ensure EHCP reflects
structure of post-16 life. e.qg.
independent travel, terminology

Align Moving On and other forms

across early years and primary.

Establish a child's 'biography’ to

progress with child (Enhancing

inclusive practice project)

Learn from the mental health

support tool being trialled for

primary/secondary school

SIS

transition
Disability Publish and promote a Review existing information points | Autistic people have access to | March 2026
centralised directory of Promote information via a single clear information and advice
employment support services in access point about employment support
East Sussex available.
Disability Raise awareness and Review and update existing e More autistic people are March 2026
accessibility of resources to help resources employed full or part time,
employ more neurodivergent Publish in a central information including voluntary
people point and promote e Autistic people feel
empowered to ask for
reasonable adjustments to
support their needs
25/02/2025 31



Z8¢ abed

East Sussex
County Council

SIS

Disability Publish and promote guidance for | ¢ Review existing guidance and e Autistic people have access
making recruitment processes promote via a central information to clear information and
more accessible for point advice about employment
neurodivergent people support available.
e Autistic people feel more
able to get a job
Disability Develop initial assessments for Review existing tools and promote via | e Autistic people feel more March 2027
employment organisations to help | a central information point able to find and keep a job
to identify skills, suitable roles e Autistic people feel
and reasonable adjustments empowered to ask for
reasonable adjustments to
support their needs
Disability Develop a programme of work to | Develop and implement training Autistic children and young March 2027
Age support young people and their programme people feel positive about their
families to consider their future future aspirations.
employment choices, through
helping them to identify their
strengths, challenges and
learning styles, and develop
practical skills such as CV writing
and interview techniques.
Disability Develop support services that e Review current provision e Autistic people have access | March 2027
can act as a brokerage/advocate | ¢ Work with VCSE and independent to clear information and
for employed autistic people who sector to identify opportunities for advice about employment
may need support to navigate developing additional support support available.
work environment. services e Autistic people feel more
able to find and keep a job
Sex, Disability Publish communication articles Public and professionals are more Autistic people feel March 2026
around links with physical health; | aware of autism and physical health empowered to ask for
masking and how this presents links, and issues specific to autism reasonable adjustments to
and intersecting articles e.g. and women, including masking and support their needs
domestic abuse under-diagnosis and misdiagnosis
25/02/2025 32



East Sussex
County Council

o

Impacts on Promote examples of services Raise awareness of autism and the Adultistic people are able to
Community Cohesion | that support autistic people well benefits autistic people bring to the access inclusive social, March 2028
community and workplace wellbeing and leisure activities
Autistic people feel
empowered to ask for
reasonable adjustments to
support their needs
Impacts on Increase access to peer support | Review current provision Adutistic people are able to March 2028
Community Cohesion | groups for autistic people and Work with VCSE and independent access inclusive social,
their families sector to identify opportunities for wellbeing and leisure activities
developing additional support
opportunities
Rurality Ensure accessibility to services in | Review current service provision in Autistic people are able to March 2028
rural areas rural areas access inclusive social,
Work with VCSE and independent wellbeing and leisure activities
sector to identify opportunities for
;9 developing additional support services
?
w
& Carers Link with existing parent and Link with Carers feel supported in their September
carer groups to continue to e East Sussex parent and carers role and know how they can 2025
understand key priorities for forum access support for themselves
carers and to promote carers e Care for the carers
support available
. Individuals are informed of the
Disabilit Engage with groups that research Identify fgrther engagement support available to them and
y . 9ag group: lore more widel bp . September
Sexual orientation suggests are less likely to get the opportunities to expl , y able to access care delivered b
Race support they need autism and intersectionality by the right people at the right 2025
pp y y gnht peop g
time.

EqlA sign-off: (for the EqlA to be final an email must be sent from the relevant people agreeing it, or this section must be signed)

25/02/2025

33



East Sussex
County Council

5
i

Staff member completing Equality Impact Analysis: Sarah Crouch Date: 24/02/25
Directorate Management Team rep or Head of Service: Sally Reed Date: 26/02/25
Equality lead: Frood Radford Date: 27/02/25

8¢ abed

25/02/2025 34



East Sussex
County Council

5
i

Guidance end-notes

Ggg abed

25/02/2025 35



9g¢ abed

East Sussex
County Council

5
i

! The following principles, drawn from case law, explain what we must do to fulfil our duties under the Equality Act:

« Knowledge: everyone working for the Council must be aware of the Council’s duties under the Equality Act 2010 and ensure

they comply with them appropriately in their daily work.

Timeliness: the duty applies at the time of considering policy options and/or before a final decision is taken — not afterwards.

Real Consideration: the duty must be an integral, rigorous part of your decision-making process and influence the process.

Sufficient Information: you must assess what information you have and what is further needed to give proper consideration.

No delegation: the Council is responsible for ensuring that any contracted services, which are provided on its behalf need

also to comply with the same legal obligations under the Equality Act of 2010. You need, therefore, to ensure that the relevant

contracts make these obligations clear to the supplier. It is a duty that cannot be delegated.

e Review: the equality duty is a continuing duty. It applies when a policy or service is developed/agreed, and when it is
implemented and reviewed.

e Proper Record Keeping: to prove that the Council has fulfilled its legal obligations under the Equality Act you must keep
records of the process you follow and the impacts identified.

NB: Filling out this EglA in itself does not meet the requirements of the Council’s equality duty. All the requirements above must
be fulfilled, or the EqIA (and any decision based on it) may be open to challenge. An EglA therefore can provide evidence that the
Council has taken practical steps comply with its equality duty and provide a record that to demonstrate that it has done so.

2 Qur duties in the Equality Act 2010

As a public sector organisation, we have a legal duty (under the Equality Act 2010) to show that we have identified and considered
the actual and potential impact of our activities on people who share any of the legally ‘protected characteristics’ (age, disability,
gender reassignment, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or belief, sex, sexual orientation, and marriage and civil partnership).

This applies to policies, services (including commissioned services), and our employees. The level of detail of this consideration
will depend on the nature of your project, who it might affect, those groups’ vulnerability, and the seriousness of any potential
impacts it might have. We use this EqIA template to gather information and assess the impact of our project in these areas.

The following are the duties in the Act. You must give ‘due regard’ (pay conscious attention) to the need to:
e avoid, reduce, minimise or eliminate any negative impact (if you identify unlawful discrimination, including victimisation
and harassment, you must stop the action and take advice immediately).
e promote equality of opportunity. This means the need to:

25/02/2025 36



/8¢ abed

East Sussex
County Council

o

NAAY
AIAAS

Remove or minimise disadvantages suffered by equality groups

Take steps to meet the needs of equality groups

Encourage equality groups to participate in public life or any other activity where participation is disproportionately low
Consider if there is a need to treat disabled people differently, including more favourable treatment where necessary

o foster good relations between people who share a protected characteristic and those who do not. This means:

Tackle prejudice
Promote understanding

3 EqlAs are always proportionate to:
e The nature of the service, or scope of the policy/strategy

The resources involved

The number of people affected

The size of the likely impact

The vulnerability of the people affected

The greater the potential adverse impact of the proposed service or policy on a protected group (e.g. disabled people), the more
thorough and demanding our process must be so that we comply with the Equality Act of 2010.

4 Title of EqlA: This should clearly explain what service / policy / strategy / change you are assessing

5 Team/Department: Main team responsible for the policy, practice, service or function being assessed

6 Focus of EqlA: A member of the public should have a good understanding of the policy or service and any proposals after
reading this section. Please use plain English and write any acronyms in full first time - eg: ‘Equality Impact Analysis (EqglA)’

This section should explain what you are assessing:
e What are the main aims or purpose of the service, policy, strategy, practice, or function?
e Who implements, carries out or delivers the service, policy, strategy, practice, or function? Please state where this is more
than one person/team/body and where other organisations deliver under procurement or partnership arrangements.
e How does it fit with other services?

25/02/2025

37



8g¢ abed

East Sussex
County Council

o

Who is affected by the service, policy, strategy, practice, or function, or by how it is delivered? Who are the external and

internal service-users, groups, or communities?

What outcomes do you want to achieve, why and for whom? Eg: what do you want to provide, what changes, or
improvements, are required and what should the benefits be?

What do existing or previous reviews of the service, policy, strategy, practice, or function indicate to you?

What is the reason for the proposal, or change (financial, service scope, legal requirements, etc)? The Equality Act requires
us to make these clear.

" Previous actions: If there is no previous EqlA, or this assessment is for a new service, then simply write ‘not applicable’.

8 Data: Make sure you have enough information to inform your EqlA.

What data relevant to the impact on protected groups of the policy/decision/service is available?®

What further evidence is needed and how can you get it? (Eg: further research or engagement with the affected groups).
What do you already know about needs, access and outcomes? Focus on each of the protected characteristics in turn. EQ:
who uses the service? Who doesn’t and why? Are there differences in outcomes? Why?

Have there been any important demographic changes or trends locally? What might they mean for the service or function?
Does data/monitoring show that any policies or practices create particular problems or difficulties for any groups?

Do any equality objectives already exist? What is current performance like against them?

Is the service having a positive or negative effect on particular people in the community, or particular groups / communities?

9 Engagement: You must engage appropriately with those likely to be affected to fulfil the Council’s duties under the Equality Act.

What do people tell you about the services, the policy or the strategy?
Are there patterns or differences in what people from different groups tell you?
What information or data will you need from communities?
How should people be consulted? Consider:
(a) consult when proposals are still at a formative stage;
(b) explain what is proposed and why, to allow intelligent consideration and response;
(c) allow enough time for consultation;
(d) make sure what people tell you is properly considered in the final decision.
Try to consult in ways that ensure all different perspectives can be captured and considered.
Identify any gaps in who has been consulted and identify ways to address this.

25/02/2025 38



68¢ abed

East Sussex
County Council

o

NAAY
AIAAS

10 Your EgIA must get to grips fully and properly with actual and potential impacts.

The Council’s obligations under the Equality Act of 2010 do not stop you taking decisions, or introducing well needed
changes; however, they require that you take decisions and make changes conscientiously and deliberately confront the
anticipated impacts on people.

Be realistic: don’t exaggerate speculative risks and negative impacts.

Be detailed and specific so decision-makers have a concrete sense of potential effects. Instead of “the policy is likely to
disadvantage older women”, say how many or what percentage are likely to be affected, how, and to what extent.
Questions to ask when assessing impacts depend on the context. Examples:

Are one or more protected groups affected differently and/or disadvantaged? How, and to what extent?

Is there evidence of higher/lower uptake among different groups? Which, and to what extent?

If there are likely to be different impacts on different groups, is that consistent with the overall objective?

If there is negative differential impact, how can you minimise that while taking into account your overall aims

Do the effects amount to unlawful discrimination? If so, the plan must be modified.

Does the proposal advance equality of opportunity and/or foster good relations? If not, could it?

0O O O O O O

11 Consider all three aims of the Act: removing barriers, and also identifying positive actions to be taken.

Where you have identified impacts you must state what actions will be taken to remove, reduce or avoid any negative
impacts and maximise any positive impacts or advance equality of opportunity.

Be specific and detailed and explain how far these actions are expected to address the negative impacts.

If mitigating measures are contemplated, explain clearly what the measures are, and the extent to which they can be
expected to reduce / remove the adverse effects identified.

An EqIA which has attempted to airbrush the facts is an EqIA that is vulnerable to challenge.

12 Age: People of all ages

13 Disability: A person is disabled if they have a physical or mental impairment which has a substantial and long-term adverse
effect on their ability to carry out normal day-to-day activities. The definition includes: sensory impairments, impairments with
fluctuating or recurring effects, progressive, organ specific, developmental, learning difficulties, mental health conditions and mental
illnesses, produced by injury to the body or brain. Persons with cancer, multiple sclerosis or HIV infection are all now deemed to be
disabled persons from the point of diagnosis. Carers of disabled people are protected within the Act by association.

25/02/2025 39



06¢ abed

East Sussex
County Council

14 Gender Reassignment: In the Act a transgender person is someone who proposes to, starts or has completed a process to
change his or her gender. A person does not need to be under medical supervision to be protected

15 pregnancy and Maternity: Protection is during pregnancy and any statutory maternity leave to which the woman is entitled.

16 Race/Ethnicity: This includes ethnic or national origins, colour or nationality, and includes refugees and migrants, and Gypsies
and Travellers. Refugees and migrants means people whose intention is to stay in the UK for at least twelve months (excluding
visitors, short term students or tourists). This definition includes asylum seekers; voluntary and involuntary migrants; people who
are undocumented; and the children of migrants, even if they were born in the UK.

17 Religion and Belief: Religion includes any religion with a clear structure and belief system. Belief means any religious or
philosophical belief. The Act also covers lack of religion or belief.

18 Sex: Both men and women are covered under the Act.
19 Sexual Orientation: The Act protects bisexual, gay, heterosexual and leshian people
20 Marriage and Civil Partnership: Only in relation to due regard to the need to eliminate discrimination.

21 Armed Forces: The Armed Forces Act 2021 aims to help prevent service personnel, veterans and their families being
disadvantaged when accessing public services. The new duty applies to certain housing, education or healthcare functions, but it is
good practice to ensure consideration of impacts on current or former members of the armed forces, as well as their families.

2 Community Cohesion: potential impacts on how well people from different communities get on together. The council has a legal
duty to foster good relations between groups of people who share different protected characteristics. Some actions or policies may
have impacts — or perceived impacts — on how groups see one another or in terms of how the council’s resources are seen to be
allocated. There may also be opportunities to positively impact on good relations between groups.

23 Data: Make sure you have enough information to inform your EqlA.
e What data relevant to the impact on protected groups of the policy/decision/service is available??3
e What further evidence is needed and how can you get it? (Eg: further research or engagement with the affected groups).
e What do you already know about needs, access and outcomes? Focus on each of the protected characteristics in turn. EQ:
who uses the service? Who doesn’t and why? Are there differences in outcomes? Why?

25/02/2025 40



T6€ abed

East Sussex
County Council

=

Have there been any important demographic changes or trends locally? What might they mean for the service or function?
Does data/monitoring show that any policies or practices create particular problems or difficulties for any groups?
Do any equality objectives already exist? What is current performance like against them?

Is the service having a positive or negative effect on particular people in the community, or particular groups or
communities?

24 Engagement: You must engage appropriately with those likely to be affected to fulfil the Council’s duties under the Equality Act .

What do people tell you about the services, the policy or the strategy?
Are there patterns or differences in what people from different groups tell you?
What information or data will you need from communities?
How should people be consulted? Consider:
(a) consult when proposals are still at a formative stage;
(b) explain what is proposed and why, to allow intelligent consideration and response;
(c) allow enough time for consultation;
(d) make sure what people tell you is properly considered in the final decision.
Try to consult in ways that ensure all different perspectives can be captured and considered.
Identify any gaps in who has been consulted and identify ways to address this.

25 Your EgIA must get to grips fully and properly with actual and potential impacts.

The Council’s obligations under the Equality Act of 2010 do not stop you taking decisions, or introducing well needed
changes; however, they require that take decisions and make changes conscientiously and deliberately confront the
anticipated impacts on people.

Be realistic: don’t exaggerate speculative risks and negative impacts.

Be detailed and specific so decision-makers have a concrete sense of potential effects. Instead of “the policy is likely to
disadvantage older women”, say how many or what percentage are likely to be affected, how, and to what extent.
Questions to ask when assessing impacts depend on the context. Examples:

Are one or more protected groups affected differently and/or disadvantaged? How, and to what extent?

Is there evidence of higher/lower uptake among different groups? Which, and to what extent?

If there are likely to be different impacts on different groups, is that consistent with the overall objective?

If there is negative differential impact, how can you minimise that while taking into account your overall aims
Do the effects amount to unlawful discrimination? If so the plan must be modified.

Does the proposal advance equality of opportunity and/or foster good relations? If not, could it?

© O O O O O

25/02/2025 41



Z6¢ abed

East Sussex
County Council

o

NAAY
AIAAS

26 Consider all three aims of the Act: removing barriers, and also identifying positive actions to be taken.
e Where you have identified impacts you must state what actions will be taken to remove, reduce or avoid any negative
impacts and maximise any positive impacts or advance equality of opportunity.
e Be specific and detailed and explain how far these actions are expected to address the negative impacts.
o If mitigating measures are contemplated, explain clearly what the measures are, and the extent to which they can be
expected to reduce / remove the adverse effects identified.
e An EglA which has attempted to airbrush the facts is an EqlA that is vulnerable to challenge.

27 Rurality: deprivation is experienced differently between people living in rural and urban areas. In rural areas issues can include
isolation, access to services (eg: GPs, pharmacies, libraries, schools), low income / part-time work, infrequent public transport, high
transport costs, lack of affordable housing and higher fuel costs. Deprivation can also be more dispersed and less visible.

28 Other groups that may be differently affected: this may vary by services, but examples include: homeless people, substance
misusers, people experiencing domestic/sexual violence, looked after children or care leavers, current or former armed forces
personnel (or their families), people on the Autistic spectrum etc.

29 Assessment of overall impacts and any further recommendations

e Make a frank and realistic assessment of the overall extent to which the negative impacts can be reduced or avoided by the
mitigating measures. Explain what positive impacts will result from the actions and how you can make the most of these.

o Countervailing considerations: These may include the reasons behind the formulation of the policy, the benefits it is
expected to deliver, budget reductions, the need to avert a graver crisis by introducing a policy now and not later, and so on.
The weight of these factors in favour of implementing the policy must then be measured against the weight of any evidence
as to the potential negative equality impacts of the policy.

e Are there any further recommendations? Is further engagement needed? Is more research or monitoring needed? Does
there need to be a change in the proposal itself?

30 Action Planning: The Council’s obligation under the Equality Act of 2010 is an ongoing duty: policies must be kept under review,

continuing to give ‘due regard’ to the duty. If an assessment of a broad proposal leads to more specific proposals, then further
equality assessment and consultation are needed.

25/02/2025 42



£6¢ abed

East Sussex Health and Wellbeing Board Work Programme

Date of Meeting

Report

09 December
2025

East Sussex Health and Social Care Shared Delivery Plan (SDP) Programme - update report

East Sussex Climate Change Health Impact assessment

East Sussex Safeguarding Children Partnership (ESSCP) Annual Report 2024-25

Sussex learning from lives and deaths (LeDeR) Annual report 2024/25

Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA) Update report

10 March 2026

East Sussex Health and Social Care Shared Delivery Plan (SDP) Programme - update report

0T Wal| epusaby



This page is intentionally left blank



	Agenda
	1 Minutes of meeting of Health and Wellbeing Board held on 15 July 2025
	5 Safeguarding Adults Board (SAB) Annual Report 2024-25
	Appendix 1
	Appendix 2

	6 ICB Progress Update
	7 Integration programme update
	Appendix 1
	Appendix 2

	8 Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment
	Appendix 1
	Document summary
	Acknowledgements

	Executive summary
	Introduction
	Process
	Key findings
	Demography
	Health and care needs
	Current pharmaceutical services provision
	East Sussex residents survey
	Gap analysis
	Geographical gaps in the location of pharmacies
	Geographical gaps in the provision of services
	Gaps in the times at which, or days on which, services are provided


	Conclusions
	Recommendations

	1. Introduction
	1.1 What is a Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment (PNA)
	1.2 The role of the PNA in the provision of services
	1.3 Commissioning of community pharmacy
	1.4 NHS pharmaceutical services provision
	1.5 The Community Pharmacy Contractual Framework
	1.6 Definition of types of pharmaceutical services
	Essential pharmaceutical services
	Advanced services
	Enhanced services
	GP dispensing service
	Locally Commissioned Services


	2. The Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment process
	2.1 Aim
	2.2 Objectives
	2.3 Methodology
	2.4 Key Steps
	2.5 Defining “necessary services” for the PNA

	3. Strategic Context
	3.1 The geography of East Sussex
	3.2 Health and care sites

	4. Demography
	4.1 Age and sex
	Age structure
	Key age groups across East Sussex
	Births

	4.2 Ethnicity
	4.3 Population change 2025-2028
	4.4 Housing development plans 2025/26 to 2027/28
	Eastbourne borough
	Hastings borough
	Lewes district
	Rother district
	Wealden district

	4.5 Rural and urban areas
	4.6 Access to a car / van
	4.7 Deprivation (IMD 2019)

	5. Health and care needs
	5.1 Life expectancy
	5.2 Disease and poor health
	Bad health
	Disability
	Chronic disease


	6. Current pharmaceutical services provision
	6.1 Pharmacy provision in East Sussex
	Location of community pharmacies in East Sussex
	Pharmacy changes since the last PNA
	Provision compared to neighbouring areas
	Provision across East Sussex boroughs and districts
	Pharmacy Access Scheme (PhAS)

	6.2 Opening Hours
	100-hour contract changes
	Contracted hours in East Sussex
	Opening times

	6.3 Travel times to access pharmacies
	Method
	Weekday access
	Evening access
	Weekend access

	6.4 Necessary Services
	Dispensing activity
	Distance Selling Pharmacy activity
	Discharge Medicines Service (DMS)
	Pharmacy First service (Advanced service)

	6.5 Enhanced services
	Bank holiday provision
	COVID-19 Vaccination Service

	6.6 Advanced services
	New Medicine Service (NMS)
	Flu vaccination
	Hypertension Case-Finding service
	Smoking Cessation Service (SCS)
	Pharmacy Contraception Service (PCS)
	Lateral Flow Device (LFD) tests supply service

	6.7 Locally commissioned services
	End of life care / palliative care drugs – NHS Sussex ICB
	Supply of oral antiviral medication for the treatment of COVID-19 and management of Influenza – NHS Sussex ICB
	C-Card for under 25s – ESCC
	Emergency Hormonal Contraception (EHC) to under 25s - ESCC
	Smoking Cessation - ESCC
	Opiate reversers (naloxone) - CGL
	Needle and syringe exchange programme (NSP) - CGL
	Distribution of oral substitution therapy and supervised consumption - CGL

	6.8 Other services affecting demand for and which supply pharmaceutical services
	NHS Acute Trust Hospitals
	NHS Community Hospitals
	Mental health services
	Residential and Nursing Care homes
	Other services


	7. East Sussex Residents’ Survey 2025
	Methodology
	7.1 Findings
	Area of residence
	Equalities questions
	Where do you usually get your prescription from?
	How often do you use a pharmacy for health reasons?
	How do you usually travel to the pharmacy?
	What time do you usually go to the pharmacy?
	How easy was it to access a pharmacy at different times
	Access for people with physical disabilities
	Experience for people with communication needs
	Helping others access pharmacies
	Any other comments about pharmacy services in East Sussex


	10. Gap analysis
	10.1 Geographical gaps in the location of pharmacies
	10.2 Geographical gaps in the provision of services
	10.3 Gaps in the times at which, or days on which, services are provided

	11. Stakeholders’ consultation
	11.1 Consultation responses
	11.2 Detailed comments and responses

	Appendices
	Glossary
	List of Pharmacies and GP dispensing practices included in this PNA



	9 East Sussex All Age Autism Action Plan
	Appendix 1
	Appendix 2
	Appendix 3

	10 Work programme

